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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
 

This Annual Report contains “forward-looking statements” regarding future events and our future results of operations. We may make 
additional written or oral forward-looking statements from time to time in filings with the SEC or otherwise. We believe such forward-looking 
statements are within the meaning of the safe-harbor provisions of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such statements may include, but are not limited to:

 

• the risk associated with COVID-19 or similar events on system members or customers; 

• the impact of the economic environment on demand for our products and the cost and availability of debt and capital; 

• estimates of capital expenditures; 

• plans for future operations, products or services, financing needs, and strategies; our perceptions of our legal positions and 
anticipated outcomes of government investigations and pending litigation against us; 

• liquidity and the availability of financial resources to meet our needs, goals and strategies; 

• plans for new business, storage occupancy, growth rate assumptions, pricing, costs, and access to capital and leasing markets; 

• the impact of our compliance with environmental laws and cleanup costs; 

• our beliefs regarding our sustainability practices; 

• our used vehicle disposition strategy; 

• the sources and availability of funds for our rental equipment and self-storage expansion and replacement strategies and plans; 

• our plan to expand our U-Haul® storage affiliate program; 

• that additional leverage can be supported by our operations and business; 

• the availability of alternative vehicle manufacturers; 

• the availability and economics of electric vehicles for our rental fleet; 

• our estimates of the residual values of our equipment fleet; 

• our plans with respect to off-balance sheet arrangements; 

• our plans to continue to invest in the U-Box® program; 

• the impact of interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate changes on our operations; 

• the sufficiency of our capital resources; 

• the sufficiency of capital of our insurance subsidiaries; 

• inflationary pressures that may challenge our ability to maintain or improve upon our operating margin; 

• our belief that we have the financial resources needed to meet our business plans;

• our belief that we will maintain a high level of real estate capital expenditures in fiscal 2025;

• expectations regarding the potential impact to our information technology infrastructure and on our financial performance and 
business operations of technology, cybersecurity or data security breaches, including any related costs, fines or lawsuits, and our 
ability to continue ongoing operations and safeguard the integrity of our information technology infrastructure, data, and employee, 
customer and vendor information, as well as assumptions relating to the foregoing; 

• our ability to increase transaction volume and improve pricing, product, and utilization for self-moving equipment rentals; 
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• our ability to maintain or increase adequate levels of new investment for our truck fleet; 

• our ability to complete current projects, increase occupancy in our existing portfolio of locations, and acquire new locations; 

• our ability to expand our Life Insurance segment in the senior market; 

• our ability to grow our agency force, expand our product offerings, and pursue business acquisition opportunities in our Life 
Insurance segment; 

• our belief that fiscal 2025 investments will be funded largely through debt financing, external lease financing and cash from 
operations; and 

• our plan to expand owned storage properties and our belief that such development projects will be funded through a combination of 
internally generated funds, corporate debt and with borrowings against existing properties as they operationally mature. 

 
The words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “may,” “will,” “could,” “estimate,” “project” and similar expressions identify forward-looking 

statements, which speak only as of the date the statement was made. 

Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified. Factors that 
could significantly affect results include, without limitation, the risk factors enumerated below under the heading “Risk Factors” and other factors 
described in this Annual Report or the other documents we file with the SEC. These factors, the following disclosures, as well as other statements 
in this Annual Report and in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, could contribute to or cause such risks or uncertainties, or could 
cause our stock price to fluctuate dramatically. Consequently, the forward-looking statements should not be regarded as representations or 
warranties by us that such matters will be realized. We assume no obligation to update or revise any of the forward-looking statements, whether in 
response to new information, unforeseen events, changed circumstances or otherwise, except as required by law.

 
 

PART I
Item 1. Business
Company Overview

We are North America’s largest “do-it-yourself” moving and storage operator through our subsidiary U-Haul International, Inc. (“U-Haul”). U-
Haul is synonymous with “do-it-yourself” moving and storage and is a leader in supplying products and services to help people move and store 
their household and commercial goods. Our primary service objective is to “provide a better and better product and service to more and more 
people at a lower and lower cost.” Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “U-Haul Holding Company,” “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” 
refer to U-Haul Holding Company, a Nevada corporation, and all of its legal subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis. 

We were founded in 1945 as a sole proprietorship under the name "U-Haul Trailer Rental Company" and have rented trailers ever since. 
Starting in 1959, we rented trucks on a one-way and in-town basis exclusively through independent U-Haul® dealers. In 1973, we began 
developing our network of U-Haul® managed retail stores, through which we rent our trucks and trailers, self-storage units and portable moving 
and storage units and sell moving and self-storage products and services to complement our independent dealer network.

We rent our distinctive orange and white U-Haul® trucks and trailers, and orange door self-storage units, through a network of over 2,300 
Company-operated retail moving stores and over 21,000 independent U-Haul® dealers. We also sell U-Haul® brand boxes, tape and other moving 
and self-storage products and services to “do-it-yourself” moving and storage customers at all of our distribution outlets and through our 
uhaul.com® website and mobile app.

We believe U-Haul® is the most convenient supplier of products and services addressing the needs of the United States and Canada’s “do-it-
yourself” moving and storage markets. Our broad geographic coverage throughout the United States and Canada and our extensive selection of 
U-Haul® brand moving equipment rentals, self-storage units, portable moving and storage units and related moving and storage products and 
services provide our customers with convenient “one-stop” shopping.

Since 1945, U-Haul® has incorporated sustainable practices into its everyday operations. We believe that our basic business premise of 
equipment sharing helps reduce greenhouse gas emissions and reduces the inventory of total large capacity vehicles. We continue to look for 
ways to reduce waste within our business and are dedicated to manufacturing 
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reusable components and recyclable products. We believe that our commitment to sustainability, through our products and services and everyday 
operations has helped us to reduce our impact on the environment.

Through Repwest Insurance Company (“Repwest”) and ARCOA Risk Retention Group ("ARCOA"), our property and casualty insurance 
subsidiaries, we manage the property, liability and related insurance claims processing for U-Haul®. Oxford Life Insurance Company (“Oxford”), 
our life insurance subsidiary, sells life insurance, Medicare supplement insurance, annuities and other related products to the senior market.

Available Information

U-Haul Holding CompanySM and U-Haul® are each incorporated in Nevada. The internet address for U-Haul is uhaul.com. On U-Haul Holding 
Company’s investor relations website, investors.uhaul.com, we post the following filings as soon as practicable after they are electronically filed 
with or furnished to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”): our Annual Report on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on 
Form 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements related to meetings of our stockholders, and any amendments to those reports or 
statements filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. We also use our investor relations website as a means of 
disclosing material information and for complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. All such filings on our website are available 
free of charge. Additionally, you will find these materials on the SEC’s website at sec.gov.

Products and Rental Equipment

Our customers are primarily “do-it-yourself” household movers. U-Haul® moving equipment is specifically designed, engineered and 
manufactured for the “do-it-yourself” household mover. These “do-it-yourself” movers include individuals and families moving their belongings 
from one home to another, college students moving their belongings, vacationers and sports enthusiasts needing extra space or having special 
towing needs, people trying to save on home furniture and home appliance delivery costs, and “do-it-yourself” home remodeling and gardening 
enthusiasts who need to transport materials.

As of March 31, 2024, our rental fleet consisted of approximately 188,700 trucks, 139,400 trailers and 43,700 towing devices. This equipment 
and our U-Haul® brand of self-moving products and services are available through our network of managed retail moving stores and independent 
U-Haul dealers. Independent U-Haul® dealers receive rental equipment from the Company, act as rental agents and are paid a commission based 
on gross revenues generated from their U-Haul® rentals.

Our rental truck chassis are engineered by domestic truck manufacturers. These chassis are joined with the U-Haul® designed and 
manufactured van boxes primarily at U-Haul® operated manufacturing and assembly facilities strategically located throughout the United States. 
U-Haul® rental trucks feature our proprietary Lowest DeckSM, which provides our customers with extra ease of loading. The loading ramps on our 
trucks are the widest in the industry, which reduces the effort needed to move belongings. Our trucks are fitted with convenient rub rails with tie 
downs on every interior wall. Our Gentle Ride SuspensionSM helps our customers safely move delicate and prized possessions. Also, the 
engineers at our U-Haul Technical Center determined that the softest ride in our trucks was at the front of the van box. Consequently, we 
designed the part of the van box that hangs over the front cab of the truck to be the location for our customers to place their most fragile items 
during their move. We call this area Mom’s Attic®.

Our distinctive trailers are also manufactured at these same U-Haul® operated manufacturing and assembly facilities. These trailers are well 
suited to the low profile of many of today’s newly manufactured automobiles, including electric vehicles. Our engineering staff is committed to 
making our trailers easy to tow, safe, aerodynamic and fuel efficient.

To provide our self-move customers with added value, our rental trucks and trailers are designed with fuel efficiency in mind. Many of our 
trucks are equipped with fuel economy gauges, another tool that assists our customers in conserving fuel. To help make our rental equipment 
more reliable, we routinely perform extensive preventive maintenance and repairs.

We also provide customers with equipment to transport their vehicles. We provide two towing options: auto transport, in which all four wheels 
are off the ground, and a tow dolly, in which the front wheels of the towed vehicle are off the ground.

To help our customers load their boxes and larger household appliances and furniture, we offer several accessory rental items. Our utility dolly 
has a lightweight design and is easy to maneuver. Another rental accessory is our four wheel dolly, which provides a large, flat surface for moving 
dressers, wall units, pianos and other large household items. U-Haul® appliance dollies provide the leverage needed to move refrigerators, 
freezers, washers and dryers easily and safely. These utility, furniture and appliance dollies, along with the low decks and the wide loading ramps 
on U-Haul® trucks and trailers, are designed for easy loading and unloading of our customers’ belongings.

The total package U-Haul® offers to the “do-it-yourself” household mover doesn’t end with trucks, trailers and accessory rental items. Our 
moving supplies include a wide array of affordably priced U-Haul® brand boxes, tape and packing materials. We also provide specialty boxes for 
dishes, computers, flat screen television and sensitive electronic equipment, as well as tape, security locks, and packing supplies. U-Haul® brand 
boxes are specifically sized to make loading easier.

3

 



 

We estimate that U-Haul® is North America’s largest seller and installer of hitches and towing systems. In addition to towing U-Haul® 
equipment, these hitching and towing systems can tow jet skis, motorcycles, boats, campers and toy haulers. Each year, millions of customers 
visit our locations for expertise on complete towing systems, trailer rentals and the latest in towing accessories.

U-Haul® has one of North America’s largest propane refilling networks, with over 1,200 locations providing this convenient service. We employ 
trained, certified personnel to refill propane cylinders and alternative fuel vehicles. Our network of propane dispensing locations is one of the 
largest automobile alternative refueling networks in North America.

Our self-storage business was a natural outgrowth of our self-moving operations. Conveniently located U-Haul® self-storage rental facilities 
provide clean, dry and secure space for storage of household and commercial goods. Storage units range in size from 6 square feet to over 1,000 
square feet. As of March 31, 2024, we operate 1,962 self-storage locations in the United States and Canada, with nearly 1,004,000 rentable 
storage units comprising 86.8 million square feet of rentable storage space. Our self-storage centers feature a wide array of security measures, 
ranging from electronic property access control gates to individually alarmed storage units. At many centers, we offer climate-controlled storage 
units to protect temperature sensitive goods.

Another extension of our strategy to make “do-it-yourself” moving and storage easier is our U-Box® program.  A U-Box® portable moving and 
storage unit is delivered to a location of our customer’s choosing either by the customers themselves through the use of a U-Box® trailer, with the 
assistance of our Moving Help® program, or by Company personnel. Once the U-Box® portable moving and storage unit is filled, it can be stored 
at the customer’s location, or taken to one of our Company operated locations, a participating independent dealer, or moved to a location of the 
customer’s choice.

Additionally, we offer moving and storage protection packages such as Safemove® and Safetow®. These programs provide moving and towing 
customers with a damage waiver, cargo protection and medical and life insurance coverage. Safestor® provides protection for storage customers 
from loss on their goods in storage. Safestor Mobile® provides protection for customers’ stored belongings when using our U-Box® portable 
moving and storage units. For our customers who desire additional coverage over and above the standard Safemove® protection, we also offer 
our Safemove Plus® product. This package provides the rental customer with a layer of primary liability protection. 

We believe that through our website, uhaul.com, and the U-Haul® app, we have aggregated the largest network of customers and 
independent businesses in the self-moving and self-storage industry. In particular, our Moving Help® program connects “do-it-yourself” movers 
with thousands of independent service providers in the United States and Canada to assist our customers in packing, loading, unloading, cleaning 
and performing other services. 

Through the U-Haul Storage Affiliates® program, independent storage businesses can join one of the world’s largest self-storage reservation 
systems. Self-storage customers making a reservation through uhaul.com® or the U-Haul app can access all of the U-Haul® self-storage centers 
and all of our independent storage affiliate partners for even greater convenience to meet their self-storage needs. For the independent storage 
operator, our network gives them access to products and services allowing them to compete with larger operators more cost effectively.

We own numerous trademarks and service marks that contribute to the identity and recognition of our Company and its products and 
services. Certain of these marks are integral to the conduct of our business, a loss of any of which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business. We consider the trademark “U-Haul®” to be of material importance to our business in addition, but not limited to, the U.S. trademarks 
and service marks “AMERCO®”, “U-Haul Holding CompanySM”, “eMove®”, “Gentle Ride SuspensionSM”, “In-Town®”, “Lowest DecksSM”, “Moving 
made Easier®”, “Make Moving Easier®”, “Mom’s Attic®”, “Moving Help®”, “Moving Helper®”, “Safemove®”, “Safemove Plus®”, “Safestor®”, “Safestor 
Mobile®”, “Safetow®”,  “U-Box®”, “uhaul.com®”, “U-Haul Investors Club®”, “U-Haul Truck Share®”, “U-Haul Truck Share 24/7®“, "collegeboxes®“, "U-
Haul Ready-To-Go Box®“, “U-Note®”, “WebSelfStorage®”, and “U-Haul SmartMobilityCenter®”, among others, for use in connection with the 
moving and storage business. 

Description of Operating and Reportable Segments
U-Haul Holding Company’s three operating and reportable segments are:

• Moving and Storage, comprised of U-Haul Holding CompanySM, U-Haul®, and Amerco Real Estate Company (“Real Estate”), and the 
subsidiaries of U-Haul® and Real Estate,

• Property and Casualty Insurance, comprised of Repwest and its subsidiaries and ARCOA, and

• Life Insurance, comprised of Oxford and its subsidiaries.

Financial information for each of our operating and reportable segments is included in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as part 
of Item 8: Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Moving and Storage Operating Segment
Our Moving and Storage operating segment (“Moving and Storage”) consists of the rental of trucks, trailers, portable moving and storage 

units, specialty rental items and self-storage spaces primarily to the household mover as well as sales of moving supplies, towing accessories and 
propane. Operations are conducted under the registered trade name U-Haul® throughout the United States and Canada.

Net revenue from Moving and Storage was approximately 94.0%, 94.8% and 94.0% of consolidated net revenue in fiscal 2024, 2023 and 
2022, respectively.

The total number of rental trucks in the fleet decreased from fiscal 2023. The availability of new trucks for purchase has improved allowing us 
to increase the number of older trucks that we have retired and rotated out of the fleet in fiscal 2024.

Within our truck and trailer rental operation, we are focused on expanding our independent dealer network to provide added convenience for 
our customers. U-Haul® maximizes vehicle utilization by managing distribution of the truck and trailer fleets among the over 2,300 Company-
operated stores and nearly 21,000 independent dealers. Utilizing its proprietary reservations management system, our centers and dealers 
electronically report their inventory in real-time, which facilitates matching equipment to customer demand. Over half of all U-Move® rental 
revenue originated from our Company operated centers.

At our owned and operated retail stores, we are implementing new initiatives to improve customer service. These initiatives include expanding 
the capabilities of our U-Haul® app, improving management of our rental equipment to provide our retail centers with the right type of rental 
equipment, at the right time and at the most convenient location for our customers, effectively marketing our broad line of self-moving related 
products and services, expanding accessibility to provide more convenience to our customers, and enhancing our ability to properly staff locations 
during our peak hours of operations by attracting and retaining “moonlighters” (part-time U-Haul® system members with full-time jobs elsewhere) 
during our peak hours of operation. U-Haul offers U-Haul Truck Share 24/7® to our entire network in the United States and Canada. This allows 
our customers to rent equipment through a mobile device any time of the day without having to visit the counter. U-Haul currently has several U.S. 
and Canadian Patents granted or pending on its U-Haul Truck Share 24/7® system.

Our self-moving related products and services, such as boxes, pads and insurance, help our customers have a better moving experience and 
help them to protect their belongings from potential damage during the moving process. We are committed to providing a complete line of 
products selected with the “do-it-yourself” moving and storage customer in mind. 

Our self-storage business operations consist of the rental of self-storage units, portable moving and storage units, sales of self-storage related 
products, the facilitation of sales of services, and the management of self-storage facilities owned by others.

U-Haul® is one of the largest North American operators of self-storage and has been a leader in the self-storage industry since 1974. U-Haul® 
operates nearly 1,004,000 rentable storage units, comprising 86.8 million square feet of rentable storage space with locations in 50 states and 10 
Canadian provinces. Our owned and managed self-storage facility locations range in size up to 309,000 square feet of storage space, with 
individual storage units in sizes ranging from 6 square feet to over 1,000 square feet.

The primary market for storage units is the storage of household goods. We believe that our self-storage services provide a competitive 
advantage through such things as Max Security, an electronic system that monitors the storage facility 24 hours a day, climate control in select 
units, individually alarmed units, extended hours access, interior load and unload at selected locations, mobile device enabled rentals and an 
internet-based customer reservation and account management system.

Moving Help® and U-Haul Storage Affiliates® on uhaul.com are online marketplaces that connect consumers to independent Moving Help® 
service providers and thousands of independent Self-Storage Affiliates. Our network of customer-rated Moving Help® and storage affiliates 
provide pack and load help, cleaning help, self-storage and similar services all over the United States and Canada. Our goal is to further utilize 
our web-based technology platform, including our U-Haul® app, to increase service to consumers and businesses in the moving and storage 
market. 

Compliance with environmental requirements of federal, state, provincial and local governments affects our business. Our truck and trailer 
rental business is subject to regulation by various federal, state, provincial and local regulations in the United States and Canada. Specifically, the 
U.S. Department of Transportation and various state, federal and Canadian agencies exercise broad powers over our motor carrier operations, 
safety, and the generation, handling, storage, treatment and disposal of waste materials. In addition, our storage business is also subject to 
federal, state, provincial and local laws 
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and regulations relating to environmental protection and human health and safety. Environmental laws and regulations are complex, change 
frequently and could become more stringent in the future.

Moving and Storage business is seasonal and our results of operations and cash flows fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter. 
Historically, revenues have been stronger in the first and second fiscal quarters due to the overall increase in moving activity during the spring and 
summer months. The fourth fiscal quarter is generally our weakest.

Property and Casualty Insurance Operating Segment
Our Property and Casualty Insurance operating segment (“Property and Casualty Insurance”) provides loss adjusting and claims handling for 

U-Haul through regional offices across the United States and Canada. Property and Casualty Insurance also underwrites components of the 
Safemove®, Safetow®, Safemove Plus®, Safestor Mobile® and Safestor® protection packages to U-Haul customers. We attempt to price our 
products to be a good value to our customers. The business plan for Property and Casualty Insurance includes offering property and casualty 
products in other U-Haul related programs.

Net revenue from Property and Casualty Insurance was approximately 2.1%, 1.7% and 1.9% of consolidated net revenue in fiscal 2024, 2023 
and 2022, respectively.

Life Insurance Operating Segment
Life Insurance provides life and health insurance products primarily to the senior market through the direct writing and reinsuring of life 

insurance, Medicare supplement and annuity policies. 

Net revenue from Life Insurance was approximately 3.9%, 3.5% and 4.1% of consolidated net revenue in fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively.

Human Capital 
We work at never forgetting that our quality self-move, self-storage, and closely related services and products are meant to improve human 

lives and serve the do-it-yourself moving public.  We believe our workforce is a reflection of, and as diverse as the customers we serve.  
Discrimination based on race, gender, religion, age, ethnicity, disability familial status or any other form of discrimination prohibited by applicable 
law in the acquisition, promotion, compensation, management or retention of talent is not accepted.  We do not use a single or fixed set of 
measures or objectives as part of our recruitment and talent acquisition process or human resource management.   

System Members 
As of March 31, 2024, we employed approximately 32,200 people in the United States and approximately 2,100 in Canada with approximately 

99% of these system members working within Moving and Storage and approximately 52% of these system members working on a full-time 
basis.   

The Company operates over 2,300 retail locations, 11 manufacturing and assembly facilities, 153 fixed-site repair facilities, a distribution 
center and our corporate offices.  We hire system members from the communities in which we are located and prefer to promote from within our 
team.  

Benefits 
We focus on our system members’ wellness over the course of their life, from physical and emotional to financial.  

Our health benefit program provides medical, dental and vision benefits.  Participation in the health benefit program also includes access to 
our Healthier You wellness program that offers system members tools to enable them to live a healthier lifestyle.  This wellness program 
encompasses nutritional guidance, smoking cessation and fitness alternatives.  We also make available a system members assistance program 
focusing on mental health called You Matter, which offers counseling, work-life solutions and legal guidance. 

We encourage a work-life balance for our system members and their families through paid time off and various leave options as well as 
special benefits, including a healthy pregnancy program and a 24/7 doctor-on-call program for their children. 

Financial benefits are a critical component of our system members’ wellness.  These benefits include competitive salaries, participation in our 
Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) and 401(k) plan, life and disability insurance, health savings accounts, and the SmartDollar® financial 
literacy program.   

Education and Development 
The Company encourages life-long personal and professional development for our system members.  We do this by offering our system 

members and our independent dealers free access to our on-line U-Haul University courses that are 

6

 



 

helpful for the development of specialized industry knowledge and to the safety of our team.  To support more generalized education for our 
system members, we also provide a tuition reimbursement program. 

Community 
We value our relationship with the communities in which we do business. We offer community outreach through volunteer opportunities for our 

system members, as well as in-kind donations of equipment, products, and services. We are a strong supporter of military members and their 
families by way of employment opportunities as well as partnering with military and veteran organizations to support and honor those who have 
served. 

Sales and Marketing

We promote U-Haul® brand awareness through direct and co-marketing arrangements. Our direct marketing activities consist of web-based 
initiatives, print and social media as well as trade events, movie and television cameos of our rental fleet and boxes, television commercials, and 
industry and consumer communications. We believe that our rental equipment is our best form of advertisement. We support our independent U-
Haul® dealers through marketing U-Haul® moving and self-storage rentals, products and services.

Our marketing plan focuses on maintaining our leadership position in the “do-it-yourself” moving and storage industry by continually improving 
the ease of use and economy of our rental equipment, by providing added convenience to our retail centers, through independent U-Haul dealers, 
and by expanding the capabilities of our U-Haul® websites and U-Haul® app. 

A significant driver of rental transaction volume is our utilization of an online reservation and sales system, through uhaul.com®, the U-Haul 
app and our 24-hour 1-800-GO-U-HAUL telephone reservations system. These points of contact are prominently featured and are a major driver 
of customer lead sources.

Competition
Moving and Storage Operating Segment

The truck rental industry is highly competitive and includes a number of significant national, regional and local competitors. Generally 
speaking, we consider there to be two distinct users of rental trucks: commercial and “do-it-yourself” residential users. We primarily focus on the 
“do-it-yourself” residential user. Within this segment, we believe the principal competitive factors are convenience of rental locations, availability of 
quality rental moving equipment, breadth of essential products and services, and total cost to the user. Our major national competitors in both the 
in-town and one-way moving equipment rental market include Avis Budget Group, Inc. and Penske Truck Leasing. We have numerous 
competitors throughout the United States and Canada who compete with us in the in-town market including Enterprise Truck Rental, Turo, Fluid, 
Lugg, GoShare and others.

The self-storage market is large and fragmented. We believe the principal competitive factors in this industry are convenience of storage 
rental locations, cleanliness, security and price. Our largest competitors in the self-storage market are Public Storage Inc., CubeSmart, and Extra 
Space Storage, Inc.

Insurance Operating Segments
The insurance industry is highly competitive. In addition, the marketplace includes financial services firms offering both insurance and financial 

products. Some of the insurance companies are owned by stockholders and others are owned by policyholders. Many competitors have been in 
business for a longer period of time or possess substantially greater financial resources and broader product portfolios than our insurance 
companies. We compete in the insurance business based upon price, product design, and services rendered to agents and policyholders. 

Financial Data of Segment and Geographic Areas
For financial data of our segments and geographic areas please see Note 21, Reportable Segment Information and Note 22, Financial 

Information by Geographic Area, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 

Item 1A. Risk Factors
The following important risk factors, and those risk factors described elsewhere in this Annual Report or in our other filings with the SEC, 

could materially affect our business, financial condition and future results. We also refer you to the factors and cautionary language set forth in the 
section entitled “Cautionary Statements Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” above. All of the other information set forth in this Annual 
Report, including Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) and the consolidated 
financial statements and related notes, should be read in conjunction with the discussion of such risks, cautionary statements and other factors for 
a full understanding of our operations and financial conditions. Although the risks are organized by headings, and each risk is 
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discussed separately, many are interrelated. 

Risks Related to our Business and Operations
Our fleet rotation program can be adversely affected by financial market conditions.

To meet the needs of our customers, U-Haul maintains a large fleet of rental equipment. Our rental truck fleet rotation program is funded 
internally through operations and externally from debt and lease financing. Our ability to fund our routine fleet rotation program could be adversely 
affected if financial market conditions limit the general availability of external financing. This could lead us to operate trucks longer than initially 
planned and/or reduce the size of the fleet, either of which could materially and negatively affect our results of operations.

Another important aspect of our fleet rotation program is the sale of used rental equipment. The sale of used equipment provides us with 
funds that can be used to purchase new equipment. Conditions may arise that could lead to a decrease in demand and/or resale values for our 
used equipment. This could have a material adverse effect on our financial results, which could result in substantial losses and decreases in cash 
flows from the sale of equipment.

We obtain our rental trucks from a limited number of manufacturers.
Over the last twenty years, we have purchased the majority of our rental trucks from Ford Motor Company and General Motors Corporation. 

Our fleet can be negatively affected by issues our manufacturers may face within their own supply chains. Also, our suppliers may face financial 
difficulties, government regulations, or organizational changes which could negatively impact their ability to accept future orders from U-Haul or 
fulfill existing orders.

In addition, the cost of acquiring new rental trucks has increased significantly in recent years. If costs continue to significantly increase in the 
future, it could materially and negatively affect our ability to rotate new equipment into the fleet. Although we believe that we could contract with 
alternative manufacturers for our rental trucks, we cannot guarantee or predict how long that would take. In addition, termination of our existing 
relationships with these suppliers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations for an 
indefinite period of time.

A significant portion of our revenues are generated through third-parties.
Our business plan relies upon a network of independent dealers strategically located throughout the United States and Canada. As of March 

31, 2024, we had nearly 21,000 independent equipment rental dealers. In fiscal 2024, just under half of all U-Move® rental revenue originated 
through this network.

Our inability to maintain this network or its current cost structure could inhibit our ability to adequately serve our customers and could 
negatively affect our results of operations and financial position.

Existing and future laws or regulations favoring electric, autonomous, and connected vehicles may negatively impact the composition 
of our fleet and negatively affect our business and results of operations.

Regulatory pressure in connection with the introduction and expansion of electric, autonomous, and connected rental vehicles could both 
require infrastructure improvement that could inhibit our current business model and negatively impact our ability to acquire, or increase our cost 
of acquisition for rental trucks. For example, unless struck down by courts or otherwise amended or rescinded, the Advanced Clean Fleets 
(“ACF”) Regulation adopted by the California Air Resources Board would require us to phase out certain internal combustion engine vehicles from 
our fleet and replace them with so-called zero-emission vehicles (“ZEVs”). To accommodate ZEVs, our Company-operated locations and 
independent dealer network may require physical upgrades that are uneconomical and/or unachievable. Because many of our vehicles are used 
by our customers for one-way interstate moves, the ACF or similar laws and regulations that may be adopted in other states could affect our 
operations across North America because our one-way rental vehicles travel throughout the U.S. and Canada. Our one-way rental business 
would then depend, in whole or in part, on an in-transit recharging network throughout the United States and Canada to support ZEVs that one or 
more states may require us to incorporate into our rental fleet.  Such a recharging network does not exist today, and even if one is built, the 
increased rental cost, and time and cost required to charge electric vehicles or ZEVs may be so great as to substantially limit our ability to serve 
customers needing to move long distances. 

We cooperate with original equipment manufacturers (“OEM”s), maintain and train our own technical experts, and operate an equipment 
Technical Center that has positioned us as an industry leader in innovation for over fifty years. However, the proposed changes to electric, 
autonomous, and connected vehicles raise challenges of enormous scale. Our repair and maintenance infrastructures, including both physical 
plants as well as personnel, may be inappropriate for these new types of vehicles. Without such repair and maintenance capabilities it could 
compromise our ability to operate a fleet of such vehicles. We may also need to depend upon third party providers for some of those services, and 
they may not be able to provide workable solutions. There is a risk that we may not be able to adequately prepare for these 
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possibilities. In addition, even if we successfully adapt to any such changes, there can be no guarantee that our fleet or services as adapted 
would meet the needs of our “do-it-yourself” moving and storage customers, or that we would be able to offer our products and services at prices 
our customers would be willing or able to pay.

U-Haul has already made significant progress on several initiatives aimed at changing technologies, consumer preferences, and the 
regulatory environment, including: TruckShare 24/7®, contactless rentals, a North American propane alternative fuel network, alternative fuel test 
vehicles and close OEM working relationships. However, these initiatives may not enable us to successfully adapt to the requirements of a 
changed regulatory environment favoring or requiring all-electric or specific alternative fuel solutions. Government regulators may knowingly or 
unknowingly choose the winners and losers in this evolving transportation environment, and it is possible that they may not choose U-Haul 
customers and U-Haul to be among the winners.

The growing insistence that the future of the economy will be based on an all-electric solution instead of a hybrid version or other alternative 
fuels may create an infrastructure in which personal interstate travel will be uneconomical or severely regulated, which could materially and 
adversely affect our moving business, results of operations, and financial position. In addition, there is growing evidence that consumers may 
refuse to support an all-electric solution for their moving needs, squeezing U-Haul between government demands and consumer preferences.

We face liability risks associated with the operation of our rental fleet, sales of our products, and operation of our locations.  
The business of renting moving and storage equipment to customers exposes us to liability claims including property damage, personal injury, 

and even death. Likewise, the operation of our moving and storage centers along with the sale of our related moving supplies, towing accessories 
and installation, and refilling of propane tanks may subject us to liability claims. We seek to limit the occurrence of such claims through the design 
of our equipment, communication of its proper use, repair and maintenance schedules, training of our personnel, risk management assessments, 
and by providing our customers with online resources for the proper use of products and services. Regardless, accidents still occur, and we 
manage the financial risk of these events through third party insurance carriers. While these excess loss and property insurance policies are 
available today at affordable costs, this could change and could negatively affect our results of operations and financial position.

Cybersecurity incidents are inevitable and disruptions in our information technology systems or a compromise of security with respect 
to those systems could adversely affect us.

We rely on information technology systems to manage and support our operations and provide products, services, and support to our 
customers. In connection with these activities, we store and transmit proprietary information and sensitive or confidential data, including 
personally identifiable information of customers, team members and others. Our reliance on these technology systems and our storage and 
transmission of such data exposes us to various risks, including cyberattacks or failures in all or part of our technology systems that could result in 
disruptions in our operations, our ability to serve our customers, or a compromise of our data security. We also face such risks through our use of 
third-party service providers (including banks, dealers, administrators of our medical insurance plans, and law firms), our communication and filing 
data with regulatory authorities and government agencies, and our other interactions with third parties, any of whom could be the source of a 
cyberattack on our technology systems or data.

We commit resources to prevention, detection, and mitigation to limit the adverse effects of cybersecurity incidents. We have implemented 
security protocols, backup systems and alternative procedures to mitigate these risks. We employ IT security team members that have 
cybersecurity experience or certifications and utilize third-party service providers and consultants to protect our systems and assist us in 
managing these risks. Our Board and its Audit & Cyber Committee exercise oversight of our cybersecurity risks and management's oversight of 
the processes and procedures that protect our systems and data. However, despite our security measures, we cannot guarantee that we will not 
be adversely affected by cybersecurity incidents, including hacks of our systems, denial-of-service attacks, viruses and other malicious software 
(malware), team member error or malfeasance, phishing attacks, security breaches, disruptions during the process of upgrading or replacing 
computer software or hardware, or other attacks that may jeopardize the security of information stored in or transmitted by technology systems 
and networks that we or third-party service providers maintain, which include cloud-based networks and data center storage. 

In addition, our response to cybersecurity incidents, our investments in our technology, and our controls, processes, and practices, may not be 
sufficient to shield us from significant losses or liability. The techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or 
sabotage systems change frequently, may be difficult to detect, and often are not 
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recognized until launched against a target. As a result, we may not anticipate an attack or respond adequately or timely, and the extent of a 
particular incident may not be immediately clear. It could take significant time before an investigation can be completed and reliable information 
about the incident becomes known. During an investigation, it is possible we may not know the extent of the harm, or how to remediate it, which 
could further adversely impact us. New regulations could result in us being required to disclose information about a cybersecurity incident before it 
has been fully investigated, mitigated, or resolved. Due to the risk of allegations by plaintiffs’ counsel or government regulators armed with the 
benefit of hindsight, we may be required to disclose information about a cybersecurity incident even before we determine whether it was material. 

In addition, because our systems contain information about individuals and businesses, our failure to maintain the security of the data we 
hold, whether because of our own error or the malfeasance or errors of others, could lead to unauthorized access or the release of personally 
identifiable or otherwise confidential or protected information. Our failure to maintain the security of the data we hold could also violate applicable 
privacy, data security and other laws and subject us to lawsuits and regulatory enforcement resulting in fines. Regulators have been imposing new 
data privacy and security requirements, including new and greater monetary fines for privacy violations, such as those under the California 
Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, as amended by the California Privacy Rights Act. Other U.S. states and Canadian provinces have also proposed 
or adopted their own data protection legislation or regulations, which are often broad in scope and subject to evolving interpretations and 
increasing enforcement. Some of these laws and regulations provide for statutory damages or fines even if the Company has used commercially 
reasonable efforts to protect its data and systems but a bad actor breaches the Company’s cybersecurity defenses and gains access to 
personally identifiable information. Even if no party incurs any actual damages, the Company could be punished by the government for criminal 
cyberattacks by bad actors, and the fines or other costs imposed upon us could reach amounts that could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company, its results of operations, and financial condition. In addition, new and existing data privacy laws and regulations could diverge and 
conflict with each other in certain respects, making compliance increasingly difficult. Complying with new regulatory requirements could require us 
to incur substantial expenses and change our business. As regulators become increasingly focused on information security, data collection, and 
privacy, we may be required to devote significant additional resources to dealing with their demands.

We experience daily threats to our data and systems. We have experienced cybersecurity incidents in the past, none of which, to date, has 
resulted in a material impact on our business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. In 2021, we experienced a cybersecurity 
incident which is described in this Annual Report under the heading “Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operation – Cybersecurity Incident.” Although past events have not resulted in a material impact on our business strategy, results of 
operations or financial condition, the impacts of cybersecurity incidents in the future could be material. Although we maintain insurance coverage 
for various cybersecurity risks, there can be no guarantee that we will be fully insured, or that insurance coverage will remain available for 
cybersecurity risks. Significantly, no amount of effort to deter, identify, mitigate, and/or prevent cybersecurity breaches can achieve 100% success 
in the current cyber threat environment. Given the financial reward reaped by threat actors for their illegal attacks on technology systems and 
access to data, and the inability of governments or private industry to fully prevent such attacks and resulting breaches, we expect such attacks to 
continue. We also expect governments to continue to punish companies that are victims of cyberattacks, whether through statutory fines or 
otherwise. We cannot provide assurance that we will not experience future cybersecurity incidents or that such incidents will not have a material 
impact on our business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. Investors who require any such assurance should not invest in the 
Company.

We may incur losses due to our reinsurers’ or counterparties’ failure to perform under existing contracts or we may be unable to secure 
sufficient reinsurance or hedging protection in the future.

We use reinsurance and derivative contracts to mitigate our risk of loss in various circumstances. These agreements do not release us from 
our primary obligations and therefore we remain ultimately responsible for these potential costs. We cannot provide assurance that these 
reinsurers or counterparties will fulfill their obligations. Their inability or unwillingness to make payments to us under the terms of the contracts 
may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

As of the end of fiscal year 2024, Repwest reported $0.4 million of reinsurance recoverables, net of allowances and $36.2 million of reserves 
and liabilities ceded to reinsurers. Of this, Repwest’s largest exposure to a single reinsurer was $22.1 million.

As of the end of fiscal year 2024, Oxford's derivative hedges had a net market value of $10.5 million with notional amounts of $526.4 million.
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Risks Related to our Industry
We operate in a highly competitive industry.

The truck rental industry is highly competitive and includes a number of significant national, regional and local competitors, many of which are 
several times larger than U-Haul. We believe the principal competitive factors in this industry are convenience of rental locations, availability of 
quality rental moving equipment, breadth of essential services and products and total cost. Financial results for the Company can be adversely 
impacted by aggressive pricing from our competitors. Some of our competitors may have greater financial resources than we have. We cannot 
assure you that we will be able to maintain existing rental prices or implement price increases. Moreover, if our competitors reduce prices and we 
are not able or willing to do so as well, we may lose rental volume, which would likely have a materially adverse effect on our results of 
operations. Numerous potential competitors are working to establish paradigm shifting technologies from self-driving vehicles to vehicle sharing 
services and other technologies that connect riders with vehicles. 

The self-storage industry is large and fragmented. We believe the principal competitive factors in this industry are convenience of storage 
rental locations, cleanliness, security, and price. Competition in the market areas in which we operate is significant and affects the occupancy 
levels, rental rates, and operating expenses of our facilities. Competition might cause us to experience a decrease in occupancy levels, limit our 
ability to raise rental rates, or require us to offer discounted rates that would have a material effect on our results of operations and financial 
condition. Entry into the self-storage business may be accomplished through the acquisition of existing facilities by persons or institutions with the 
required initial capital. However, development of new self-storage facilities is more difficult due to land use, zoning, environmental, and other 
regulatory requirements. The self-storage industry has in the past experienced overbuilding in response to perceived increases in demand. 
Consolidation of ownership is taking place with certain owners of self-storage. We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully compete 
in existing markets or expand into new markets. 

Economic conditions, including those related to the credit markets, interest rates and inflation, may adversely affect our industry, 
business and results of operations.

Consumer and commercial spending are generally affected by the health of the economy, which places some of the factors affecting the 
success of our business beyond our control. Our businesses, although traditionally not as cyclical as some, could experience significant 
downturns in connection with or in anticipation of declines in general economic conditions. In times of declining consumer spending, we may be 
driven to reduce pricing, which could have a negative impact on gross profit. In addition, any downturn in the economy could result in reduced 
revenues and working capital. Trends in the economy are resulting in inflationary pressures leading to an increase in our cost of doing business. 
We cannot guarantee that we can manage the costs lower or pass them along in the form of higher prices to our customers.

Should credit markets in the United States tighten or if interest rates increase significantly, we may not be able to refinance existing debt or 
find additional financing on favorable terms, if at all. If one or more of the financial institutions that support our existing credit facilities fails or opts 
not to continue to lend to us, we may not be able to find a replacement, which would negatively impact our ability to borrow under credit facilities. 
If our operating results were to worsen significantly and our cash flows or capital resources prove inadequate, or if interest rates increase 
significantly, we could face liquidity problems that could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

A.M. Best financial strength ratings are crucial to our life insurance business.
In August 2023, A.M. Best affirmed the financial strength rating (“FSR”) for Oxford and Christian Fidelity Life Insurance Company (“CFLIC”) of 

A. The FSR outlook remains stable. In addition, A.M. Best affirmed the long-term issuer credit rating (“LTICR”) of “a”. The LTICR outlook of these 
ratings is stable. Financial strength ratings are important external factors that can affect the success of Oxford’s business plans. Accordingly, if 
Oxford’s ratings, relative to its competitors, are not maintained or do not continue to improve, Oxford may not be able to retain and attract 
business as currently planned, which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Risks Related to our Financings
We are highly leveraged.

As of March 31, 2024, we had total debt outstanding of $6,304.0 million and operating lease liabilities of $55.0 million. Although we believe, 
based on existing information, that additional leverage can be supported by our operations and revenues, our existing debt could impact us in the 
following ways, among others:

• require us to allocate a considerable portion of cash flows from operations to debt service and lease payments;

• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;

• limit our ability to obtain additional financing; and
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• place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors who may have less debt.

Our ability to make payments on our debt and leases depends upon our ability to maintain and improve our operating performance and 
generate cash flow. To some extent, this is subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial, business and other 
factors, some of which are beyond our control. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to service our debt and meet our 
other cash needs, including our leases, we may be forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures, sell assets, seek additional capital or 
restructure or refinance our indebtedness and leases. If we must sell our assets, it may negatively affect our ability to generate revenue. In 
addition, we may incur additional debt or leases that would exacerbate the risks associated with our indebtedness.

Risks Related to our Organization
A majority of our Voting Common Stock is owned by a small contingent of stockholders.

Willow Grove Holdings LP, directly and through controlled entities (“WGHLP”), owns 9,791,911 shares of our common stock, $0.25 par value 
per share (“Voting Common Stock”), and together with Edward J. Shoen and Mark V. Shoen, owns 9,828,542 shares (approximately 50.1%) of 
Voting Common Stock. The general partner of WGHLP controls the voting and disposition decisions with respect to the Voting Common Stock 
owned by WGHLP, and is managed by Edward J. Shoen (the Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of U-Haul Holding 
Company) and his brother, Mark V. Shoen. Accordingly, Edward J. Shoen and Mark V. Shoen are in a position to significantly influence our 
business and policies, including the approval of certain significant transactions, the election of the members of our board of directors (the “Board”) 
and other matters submitted to our stockholders. There can be no assurance that their interests will not conflict with the interests of our other 
stockholders.

Furthermore, we are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance standards. Under 
these corporate governance standards, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power for the election of directors is held by an 
individual, group or another company is a “controlled company” and may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance standards, 
including the requirements (1) that a majority of our Board consist of independent directors, (2) that our Board have a compensation committee 
that consists entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities, and (3) that our 
director nominations be made, or recommended to our full Board, by our independent directors or by a nominations committee that consists 
entirely of independent directors and that we adopt a written charter or board resolution addressing the nomination process. 

As described in this Annual Report, we rely upon our “controlled company” status to permit our full Board to nominate directors rather than 
delegate that responsibility to the independent directors or a nominations committee comprised of independent directors. For that reason, our 
Board has not created a nominating committee. In the future we may rely upon our status as a “controlled company” to not comply with other 
governance standards. For example, we may decide not to have a Board that consists of a majority of independent directors or a compensation 
committee that consists entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing its purposes and responsibilities. 

In addition, 776,964 shares (approximately 4.0% of our Voting Common Stock are owned under our ESOP. Each ESOP participant is entitled 
to vote the shares allocated to himself or herself in their discretion. If an ESOP participant does not vote his or her shares, those shares will be 
voted by the ESOP trustee, in the ESOP trustee’s discretion.  

The trading price for our outstanding Voting Common Stock and Series N Non-Voting Common Stock may be volatile.
The trading prices of our Voting Common Stock and Non-Voting Common Stock and the allocation of value between the two has previously 

been, and may be volatile and their respective values may decline. In addition, the trading prices of our two series of common stock may fluctuate 
widely in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. These factors include, among others:

• Quarterly variations in our results of operations or those of our competitors.

• Announcements by us or our competitors of acquisitions, new products, significant contracts, commercial relationships, or capital 
commitments.

• Recommendations by securities analysts or changes in earnings estimates.

• Announcements about our earnings that are not in line with analyst expectations.

• Announcements by our competitors of their earnings that are not in line with analyst expectations.

• Commentary by industry and market professionals about our products, strategies, and other matters affecting our business and 
results, regardless of its accuracy.
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• The volume of shares of Voting Common Stock and Non-Voting Common Stock available for public sale.

• Sales of Voting Common Stock and Non-Voting Common Stock by us or by our stockholders (including sales by our directors, 
executive officers, and other employees).

• Short sales, hedging, and other derivative transactions on shares of our Voting Common Stock and Non-Voting Common Stock.

• The perceived values of Voting Common Stock and Non-Voting Common Stock relative to one another.

Risks Related to Legal, Regulatory and Compliance
Our operations subject us to numerous environmental laws and regulations and the possibility that environmental liability in the future 
could adversely affect our operations.

Compliance with environmental requirements of federal, state, provincial and local governments in the United States and Canada affects our 
business. Among other things, these requirements regulate the discharge of materials into the air, land and water and govern the use and 
disposal of hazardous substances. Under environmental laws or common law principles, we can be held liable for hazardous substances that are 
found on real property we have owned or operated. We are aware of issues regarding hazardous substances on some of our real estate and we 
have put in place a remediation plan at each site where we believe such a plan is necessary. See Note 19, Contingencies, of the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements. We regularly make capital and operating expenditures to stay in compliance with environmental laws. In 
particular, we have managed a testing and removal program since 1988 for our underground storage tanks.   Despite these compliance efforts, 
the risk of environmental liability is part of the nature of our business.

Environmental laws and regulations are complex, change frequently and could become more stringent in the future. We cannot assure you 
that future compliance with these laws and regulations, future environmental liabilities, the cost of defending environmental claims, conducting 
any environmental remediation or generally resolving liabilities caused by us or related third parties will not have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition or results of operations.

We operate in a highly regulated industry and changes in existing laws and regulations or violations of existing or future laws and 
regulations could have a material adverse effect on our operations and profitability.

Our truck, trailer, self-storage, and U-Box rental business is subject to regulation by various federal, state and provincial governmental entities 
in the United States and Canada. Specifically, the U.S. Department of Transportation and various state, federal and Canadian agencies exercise 
broad powers over our motor carrier operations, safety, and the generation, handling, storage, treatment and disposal of waste materials. In 
addition, our storage business is also subject to federal, state, provincial and local laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and 
human health and safety, among other matters. The failure to comply with these laws and regulations may adversely affect our ability to sell or 
rent such property or to use the property as collateral for future borrowings. Compliance with changing laws and regulations could substantially 
impair real property and equipment productivity and increase our costs.

In addition, federal, state, or provincial governments may institute regulations that limit carbon emissions by setting a maximum amount of 
carbon individual entities can emit without penalty. This would likely affect everyone who uses fossil fuels and would disproportionately affect 
users in the highway transportation industries. While there are too many variables at this time to assess the impact of the various proposed 
federal and state regulations that could affect carbon emissions, many experts believe these proposed rules could significantly affect the way 
companies operate in their businesses.

The Biden administration has also communicated its willingness to consider the imposition of carbon-based taxes.  Our truck rental fleet burns 
gasoline, a carbon intensive fuel.  Where in the supply chain and in what amount these taxes could arise is uncertain.  We have no evidence to 
support a belief that “do-it-yourself” moving customers are willing to accept these additional costs.  Should such a tax be enacted, we could see 
an increase in expenses, including compliance costs and a negative effect on our operating margin.

Our operations can be limited by land-use regulations. Zoning choices enacted by individual municipalities in the United States and Canada 
may limit our ability to serve certain markets with our products and services.

Our insurance companies are heavily regulated by state insurance departments and the National Association of Insurance Commissioners. 
These insurance regulations are primarily in place to protect the interests of our policyholders and not our investors. Any new laws or regulations 
applicable to our insurance companies or any changes in existing laws and regulations could increase our costs, inhibit new sales, or limit our 
ability to implement rate increases.

Changes to U.S. tax laws may adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations and create the risk that we may need to 
adjust our accounting for these changes. 
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The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax Reform Act”) and the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) made significant 
changes to U.S. tax laws and includes numerous provisions that affect businesses, including ours. For instance, as a result of lower corporate tax 
rates, the Tax Reform Act tends to reduce both the value of deferred tax assets and the amount of deferred tax liabilities. It also limits interest 
expense deductions and the amount of net operating losses that can be used each year and alters the expensing of capital expenditures. Other 
provisions have international tax consequences for businesses like ours that operate internationally. The CARES Act allows for the carryback of 
certain net operating losses. The Tax Reform Act is unclear in certain respects and will require interpretations and implementing regulations by the 
Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”), as well as state tax authorities, and the Tax Reform Act and CARES Act could be subject to amendments and 
technical corrections, any of which could lessen or increase the adverse (and positive) impacts of these acts. The Tax Reform Act put into place 
100% first year bonus depreciation. This decreased to 80% starting in 2023, 60% in 2024 and will continue to gradually decrease in future years 
and will impact our tax liability. The accounting treatment of these tax law changes was complex, and some of the changes affected both current 
and future periods. Others primarily affected future periods. Additional changes to the U.S. tax code could negatively offset operating cashflows.

Changes to tax policy, corporate tax rates or interpretations of existing tax law could change our effective tax rate, reduce future expected tax 
deductions and increase current and future federal income tax payments. Congress and the Biden administration have proposed increases to the 
current U.S. corporate income tax rate of 21%. Any such changes could adversely impact our financial position and results of operations.

General Risk Factors
Terrorist attacks could negatively impact our operations and profitability and may expose us to liability and reputational damage.

Terrorist attacks may negatively affect our operations and profitability. Such attacks may damage our facilities and it is also possible that our 
rental equipment could be involved in a terrorist attack. Although we carry excess of loss insurance coverage, it may prove to be insufficient to 
cover us for acts of terror using our rental equipment. Moreover, we may suffer reputational damage that could arise from a terrorist attack which 
utilizes our rental equipment. The consequences of any terrorist attacks or hostilities are unpredictable and difficult to quantify. We seek to 
minimize these risks through our operational processes and procedures; however, we may not be able to foresee events that could have an 
adverse effect on our operations.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity
Cybersecurity incidents are inevitable in the current threat environment. We believe that it is a question of “when” not “if” a cybersecurity 

incident will occur. As a result, we commit resources to prevention, detection, and mitigation to limit the adverse effects of cybersecurity incidents, 
including the amount of information that can be extracted from our systems by threat actors, whether internal or external.

We take a cross-departmental approach to addressing cybersecurity risk, which includes input from senior management, our Cybersecurity 
Council (a taskforce comprised of representatives from primary corporate functions across our Moving and Storage, Property and Casualty 
Insurance, and Life Insurance subsidiaries), other team members, and oversight by the Board and its Audit & Cyber Committee.  We commit 
resources to cybersecurity and risk management processes to analyze the changing cybersecurity landscape and respond to ongoing and 
emerging threats. We monitor and assess the threat landscape on an ongoing basis. Our Cybersecurity Council reviews cybersecurity risks. In 
addition, we have a set of Company-wide policies and procedures that directly or indirectly relate to cybersecurity. These policies go through an 
internal review process and are approved by members of management.

The Company’s Director, Data Privacy & Security leads the IT security team and is responsible for coordinating and implementing our 
information security program. The Director, Data Privacy and Security also reports on cybersecurity matters to senior management and informs on 
such matters to the Audit & Cyber Committee of the Board. IT security team members have cybersecurity experience or certifications. We view 
cybersecurity as a shared responsibility, and we perform simulations and tabletop exercises with members of the Cybersecurity Council and other 
team members involved in incident response. We involve external resources and advisors as needed. Team members have on-demand online 
access to cybersecurity training through our online U-Haul University. 

We have expanded investments in IT security and improved access control and identity and authentication management, and engage 
consultants as needed. We test defenses by performing simulations and drills at both a technical level (including through penetration tests) and by 
reviewing our operational policies and procedures with third-party consultants. At the management level, our IT security team monitors alerts and 
meets to discuss threat levels, trends, mitigation, and remediation. The cybersecurity team collects data on cybersecurity threats and risk areas 
and conducts risk assessments. We conduct external penetration tests and maturity testing to assess our processes and procedures and the 
threat 
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landscape. In addition to assessing our own cybersecurity preparedness, we also consider and evaluate cybersecurity risks associated with the 
use of our third-party service providers. Our assessment of risks associated with our use of third-party service providers is part of our overall 
cybersecurity risk management framework.

The Audit & Cyber Committee and the full Board participate in discussions with management and amongst themselves regarding 
cybersecurity risks. The Audit & Cyber Committee reviews the Company’s cybersecurity program, which includes discussion of management’s 
actions to identify and detect threats, recent enhancements to the Company’s defenses, and management’s progress on its cybersecurity 
initiatives. In addition, the Board and the Audit & Cyber Committee discuss recent threats and how the Company is managing those threats. 

Despite our work to identify and address cybersecurity risks, we experience threats to our data and systems. We have experienced 
cybersecurity incidents in the past, including breaches of our data and systems. To date, none of those cybersecurity incidents has resulted in a 
material impact on our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. However, the impacts of cybersecurity incidents in the future 
could be material. For more information about the cybersecurity risks we face, see the risk factor entitled "Cybersecurity incidents are inevitable, 
and disruptions in our information technology systems or a compromise of security with respect to those systems could adversely affect us"  in 
Item 1A- Risk Factors in this Annual Report.

Item 2. Properties
The Company, through its legal subsidiaries, owns property, plant and equipment that are utilized in the manufacturing, repair and rental of U-

Haul® equipment and storage space, as well as providing office space for us. Such facilities exist throughout the United States and Canada. We 
also manage storage facilities owned by others. We operate over 2,300 U-Haul® retail centers of which 507 U-Haul branded locations are 
managed for subsidiaries of WGHLP and Mercury Partners, L.P., and 11 manufacturing and assembly facilities. We also operate over 153 fixed-
site repair facilities located throughout the United States and Canada. These facilities are used primarily for the benefit of Moving and Storage.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
Please see Note 18, Contingencies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

U-Haul Holding Company’s two classes of common stock are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbols “UHAL” for 
our Voting Common Stock and “UHAL.B” for our Non-Voting Common Stock. As of March 31, 2024, there were approximately 3,500 holders of 
record of our Voting Common Stock and approximately 4,100 holders of record of our Non-Voting Common Stock. We derived the number of our 
stockholders using internal stock ledgers and utilizing Mellon Investor Services Stockholder listings. 

Dividends
We do not have a formal dividend policy for our Voting Common Stock (UHAL).  We do have a dividend policy for our Non-Voting Common 

Stock (UHAL.B), which provides that unless the Board otherwise determines in its sole discretion, it is the Company’s policy to declare and pay a 
quarterly cash dividend. The dividend rate was increased from $0.04 per share 

15

 



 

to $0.05 per share in December 2023. The Board periodically considers the advisability of declaring and paying dividends to holders of each of 
our two classes of common stock in light of existing circumstances.

The following table lists the dividends that were declared and issued for fiscal 2024 and 2023.
 

Voting Common Stock Dividends
Declared Date   Per Share Amount     Record Date   Dividend Date

               
August 18, 2022 $   0.50     September 6, 2022   September 20, 2022
April 6, 2022 $   0.50     April 18, 2022   April 29, 2022
 

Non-Voting Common Stock Dividends
Declared Date   Per Share Amount     Record Date   Dividend Date

               
March 6, 2024 $   0.05     March 18, 2024   March 28, 2024
December 6, 2023 $   0.05     December 18, 2023   December 29, 2023
August 17, 2023 $   0.04     September 19, 2023   September 29, 2023
June 7, 2023 $   0.04     June 20, 2023   June 30, 2023
March 3, 2023 $   0.04     March 14, 2023   March 27, 2023
December 7, 2022 $   0.04     December 19, 2022   December 30, 2022
 

See Note 28, Statutory Financial Information of Insurance Subsidiaries, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of 
certain statutory restrictions on the ability of the insurance subsidiaries to pay dividends to U-Haul Holding Company.
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Performance Graph
The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on the Company’s Voting Common Stock (UHAL) and Non-Voting 

Common Stock (UHAL.B) for the period March 31, 2019 through March 31, 2024 with the cumulative total return on the Dow Jones US Total 
Market and the Dow Jones US Transportation Average. The comparison assumes that $100 was invested on March 31, 2019 in the Company’s 
common stock and in each of the comparison indices. The graph reflects the value of the investment based on the closing price of the common 
stock trading on the New York Stock Exchange and NASDAQ Global Select Market on March 31, 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024.
 

 
 
Fiscal years ended March 31:   2019     2020     2021     2022     2023     2024  
                                     
U-Haul Holding Company - UHAL $   100   $   78   $   166   $   162   $   163   $   184  
U-Haul Holding Company - UHAL.B     100       78       166       162       141       182  
Dow Jones US Total Market     100       85       127       134       128       154  
Dow Jones US Transportation Average     100       74       141       156       139       156  
 
Item 6. [Reserved]

Reserved. 
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
We begin this MD&A with the overall strategy of U-Haul Holding Company, followed by a description of, and strategy related to, our operating 

segments to give the reader an overview of the goals of our businesses and the direction in which our businesses and products are moving. We 
then discuss our critical accounting estimates that we believe are important to understanding the assumptions and judgments incorporated in our 
reported financial results. Next, we discuss our results of operations for fiscal 2024 compared with fiscal 2023, which are followed by an analysis 
of liquidity changes in our balance sheets and cash flows, and a discussion of our financial commitments in the sections entitled Liquidity and 
Capital Resources and Disclosures about Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments. The discussion of our financial condition and 
results of operations for the year ended March 31, 2022 included in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2023 is incorporated by reference into this MD&A. We 
conclude this MD&A by discussing our outlook for fiscal 2025.

This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the other sections of this Annual Report, including Item 1: Business and Item 8: Consolidated 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. The various sections of this MD&A contain a number of forward-looking statements, as discussed 
under the caption, Cautionary Statements Regarding Forward-Looking Statements, all of which are based on our current expectations and could 
be affected by the uncertainties and risk factors described throughout this Annual Report and particularly under the section Item 1A: Risk Factors. 
Our actual results may differ materially from these forward-looking statements.

U-Haul Holding Company has a fiscal year that ends on the 31st of March for each year that is referenced. Our insurance company 
subsidiaries have fiscal years that end on the 31st of December for each year that is referenced. They have been consolidated on that basis. Our 
insurance companies’ financial reporting processes conform to calendar year reporting as required by state insurance departments. We believe 
that consolidating their calendar year into our fiscal year consolidated financial statements does not materially affect the presentation of financial 
position or results of operations. We disclose all material events, if any, occurring during the intervening period. Consequently, all references to 
our insurance subsidiaries’ years 2023, 2022 and 2021 correspond to fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022 for U-Haul Holding Company. 

Overall Strategy
Our overall strategy is to maintain our leadership position in the North American “do-it-yourself” moving and storage industry. We accomplish 

this by providing a seamless and integrated supply chain to the “do-it-yourself” moving and storage market. As part of executing this strategy, we 
leverage the brand recognition of U-Haul with our full line of moving and self-storage related products and services and the convenience of our 
broad geographic presence.

Our primary focus is to provide our customers with a wide selection of moving rental equipment, convenient self-storage rental facilities and 
portable moving and storage units and related moving and self-storage products and services. We are able to expand our distribution and 
improve customer service by increasing the amount of moving equipment and storage units and portable moving and storage units available for 
rent, expanding the number of independent dealers in our network and expanding and taking advantage of our Storage Affiliate and Moving Help® 
capabilities.

Property and Casualty Insurance is focused on providing and administering property and casualty insurance to U-Haul and its customers, its 
independent dealers and affiliates.  

Life Insurance is focused on long-term capital growth through direct writing and reinsuring of life, Medicare supplement and annuity products 
in the senior marketplace. 

Description of Operating and Reportable Segments
U-Haul Holding Company’s three operating and reportable segments are:

• Moving and Storage, comprised of U-Haul Holding Company, U-Haul, and Real Estate and the subsidiaries of U-Haul and Real Estate;

• Property and Casualty Insurance, comprised of Repwest and its subsidiaries and ARCOA; and

• Life Insurance, comprised of Oxford and its subsidiaries.

See Note 1, Basis of Presentation, Note 21,Reportable Segment Information,  and Note 22, Financial Information by Geographic Area, of the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8: Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Annual 
Report.
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Moving and Storage Operating Segment
Moving and Storage consists of the rental of trucks, trailers, portable moving and storage units, specialty rental items and self-storage spaces 

primarily to the household mover as well as sales of moving supplies, towing accessories and propane. Operations are conducted under the 
registered trade name U-Haul® throughout the United States and Canada.

With respect to our truck, trailer, specialty rental items and self-storage rental business, we are focused on expanding our dealer network, 
which provides added convenience for our customers and expanding the selection and availability of rental equipment to satisfy the needs of our 
customers.

U-Haul® branded self-moving related products and services, such as boxes, pads and tape allow our customers to, among other things, 
protect their belongings from potential damage during the moving process. We are committed to providing a complete line of products selected 
with the “do-it-yourself” moving and storage customer in mind.

uhaul.com® and U-Haul's mobile app are an online marketplace that connects consumers to our operations as well as independent Moving 
Help® service providers and thousands of independent Self-Storage Affiliates. Our network of customer-rated affiliates and service providers 
furnish pack and load help, cleaning help, self-storage and similar services throughout the United States and Canada. Our goal is to further utilize 
our web-based technology platform to increase service to consumers and businesses in the moving and storage market.

Truck Share 24/7, Skip-the-Counter Self-Storage rentals and Self-checkout for moving supplies provide our customers methods for 
conducting business with us directly via their mobile devices and also limiting physical exposure.

Since 1945, U-Haul has incorporated sustainable practices into its everyday operations. We believe that our basic business premise of 
equipment sharing helps reduce greenhouse gas emissions and reduces the inventory of total large capacity vehicles. We continue to look for 
ways to reduce waste within our business and are dedicated to manufacturing reusable components and recyclable products. We believe that our 
commitment to sustainability, through our products and services and everyday operations has helped us to reduce our impact on the environment.

Property and Casualty Insurance Operating Segment
Property and Casualty Insurance provides loss adjusting and claims handling for U-Haul through regional offices in the United States and 

Canada. Property and Casualty Insurance also underwrites components of the Safemove®, Safetow®, Safemove Plus®, Safestor® and Safestor 
Mobile® protection packages to U-Haul® customers. We continue to focus on increasing the penetration of these products into the moving and 
storage market. The business plan for Property and Casualty Insurance includes offering property and casualty products in other U-Haul® related 
programs. 

Life Insurance Operating Segment
Life Insurance provides life and health insurance products primarily to the senior market through the direct writing and reinsuring of life 

insurance, Medicare supplement and annuity policies. 

Cybersecurity Incident
On September 9, 2022, we announced that the Company was made aware of a data security incident involving U-Haul's information 

technology network. U-Haul detected a compromise of two unique passwords used to access U-Haul customers' information. U-Haul took 
immediate steps to contain the incident and promptly enhanced its security measures to prevent any further unauthorized access. U-Haul retained 
cybersecurity experts and incident response counsel to investigate the incident and implement additional security safeguards. The investigation 
determined that between November 5, 2021 and April 8, 2022, the threat actor accessed customer contracts containing customers’ names, dates 
of birth, and driver’s license or state identification numbers. None of U-Haul’s financial, payment processing or email systems were involved. U-
Haul has notified impacted customers and relevant governmental authorities. 

Several class action lawsuits related to the incident have been filed against U-Haul. The lawsuits have been consolidated into one action in 
the U.S. District Court for the District of Arizona (the "Court"). On October 27, 2023, the Court dismissed with prejudice all claims except those 
brought under the California Consumer Privacy Act. The remaining claims will be vigorously defended by the Company; however, the outcome of 
such lawsuits cannot be predicted or guaranteed with any certainty. The parties are currently working on a settlement agreement, which will then 
go through the approval process by the Court.

Critical Accounting Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) in the 

United States. The methods, estimates and judgments we use in applying our accounting policies can have a significant impact on the results we 
report in our consolidated financial statements. Note 3, Accounting Policies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8: 
Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Annual Report summarizes the significant accounting policies and methods 
used in the preparation of our 

19

 



 

consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. Certain accounting policies require us to make difficult and subjective judgments and 
assumptions, often as a result of the need to estimate matters that are inherently uncertain.

Following is a detailed description of the accounting estimates that we deem most critical to us and that require management’s most difficult 
and subjective judgments. These estimates are based on historical experience, observance of trends in particular areas, information and 
valuations available from outside sources and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances and 
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
Actual amounts may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions, and such differences may be material.

We also have other significant accounting policies used to record the results of the majority of our recurring operations in our financial 
statements, such as revenue recognition; however, these policies do not meet the definition of critical accounting estimates, because they do not 
generally require us to make estimates or judgments that are difficult or subjective. The accounting policies and estimates that we deem most 
critical to us, and involve the most difficult, subjective or complex judgments include the following:

Recoverability of Property, Plant and Equipment
Our property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. We regularly perform reviews to determine whether facts and circumstances exist, which 

indicate that the carrying amount of assets, including estimates of residual value, may not be recoverable. Reviews are performed based on 
vehicle class, generally subcategories of trucks and trailers. We assess the recoverability of our assets by comparing the projected undiscounted 
net cash flows associated with the related asset or group of assets over their estimated remaining lives against their respective carrying amounts. 
We consider factors such as current and expected future market price trends on used vehicles and the expected life of vehicles included in the 
fleet. Impairment, if any, is based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of those assets. If asset residual values are determined 
to be recoverable, but the useful lives are shorter or longer than originally estimated, then the net book value of the assets is depreciated over the 
newly determined remaining useful lives.

Insurance Reserves
Life Insurance 

The liability for future policy benefits for traditional and limited-payment long duration life and health products is determined each reporting 
period based on the net level premium method. This method requires the liability for future policy benefits be calculated as the present value of 
estimated future policyholder benefits and the related termination expenses, less the present value of estimated future net premiums to be 
collected from policyholders. Both the present value of expected future benefit payments and the present value of expected future net premiums 
are based primarily on assumptions of discount rates, mortality, morbidity, lapse, and persistency. The Company reviews, and updates as 
necessary, its cash flow assumptions (mortality, morbidity, lapses and persistency) used to calculate the change in the liability for future policy 
benefits at least annually. 

Property & Casualty 

Property and Casualty Insurance’s liability for reported and unreported losses is based on historical data along with industry averages. The 
liability for unpaid loss adjustment expenses is based on historical ratios of loss adjustment expenses paid to losses paid. Amounts recoverable 
from reinsurers on unpaid losses are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim liability associated with the reinsured policy. 

Due to the nature of the underlying risks and high degree of uncertainty associated with the determination of the liability for future policy 
benefits and claims, the amounts to be ultimately paid to settle these liabilities cannot be precisely determined and may vary significantly from the 
estimated liability, especially for long-tailed casualty lines of business such as excess workers’ compensation.  As a result of the long-tailed nature 
of the excess workers’ compensation policies written by Repwest during 1983 through 2001, it may take a number of years for claims to be fully 
reported and finally settled. 

On a regular basis, insurance reserve adequacy is reviewed by management to determine if existing assumptions need to be updated. In 
determining the assumptions for calculating workers’ compensation reserves, management considers multiple factors, including the following: 

• Claimant longevity; 
 
• Cost trends associated with claimant treatments; 
 
• Changes in ceding entity and third-party administrator reporting practices; 
 
• Changes in environmental factors, including legal and regulatory; 

20

 



 
 
• Current conditions affecting claim settlements; and 
 
• Future economic conditions, including inflation. 

We have reserved each claim based upon the accumulation of current claim costs projected through each claimant’s life expectancy and then 
adjusted for applicable reinsurance arrangements.  Management reviews each claim bi-annually, or more frequently if there are changes in facts 
or circumstances, to determine if the estimated life time claim costs have increased and then adjusts the reserve estimate accordingly at that 
time.  We have factored in an estimate of what the potential cost increases could be in our liability related to claims incurred but not reported 
("IBNR").  We have not assumed settlement of the existing claims in calculating the reserve amount unless it is in the final stages of completion. 

Continued increases in claim costs, including medical inflation and new treatments and medications could lead to future adverse development 
resulting in additional reserve strengthening.  Conversely, settlement of existing claims or if injured workers return to work or expire prematurely, 
could lead to future positive development. 

Self-Insurance Liability 

U-Haul retains the risk for certain public liability and third-party property damage claims related to our rental equipment. These liabilities 
represent an estimate for both reported claims not yet paid, and claims incurred but not yet reported and are recorded on an undiscounted basis 
in policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses payable. Requirements are based on actuarial evaluation of historical accident claims 
expense and trends, as well as future projection of ultimate losses, expenses and administrative costs. The adequacy of the liability is monitored 
based on evolving claim history. This liability is subject to change in the future based upon changes in the underlying assumptions, including 
claims experience, frequency of incidents, and severity of incidents.  

U-Haul has operated a self-insurance program for general liability coverage related to risks arising from U-Haul's moving operations since 
2002. The Company maintains excess of loss coverage with third-party insurers for losses in excess of specific limits.

We estimate this liability based on actual claims outstanding as of the balance sheet date as well as an actuarial estimate of IBNR claims. 

Impairment of Investments
Under the current expected credit loss model, a valuation allowance is recognized in earnings for credit losses. If we intend to sell a debt 

security, or it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis, the debt security is 
written down to its fair value and the write down is charged against the allowance for credit losses, with any incremental impairment reported in 
earnings. Reversals of the allowance for credit losses are permitted and should not exceed the allowance amount initially recognized. 
Management considers the extent to which fair value is less than amortized cost, any changes to the rating of the security by a rating agency, and 
adverse market conditions specifically related to the security, among other factors.

There was a $1.0 million and $2.0 million net impairment charge recorded in fixed maturity securities for fiscal 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Income Taxes
We file a consolidated tax return with all of our legal subsidiaries.

Our income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits reflect the Company's best estimate of 
current and future taxes to be paid. We are subject to income taxes in the United States and other foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgments and 
estimates are required in the determination of the consolidated income tax expense.

Please see Note 15, Provision for Taxes, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8: Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Annual Report for more information.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Please see Note 3, Accounting Policies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8: Consolidated Financial 

Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Annual Report for more information.
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Results of Operations
U-Haul Holding Company and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Fiscal 2024 Compared with Fiscal 2023

Listed below, on a consolidated basis, are revenues for our major product lines for fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2023:
 

    Year Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  

Self-moving equipment rental revenues $   3,624,695   $   3,877,917  
Self-storage revenues    831,069      744,492  
Self-moving and self-storage products and service sales     335,805       357,286  
Property management fees     37,004       37,073  
Life insurance premiums     89,745       99,149  
Property and casualty insurance premiums     94,802       93,209  
Net investment and interest income     146,468       176,679  
Other revenue     466,086       478,886  

Consolidated revenue $   5,625,674   $   5,864,691  
 

Self-moving equipment rental revenues decreased $253.2 million during fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023. Transactions, revenue and 
average miles driven per transaction decreased with the rate of decline lessening throughout the year.  These declines were more pronounced in 
our one-way markets.  Compared to the end of last year, we decreased the number of trucks in the fleet while increasing the number of trailers 
and retail locations.

Self-storage revenues increased $86.6 million during fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023.  The average monthly number of occupied units 
increased by 7%, or 36,100 units during fiscal 2024 compared with the same period last year.  The growth in revenues and square feet rented 
comes from a combination of occupancy gains, the addition of new capacity to the portfolio and a 2.9% improvement in average revenue per 
occupied square foot. The occupancy gains and revenue per square foot improvements slowed over the course of the fiscal year. During fiscal 
2024, we added approximately 5.5 million net rentable square feet.  

Sales of self-moving and self-storage products and services decreased $21.5 million during fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023, primarily 
due to decreased sales of hitches, moving supplies and propane. The decrease in self-moving transactions has negatively impacted the sales of 
moving supplies.

Life insurance premiums decreased $9.4 million during fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023 primarily due to decreased sales of single 
premium life products and policy decrements in Medicare supplement.

Property and casualty insurance premiums increased $1.6 million during fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023. A significant portion of 
Repwest’s premiums are from policies sold in conjunction with U-Haul moving and storage transactions and generally correspond to the related 
activity at U-Haul during the same period.

Net investment and interest income decreased $30.2 million during fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023. Changes in the market value of 
unaffiliated common stocks held at our Property and Casualty Insurance subsidiary accounted for $17.9 million of the increase. Our Life Insurance 
subsidiaries investment income increased $22.3 million primarily from gains on derivatives used as hedges to fixed indexed annuities. The Moving 
and Storage segment decreased as the interest income has been classified as Other interest income in fiscal 2024.

Other revenue decreased $12.8 million during fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023, caused primarily by decreases in our U-Box® program.
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Listed below are revenues and earnings from operations at each of our operating segments for fiscal 2024 and 2023. The insurance 
companies’ years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
 

    Year Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  

Moving and storage            
Revenues $   5,294,928   $   5,567,714  
Earnings from operations before equity in earnings of subsidiaries     896,140       1,396,122  

Property and casualty insurance            
Revenues     123,085       103,512  
Earnings from operations     62,509       36,570  

Life insurance            
Revenues     219,202       206,100  
Earnings from operations     20,152       14,409  

Eliminations            
Revenues     (11,541 )     (12,635 )
Earnings from operations before equity in earnings of subsidiaries     (1,012 )     (1,521 )

Consolidated Results            
Revenues     5,625,674       5,864,691  
Earnings from operations     977,789       1,445,580  

 
Total costs and expenses increased $228.8 million during fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023. Operating expenses for Moving and Storage 

increased $99.7 million.  Repair expenses associated with the rental fleet experienced a $33.0 million increase during fiscal year 2024 due to 
higher cost of preventative maintenance along with the costs associated with selling more retired trucks. Personnel related costs increased $50.3 
million along with increases in liability costs, property taxes and building maintenance. 

 
Depreciation expense associated with our rental fleet increased $44.0 million for fiscal 2024 compared with fiscal 2023 due to an increase in 

the pace of new additions to the fleet combined with their higher cost.  Net gains from the disposal of rental equipment decreased $91.8 million as 
resale values have decreased and the average cost of units being sold has increased.  Depreciation expense on all other assets, largely from 
buildings and improvements, increased $40.0 million. Net losses on the disposal or retirement of land and buildings increased $2.3 million. 
Additional details are available in the following Moving and Storage section.  

As a result of the above-mentioned changes in revenues and expenses, earnings from operations decreased $467.8 million to $977.8 million 
for fiscal 2024, compared with $1,445.6 million for fiscal 2023.

Interest expense for fiscal 2024 was $256.2 million, compared with $224.0 million for fiscal 2023 due to an increase in our average cost of 
debt.  

Income tax expense was $211.5 million for fiscal 2024, compared with $294.9 million for fiscal 2023. See Note 14, Provision for Taxes, of the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8: Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Annual 
Report for more information on income taxes.

As a result of the above-mentioned items, earnings available to common stockholders were $628.7 million for fiscal 2024, compared with 
$924.5 million for fiscal 2023.
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Moving and Storage
Fiscal 2024 Compared with Fiscal 2023
Listed below are revenues for the major product lines at Moving and Storage for fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2023: 

 
    Year Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  

Self-moving equipment rental revenues $   3,629,215   $   3,882,620  
Self-storage revenues    831,069      744,492  
Self-moving and self-storage products and service sales     335,805       357,286  
Property management fees     37,004       37,073  
Net investment and interest income     —       70,992  
Other revenue     461,835       475,251  

Moving and Storage revenue $   5,294,928   $   5,567,714  
 

Self-moving equipment rental revenues decreased $253.4 million during fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023.  Transactions, revenue and 
average miles driven per transaction decreased with the rate of decline lessening throughout the year.  These declines were more pronounced in 
our one-way markets.  Compared to the end of last year, we decreased the number of trucks in the fleet while increasing the number of trailers 
and retail locations.

Self-storage revenues increased $86.6 million during fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023.  The average monthly number of occupied units 
increased by 7%, or 36,100 units during fiscal 2024 compared with the same period last year.  The growth in revenues and square feet rented 
comes from a combination of occupancy gains, the addition of new capacity to the portfolio and a 2.9% improvement in average revenue per 
occupied square foot. The occupancy gains and revenue per square foot improvements slowed over the course of the fiscal year. During fiscal 
2024, we added approximately 5.5 million net rentable square feet.

The Company owns and manages self-storage facilities. Self-storage revenues reported in the consolidated financial statements represent 
Company-owned locations only. Self-storage data for our owned storage locations follows:

 
    Year Ended March 31,    
    2024     2023    
  (In thousands, except occupancy rate)    

Unit count as of March 31     728       673    
Square footage as of March 31     61,857       56,382    
Average monthly number of units occupied     571       535    
Average monthly occupancy rate based on unit count     82.1   %   83.4   %
End of period occupancy rate based on unit count     79.3   %   81.2   %
Average monthly square footage occupied     49,515       46,257    

 
During fiscal 2024, we added approximately 5.5 million net rentable square feet of new storage. This was a mix of approximately 1.2 million 

square feet of existing self-storage acquired along with 4.3 million square feet of new development. 

Sales of self-moving and self-storage products and services decreased $21.5 million during fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023, primarily 
due to decreased sales of hitches, moving supplies and propane. The decrease in self-moving transactions has negatively impacted the sales of 
moving supplies

Net investment and interest income decreased $70.9 million during fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023 decreased as the interest income 
has been classified as Other interest income in fiscal 2024.

Other revenue decreased $13.4 million during fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023, caused primarily by decreases in our U-Box® program.

Total costs and expenses increased $227.2 million during fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023. Operating expenses increased $99.7 
million.  Repair expenses associated with the rental fleet experienced a $33.0 million increase during fiscal year 2024 due to higher cost of 
preventative maintenance along with the costs associated with selling more retired trucks. Personnel related costs increased $50.3 million along 
with increases in liability costs, property taxes and building maintenance. 
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Depreciation expense associated with our rental fleet increased $44.0 million for fiscal 2024 compared with fiscal 2023, due to an increase in 
the pace of new additions to the fleet combined with their higher cost.  Net gains from the disposal of rental equipment decreased $91.8 million as 
resale values have decreased and the average cost of units being sold has increased.  Depreciation expense on all other assets, largely from 
buildings and improvements, increased $40.0 million. Net losses on the disposal or retirement of land and buildings increased $2.3 million. 
Additional details are available in the following Moving and Storage section. 

 
    Year Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  
       
    (In thousands)  
Depreciation expense - rental equipment   $ 564,546     $ 520,502  
Depreciation expense - non rental equipment     94,902       86,178  
Depreciation expense - real estate     158,441       127,199  

Total depreciation expense   $ 817,889     $ 733,879  
             
Gains on disposals of rental equipment   $ (154,989 )   $ (246,761 )
(Gains) losses on disposals of non-rental equipment     1,031       (323 )

Total gains on disposals equipment   $ (153,958 )   $ (247,084 )
             

Depreciation, net of gains on disposals   $ 663,931     $ 486,795  
             
Losses on disposals of real estate   $ 7,914     $ 5,596  

 

Property and Casualty Insurance
2023 Compared with 2022

Net premiums were $97.9 million and $96.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. A significant portion of 
Repwest’s premiums are from policies sold in conjunction with U-Haul moving and storage transactions and generally correspond to the related 
activity at U-Haul during the same period.

Net investment and interest income were $25.2 million and $7.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The 
main driver of the change in net investment income was the increase in valuation of unaffiliated common stock.

Operating expenses were $48.3 million and $45.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The change was 
primarily due to an increase in commissions, wages and other administrative expenses.

Benefits and losses expenses were $11.9 million and $21.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Benefits 
and losses incurred decreased due to a reduction in reserves caused by favorable development in Repwest’s run-off book of business.

As a result of the above-mentioned changes in revenues and expenses, pretax earnings from operations were $62.5 million and $36.6 million 
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Life Insurance
2023 Compared with 2022

Net premiums were $89.7 million and $99.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Medicare Supplement 
premiums decreased due to the advanced age of the block. Life premiums decreased primarily from the decrease in sales of single premium life 
and final expense. Deferred annuity deposits were $352.6 million or $26.1 million above prior year and are accounted for on the balance sheet as 
deposits rather than premiums. 

Net investment income was $124.7 million and $102.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  Realized gains 
on derivatives used as hedges to fixed indexed annuities was $15.3 million this year compared to a $12.6 million realized loss for the prior year. 
The change in the provision for expected credit losses resulted in a $2.8 million additional increase to the investment income this year compared 
to a $2.9 million decrease last year. Net interest income and realized gain on the invested assets increased $3.0 million.

Operating expenses were $19.6 million and $21.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Benefits and losses incurred were $155.2 million and $142.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Interest 
credited to policyholders increased $18.7 million due to an increase in the interest credited rates on equity - indexed annuities due to rising equity 
markets. Life benefits decreased $3.3 million due to fewer death claims and lower sales. Medicare supplement benefits decreased by $4.0 million 
from fewer policies in force.

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs, sales inducement asset and the value of business acquired was $24.2 million and $27.9 million for 
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

As a result of the above-mentioned changes in revenues and expenses, pretax earnings from operations were $19.7 million and $13.9 million 
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
We believe our current capital structure is a positive factor that will enable us to pursue our operational plans and goals and provide us with 

sufficient liquidity. There are many factors which could affect our liquidity, including some which are beyond our control, and there is no assurance 
that future cash flows and liquidity resources will be sufficient to meet our outstanding debt obligations and our other future capital needs.

As of March 31, 2024, cash and cash equivalents totaled $1,534.5 million, compared with $2,060.5 million as of March 31, 2023. The assets 
of our insurance subsidiaries are generally unavailable to fulfill the obligations of non-insurance operations (U-Haul Holding Company, U-Haul and 
Real Estate). As of March 31, 2024 (or as otherwise indicated), cash and cash equivalents, other financial assets (receivables, other investments, 
fixed maturities, equity securities and related party assets) and debt obligations of each operating segment were:
 

   
Moving & 
Storage    

Property and 
Casualty 

Insurance (a)    
Life Insurance 

(a)  
    (In thousands)  

Cash and cash equivalents $   1,380,165   $   52,508   $   101,871  
Other financial assets     287,233       430,955       2,733,622  
Debt obligations (b)     6,304,038       —       —  
 
(a) As of December 31, 2023
(b) Excludes ($32,676) of debt issuance costs
 

As of March 31, 2024, Moving and Storage had available borrowing capacity under existing credit facilities of $506.1 million.  The majority of 
invested cash at the Moving and Storage segment is held in government money market funds.  Our current forecasted debt payments for fiscal 
2025 on all borrowings are $535.0 million. For detailed information regarding our debt obligations, please see Note 10, Notes, Loans and Finance 
Leases Payable, net, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

A summary of our consolidated cash flows for fiscal 2024 and 2023 is shown in the table below:

    Year Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  

Net cash provided by operating activities $   1,452,756   $   1,729,610  
Net cash used by investing activities    (2,046,373 )     (2,421,385 )
Net cash provided by financing activities     66,533       59,795  
Effects of exchange rate on cash     1,104       (11,633 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash flow     (525,980 )     (643,613 )
Cash at the beginning of the period     2,060,524       2,704,137  
Cash at the end of the period $   1,534,544   $   2,060,524  

 
Net cash provided by operating activities decreased $276.9 million in fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023 due to a decrease in Moving and 

Storage operating profits combined with an increase in claim payments and the timing of working capital payments and receivables.   
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Net cash used in investing activities decreased $375.0 million in fiscal 2024, compared with fiscal 2023. Purchases of property, plant and 
equipment increased $269.0 million. Fleet related spending increased $320.4 million while investment spending on real estate and development 
decreased $83.4 million.  Cash from the sales of property, plant and equipment increased $37.8 million largely due to fleet sales. For our 
insurance subsidiaries, net cash provided by investing activities increased $230.7 million. Net cash provided by investing activities for Moving and 
Storage increased $377.0 million on short-term Treasury notes.

Net cash provided by financing activities increased $6.7 million in fiscal 2024, as compared with fiscal 2023.  This was due to a combination of 
increased debt payments of $117.8 million, decreased finance lease payments of $18.6 million, an increase in cash from borrowings of $168.5 
million, a decrease in dividend payments of $2.0 million and an increase in net annuity withdrawals from Life Insurance of $65.8 million.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources and Requirements of Our Operating Segments
Moving and Storage

To meet the needs of our customers, U-Haul maintains a large fleet of rental equipment. Capital expenditures have primarily consisted of new 
rental equipment acquisitions and the buyouts of existing fleet from leases. The capital to fund these expenditures has historically been obtained 
internally from operations and the sale of used equipment and externally from debt and lease financing. In the future, we anticipate that our 
internally generated funds will be used to service the existing debt and fund operations. U-Haul estimates that during fiscal 2025 the Company will 
reinvest in its rental equipment fleet approximately $1,050 million, net of equipment sales and excluding any lease buyouts. For fiscal 2024, the 
Company invested, net of sales, approximately $891 million before any lease buyouts in its rental equipment fleet. Fleet investments in fiscal 
2025 and beyond will be dependent upon several factors, including the availability of capital, the truck rental environment, the availability of 
equipment from manufacturers and the used-truck sales market. We anticipate that the fiscal 2025 investments will be funded largely through debt 
financing, external lease financing and cash from operations. We consider several factors, including cost and tax consequences when selecting a 
method to fund capital expenditures. Our allocation between debt and lease financing can change from year to year based upon financial market 
conditions, which may alter the cost or availability of financing options. 

The Company has traditionally funded the acquisition of self-storage properties to support U-Haul's growth through debt financing and funds 
from operations. The Company’s plan for the expansion of owned storage properties includes the acquisition of existing self-storage locations 
from third parties, the acquisition and development of bare land, and the acquisition and redevelopment of existing buildings not currently used for 
self-storage. The Company expects to fund these development projects through a combination of internally generated funds, corporate debt and 
with borrowings against existing properties as they operationally mature. For fiscal 2024, the Company invested $1,258.0 million in real estate 
acquisitions, new construction and renovation and repair compared to $1,341.4 million in fiscal 2023.  For fiscal 2025, the timing of new projects 
will be dependent upon several factors, including the entitlement process, availability of capital, weather, the identification and successful 
acquisition of target properties and the availability of labor and materials.  We are likely to maintain a high level of real estate capital expenditures 
in fiscal 2025.  U-Haul's growth plan in self-storage also includes the expansion of the U-Haul Storage Affiliate program, which does not require 
significant capital.

Net capital expenditures (purchases of property, plant and equipment less proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment and lease 
proceeds) at Moving and Storage were $2,253.7 million and $2,025.6 million for fiscal 2024 and 2023, respectively. The components of our net 
capital expenditures are provided in the following table:

 
    Year Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  

Purchases of rental equipment $   1,619,366   $   1,298,955  
Purchases of real estate, construction and renovations     1,257,974       1,341,417  
Other capital expenditures     115,558       86,595  
Gross capital expenditures     2,992,898       2,726,967  

Less: Sales of property, plant and equipment     (739,178 )     (701,331 )
Net capital expenditures $   2,253,720   $   2,025,636  

 
Moving and Storage continues to hold significant cash and we believe has access to additional liquidity. Management may invest these funds 

in our existing operations, expand our product lines or pursue external opportunities in the self-moving and storage marketplace, pay dividends or 
reduce existing indebtedness where possible.
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Property and Casualty Insurance
State insurance regulations may restrict the amount of dividends that can be paid to stockholders of insurance companies. As a result, 

Property and Casualty Insurance's assets are generally not available to satisfy the claims of U-Haul Holding Company, or its legal subsidiaries. 
For calendar year 2024, the ordinary dividend available to be paid to U-Haul Holding Company from Repwest is $34.2 million. For more 
information, please see Note 28, Statutory Financial Information of Insurance Subsidiaries, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in, Item 8: Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report. We believe that stockholders’ equity at the 
Property and Casualty operating segment remains sufficient and we do not believe that its ability to pay ordinary dividends to U-Haul Holding 
Company will be restricted per state regulations.

Our Property and Casualty operating segment stockholders’ equity was $350.5 million and $294.5 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. The increase in 2023 compared with 2022 resulted from net earnings of $49.6 million and an increase in accumulated other 
comprehensive income of $6.4 million.  Property and Casualty Insurance does not use debt or equity issues to increase capital and therefore has 
no direct exposure to capital market conditions other than through its investment portfolio. 

Life Insurance
Life Insurance manages its financial assets to meet policyholder and other obligations, including investment contract withdrawals and 

deposits. Life Insurance's net withdrawals for the year ended December 31, 2023 were $59.0 million. State insurance regulations may restrict the 
amount of dividends that can be paid to stockholders of insurance companies. As a result, Life Insurance's assets are generally not available to 
satisfy the claims of U-Haul Holding Company or its legal subsidiaries. For calendar year 2024, the ordinary dividend available to be paid to U-
Haul Holding Company from Oxford is $5.3 million. For more information, please see Note 28, Statutory Financial Information of Insurance 
Subsidiaries, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in, Item 8: Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 
of this Annual Report.

Our Life Insurance operating segment stockholders’ equity was $197.7 million and $132.2 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. The increase in 2023 compared with 2022 resulted from earnings of $15.5 million and a increase in accumulated other 
comprehensive income of $50.0 million primarily due to the effect of interest rate changes on the fixed maturity portion of the investment portfolio.  
Life Insurance has not historically used debt or equity issues to increase capital and therefore has not had any significant direct exposure to 
capital market conditions other than through its investment portfolio. However, as of December 31, 2023, Oxford had outstanding advances of 
$60.0 million through its membership in the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”). For a more detailed discussion of these advances, please see 
Note 10, Notes, Loans and Finance Leases Payable, net, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Cash Flows by Operating Segments
Moving and Storage

Net cash provided by operating activities was $1,319.0 million and $1,593.7 million in fiscal 2024 and 2023, respectively, due to a decrease in 
operating profits.

Property and Casualty Insurance
Net cash provided by operating activities was $32.7 million and $36.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

The decrease was the result of changes in intercompany balances and the timing of payables activity.

Property and Casualty Insurance’s cash and cash equivalents and short-term investment portfolios amounted to $52.5 million and $27.2 
million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. These balances reflect funds in transition from maturity proceeds to long-term 
investments. Management believes this level of liquid assets, combined with budgeted cash flow, is adequate to meet foreseeable cash needs. 
Capital and operating budgets allow Property and Casualty Insurance to schedule cash needs in accordance with investment and underwriting 
proceeds.

Life Insurance
Net cash provided by operating activities was $101.0 million and $99.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022, 

respectively. The increase in operating cash flows was primarily due to timing of settlement of receivables for securities. This was offset by the 
decrease in premiums net of benefits and commissions.

In addition to cash flows from operating activities and financing activities, a substantial amount of liquid funds are available through Life 
Insurance's short-term portfolio and its membership in the FHLB. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, cash and cash equivalents amounted to 
$101.9 million and $15.0 million, respectively. Management believes that the overall sources of liquidity are adequate to meet foreseeable cash 
needs.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources - Summary
We believe we have the financial resources needed to meet our business plans, including our working capital needs. We continue to hold 

significant cash and have access to additional liquidity to meet our anticipated capital expenditure requirements for investment in our rental fleet, 
rental equipment and storage acquisitions and build outs. 

The IRS completed and finalized their examination for tax March 2014 through March 2021. As a result, we are owed $129 million which is 
reflected in prepaid expense.

Our borrowing strategy has primarily focused on asset-backed financing, private placements and rental equipment leases. As part of this 
strategy, we seek to ladder maturities and fix interest rates. While each of these loans typically contains provisions governing the amount that can 
be borrowed in relation to specific assets, the overall structure is flexible with no limits on overall Company borrowings. Management believes it 
has adequate liquidity between cash and cash equivalents and unused borrowing capacity in existing credit facilities to meet the current and 
expected needs of the Company over the next several years. As of March 31, 2024, we had available borrowing capacity under existing credit 
facilities of $506.1 million.  While it is possible that circumstances beyond our control could alter the ability of the financial institutions to lend us 
the unused lines of credit, we believe that there are additional opportunities for leverage in our existing capital structure. For a more detailed 
discussion of our long-term debt and borrowing capacity, please see Note 10, Notes, Loans and Finance Leases Payable, net, of the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8: Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Annual Report. 

Historically, we used certain off-balance sheet arrangements in connection with the expansion of our self-storage business. For more 
information, please see Note 20, Related Party Transactions, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8: Consolidated 
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Annual Report. These arrangements were primarily used when our overall borrowing 
structure was more limited. We do not face similar limitations currently and off-balance sheet arrangements have not been utilized in our self-
storage expansion in recent years. In the future, we will continue to identify and consider off-balance sheet opportunities to the extent such 
arrangements would be economically advantageous to us and our stockholders. 

Use of Cash
For material cash requirements as part of liquidity and capital resources discussion, please see Notes 10, Notes, Loans and Finance Leases 

Payable, net; 11, Interest on Notes, Loans and Finance Leases Payable, net; 19, Contingencies and 27 Life Insurance Liability, of the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8: Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Annual Report.  The 
following table provides additional detail for uses of cash and contingencies as of March 31, 2024.

 
          Payment due by Period (as of March 31, 2024)  

    Total    
04/01/24 - 
03/31/25    

04/01/25 - 
03/31/27    

04/01/27 - 
03/31/29     Thereafter  

    (In thousands)  
Notes, loans and finance leases payable - Principal $   6,304,038   $   534,979   $   1,578,357   $   1,358,258   $   2,832,444  
Notes, loans and finance leases payable - Interest     1,760,637       286,704       489,840       331,996       652,097  
Life, health and annuity obligations (a)     3,555,725       767,167       823,275       512,158       1,453,125  
Self-insurance accruals (b)     319,716       139,368       120,466       47,739       12,143  

Total contractual obligations $   11,940,116   $   1,728,218   $   3,011,938   $   2,250,151   $   4,949,809  
 

(a) These cash flows represent our estimates of the payments we expect to make to our policyholders, without consideration of future premiums or reinsurance recoveries. These 
estimates are based on numerous assumptions (depending on the product type) related to mortality, morbidity, lapses, withdrawals, future premiums, future deposits, interest rates on 
investments, credited rates, expenses and other factors which affect our future payments. The cash flows presented are undiscounted for interest. As a result, total outflows for all 
years exceed the corresponding liabilities of $2,785.3 million included in our consolidated balances sheet as of March 31, 2024. As such payments are based on numerous 
assumptions, the actual payments may vary significantly from the amounts shown.

(b) These estimated obligations are primarily the Company’s self-insurance accruals for portions of the liability coverage for our rental equipment. The estimates for future 
settlement are based upon historical experience and current trends. Due to the significant assumptions employed in this model, the amounts shown could materially differ from actual 
results.

ASC 740 - Income Taxes liabilities and interest of $94.6 million is not included above due to uncertainty surrounding ultimate settlements, if 
any. 

Fiscal 2025 Outlook 
We will continue to focus our attention on increasing transaction volume and improving pricing, product and utilization for self-moving 

equipment rentals. Maintaining an adequate level of new investment in our truck fleet is an important 
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component of our plan to meet our operational goals and is likely to increase in fiscal 2025. Revenue in the U-Move® program could be adversely 
impacted should we fail to execute in any of these areas. Even if we execute our plans, we could see declines in revenues primarily due to 
unforeseen events, including adverse economic conditions or heightened competition that is beyond our control.

With respect to our storage business, we have added new locations and expanded existing locations. In fiscal 2025, we are actively looking to 
complete current projects, increase occupancy in our existing portfolio of locations and acquire new locations. New projects and acquisitions will 
be considered and pursued if they fit our long-term plans and meet our financial objectives. It is likely spending on acquisitions and new 
development will remain high in fiscal 2025. We will continue to invest capital and resources in the U-Box® program throughout fiscal 2025.

Inflationary pressures may challenge our ability to maintain or improve upon our operating margin.

Property and Casualty Insurance will continue to provide loss adjusting and claims handling for U-Haul and underwrite components of the 
Safemove®, Safetow®, Safemove Plus®, Safestor®, and Safestor Mobile® protection packages to U-Haul customers.

Life Insurance is pursuing its goal of expanding its presence in the senior market through the sales of its Medicare supplement, life and 
annuity policies. This strategy includes growing its agency force, expanding its new product offerings, and pursuing business acquisition 
opportunities.
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Consolidating Schedules by Operating and Reporting Segment
This information includes elimination entries necessary to consolidate U-Haul Holding Company, the parent, with its subsidiaries.

Consolidating balance sheets by industry segment as of March 31, 2024 are as follows:
 
 

 

Moving & 
Storage

Consolidate
d    

Property & 
Casualty 

Insurance 
(a)    

Life 
Insurance 

(a)     Eliminations      

U-Haul 
Holding 

Company 
Consolidated  

    (In thousands)  
Assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents $   1,380,165   $   52,508   $   101,871   $   —     $   1,534,544  
Trade receivables and reinsurance recoverables, net     136,484       42,080       37,344       —         215,908  
Inventories and parts     150,940       —       —       —         150,940  
Prepaid expenses     246,082       —       —       —         246,082  
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale, at fair value     74,814       235,525       2,132,165       —         2,442,504  
Equity securities, at fair value     —       45,833       20,441       —         66,274  
Investments, other     1,000       101,301       531,635       —         633,936  
Deferred policy acquisition costs, net     —       —       121,224       —         121,224  
Other assets     60,221       17,448       34,074       —         111,743  
Right of use assets - financing, net     289,305       —       —       —         289,305  
Right of use assets - operating, net     52,945       655       112       —         53,712  
Related party assets

    74,935       6,216       12,037       (35,254 )
(c
)     57,934  

      2,466,891       501,566       2,990,903       (35,254 )       5,924,106  
                                 
Investment in subsidiaries

    548,205       —       —       (548,205 )
(b
)     —  

                                 
Property, plant and equipment, at cost:                                

Land     1,670,033       —       —       —         1,670,033  
Buildings and improvements     8,237,354       —       —       —         8,237,354  
Furniture and equipment     1,003,770       —       —       —         1,003,770  
Rental trailers and other rental equipment     936,303       —       —       —         936,303  
Rental trucks     6,338,324       —       —       —         6,338,324  

 
   

18,185,78
4       —       —       —        

18,185,78
4  

Less:  Accumulated depreciation     (5,051,132 )     —       —       —         (5,051,132 )
Total property, plant and equipment, net

   
13,134,65

2       —       —       —        
13,134,65

2  
Total assets

$  
16,149,74

8   $   501,566   $   2,990,903   $   (583,459 )   $  
19,058,75

8  
 
(a) Balances as of December 31, 2023
(b) Eliminate investment in subsidiaries
(c) Eliminate intercompany receivables and payables
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Consolidating balance sheets by industry segment as of March 31, 2024 are as follows:
 
 

 

Moving & 
Storage

Consolidate
d    

Property & 
Casualty 

Insurance 
(a)    

Life 
Insurance 

(a)     Eliminations      

U-Haul 
Holding 

Company 
Consolidated  

    (In thousands)  
Liabilities:                                

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $   756,497   $   9,623   $   16,964   $   —     $   783,084  
Notes, loans and finance leases payable, net     6,271,362       —       —       —         6,271,362  
Operating lease liabilities     54,249       670       113       —         55,032  
Policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses 
payable     319,716       132,479       396,918       —         849,113  
Liabilities from investment contracts     —       —       2,411,352       —         2,411,352  
Other policyholders' funds and liabilities     —       633       17,437       —         18,070  
Deferred income     51,175       —       —       —         51,175  
Deferred income taxes, net     1,505,202       4,809       (62,886 )     —         1,447,125  
Related party liabilities

    25,145       2,887       13,265       (41,297 )
(c
)     —  

Total liabilities     8,983,346       151,101       2,793,163       (41,297 )       11,886,313  
                                 
Stockholders' equity :                                

Series preferred stock:                                
Series A preferred stock     —       —       —       —         —  
Series B preferred stock     —       —       —       —         —  

Series A common stock     —       —       —       —         —  
Voting Common stock

    10,497       3,301       2,500       (5,801 )
(b
)     10,497  

Non-Voting Common Stock     176       —       —       —         176  
Additional paid-in capital

    462,758       91,120       26,271       (117,601 )
(b
)     462,548  

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
    (229,259 )     (8,366 )     (175,941 )     190,350  

(b
)     (223,216 )

Retained earnings
    7,599,880       264,410       344,910       (609,110 )

(b
)     7,600,090  

Cost of common shares in treasury, net     (525,653 )     —       —       —         (525,653 )
Cost of preferred shares in treasury, net     (151,997 )     —       —       —         (151,997 )
Total stockholders' equity     7,166,402       350,465       197,740       (542,162 )       7,172,445  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

$  
16,149,74

8   $   501,566   $   2,990,903   $   (583,459 )   $  
19,058,75

8  
 
(a) Balances as of December 31, 2023
(b) Eliminate investment in subsidiaries
(c) Eliminate intercompany receivables and payables
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Consolidating balance sheets by industry segment as of March 31, 2023 are as follows:
 
 

 

Moving & 
Storage

Consolidated    

Property & 
Casualty 

Insurance (a)    
Life 

Insurance (a)     Eliminations      

U-Haul 
Holding 

Company 
Consolidate

d  
    (In thousands)  
Assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents $   2,034,242   $   11,276   $   15,006   $   —     $   2,060,524  
Trade receivables and reinsurance recoverables, net     107,823       48,344       33,331       —         189,498  
Inventories and parts     151,474       —       —       —         151,474  
Prepaid expenses     241,711       —       —       —         241,711  
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale, at fair value     227,737       230,182       2,251,118       —         2,709,037  
Equity securities, at fair value     —       40,974       20,383       —         61,357  
Investments, other     23,314       125,130       427,096       —         575,540  
Deferred policy acquisition costs, net     —       —       128,463       —         128,463  
Other assets     46,438       730       3,884       —         51,052  
Right of use assets - financing, net     474,765       —       —       —         474,765  
Right of use assets - operating, net     57,978       914       25       —         58,917  
Related party assets

    69,144       2,347       12,268       (35,451 )
(c
)     48,308  

      3,434,626       459,897       2,891,574       (35,451 )       6,750,646  
                                 
Investment in subsidiaries

    426,779       —       —       (426,779 )
(b
)     —  

                                 
Property, plant and equipment, at cost:                                

Land     1,537,206       —       —       —         1,537,206  
Buildings and improvements     7,088,810       —       —       —         7,088,810  
Furniture and equipment     928,241       —       —       —         928,241  
Rental trailers and other rental equipment     827,696       —       —       —         827,696  
Rental trucks     5,278,340       —       —       —         5,278,340  

 
    15,660,293       —       —       —        

15,660,29
3  

Less:  Accumulated depreciation     (4,310,205 )     —       —       —         (4,310,205 )
Total property, plant and equipment, net

    11,350,088       —       —       —        
11,350,08

8  
Total assets

$   15,211,493   $   459,897   $   2,891,574   $   (462,230 )   $  
18,100,73

4  
 
(a) Balances as of December 31, 2022
(b) Eliminate investment in subsidiaries
(c) Eliminate intercompany receivables and payables
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Consolidating balance sheets by industry segment as of March 31, 2023 are as follows:
 
 

 

Moving & 
Storage

Consolidate
d    

Property & 
Casualty 
Insurance 

(a)    

Life 
Insurance 

(a)     Eliminations      

U-Haul 
Holding 

Company 
Consolidated  

 
 

(In 
thousands)                            

Liabilities:                                
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $   729,679   $   4,470   $   26,890   $   —     $   761,039  
Notes, loans and leases payable, net     6,108,042       —       —       —         6,108,042  
Operating lease liabilities     57,418       928       27       —         58,373  
Policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses 
payable     335,227       153,007       391,968       —         880,202  
Liabilities from investment contracts     —       —       2,398,884       —         2,398,884  
Other policyholders' funds and liabilities     —       2,702       5,530       —         8,232  
Deferred income     52,282       —       —       —         52,282  
Deferred income taxes, net     1,405,391       1,713       (77,615 )     —         1,329,489  
Related party liabilities

    25,082       2,544       13,644       (41,270 )
(c
)     —  

Total liabilities     8,713,121       165,364       2,759,328       (41,270 )       11,596,543  
                                 
Stockholders' equity :                                

Series preferred stock:                                
Series A preferred stock     —       —       —       —         —  
Series B preferred stock     —       —       —       —         —  

Series A common stock     —       —       —       —         —  
Voting Common stock

    10,497       3,301       2,500       (5,801 )
(b
)     10,497  

Non-Voting Common Stock     176       —       —       —         176  
Additional paid-in capital

    453,853       91,120       26,271       (117,601 )
(b
)     453,643  

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
    (291,442 )     (14,720 )     (225,904 )     246,443  

(b
)     (285,623 )

Retained earnings
    7,002,938       214,832       329,379       (544,001 )

(b
)     7,003,148  

Cost of common shares in treasury, net     (525,653 )     —       —       —         (525,653 )
Cost of preferred shares in treasury, net     (151,997 )     —       —       —         (151,997 )
Total stockholders' equity $   6,498,372       294,533       132,246       (420,960 )       6,504,191  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

   
15,211,49

3   $   459,897   $   2,891,574   $   (462,230 )   $  
18,100,73

4  
 
(a) Balances as of December 31, 2022
(b) Eliminate investment in subsidiaries
(c) Eliminate intercompany receivables and payables
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Consolidating statements of operations by industry segment for year ending March 31, 2024 are as follows:
 
 

 

Moving & 
Storage

Consolidate
d    

Property & 
Casualty 

Insurance 
(a)    

Life 
Insurance 

(a)     Eliminations      

U-Haul 
Holding 

Company 
Consolidated  

    (In thousands)  
Revenues:                                

Self-moving equipment rental revenues $   3,629,215   $   —   $   —   $   (4,520 ) (c) $   3,624,695  
Self-storage revenues     831,069       —       —       —         831,069  
Self-moving and self-storage products and service sales     335,805       —       —       —         335,805  
Property management fees     37,004       —       —       —         37,004  
Life insurance premiums     —       —       89,745       —         89,745  
Property and casualty insurance premiums     —       97,927       —       (3,125 ) (c)     94,802  
Net investment and interest income     —       25,158       124,686       (3,376 ) (b)     146,468  
Other revenue     461,835       —       4,771       (520 ) (b)     466,086  

Total revenues     5,294,928       123,085       219,202       (11,541 )       5,625,674  
                                 
Costs and expenses:                                

Operating expenses
    3,066,692       48,332       19,594       (8,147 )

(b,
c)     3,126,471  

Commission expenses     384,079       —       —       —         384,079  
Cost of product sales     241,563       —       —       —         241,563  
Benefits and losses     —       11,878       155,157       —         167,035  
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs     —       —       24,238       —         24,238  
Lease expense     34,609       366       61       (2,382 ) (b)     32,654  
Depreciation, net of gains on disposal     663,931       —       —       —         663,931  
Net losses on disposal of real estate     7,914       —       —       —         7,914  

Total costs and expenses     4,398,788       60,576       199,050       (10,529 )       4,647,885  
                                 
Earnings from operations before equity in earnings of subsidiaries     896,140       62,509       20,152       (1,012 )       977,789  
                                 
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries     65,109       —       —       (65,109 ) (d)     —  
                                 
Earnings from operations     961,249       62,509       20,152       (66,121 )       977,789  

Other components of net periodic benefit costs     (1,458 )     —       —       —         (1,458 )
Other interest income     120,501       —       —       (480 )       120,021  
Interest expense     (257,187 )     —       (480 )     1,492   (b)     (256,175 )

Pretax earnings     823,105       62,509       19,672       (65,109 )       840,177  
Income tax expense     (194,398 )     (12,931 )     (4,141 )     —         (211,470 )

Net earnings available to common stockholders $   628,707   $   49,578   $   15,531   $   (65,109 )   $   628,707  
 
(a) Balances for the year ended December 31, 2023
(b) Eliminate intercompany lease / interest income
(c) Eliminate intercompany premiums
(d) Eliminate equity in earnings of subsidiaries
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Consolidating statements of operations by industry segment for year ending March 31, 2023 are as follows:
 
 

 

Moving & 
Storage

Consolidate
d    

Property & 
Casualty 

Insurance 
(a)    

Life 
Insurance 

(a)     Eliminations      

U-Haul 
Holding 

Company 
Consolidated  

    (In thousands)  
Revenues:                                

Self-moving equipment rental revenues $   3,882,620   $   —   $   —   $   (4,703 ) (c) $   3,877,917  
Self-storage revenues     744,492       —       —       —         744,492  
Self-moving and self-storage products and service sales     357,286       —       —       —         357,286  
Property management fees     37,073       —       —       —         37,073  
Life insurance premiums     —       —       99,149       —         99,149  
Property and casualty insurance premiums     —       96,242       —       (3,033 ) (c)     93,209  
Net investment and interest income     70,992       7,270       102,448       (4,031 ) (b)     176,679  
Other revenue     475,251       —       4,503       (868 ) (b)     478,886  

Total revenues     5,567,714       103,512       206,100       (12,635 )       5,864,691  
                                 
Costs and expenses:                                

Operating expenses
    2,966,982       45,035       21,115       (8,585 )

(b,
c)     3,024,547  

Commission expenses     416,315       —       —       —         416,315  
Cost of product sales     263,026       —       —       —         263,026  
Benefits and losses     —       21,535       142,544       —         164,079  
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs     —       —       27,924       —         27,924  
Lease expense     32,878       372       108       (2,529 ) (b)     30,829  
Depreciation, net of gains on disposals     486,795       —       —       —         486,795  
Net losses on disposal of real estate     5,596       —       —       —         5,596  

Total costs and expenses     4,171,592       66,942       191,691       (11,114 )       4,419,111  
                                 
Earnings from operations before equity in earnings of subsidiaries     1,396,122       36,570       14,409       (1,521 )       1,445,580  
                                 
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries     41,201       —       —       (41,201 ) (d)     —  
                                 
Earnings from operations     1,437,323       36,570       14,409       (42,722 )       1,445,580  

Other components of net periodic benefit costs     (1,216 )     —       —       —         (1,216 )
Interest expense     (224,999 )     —       (480 )     1,521   (b)     (223,958 )
Fees on early extinguishment of debt     (1,009 )     —       —       —         (1,009 )

Pretax earnings     1,210,099       36,570       13,929       (41,201 )       1,219,397  
Income tax expense     (285,627 )     (6,815 )     (2,483 )     —         (294,925 )

Net earnings available to common stockholders $   924,472   $   29,755   $   11,446   $   (41,201 )   $   924,472  
 
(a) Balances for the year ended December 31, 2022
(b) Eliminate intercompany lease/interest income
(c) Eliminate intercompany premiums
(d) Eliminate equity in earnings of subsidiaries

36

 



 

Consolidating statements of operations by industry segment for year ending March 31, 2022 are as follows:
 
 

 

Moving & 
Storage

Consolidated    

Property & 
Casualty 

Insurance (a)    
Life 

Insurance (a)     Eliminations      

U-Haul 
Holding 

Company 
Consolidated  

    (In thousands)  
Revenues:                                

Self-moving equipment rental revenues $   3,963,535   $   —   $   —   $   (4,728 ) (c) $   3,958,807  
Self-storage revenues     617,120       —       —       —         617,120  
Self-moving and self-storage products and service sales     351,447       —       —       —         351,447  
Property management fees     35,194       —       —       —         35,194  
Life insurance premiums     —       —       111,027       —         111,027  
Property and casualty insurance premiums     —       89,667       —       (3,149 ) (c)     86,518  
Net investment and interest income     3,135       25,376       123,809       (4,059 ) (b)     148,261  
Other revenue     427,836       —       3,976       (439 ) (b)     431,373  

Total revenues     5,398,267       115,043       238,812       (12,375 )       5,739,747  
                                 
Costs and expenses:                                

Operating expenses
    2,621,270       42,456       21,112       (8,297 )

(b,
c)     2,676,541  

Commission expenses     429,581       —       —       —         429,581  
Cost of product sales     259,585       —       —       —         259,585  
Benefits and losses     —       22,448       163,123       —         185,571  
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs     —       —       33,854       —         33,854  
Lease expense     31,973       359       109       (2,531 ) (b)     29,910  
Depreciation, net of gains on disposals     482,752       —       —       —         482,752  
Net gains on disposal of real estate     (4,120 )     —       —       —         (4,120 )

Total costs and expenses     3,821,041       65,263       218,198       (10,828 )       4,093,674  
                                 
Earnings from operations before equity in earnings of subsidiaries     1,577,226       49,780       20,614       (1,547 )       1,646,073  
                                 
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries     55,822       —       —       (55,822 ) (d)     —  
                                 
Earnings from operations     1,633,048       49,780       20,614       (57,369 )       1,646,073  

Other components of net periodic benefit costs     (1,120 )     —       —       —         (1,120 )
Interest expense     (168,491 )     —       (480 )     1,547   (b)     (167,424 )
Fees on early extinguishment of debt     (956 )                         (956 )

Pretax earnings     1,462,481       49,780       20,134       (55,822 )       1,476,573  
Income tax expense     (338,119 )     (10,378 )     (3,714 )     —         (352,211 )

Net earnings available to common stockholders $   1,124,362   $   39,402   $   16,420   $   (55,822 )   $   1,124,362  
 

(a) Balances for the year ended December 31, 2021
(b) Eliminate intercompany lease/interest income
(c) Eliminate intercompany premiums
(d) Eliminate equity in earnings of subsidiaries
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Consolidating cash flow statements by industry segment for the year ended March 31, 2024, are as follows:
 
 

 

Moving & 
Storage 

Consolidated    

Property & 
Casualty 

Insurance (a)    
Life 

Insurance (a)     Elimination      

U-Haul Holding 
Company 

Consolidated  
    (In thousands)  
Cash flows from operating activities:    
Net earnings $   628,707   $   49,578   $   15,531   $   (65,109 )   $   628,707  
Earnings from consolidated subsidiaries     (65,109 )     —       —       65,109         —  
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash provided by operations:                                

Depreciation     817,889       —       —       —         817,889  
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts related to investments, net     —       1,572       15,277       —         16,849  
Amortization of debt issuance costs     6,712       —       —       —         6,712  
Interest credited to policyholders     —       —       71,433       —         71,433  
Provision for allowance (recoveries) for losses on trade receivables, net     2,463       (16 )     —       —         2,447  
Non cash lease expense     23,926       —       —       —         23,926  
Net gains on disposal of personal property     (153,958 )     —       —       —         (153,958 )
Net losses on disposal of real estate     7,914       —       —       —         7,914  
Net (gains) losses on sales of fixed maturity securities     —       10       (167 )     —         (157 )
Net gains on equity securities     —       (5,741 )     —       —         (5,741 )
Deferred income taxes     98,823       (37 )     (407 )     —         98,379  
Net change in other operating assets and liabilities:                                

Trade receivables and reinsurance recoverables     (31,143 )     6,145       (4,013 )     —         (29,011 )
Inventories and parts     518       —       —       —         518  
Prepaid expenses     (4,451 )     —       —       —         (4,451 )
Deferred policy acquisition costs, net     —       —       7,239       —         7,239  
Other assets and right of use assets - operating, net     12,359       680       (3,150 )     —         9,889  
Related party assets     (5,745 )     (3,869 )     —       —         (9,614 )
Accounts payable and accrued expenses and operating lease liabilities     (3,388 )     6,598       (13,907 )     —         (10,697 )
Policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses payable     (15,441 )     (20,528 )     (3,235 )     —         (39,204 )
Other policyholders' funds and liabilities     —       (2,069 )     11,991       —         9,922  
Deferred income     (1,096 )     —       (989 )     —         (2,085 )
Related party liabilities     63       343       5,444       —         5,850  

Net cash provided by operating activities     1,319,043       32,666       101,047       —         1,452,756  
                                 
Cash flows from investing activities:                                

Escrow deposits     2,983       —       —       —         2,983  
Purchases of:                                

Property, plant and equipment     (2,992,898 )     —       —       —         (2,992,898 )
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale     (170,317 )     (22,144 )     (151,705 )     —         (344,166 )
Equity securities     —       (529 )     (1 )     —         (530 )
Investments, other     (1,000 )     (10,375 )     (163,592 )     —         (174,967 )

Proceeds from sales of:                                
Property, plant and equipment     739,178       —       —       —         739,178  
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale     322,330       23,321       326,470       —         672,121  
Equity securities     —       1,413       4       —         1,417  
Investments, other     —       16,880       33,609       —         50,489  

Net cash used by investing activities     (2,099,724 )     8,566       44,785       —         (2,046,373 )

 
Page 1 of 2

(a) Balance for the period ended December 31, 2023
(b) Eliminate purchase and sale of real estate
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Continuation of consolidating cash flow statements by industry segment for the year ended March 31, 2024, are as follows:
 
 

 

Moving & 
Storage 

Consolidated    

Property & 
Casualty 

Insurance (a)    
Life 

Insurance (a)     Elimination      

U-Haul Holding 
Company 

Consolidated  
    (In thousands)  
Cash flows from financing activities:    

Borrowings from credit facilities     1,186,363       —       —       —         1,186,363  
Principal repayments on credit facilities     (919,771 )     —       —       —         (919,771 )
Payments of debt issuance costs     (4,082 )     —       —       —         (4,082 )
Finance lease payments     (105,564 )     —       —       —         (105,564 )
Securitization deposits     319       —       —       —         319  
Series N Non-Voting Common Stock dividends paid     (31,765 )     —       —       —         (31,765 )
Investment contract deposits     —       —       360,124       —         360,124  
Investment contract withdrawals     —       —       (419,091 )     —         (419,091 )

Net cash provided by financing activities     125,500       —       (58,967 )     —         66,533  
                                 
Effects of exchange rate on cash     1,104       —       —       —         1,104  
                                 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     (654,077 )     41,232       86,865       —         (525,980 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     2,034,242       11,276       15,006       —         2,060,524  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period     1,380,165       52,508       101,871       —         1,534,544  

 
Page 2 of 2

(a) Balance for the period ended December 31, 2023
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Consolidating cash flow statements by industry segment for the year ended March 31, 2023, are as follows:
 
 

 

Moving & 
Storage 

Consolidated    

Property & 
Casualty 

Insurance (a)    
Life 

Insurance (a)     Elimination    

U-Haul Holding 
Company 

Consolidated  
    (In thousands)  
Cash flows from operating activities:    
Net earnings $   924,472   $   29,755   $   11,446   $   (41,201 ) $   924,472  

Earnings from consolidated subsidiaries     (41,201 )     —       —       41,201       —  
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash provided by operations:                              
Depreciation     733,879       —       —       —       733,879  
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts related to investments, net     —       1,691       18,375       —       20,066  
Amortization of debt issuance costs     7,087       —       —       —       7,087  
Interest credited to policyholders     —       —       55,822       —       55,822  
Provision for allowance (recoveries) for losses on trade receivables, net     (4,714 )     (146 )     —       —       (4,860 )
Non cash lease expense     22,432       —       —       —       22,432  
Net gains on disposal of personal property     (247,084 )     —       —       —       (247,084 )
Net losses on disposal of real estate     5,596       —       —       —       5,596  
Net losses on sales of fixed maturity securities     —       44       8,256       —       8,300  
Net losses on equity securities     —       9,091       —       —       9,091  
Deferred income taxes, net     137,159       (2,757 )     (2,648 )     —       131,754  
Net change in other operating assets and liabilities:                              

Trade receivables and reinsurance recoverables     39,510       2,322       2,882       —       44,714  
Inventories and parts     7,265       —       —       —       7,265  
Prepaid expenses     (5,575 )     —       —       —       (5,575 )
Deferred policy acquisition costs, net     —       —       2,722       —       2,722  
Other assets and right of use assets - operating, net     (5,330 )     2       (1,077 )     —       (6,405 )
Related party assets     (4,898 )     4,354       —       —       (544 )
Accounts payable and accrued expenses and operating lease liabilities     16,935       625       16,703       —       34,263  
Policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses payable     5,849       (7,372 )     (13,659 )     —       (15,182 )
Other policyholders' funds and liabilities     —       (819 )     (1,761 )     —       (2,580 )
Deferred income     3,371       —       1,766       —       5,137  
Related party liabilities     (1,048 )     (640 )     928       —       (760 )

Net cash provided by operating activities     1,593,705       36,150       99,755       —       1,729,610  
                               
Cash flows from investing activities:                              

Escrow deposits     9,298       —       —       —       9,298  
Purchases of:                              

Property, plant and equipment

    (2,726,967 )     —       —       3,066  

(
b
)   (2,723,901 )

Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale     (224,999 )     (100,816 )     (297,674 )     —       (623,489 )
Equity securities     —       (3,281 )     (1,651 )     —       (4,932 )
Investments, other     (2,677 )     (42,643 )     (167,944 )     —       (213,264 )

Proceeds from sales of:                              
Property, plant and equipment     701,331       —       —       —       701,331  
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale     —       93,397       177,695       —       271,092  
Equity securities     —       1,280       6       —       1,286  
Investments, other

    —       16,389       147,871       (3,066 )

(
b
)   161,194  

Net cash (used) provided by investing activities     (2,244,014 )     (35,674 )     (141,697 )     —       (2,421,385 )

 
Page 1 of 2

(a) Balance for the period ended December 31, 2022
(b) Eliminate purchase and sale of real estate
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Continuation of consolidating cash flow statements by industry segment for the year ended March 31, 2023, are as follows:
 

 

 

Moving & 
Storage 

Consolidated    

Property & 
Casualty 

Insurance (a)    
Life 

Insurance (a)     Elimination    

U-Haul Holding 
Company 

Consolidated  
    (In thousands)  
Cash flows from financing activities:                              

Borrowings from credit facilities     1,017,898       —       —       —       1,017,898  
Principal repayments on credit facilities     (801,994 )     —       —       —       (801,994 )
Payment of debt issuance costs     (5,237 )     —       —       —       (5,237 )
Finance lease payments     (124,188 )     —       —       —       (124,188 )
Securitization deposits     217       —       —       —       217  
Voting common stock dividends paid     (19,608 )     —       —       —       (19,608 )
Series N Non-Voting Common Stock dividends paid     (14,117 )     —       —       —       (14,117 )
Investment contract deposits     —       —       341,483       —       341,483  
Investment contract withdrawals     —       —       (334,659 )     —       (334,659 )

Net cash provided (used) by financing activities     52,971       —       6,824       —       59,795  
                               
Effects of exchange rate on cash     (11,633 )     —       —       —       (11,633 )
                               
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     (608,971 )     476       (35,118 )     —       (643,613 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     2,643,213       10,800       50,124       —       2,704,137  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $   2,034,242   $   11,276   $   15,006   $   —   $   2,060,524  

 
Page 2 of 2

(a) Balance for the period ended December 31, 2022
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Consolidating cash flow statements by industry segment for the year ended March 31, 2022 are as follows: 
 
 

 

Moving & 
Storage 

Consolidated    

Property & 
Casualty 

Insurance (a)    
Life 

Insurance (a)     Elimination      

U-Haul Holding 
Company 

Consolidated  
    (In thousands)  
Cash flows from operating activities:    
Net earnings $   1,124,362   $   39,402   $   16,420   $   (55,822 )   $   1,124,362  

Earnings from consolidated subsidiaries     (55,822 )     —       —       55,822         —  
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash provided by operations:                                
Depreciation     696,955       —       —       —         696,955  
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts related to investments, net     —       1,638       18,111       —         19,749  
Amortization of debt issuance costs     5,659       —       —       —         5,659  
Interest credited to policyholders     —       —       64,692       —         64,692  
Provision for allowance (recoveries) for losses on trade receivables, net     4,689       (456 )     (6 )     —         4,227  
Non cash lease expense     21,662       —       —       —         21,662  
Net gains on disposal of personal property     (214,203 )     —       —       —         (214,203 )
Net gains on disposal of real estate     (4,120 )     —       —       —         (4,120 )
Net gains on sales of fixed maturity securities     —       (991 )     (10,881 )     —         (11,872 )
Net gains on equity securities     —       (7,837 )     —       —         (7,837 )
Deferred income taxes, net     106,869       1,347       (7,125 )     —         101,091  
Net change in other operating assets and liabilities:                                

Reinsurance recoverables and trade receivables     (28,776 )     17,180       2,409       —         (9,187 )
Inventories and parts     (53,301 )     —       —       —         (53,301 )
Prepaid expenses     232,342       —       —       —         232,342  
Deferred policy acquisition costs, net     —       —       1,228       —         1,228  
Other assets and right of use assets - operating, net     (6,526 )     346       (133 )     —         (6,313 )
Related party assets     (10,517 )     160       —       —         (10,357 )
Accounts payable and accrued expenses and operating lease liabilities     5,601       1,821       3,092       —         10,514  
Policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses payable     (8,428 )     (18,563 )     6,223       —         (20,768 )
Other policyholders' funds and liabilities     —       (177 )     (1,431 )     —         (1,608 )
Deferred income     6,551       —       (1,152 )     —         5,399  
Related party liabilities     255       (2,644 )     310       —         (2,079 )

Net cash provided by operating activities     1,823,252       31,226       91,757       —         1,946,235  
                                 
Cash flows from investing activities:                                

Escrow deposits     (9,328 )     —       —       —         (9,328 )
Purchases of:                                

Property, plant and equipment     (2,136,537 )     —       —       —         (2,136,537 )
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale     —       (84,666 )     (617,078 )     —         (701,744 )
Equity securities     —       (17,919 )     (9,380 )     —         (27,299 )
Investments, other     (33 )     (24,091 )     (134,284 )     —         (158,408 )

Proceeds from sales of:                                
Property, plant and equipment     623,235       —       —       —         623,235  
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale     —       74,938       337,590       —         412,528  
Equity securities     —       2,020       2,026       —         4,046  
Investments, other     113       23,634       102,584       —         126,331  

Net cash used by investing activities     (1,522,550 )     (26,084 )     (318,542 )     —         (1,867,176 )
 

Page 1 of 2
(a) Balance for the period ended December 31, 2021
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Continuation of consolidating cash flow statements by industry segment for the year ended March 31, 2022 are as follows:
 

 

 

Moving & 
Storage 

Consolidated    

Property & 
Casualty 

Insurance (a)    
Life 

Insurance (a)     Elimination      

U-Haul Holding 
Company 

Consolidated  
    (In thousands)  
Cash flows from financing activities:    

Borrowings from credit facilities     1,969,474       —       —       —         1,969,474  
Principal repayments on credit facilities     (426,319 )     —       (11,187 )     —         (437,506 )
Payment of debt issuance costs     (13,156 )     —       —       —         (13,156 )
Finance lease payments     (166,262 )     —       —       —         (166,262 )
Voting common stock dividends paid     (29,412 )     —       —       —         (29,412 )
Investment contract deposits     —       —       347,520       —         347,520  
Investment contract withdrawals     —       —       (237,503 )     —         (237,503 )

Net cash provided (used) by financing activities     1,334,325       —       98,830       —         1,433,155  
                                 
Effects of exchange rate on cash     (2,089 )     —       —       —         (2,089 )
                                 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents     1,632,938       5,142       (127,955 )     —         1,510,125  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     1,010,275       5,658       178,079       —         1,194,012  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $   2,643,213   $   10,800   $   50,124   $   —     $   2,704,137  

 
Page 2 of 2

(a) Balance for the period ended December 31, 2021
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to financial market risks, including changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates. To mitigate these risks, we may 
utilize derivative financial instruments, among other strategies. We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.  

Interest Rate Risk
The exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our variable rate debt obligations. We have used interest rate 

swap agreements and forward swaps to reduce our exposure to changes in interest rates. We enter into these arrangements with counterparties 
that are significant financial institutions with whom we generally have other financial arrangements. We are exposed to credit risk should these 
counterparties not be able to perform on their obligations. Following is a summary of our interest rate swaps agreements at March 31, 2024:
 
  Notional Amount       Fair Value     Effective Date   Expiration Date   Fixed Rate     Floating Rate
  (In thousands)                    
$   57,867     $   3,474     7/15/2022   7/15/2032     2.86 %   1 Month SOFR
    70,250         2,481     8/1/2022   8/1/2026     2.72 %   1 Month SOFR
    69,750         2,423     8/1/2022   8/31/2026     2.75 %   1 Month SOFR
    100,000         14     8/31/2023   8/31/2025     4.71 %  1 Month SOFR

 
As of March 31, 2024, we had $749.5 million of variable rate debt obligations, of this amount, $451.7 million is not fixed through interest rate 

swaps. If the Secured Overnight Funding Rate (“SOFR”) were to increase 100 basis points, the increase in interest expense on the variable rate 
debt would decrease future earnings and cash flows by $4.5 million annually (after consideration of the effect of the above derivative contracts). 
Certain senior mortgages have an anticipated repayment date and a maturity date. If these senior mortgages are not repaid by the anticipated 
repayment date the interest rate on these mortgages would increase from the current fixed rate. We are using the anticipated repayment date for 
our maturity schedule.

Additionally, our insurance subsidiaries’ fixed income investment portfolios expose us to interest rate risk. This interest rate risk is the price 
sensitivity of a fixed income security to changes in interest rates. As part of our insurance companies’ asset and liability management, actuaries 
estimate the cash flow patterns of our existing liabilities to determine their duration. These outcomes are compared to the characteristics of the 
assets that are currently supporting these liabilities assisting management in determining an asset allocation strategy for future investments that 
management believes will mitigate the overall effect of interest rates.

The following table illustrates the interest rate risk sensitivity of our fixed maturity portfolio as of March 31, 2024 and 2023. This table 
measures the effect of a parallel shift in interest rates (as represented by the U.S. Treasury curve) on the fair value of the fixed maturity portfolio. 
The data measures the change in fair value arising from an immediate and sustained change in interest rates in increments of 100 basis points.
 

    Market Value of Mixed Maturity Portfolio  
    As of March 31,  

Change in Interest Rates (a)   2024       2023  
    (In thousands)  

               
-300bps $   2,798,226     $   3,100,972  
-200bps     2,679,594         2,970,228  
-100bps     2,561,038         2,839,624  
No change     2,442,504         2,709,037  
+100bps     2,324,207         2,578,654  
+200bps     2,205,932         2,448,348  
+300bps     2,087,750         2,318,149  

               
(a) In basis points              

 
We use derivatives to hedge our equity market exposure to indexed annuity products sold by our Life Insurance company. These contracts 

earn a return for the contractholder based on the change in the value of the S&P 500 index 
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between annual index point dates. We buy and sell listed equity and index call options and call option spreads. The credit risk is with the party in 
which the options are written. The net option price is paid up front and there are no additional cash requirements or additional contingent 
liabilities. These contracts are held at fair value on our balance sheet. At March 31, 2024 and 2023, these derivative hedges had a net market 
value of $10.5 million and $4.3 million, with notional amounts of $526.4 million and $465.7 million, respectively. These derivative instruments are 
included in Investments, other; on the consolidated balance sheets.

Although the call options are employed to be effective hedges against our policyholder obligations from an economic standpoint, they do not 
meet the requirements for hedge accounting under GAAP. Accordingly, the call options are marked to fair value on each reporting date with the 
change in fair value included as a component of net investment and interest income. The change in fair value of the call options includes the 
gains or losses recognized at the expiration of the option term and the changes in fair value for open contracts.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
The exposure to market risk for changes in foreign currency exchange rates relates primarily to our Canadian business. Approximately 5.1% 

of our revenue was generated in Canada for both fiscal 2024 and 2023, respectively. The result of a 10% change in the value of the U.S. dollar 
relative to the Canadian dollar would not be material to net income. We typically do not hedge any foreign currency risk since the exposure is not 
considered material.

Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm and Consolidated Financial Statements of U-Haul Holding Company and its 

consolidated subsidiaries, including the notes to such statements and the related schedules are set forth on the “F” pages hereto and are 
incorporated by reference herein.

 
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A.   Controls and Procedures
Attached as exhibits to this Annual Report are certifications of our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), which 

are required in accordance with Rule 13a-14 of the Exchange Act. This "Controls and Procedures" section includes information concerning the 
controls and procedures evaluation referred to in the certifications and it should be read in conjunction with the certifications for a more complete 
understanding of the topics presented in the section Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. 

Following this discussion is the report of Deloitte Touche, LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, regarding its audit of U-Haul 
Holding Company’s internal control over financial reporting as set forth below in this section. This section should be read in conjunction with the 
certifications of our CEO and CFO and the Deloitte & Touche, LLP report for a more complete understanding of the topics presented.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company’s management, with the participation of the CEO and CFO, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and 
operation of the Company’s "disclosure controls and procedures" (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange 
Act, as of March 31, 2024. Based upon the controls evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that our Disclosure Controls were effective as 
of March 31, 2024, the end of the period covered by this Annual Report.

Remediation of Previously Disclosed Material Weaknesses
As previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, we identified two material weaknesses 

in our internal controls over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial 
reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be 
prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Two-Class Method of Earnings per Share. Our remediation efforts previously identified in Item 9A. “Controls and Procedures” of our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023 to address the identified material weakness related to the accounting for the two-
class method of earnings per share associated with the recently issued UHAL.B common stock were completed and the material weakness was 
remediated as previously disclosed in Item 4 “Controls and Procedures” of our Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2023.
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General Information Technology Controls. Our remediation efforts previously identified in Item 9A. “Controls and Procedures” of our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023 to address the identified material weakness related to inadequate design, 
implementation and monitoring of general information technology controls in the areas of program change management, user access, segregation 
of duties and cyber security for systems supporting substantially all of the Company’s internal control processes have been completed.  

We completed the execution of the following remediation measures, including testing of the design and concluding on the operating 
effectiveness of the related controls:

• Assessed and formalized the design of certain information technology policies;

• Implemented controls and procedures relating to program change management, user access, segregation of duties and cyber 
security for systems supporting substantially all of the Company’s internal control processes;

• Developed monitoring controls and protocols allowing us to timely assess the design and operating effectiveness of the new and 
redesigned controls;

• Strengthened password policies;

• Conducted more frequent end-user access reviews and removed unnecessary access to systems;

• Enhanced the process for timely review of program management changes; and 

• Enhanced the Company's cyber security risk management program.

Based upon the above, we believe the steps taken have improved the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and we 
have determined that these new or redesigned controls are operating effectively.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange 

Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of 
the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Management assessed our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2024 based on the criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework (2013)issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Management's assessment 
included evaluation of such elements as the design and operating effectiveness of key financial reporting controls, process documentation, 
accounting policies, and our overall control environment. This assessment is supported by testing and monitoring performed both by our Internal 
Audit function and our Finance function. 

Based on our assessment, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of March 31, 2024. 

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2024 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an 
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Except for the improvements to our internal control over financial reporting to remediate the material weaknesses discussed above, there 

have been no other changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended March 31, 2024 that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls 
The Company's management, including the CEO and CFO, does not expect that our Disclosure Controls or our internal control over financial 

reporting will prevent or detect all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, 
not absolute, assurance that the control system's objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are 
resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent limitations in all 
control systems, no evaluation of controls 
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can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, 
within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that 
breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by 
collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain 
assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under 
all potential future conditions. Projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of our controls to future periods are subject to risks. Over time, 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of U-Haul Holding Company
 
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of U-Haul Holding Company and consolidated subsidiaries (the "Company") as of 
March 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of March 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the 
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2024, of the Company and our report dated May 30, 2024, expressed 
an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s adoption of a new 
accounting standard.

Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the 

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a 
public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. 
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit 
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte Touche, LLP
Tempe, Arizona
May 30, 2024
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Item 9B.   Other Information
During the quarter ended March 31, 2024, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a "Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" 

or a "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" (in each case, as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K).

Item 9C.   Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.
Not applicable.

PART III 
Item 10.   Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance   

The information required to be disclosed under this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s definitive proxy 
statement, in connection with its 2024 annual meeting of stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”), which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days 
after the close of the Company’s 2024 fiscal year.

The Company has a Code of Ethics that applies to all directors, officers and employees of the Company, including the Company’s principal 
executive officer and principal financial officer. A copy of our Code of Ethics is posted on U-Haul Holding Company’s website at 
investors.uhaul.com/governance.aspx.  We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirements of Current Report on Form 8-K regarding any 
amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of our Code of Ethics by posting such information on the Company’s website, at the web address and 
location specified above, unless otherwise required to file a Current Report on Form 8-K by New York Stock Exchange rules and regulations.

Item 11.   Executive Compensation 
The information required to be disclosed under this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement.

Item 12.   Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information required to be disclosed under this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement.

Item 13.   Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 
The information required to be disclosed under this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement.

Item 14.   Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information required to be disclosed under this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement.

PART IV
Item 15.   Exhibits; Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report:
 

    Page
1 Consolidated Financial Statements:  

  Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (Deloitte & Touche, LLP; Phoenix, Arizona; PCAOB ID#34) F-1

  Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (BDO USA, P.C., Phoenix, AZ, PCAOB ID#243) F-

  Consolidated Balance Sheets - March 31, 2024 and 2023 F-4

  Consolidated Statements of Operations - Years Ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 F-5

  Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) - Years Ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 F-6

  Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity - Years Ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 F-7

  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Years Ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 F-8

  Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-

2 Financial Statement Schedules required to be filed by Item 8:  

  Schedule I - Condensed Financial Information of U-Haul Holding Company F-57

  Schedule II - U-Haul Holding Company and Consolidated Subsidiaries Valuation and Qualifying Accounts F-62

  Schedule V - U-Haul Holding Company and Consolidated Subsidiaries Supplemental Information (For Property-Casualty Insurance 
Operations) F-63

 
All other schedules are omitted because they are not required, inapplicable, or the information is otherwise shown in the consolidated financial 

statements or notes thereto.
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Exhibits:
 

Exhibit
Number Description   Page or Method of Filing
       

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of U-Haul Holding 
Company

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 9, 2016, file 
no. 1-11255

       

3.2 U-Haul Holding Company Certificate of Designation of Series N Non-
Voting Common Stock

  Incorporated by reference to the Company’s 
Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on October 24, 
2022, file no. 1-11255

       

3.3 Restated Bylaws of U-Haul Holding Company   Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 19, 
2022, file no. 1-11255

       

3.4 Articles of Conversion/Exchange/Merger   Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 19, 2022, file no. 
1-11255

       

4.1 U-Haul Investors Club Base Indenture, dated February 14, 2011 by and 
between U-Haul Holding Company and U. S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 22, 2011, 
file no. 1-11255

       

4.2 Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated March 15, 2011, by and among U-
Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 22, 2011, 
file no. 1-11255

       

4.3 Tenth Supplemental Indenture, dated June 7, 2011 by and between U-
Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 23, 2011, file 
no. 1-11255

       

4.4 Twelfth Supplemental Indenture dated June 14, 2011 by and between U-
Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 23, 2011, file 
no. 1-11255

       

4.5 Eighteenth Supplemental Indenture dated January 7, 2012 by and 
between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 26, 2012, 
file no. 1-11255

       

4.6 Twentieth Supplemental Indenture dated September 4, 2012 by and 
between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 4, 
2012, file no. 1-11255

       

4.7 Twenty-first Supplemental Indenture dated January 15, 2013 by and 
between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 15, 2013, 
file no. 1-11255

       

4.8 Twenty-third Supplemental Indenture, dated November 26, 2013 by and 
between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 26, 
2013, file no. 1-11255

       

4.9 Twenty-fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated April 22, 2014 by and 
between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on April 22, 2014, file 
no. 1-11255

       

4.10 Twenty-sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated September 29, 2015 by and 
between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 29, 
2015, file no. 1-11255

       

4.11 Twenty-seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated December 15, 2015 by 
and between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National 
Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 15, 
2015, file no. 1-11255
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https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000004457-13-000046.html?hash=f5083d5ad3ecb9f2c185407607ee7c5d56d6a994727fd21ae597689d0c103027&dest=exhibit41_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000004457-13-000046.html?hash=f5083d5ad3ecb9f2c185407607ee7c5d56d6a994727fd21ae597689d0c103027&dest=exhibit41_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000004457-14-000033.html?hash=4b5a115817f0ebb8764138342e99278ea87064e4acd459165b6f7bca22ec3537&dest=ex41_htm
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4.12 Twenty-eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated September 13, 2016 by and 

between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association
  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 

Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 13, 
2016, file no. 1-11255

       

4.13 Thirty-first Supplemental Indenture, dated October 24, 2017 by and 
between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 25, 2017, 
file no. 1-11255

       

4.14 Amended and Restated Twenty-fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated 
August 28, 2018 by and between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank 
National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on August 28, 2018, 
file no. 1-11255

       

4.15 Thirty-fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated March 7, 2019 by and between 
U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 7, 2019, file 
no. 1-11255

       

4.16 Amended and Restated Thirty-third Supplemental Indenture, dated May 3, 
2019 by and between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National 
Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 3, 2019, file 
no. 1-11255

       

4.17 Amended and Restated Thirty-fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated May 
3, 2019 by and between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National 
Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 3, 2019, file 
no. 1-11255

       

4.18 Thirty-sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated May 3, 2019 by and between 
U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 3, 2019, file 
no. 1-11255

       

4.19 Thirty-eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated February 18, 2020 by and 
between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 18, 2020, 
file no. 1-11255

       

4.20 Thirty-ninth, Supplemental Indenture, dated October 20, 2020 by and 
between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 20, 2020, 
file no. 1-11255

       

4.21 Forty-first Supplemental Indenture, dated April 13, 2021 by and between 
U-Haul Holding Company and U.S Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on April 13, 2021, file 
no. 1-11255

       

4.22 Forty-second Supplemental Indenture, dated October 12, 2021, by and 
between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 12, 2021, 
file no. 1-11255

       

4.23 Forty-fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated May 10, 2022, by and between 
U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 10, 2022 file 
no. 1-11255

       

4.24 Forty-fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated July 19, 2022, by and between 
U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 19, 2022, file 
no. 1-11255

       

4.25 Forty-sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated September 27, 2022, by and 
between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 27, 
2022, file no. 1-11255

       

4.26 Series UIC-9K, 10K, 11K, 12K, 13K, 14K and 15K Amendment to the 
Amendment to the Amended and Restated Forty-second Supplement 
Indenture and Pledge and Security Agreement dated September 27, 2022 
by and between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank Trust Company, 
National Association as successor in interest to U. S Bank National 
Association, as trustee

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 27, 
2022 file no. 1-11255.
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4.27 Forty-seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated December 20, 2022, by and 

between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association
  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 

Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 20, 
2022, file no. 1-11255

       

4.28 Forty-eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated February 21, 2023, by and 
between U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 21, 2023, 
file no. 1-11255

       

4.29 Forty-ninth Supplement Indenture, dated April 23, 2024, by and between 
U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank National Association

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on April 23, 2024, file 
no. 1-11255

       

4.30 Description of Registered Securities   Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on June 1, 2023, file 
no. 1-11255

       

10.1 Management Agreement between Four SAC Self-Storage Corporation and 
subsidiaries of U-Haul Holding Company

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 1997, file no. 1-11255

       

10.2 Management Agreement between Five SAC Self-Storage Corporation and 
subsidiaries of U-Haul Holding Company

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 1999, file no. 1-11255

       

10.3 Property Management Agreement   Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2004, file no. 1-11255

       

10.4 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Eight 
SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul International, 
Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2007, file no. 1-11255

       

10.5 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Nine 
SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul International, 
Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2007, file no. 1-11255

       

10.6 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Ten 
SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul International, 
Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2007, file no. 1-11255

       

10.7 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Eleven 
SAC Self-Storage Corporation and Eleven SAC Self-Storage Odenton, 
Inc. and subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2007, file no. 1-11255

       

10.8 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Twelve 
SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul International, 
Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2007, file no. 1-11255

       

10.9 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Thirteen 
SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul International, 
Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2007, file no. 1-11255

       

10.10 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among 
Fourteen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul 
International, Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2007, file no. 1-11255
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10.11 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Fifteen 

SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul International, 
Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2007, file no. 1-11255

       

10.12 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Sixteen 
SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul International, 
Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2007, file no. 1-11255

       

10.13 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among 
Seventeen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul 
International, Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2007, file no. 1-11255

       

10.14 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among 
Eighteen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul 
International, Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2012, file no. 1-11255

       

10.15 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Twenty 
SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul International, 
Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2012, file no. 1-11255

       

10.16 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Twenty-
One SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul 
International, Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2012, file no. 1-11255

       

10.17 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Twenty-
Two SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul 
International, Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2012, file no. 1-11255

       

10.18 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Twenty-
Three SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul 
International, Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2012, file no. 1-11255

       

10.19 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Twenty-
Four SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul 
International, Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2012, file no. 1-11255

       

10.20 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Twenty-
Five SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul 
International, Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2012, file no. 1-11255

       

10.21 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Twenty-
Six SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul 
International, Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2012, file no. 1-11255

       

10.22 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Twenty-
Seven SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul 
International, Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2012, file no. 1-11255

       

10.23 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Three-A 
SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul International, 
Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 4, 2013, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.24 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Three-B 
SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul International, 
Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 4, 2013, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.25 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Three-C 
SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul International, 
Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 4, 2013, 
file no. 1-11255
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10.26 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Three-D 

SAC Self-Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of U-Haul International, 
Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 4, 2013, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.27 Amended and Restated Property Management Agreement among Galaxy 
Storage One, LP and subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 4, 2013, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.28 U-Haul Dealership Contract Addendum   Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2012, file no. 1-11255

       

10.29 Loan Agreement, dated as of August 12, 2015 among U-Haul Co of Florida 
8, LLC, U-Haul Co. of Florida 9, LLC, U-Haul Co. of Florida 10, UHIL 8, 
LLC, UHIL 9, LLC, UHIL 10, LLC, UHIL 13, LLC, AREC 8, LLC, AREC 9, 
LLC, AREC 10, LLC and AREC 13, LLC, each a Delaware limited liability 
company, collectively as Borrower, and Morgan Stanley Bank, N.A. and JP 
Morgan Chase Bank, National Association, collectively as Lender

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on August 14, 2015, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.30 Property Management Agreement dated December 11, 2014 between 
Three SAC Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul Co. (Canada), Ltd

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2016, file no. 1-11255

       

10.31
 

Property Management Agreement dated December 16, 2014 among 
Galaxy Storage Two, L.P. and certain subsidiaries of U-Haul Holding 
Company

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2016, file no. 1-11255

       

10.32 Property Management Agreement dated June 25, 2015 among 2015 SAC 
Self-Storage, LLC and certain subsidiaries of U-Haul Holding Company

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2016, file no. 1-11255

       

10.33 Property Management Agreement dated March 21, 2016 among Five SAC 
RW, LLC and certain subsidiaries of U-Haul Holding Company

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2016, file no. 1-11255

       

10.34 Property Management Agreement among Six-SAC Self-Storage 
Corporation and certain subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 27, 2016, file 
no. 1-11255

       

10.35 Credit Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2017 by and among U-Haul 
Holding Company, as the Borrower, Bank of America, N.A., as Agent for all 
Lenders, and the financial institutions party thereto from to time as, 
Lenders.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 7, 
2017, file no. 1-11255

       

10.36 Template Dealership Contract   Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2018, file no. 1-11255

       

10.37 Amended and Restated U-Haul Holding Company Employee Savings and 
Profit and Sharing Plan*

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2018, file no. 1-11255

       

10.38
 

Amendment to the Amended and Restated U-Haul Holding Company 
Employee Savings and Profit and Sharing Plan*

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2018, file no. 1-11255

       

10.39 Amended and Restated U-Haul Holding Company Employee Stock 
Ownership Plan*

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2018, file no. 1-11255
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10.40 Amendment to the Amended and Restated U-Haul Holding Company 

Employee Stock Ownership Plan*
  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 
31, 2018, file no. 1-11255

       

10.41 Note Purchase Agreement, dated September 29, 2021, among U-Haul 
Holding Company and the purchasers named therein.

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 4, 2021, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.42 Form of U-Haul Holding Company 2.43% Senior Note, Series A due 
September 30, 2029

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 4, 2021, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.43 Form of U-Haul Holding Company 2.51% Senior Note, Series A due 
September 30, 2029

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 4, 2021, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.44 Form of U-Haul Holding Company 2.63% Senior Note, Series A due 
September 30, 2029

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 4, 2021, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.45 Form of U-Haul Holding Company 2.78% Senior Note, Series A due 
September 30, 2029

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 4, 2021, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.46 Note Purchase Agreement, dated December 2, 2021, among U-Haul 
Holding Company and the purchasers named therein. 

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 7, 2021, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.47 Form of U-Haul Holding Company 2.55% Senior Note, Series A due 
January 27, 2030

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 7, 2021, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.48 Form of U-Haul Holding Company 2.60% Senior Note, Series B due 
January 27, 2031

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 7, 2021, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.49 Form of U-Haul Holding Company 2.68% Senior Note, Series C due 
January 27, 2032

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 7, 2021, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.50 Form of U-Haul Holding Company 2.73% Senior Note, Series D due 
January 27, 2033

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 7, 2021, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.51 Form of U-Haul Holding Company 2.88% Senior Note, Series E due 
January 27, 2035

  Incorporated by reference to U-Haul Holding Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 7, 2021, 
file no. 1-11255

       

10.52 Property Management Agreement among Mercury Storage 1-A, LLC and 
subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc.

  Filed herewith

       

10.53 Property Management Agreement among Mercury Storage 1-B, LLC and 
subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc.

  Filed herewith

       

10.54 Property Management Agreement among Mercury Storage 1-C, LLC and 
subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc.

  Filed herewith

       

10.55 Property Management Agreement among Mercury Storage 2, LLC and 
subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc.

  Filed herewith

       

10.56 Property Management Agreement among Mercury Storage 3, LLC and 
subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc.

  Filed herewith

       

10.57 Property Management Agreement among Mercury Storage 4, LLC and 
subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc.

  Filed herewith
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10.58 Property Management Agreement among Mercury Storage 5, LLC and 
subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc.

  Filed herewith

       

10.59 Property Management Agreement among Mercury Storage 6, LLC and 
subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc.

  Filed herewith

       

14 Code of Ethics   Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14 of U-Haul 
Holding Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended March 31, 2023, file no. 1-11255

       

21 Subsidiaries of U-Haul Holding Company   Filed herewith
       

23.1 Consent of Deloitte and Touche, LLP   Filed herewith
       

23.1 Consent of BDO USA, P.C.   Filed herewith
       

24 Power of Attorney   Refer to signature page
       

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certificate of Edward J. Shoen, President and 
Chairman of the Board of U-Haul Holding Company

  Filed herewith

       

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certificate of Jason A. Berg, Chief Financial 
Officer of U-Haul Holding Company

  Filed herewith

       

32.1 Certificate of Edward J. Shoen, President and Chairman of the Board of U-
Haul Holding Company pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002

  Furnished herewith

       

32.2 Certificate of Jason A. Berg, Chief Financial Officer of U-Haul Holding 
Company pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

  Furnished herewith

       

97 Policy for the Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation   Filed herewith
       

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear 
in the Interactive Data file as its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline 
XBRL Document.

  Furnished herewith

       

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema with Embedded Linkbase 
Documents

  Furnished herewith

       

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (Embedded within the Inline XBRL 
document and included in Exhibit 101)

   
 

* Indicates management plan or compensatory arrangement.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of U-Haul Holding Company 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of U-Haul Holding Company and consolidated subsidiaries (the 
"Company") as of March 31, 2024, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in 
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for the year ended March 31, 2024, and the related notes and the schedules listed in the Index at 
Item 15 (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Company as of March 31, 2024, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended March 
31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the 
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated 
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated May 30, 
2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
 
Adoption of New Accounting Standard
 
As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting and presentation related to long-
duration insurance contracts and certain related balances effective April 1, 2023, due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update No. 
2018-12, Financial Services— Insurance (Topic 944): Targeted Improvements to the Accounting for Long-Duration Contracts, using the 
modified retrospective method. 
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company's financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be 
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our 
audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or 
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
Critical Audit Matter
 
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was 
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to 
the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit 
matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical 
audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
 

F-1

 



 
Self-Insurance Liabilities - Public Liability and Property Damage Claims - Refer to Note 3 to the financial statements
 
Critical Audit Matter Description
 
The Company is self-insured for public liability and property damage claims related to their rental equipment. These self-insurance liabilities 
represent an estimate for both reported claims not yet paid, and claims incurred but not yet reported. 
 
Given the subjectivity of estimating the related self-insurance liabilities for reported claims not yet paid and claims incurred but not yet reported 
due to uncertain exposure and projected loss development, performing audit procedures to evaluate whether these self-insurance liabilities were 
appropriately recorded as of March 31, 2024 required a significant degree of auditor judgement and the assistance of our actuarial specialists.
 
How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
 
Our audit procedures related to self-insurance liabilities for public liability and property damage claims included the following, among 
others:
 

• We tested the effectiveness of controls over self-insurance liabilities for public liability and property damage claims, including 
those related to the determination and estimation of claims incurred but not reported.

 

• We evaluated the methods and assumptions used by management to estimate the self-insurance liabilities for public liability 
and property damage claims by:

 

• Reading the Company’s insurance policies and comparing the coverage and terms to the assumptions used by 
management.

 

• Testing the underlying data that served as the basis for the actuarial analysis, including historical claims, to test that 
the inputs to the actuarial estimate were accurate and complete.

 

• Comparing management’s prior-year assumptions of expected development and ultimate loss to actuals incurred 
during the current year to identify potential bias in the determination of the self-insurance liabilities for public liability 
and property damage claims.

 

• With the assistance of our actuarial specialists, we developed estimates of the self-insurance liabilities for public liability and 
property damage claims and compared our estimates to management’s estimates.

 
 

/s/ Deloitte Touche, LLP
Tempe, Arizona 
May 30, 2024
 
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2023.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
Stockholders and Board of Directors
U-Haul Holding Company
Reno, Nevada
 
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of U-Haul Holding Company (the “Company”) as of March 31, 2023, the 
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of 
the two years in the period ended March 31, 2023, and the related notes and schedules (collectively referred to as the “consolidated 
financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company at March 31, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period 
ended March 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Retrospective Adoption of New Accounting Standard
 
As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting and presentation 
related to long-duration insurance contracts and certain related balances effective April 1, 2023, due to the adoption of Accounting 
Standards Update No. 2018-12, Financial Services— Insurance (Topic 944): Targeted Improvements to the Accounting for Long-Duration 
Contracts, using the modified retrospective method. 

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. 
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test 
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
/s/ BDO USA, P.C.
 
We served as the Company's auditor from 2003 to 2023.
Phoenix, Arizona
 
June 1, 2023, except for the effects of the modified retrospective adoption of Accounting Standards Update No. 2018-12, Financial 
Services— Insurance (Topic 944): Targeted Improvements to the Accounting for Long-Duration Contracts, discussed in Note 3, as to 
which the date is May 30, 2024.
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U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 

    March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands, except share data)  

ASSETS            
Cash and cash equivalents $   1,534,544   $   2,060,524  
Trade receivables and reinsurance recoverables, net     215,908       189,498  
Inventories and parts     150,940       151,474  
Prepaid expenses     246,082       241,711  
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale (net of allowance for credit loss of $1,052 and $2,101, respectively) at fair value and 
amortized cost ($2,660,093 and $3,006,587, respectively)     2,442,504       2,709,037  
Equity securities, at fair value     66,274       61,357  
Investments, other     633,936       575,540  
Deferred policy acquisition costs, net     121,224       128,463  
Other assets     111,743       51,052  
Right of use assets - financing, net     289,305       474,765  
Right of use assets - operating, net     53,712       58,917  
Related party assets     57,934       48,308  
      5,924,106       6,750,646  
Property, plant and equipment, at cost:            

Land     1,670,033       1,537,206  
Buildings and improvements     8,237,354       7,088,810  
Furniture and equipment     1,003,770       928,241  
Rental trailers and other rental equipment     936,303       827,696  
Rental trucks     6,338,324       5,278,340  

      18,185,784       15,660,293  
Less: Accumulated depreciation     (5,051,132 )     (4,310,205 )

Total property, plant and equipment, net     13,134,652       11,350,088  
Total assets $   19,058,758   $   18,100,734  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY            
Liabilities:            

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $   783,084   $   761,039  
Notes, loans and finance leases payable, net     6,271,362       6,108,042  
Operating lease liabilities     55,032       58,373  
Policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses payable     849,113       880,202  
Liabilities from investment contracts     2,411,352       2,398,884  
Other policyholders' funds and liabilities     18,070       8,232  
Deferred income     51,175       52,282  
Deferred income taxes, net     1,447,125       1,329,489  

Total liabilities     11,886,313       11,596,543  
             
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 10 and 20)            
Stockholders' equity:            

Series preferred stock, with or without par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized: Series A preferred stock, with no par value, 
6,100,000 shares authorized; 6,100,000 shares issued and none outstanding     —       —  
             
Series B preferred stock, with no par value, 100,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding     —       —  
             
Serial common stock, with or without par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized: Serial common stock of $0.25 par value, 
10,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding     —       —  
             
Common stock, with $0.25 par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized: Common stock of $0.25 par value, 250,000,000 shares 
authorized; 41,985,700 issued and 19,607,788 outstanding     10,497       10,497  
             
Series N Non-Voting Common Stock with $0.001 par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized Series N Non-Voting Common 
Stock, with $0.001 par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized; 176,470,092 shares issued and outstanding     176       176  
             

Additional paid-in capital     462,548       453,643  
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)     (223,216 )     (285,623 )
Retained earnings     7,600,090       7,003,148  
Cost of common shares in treasury, net (22,377,912 shares)     (525,653 )     (525,653 )
Cost of preferred shares in treasury, net (6,100,000 shares)     (151,997 )     (151,997 )
Total stockholders' equity     7,172,445       6,504,191  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $   19,058,758   $   18,100,734  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
 

    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
    (In thousands, except share and per share data)  

Revenues:                  
Self-moving equipment rental revenues $   3,624,695   $   3,877,917   $   3,958,807  
Self-storage revenues     831,069       744,492       617,120  
Self-moving and self-storage products and service sales     335,805       357,286       351,447  
Property management fees     37,004       37,073       35,194  
Life insurance premiums     89,745       99,149       111,027  
Property and casualty insurance premiums     94,802       93,209       86,518  
Net investment and interest income     146,468       176,679       148,261  
Other revenue     466,086       478,886       431,373  

Total revenues     5,625,674       5,864,691       5,739,747  
                   

Costs and expenses:                  
Operating expenses     3,126,471       3,024,547       2,676,541  
Commission expenses     384,079       416,315       429,581  
Cost of product sales     241,563       263,026       259,585  
Benefits and losses     167,035       164,079       185,571  
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs     24,238       27,924       33,854  
Lease expense     32,654       30,829       29,910  
Depreciation, net of gains on disposals of ($153,958, $247,084 and $214,203 respectively)     663,931       486,795       482,752  
Net (gains) losses on disposal of real estate     7,914       5,596       (4,120 )

Total costs and expenses     4,647,885       4,419,111       4,093,674  
                   

Earnings from operations     977,789       1,445,580       1,646,073  
Other components of net periodic benefit costs     (1,458 )     (1,216 )     (1,120 )
Other interest income     120,021       —       —  
Interest expense     (256,175 )     (223,958 )     (167,424 )
Fees on early extinguishment of debt     —       (1,009 )     (956 )

Pretax earnings     840,177       1,219,397       1,476,573  
Income tax expense     (211,470 )     (294,925 )     (352,211 )

Net earnings available to common stockholders $   628,707   $   924,472   $   1,124,362  
Basic and diluted earnings per share of Common Stock $   3.04   $   5.54   $   7.08  
Weighted average shares outstanding of Common Stock: Basic and diluted     19,607,788       19,607,788       19,607,788  
Basic and diluted earnings per share of Series N Non-Voting Common Stock $   3.22   $   4.62   $   5.58  
Weighted average shares outstanding of Series N Non-Voting Common Stock: Basic and diluted     176,470,092       176,470,092       176,470,092  

 
Related party revenues for fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, net of eliminations, were $37.0 million, $37.1 million and $35.2 million, respectively.

Related party costs and expenses for fiscal 2024, 2023, and 2022, net of eliminations, were $90.1 million, $90.5 million and $90.7 million, respectively.

Please see Note 20, Related Party Transactions, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on the related party revenues and costs and expenses.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
 

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2024   Pre-tax     Tax     Net  
    (In thousands)  

Comprehensive income:                  
Net earnings $   840,177   $   (211,470 ) $   628,707  

Other comprehensive income:                  
Foreign currency translation     2,832       —       2,832  
Unrealized net loss on investments and future policy benefits discount rate 
remeasurement gains (losses)     70,703       (14,846 )     55,857  
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges     8,497       (2,087 )     6,410  
Amounts reclassified into earnings on hedging activities     (5,417 )     1,330       (4,087 )
Change in postretirement benefit obligations     1,849       (454 )     1,395  

Total other comprehensive (loss) income     78,464       (16,057 )     62,407  
                   

Total comprehensive income (loss) $   918,641   $   (227,527 ) $   691,114  
                   
                   

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2023   Pre-tax     Tax     Net  
    (In thousands)  

Comprehensive income:                  
Net earnings $   1,219,397   $   (294,925 ) $   924,472  

Other comprehensive income:                  
Foreign currency translation     (782 )     —       (782 )
Unrealized net loss on investments and future policy benefits discount rate 
remeasurement gains (losses)     (367,533 )     78,056       (289,477 )
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges     6,672       (1,639 )     5,033  
Amounts reclassified into earnings on hedging activities     (772 )     190       (582 )
Change in postretirement benefit obligations     2,772       (681 )     2,091  

Total other comprehensive income (loss)     (359,643 )     75,926       (283,717 )
                   

Total comprehensive income (loss) $   859,754   $   (218,999 ) $   640,755  
                   
                   

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2022   Pre-tax     Tax     Net  
    (In thousands)  

Comprehensive income:                  
Net earnings $   1,476,573   $   (352,211 ) $   1,124,362  

Other comprehensive income:                  
Foreign currency translation     (2,828 )     —       (2,828 )
Unrealized net loss on investments and future policy benefits discount rate 
remeasurement gains (losses)     (57,885 )     11,507       (46,378 )
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges     605       (148 )     457  
Amounts reclassified into earnings on hedging activities     3,948       (970 )     2,978  
Change in postretirement benefit obligations     2,049       (503 )     1,546  

Total other comprehensive income (loss)     (54,111 )     9,886       (44,225 )
                   

Total comprehensive income (loss) $   1,422,462   $   (342,325 ) $   1,080,137  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 

Description  
Common 

Stock    

Series N 
Non-

Voting 
Commo
n Stock    

Addition
al Paid-In 

Capital    

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensi
ve

Income 
(Loss)    

Retained 
Earnings    

Less: 
Treasury 
Common 

Stock    

Less: 
Treasury 
Preferred 

Stock    

Total 
Stockholders

' Equity  
  (In thousands)  

Balance as of March 31, 2021 $   10,497   $   —   $   453,819   $   106,857   $  
5,025,5

68   $  
(525,65

3 ) $  
(151,99

7 ) $   4,919,091  
Cummulative effect of Adoption of ASU 2018-12     —       —       —       (64,538 )     (8,117 )     —       —       (72,655 )

Balance as of April 1, 2021 $   10,497   $   —   $   453,819   $   42,319   $  
5,017,4

51   $  
(525,65

3 ) $  
(151,99

7 ) $   4,846,436  
Foreign currency translation     —       —       —       (2,828 )     —       —       —       (2,828 )
Unrealized net loss on investments and future policy 
benefits discount rate remeasurement gains (losses), 
net of tax     —       —       —       (46,378 )     —       —       —       (46,378 )
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax     —       —       —       457       —       —       —       457  
Amounts reclassified into earnings on hedging 
activities     —       —       —       2,978       —       —       —       2,978  
Change in postretirement benefit obligations, net of 
taxes     —       —       —       1,546       —       —       —       1,546  

Net earnings     —       —       —       —      
1,124,3

62       —       —       1,124,362  
Common stock dividends: ($1.50 per share for fiscal 
2022)     —       —       —       —       (29,412 )     —       —       (29,412 )

Net activity     —       —       —       (44,225 )    
1,094,9

50       —       —       1,050,725  

Balance as of March 31, 2022 $   10,497   $   —   $   453,819   $   (1,906 ) $  
6,112,4

01   $  
(525,65

3 )    
(151,99

7 ) $   5,897,161  
Common stock dividend     —       176       (176 )     —       —       —       —       —  
Foreign currency translation     —       —       —       (782 )     —       —       —       (782 )
Unrealized net loss on investments and future policy 
benefits discount rate remeasurement gains (losses), 
net of tax     —       —       —       (289,477 )     —       —       —       (289,477 )
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax     —       —       —       5,033       —       —       —       5,033  
Amounts reclassified into earnings on hedging 
activities     —       —       —       (582 )     —       —       —       (582 )
Change in postretirement benefit obligations, net of 
taxes     —       —       —       2,091       —       —       —       2,091  
Net earnings     —       —       —       —       924,472       —       —       924,472  
Common stock dividends: ($1.00 per share for fiscal 
2023)     —       —       —       —       (19,608 )     —       —       (19,608 )
Series N Non-Voting Common Stock dividends: 
($0.08 per share for fiscal 2023)     —       —       —       —       (14,117 )     —       —       (14,117 )
Net activity     —       176       (176 )     (283,717 )     890,747       —       —       607,030  

Balance as of March 31, 2023 $   10,497   $   176   $   453,643   $   (285,623 ) $  
7,003,1

48   $  
(525,65

3 ) $  
(151,99

7 ) $   6,504,191  
Contribution from related party     —       —       8,905       —       —       —       —       8,905  
Foreign currency translation     —       —       —       2,832       —       —       —       2,832  
Unrealized net loss on investments and future policy 
benefits discount rate remeasurement gains (losses), 
net of tax     —       —       —       55,857       —       —       —       55,857  
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax     —       —       —       6,410       —       —       —       6,410  
Amounts reclassified into earnings on hedging 
activities     —       —       —       (4,087 )     —       —       —       (4,087 )
Change in postretirement benefit obligations, net of 
taxes     —       —       —       1,395       —       —       —       1,395  
Net earnings     —       —       —       —       628,707       —       —       628,707  
Series N Non-Voting Common Stock dividends: 
($0.18 per share for fiscal 2024)     —       —       —       —       (31,765 )     —       —       (31,765 )
Net activity     —       —       8,905       62,407       596,942       —       —       668,254  

Balance as of March 31, 2024 $   10,497   $   176   $   462,548   $   (223,216 ) $  
7,600,0

90   $  
(525,65

3 ) $  
(151,99

7 ) $   7,172,445  
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 

    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
    (In thousands)  

Cash flows from operating activities:                  
Net earnings $   628,707   $   924,472   $   1,124,362  
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash provided by operations:                  
Depreciation     817,889       733,879      696,955  
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts related to investments, net     16,849       20,066       19,749  
Amortization of debt issuance costs     6,712       7,087       5,659  
Interest credited to policyholders     71,433       55,822       64,692  
Provision for allowance (recoveries) for losses on trade receivables, net     2,447       (4,860 )     4,227  
Non cash lease expense     23,926       22,432       21,662  
Net gains on disposal of personal property     (153,958 )     (247,084 )    (214,203 )
Net (gains) losses on disposal of real estate     7,914       5,596       (4,120 )
Net (gains) losses on sales of fixed maturity securities     (157 )     8,300       (11,872 )
Net (gains) losses on equity securities     (5,741 )     9,091       (7,837 )
Deferred income taxes, net     98,379       131,754       101,091  
Net change in other operating assets and liabilities:                  

Trade receivables and reinsurance recoverables     (29,011 )     44,714       (9,187 )
Inventories and parts, net     518       7,265       (53,301 )
Prepaid expenses     (4,451 )     (5,575 )     232,342  
Deferred policy acquisition costs, net     7,239       2,722       1,228  
Other assets and right of use assets - operating, net     9,889       (6,405 )     (6,313 )
Related party assets     (9,614 )     (544 )     (10,357 )
Accounts payable and accrued expenses and operating lease liabilities     (10,697 )     34,263       10,514  
Policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses payable     (39,204 )     (15,182 )     (20,768 )
Other policyholders' funds and liabilities     9,922       (2,580 )     (1,608 )
Deferred income     (2,085 )     5,137       5,399  
Related party liabilities     5,850       (760 )     (2,079 )

Net cash provided by operating activities     1,452,756       1,729,610       1,946,235  
                   
Cash flows from investing activities:                  

Escrow deposits     2,983       9,298       (9,328 )
Purchase of:                  

Property, plant and equipment     (2,992,898 )     (2,723,901 )     (2,136,537 )
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale     (344,166 )     (623,489 )     (701,744 )
Equity securities     (530 )     (4,932 )     (27,299 )
Investments, other     (174,967 )     (213,264 )     (158,408 )

Proceeds from sales of:                  
Property, plant and equipment     739,178       701,331       623,235  
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale     672,121       271,092       412,528  
Equity securities     1,417       1,286       4,046  
Investments, other     50,489       161,194       126,331  

Net cash used by investing activities     (2,046,373 )     (2,421,385 )     (1,867,176 )
    Page 1 of 2  
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
 

    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
    (In thousands)  

Cash flows from financing activities:                  
Borrowings from credit facilities $   1,186,363   $   1,017,898   $   1,969,474  
Principal repayments on credit facilities     (919,771 )     (801,994 )     (437,506 )
Payment of debt issuance costs     (4,082 )     (5,237 )     (13,156 )
Finance lease payments     (105,564 )     (124,188 )     (166,262 )
Securitization deposits     319       217       —  
Voting common stock dividends paid     —       (19,608 )     (29,412 )
Series N Non-Voting Common Stock dividends paid     (31,765 )     (14,117 )     —  
Investment contract deposits     360,124       341,483       347,520  
Investment contract withdrawals     (419,091 )     (334,659 )     (237,503 )

Net cash provided by financing activities     66,533       59,795       1,433,155  
                   
Effects of exchange rate on cash     1,104       (11,633 )     (2,089 )
                   
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     (525,980 )     (643,613 )     1,510,125  
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period     2,060,524       2,704,137       1,194,012  
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period $   1,534,544   $   2,060,524   $   2,704,137  
                   
    Page 2 of 2  
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

U-Haul Holding Company, a Nevada Corporation, (“U-Haul Holding Company” or the "Company"), has a fiscal year that ends on the 31st of 
March for each year that is referenced. Our insurance company subsidiaries have fiscal years that end on the 31st of December for each year that 
is referenced. They have been consolidated on that basis. Our insurance companies’ financial reporting processes conform to calendar year 
reporting as required by state insurance departments. We believe that consolidating their calendar year into our fiscal year consolidated financial 
statements does not materially affect the financial position or results of operations. We disclose material events, if any, occurring during the 
intervening period. Consequently, all references to our insurance subsidiaries’ years 2023, 2022 and 2021 correspond to fiscal 2024, 2023 and 
2022 for U-Haul Holding Company. 

Accounts denominated in non-U.S. currencies have been translated into U.S. dollars.  Please see Note 3, Accounting Policies – Adoption of 
New Accounting Pronouncements, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

        The Company has reclassified certain prior period amounts to conform with the current period presentation on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets related to equity securities, at fair value and fixed maturity securities available-for-sale net of allowance for credit loss, at fair value and 
amortized cost which was previously reported in investments, fixed maturities and marketable equities. The Company has reclassified certain 
prior period amounts to conform with the current period presentation on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows related to (1) amortization of 
deferred policy acquisition costs which was previously reported separately and is now included in deferred policy acquisition costs, net, (2) 
provision for allowance for inventories and parts reserves which was previously reported separately and is now included in inventories and parts, 
net, (3) purchases of short term investments, real estate, and mortgage loans which were previously reported separately and are now included in 
investments, other, and (4) non-cash lease expense which was previously reported in other assets.

Note 2. Principles of Consolidation
We apply Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 810 - Consolidation (“ASC 810”) in our principles of consolidation. ASC 810 addresses 

arrangements where a company does not hold a majority of the voting or similar interests of a variable interest entity (“VIE”). A company is 
required to consolidate a VIE if it has determined it is the primary beneficiary, which is the entity with the power to direct activities that most 
significantly affect the economic performance of the VIE and has the obligation to absorb the majority of the losses or benefits. ASC 810 also 
addresses the policy when a company owns a majority of the voting or similar rights and exercises effective control.

A VIE is not self-supportive due to having one or both of the following conditions: (i) it has an insufficient amount of equity for it to finance its 
activities without receiving additional subordinated financial support or (ii) its owners do not hold the typical risks and rights of equity owners. This 
determination is made upon the creation of a variable interest and is re-assessed on an on-going basis should certain changes in the operations 
of a VIE, or its relationship with the primary beneficiary trigger a reconsideration. After a reconsideration event occurs the most recent facts and 
circumstances are utilized in determining whether or not a company is a VIE, which other company(ies) have a variable interest in the entity, and 
whether or not the company’s interest is such that it is the primary beneficiary.

We will continue to monitor our relationships with the other entities, which could change based on facts and circumstances of any 
reconsideration events. Please see Note 20, Related Party Transactions, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, which are 
consolidated under the voting interest model. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Description of Legal Entities
U-Haul Holding Company is the holding company for:

U-Haul International, Inc. (“U-Haul”);

Amerco Real Estate Company (“Real Estate”);

Repwest Insurance Company (“Repwest”); and

Oxford Life Insurance Company (“Oxford”).

Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” refer to U-Haul Holding Company and all of its legal 
subsidiaries.  
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U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Description of Operating and Reportable Segments
U-Haul Holding Company has three (3) operating and reportable segments. They are Moving and Storage, Property and Casualty Insurance 

and Life Insurance.

Moving and Storage includes U-Haul Holding Company, U-Haul, and Real Estate and the wholly-owned subsidiaries of U-Haul and Real 
Estate. Operations consist of the rental of trucks and trailers, sales of moving supplies, sales of towing accessories, sales of propane, and the 
rental of fixed and portable moving and storage units to the “do-it-yourself” mover and management of self-storage properties owned by others. 
Operations are conducted under the registered trade name U-Haul® throughout the United States and Canada.

Property and Casualty Insurance includes Repwest and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and ARCOA Risk Retention Group (“ARCOA”). 
Property and Casualty Insurance provides loss adjusting and claims handling for U-Haul through regional offices in the United States and 
Canada. Property and Casualty Insurance also underwrites components of the Safemove®, Safetow®, Safemove Plus®, Safestor® and Safestor 
Mobile® protection packages to U-Haul customers. The business plan for Property and Casualty Insurance includes offering property and casualty 
products in other U-Haul related programs. ARCOA is a group captive insurer owned by us and our wholly owned subsidiaries whose purpose is 
to provide insurance products related to our moving and storage business.

Life Insurance includes Oxford and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Life Insurance provides life and health insurance products primarily to the 
senior market through the direct writing and reinsuring of life insurance, Medicare supplement and annuity policies.

Note 3. Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with the generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) in the United 
States requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes. The accounting policies that we deem most critical to us and that require management’s most difficult and subjective 
judgments include the principles of consolidation, the recoverability of property, plant and equipment, the adequacy of insurance reserves, the 
recognition and measurement of impairments for investments accounted for under ASC 320 - Investments - Debt and Equity Securities and the 
recognition and measurement of income tax assets and liabilities. The actual results experienced by us may materially differ from management’s 
estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider cash equivalents to be highly liquid debt securities with insignificant interest rate risk with original maturities from the date of 

purchase of three months or less.

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash deposits. Accounts at each United 
States financial institution are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to $250,000. Accounts at each Canadian financial 
institution are insured by the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation up to $100,000 CAD per account. As of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, 
we held cash equivalents in excess of these insured limits. To mitigate this risk, we select financial institutions based on their credit ratings and 
financial strength.

Investments
Fixed Maturities and Marketable Equities. Fixed maturity investments consist of either marketable debt, equity or redeemable preferred 

stocks. As of the balance sheet dates, all of our investments in these securities were classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale 
investments are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains or losses recorded net of taxes and applicable adjustments to accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity. For available-for-sale debt securities in an unrealized loss position, we first assess whether 
the security is below investment grade. For securities that are below investment grade, we evaluate whether the decline in fair value has resulted 
from credit losses or other factors such as the interest rate environment. Declines in value due to credit are recognized as an allowance. In 
making this assessment, management considers the extent to which fair value is less than amortized cost, any changes to the rating of the 
security by a rating agency, and adverse market conditions specifically related to the security, among other factors. If this assessment indicates 
that a credit loss exists, cumulative default rates based on ratings are used to determine the potential cost of default, by year. The present value 
of these potential costs is then compared to the amortized cost of the security to determine the credit loss, limited by the amount that the fair 
value is less than the amortized cost basis.
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U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Declines in fair value that have not been recorded through an allowance for credit losses, such as declines due to changes in market interest 
rates, are recorded through accumulated other comprehensive income, net of applicable taxes. If we intend to sell a security, or it is more likely 
than not that we will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis, the security is written down to its fair value and the 
write down is charged against the allowance for credit losses, with any incremental impairment reported in earnings. Reversals of the allowance 
for credit losses are permitted and should not exceed the allowance amount initially recognized.  Changes in the market value of common stocks 
are recognized in earnings. Fair value for these investments is based on quoted market prices, dealer quotes or discounted cash flows. The cost 
of investments sold is based on the specific identification method. See Note 24, Allowance for Credit Losses, of the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

Mortgage Loans and Notes on Real Estate. Mortgage loans and notes on real estate are reported at their unpaid balance, net of any 
allowance for expected losses and any unamortized premium or discount. See Note 24, Allowance for Credit Losses, of the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

Recognition of Investment Income. Interest income from fixed maturities and mortgage notes is recognized when earned. Dividends on 
common and preferred stocks are recognized on the ex-dividend dates. Realized gains and losses on the sale or exchange of investments are 
recognized at the trade date. 

Accrued Interest Receivable
Accrued interest receivables on available-for-sale securities totaled $29.3 million and $29.6 million as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, 

respectively and are excluded from the estimate of credit losses.

We have elected not to measure an allowance on accrued interest receivables as our practice is to write off the uncollectible balance that are 
90 days or more past due. Furthermore, we have elected to write off accrued interest receivables by reversing interest income.

Derivative Financial Instruments
Our objective for holding derivative financial instruments is to manage interest rate risk exposure primarily through entering interest rate swap 

agreements and call options. We do not enter into these instruments for trading purposes. Counterparties to the interest rate swap agreements 
are major financial institutions. We have elected to apply hedge accounting to our derivatives. Derivatives that are designated in hedging 
relationships are evaluated for effectiveness using regression analysis at the time they are designated and throughout the hedge period. 
Derivatives are recognized at fair value on the balance sheet and are classified as prepaid expenses (asset) or accrued expenses (liability) for the 
Moving and Storage segment and in investment, other for the Life segment. Derivatives that are not designated as cash flow hedges for 
accounting purposes must be adjusted to fair value through income. If the derivative qualifies and is designated as a cash flow hedge, changes in 
its fair value will be recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”), upon the maturity of the hedge relationship, amounts 
remaining in AOCI are released to earnings. When the cash flow hedge is de-designated, or when the derivative is terminated before maturity, the 
fair value adjustment to the hedged debt continues to be reported as part of the carrying value of the debt and is recognized in interest expense 
over the remaining life. See Note 12, Derivatives, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Inventories and parts
Inventories and parts were as follows:

 
    March 31,  
    2024   2023  
    (In thousands)  

Truck and trailer parts and accessories (a) $   145,383   $   150,319  
Hitches and towing components (b)     34,495       30,927  
Moving supplies and propane (b)     18,194       18,222  

Subtotal     198,072       199,468  
Less: LIFO reserves     (46,331 )     (47,065 )
Less: excess and obsolete reserves     (801 )     (929 )

Total $   150,940   $   151,474  
 
(a) Primarily held for internal usage, including equipment manufacturing and repair
(b) Primarily held for retail sales
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U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Inventories consist primarily of truck and trailer parts and accessories used to manufacture and repair rental equipment as well as products 
and accessories available for retail sale. Inventory is held at our owned locations; our independent dealers do not hold any of our inventory. 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value.

Inventory cost is primarily determined using the last-in first-out method (“LIFO”). Inventories valued using LIFO consisted of approximately 
94% and 94% of the total inventories for March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Had we utilized the first-in first-out method, stated inventory 
balances would have been $46.3 million and $47.1 million higher as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. In fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, the 
negative effect on income due to liquidation of a portion of the LIFO inventory was $0.6 million, $1.6 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Our property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. Interest expense, if any, incurred during the initial construction of buildings is considered 

part of cost. Depreciation is computed for financial reporting purposes using the straight line or an accelerated method based on a declining 
balance formula over the following estimated useful lives: rental equipment 2-20 years, buildings and improvements 10-55 years and non-rental 
equipment 3-10 years. Routine maintenance costs are charged to operating expense as they are incurred. Gains and losses on dispositions of 
property, plant and equipment, other than real estate (“personal property”), are netted against depreciation expense when realized. The net 
amount of gains, netted against depreciation expense, were $154.0 million, $247.1 million and $214.2 million during fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. Equipment depreciation is recognized in amounts expected to result in the recovery of estimated residual values upon disposal, i.e., 
minimize gains or losses. In determining the depreciation rate, historical disposal experience, holding periods and trends in the market for 
vehicles are reviewed. 

We regularly perform reviews to determine whether facts and circumstances exist which indicate that the carrying amount of assets, including 
estimates of residual value, may not be recoverable or that the useful life of assets are shorter or longer than originally estimated. Reductions in 
residual values (i.e., the price at which we ultimately expect to dispose of revenue earning equipment) or useful lives will result in an increase in 
depreciation expense over the remaining life of the equipment. Reviews are performed based on vehicle class, generally the subcategories of 
trucks and trailers. We assess the recoverability of our assets by comparing the projected undiscounted net cash flows associated with the related 
asset or group of assets over their estimated remaining lives against their respective carrying amounts. We consider factors such as current and 
expected future market price trends on used vehicles and the expected life of vehicles included in the fleet. Impairment, if any, is based on the 
excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of those assets. If asset residual values are determined to be recoverable, but the useful lives 
are shorter or longer than originally estimated, the net book value of the assets is depreciated over the newly determined remaining useful lives. 

For our box truck fleet, we utilize an accelerated method of depreciation based upon the declining balances method (2.4 times declining 
balance). Thus, the book value of a rental truck is reduced under a double declining formula for the first seven years in which approximately 85% 
of the balance is depreciated. The remaining 15% is then reduced on a straight-line basis to a salvage value by the end of year fifteen. 
Comparatively, a standard straight-line approach would reduce the asset balance evenly over the life of the truck. 

Although we intend to sell our used vehicles for prices approximating book value, the extent to which we realize a gain or loss on the sale of 
used vehicles is dependent upon various factors including, but not limited to, the general state of the used vehicle market, the age and condition 
of the vehicle at the time of its disposal and the depreciation rates with respect to the vehicle. We typically sell our used vehicles at our sales 
centers throughout the United States and Canada, on our website at uhaul.com/trucksales or by phone at 1-866-404-0355. Additionally, we sell a 
large portion of our pickup and cargo van fleet at automobile dealer auctions.

Receivables
Trade receivables include trade accounts from moving and self-storage customers and dealers, insurance premiums and amounts due from 

reinsurers, less management’s estimate of expected losses. 

Moving and Storage has two (2) primary components of trade receivables, receivables from corporate customers and credit card receivables 
from sales and rentals of equipment.  For credit card receivables, the Company uses a trailing 13 months average historical chargeback 
percentage of total credit card receivables. The Company rents equipment to corporate customers in which payment terms are 30 days.

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and assesses each customer’s credit worthiness. In addition, the 
Company monitors collections and payments from its customers and maintains an allowance based upon applying an expected credit loss rate to 
receivables based on the historical loss rate from similar high risk customers 
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adjusted for current conditions, including any specific customer collection issues identified, and forecasts of economic conditions. Delinquent 
account balances are written off after management has determined that the likelihood of collection is remote.

Management believes that the historical loss information it has compiled is a reasonable base on which to determine expected credit losses 
for trade receivables because the composition of trade receivables as of that date is consistent with that used in developing the historical credit-
loss percentages (i.e., the similar risk characteristics of its customers and its lending practices have not changed significantly over time). To adjust 
the historical loss rates to reflect the effects of these differences in current conditions and forecasted changes, management assigns a rating to 
each customer which varies depending on the assessment of risk.  Management estimated the loss rate at approximately 5% and 4% as of March 
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Management developed this estimate based on its knowledge of past experience. As a result, management 
applied the applicable credit loss rates to determine the expected credit loss estimate for each aging category. 

Reinsurance recoverables include case reserves and actuarial estimates of claims incurred but not reported ("IBNR"). These receivables are 
not expected to be collected until after the associated claim has been adjudicated and billed to the reinsurer. The reinsurance recoverables have 
no allowance for credit losses due to the fact that reinsurance is typically procured from carriers with strong credit ratings. Furthermore, we do not 
cede losses to a reinsurer if the carrier is deemed financially unable to perform on the contract. Reinsurance recoverables also include insurance 
ceded to other insurance companies. 

The allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables were $2.3 million and $3.8 million as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Notes and mortgage receivables include accrued interest and are reduced by discounts and amounts considered by management to be 
uncollectible.

Policy Benefits and Losses, Claims and Loss Expenses Payable
Life Insurance

The liability for future policy benefits for traditional and limited-payment long duration life and health products comprises approximately $396.9 
million of the total liability for future policy benefits, or approximately 47% of the consolidated Policy Benefits and Losses, Claims and Loss 
Expenses Payable. The liability is determined each reporting period based on the net level premium method. This method requires the liability for 
future policy benefits be calculated as the present value of estimated future policyholder benefits and the related termination expenses, less the 
present value of estimated future net premiums to be collected from policyholders. Net level premiums reflect a recomputed net premium ratio 
using actual experience since the issue date or the "Transition Date" of April 1, 2021 and expected future experience. The liability is accrued as 
premium revenue and is recognized and adjusted for differences between actual and expected experience. Long-duration insurance contracts 
issued by the Company are grouped into cohorts based on the contract issue year, distribution channel, legal entity and product type.

Both the present value of expected future benefit payments and the present value of expected future net premiums are based primarily on 
assumptions of discount rates, mortality, morbidity, lapse, and persistency. Each quarter, the Company remeasures its liability for future policy 
benefits using current discount rates with the effect of the change recognized in Other Comprehensive Income, a component of stockholders’ 
equity. In addition, the Company recognizes a liability remeasurement gain or loss using original discount rates, and relating to actual experience 
under the net premium calculation, as compared to the prior reporting period expected cash flows.

The Company reviews, and updates as necessary, its cash flow assumptions (mortality, morbidity, lapses and persistency) used to calculate 
the change in the liability for future policy benefits at least annually. These cash flow assumptions are reviewed at the same time every year, or 
more frequently, if suggested by experience. If cash flow assumptions are changed, the net premium ratio is recalculated from the original issue 
date, or the Transition Date, using actual experience and projected future cash flows. When the expected future net premiums exceed the 
expected future gross premiums, or the present value of future policyholder benefits exceeds the present value of expected future gross 
premiums, the liability for future policy benefits is adjusted with changes recognized in policyholder benefits. The cash flow assumptions do not 
include an adjustment for adverse deviation. Mortality tables used for individual life insurance include various industry tables and reflect 
modifications based on Company experience. Morbidity assumptions for individual health are based on Company experience and industry data. 
Lapse and persistency assumptions are based on Company experience.
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The liability for future policy benefits is discounted as noted above, using a current upper-medium grade fixed-income instrument yield that 
reflects the duration characteristics of the liability for future policy benefits. The methodology for determining current discount rates consists of 
constructing a discount rate curve intended to be reflective of the currency and tenor of the insurance liability cash flows. The methodology is 
designed to prioritize observable inputs based on market data available in the local debt markets denominated in the same currency as the 
policies. For the discount rates applicable to tenors for which the single-A debt market is not liquid or there is little or no observable market data, 
the Company will use estimation techniques consistent with the fair value guidance in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC“) 820, Fair Value 
Measurement. We further accrete interest as a component of policyholder benefits using the original discount rate that is locked in during the year 
of contract issuance. The original discount rates (or the locked-in discount rates) are used for interest accretion purposes and for the 
determination of net premiums, whereas the current discount rates are used for purposes of valuing the liability.

The liability for future policy benefits for annuity and interest sensitive life-type products is represented by policy account value. For limited-
payment contracts, a deferred profit liability is also recorded, with changes recognized in income over the life of the contract in proportion to the 
amount of insurance in-force.

Property & Casualty

Property and Casualty Insurance’s liability for reported and unreported losses is based on Repwest’s historical data along with industry 
averages. The liability for unpaid loss adjustment expenses is based on historical ratios of loss adjustment expenses paid to losses paid. Amounts 
recoverable from reinsurers on unpaid losses are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim liability associated with the reinsured policy. 
Adjustments to the liability for unpaid losses and loss expenses as well as amounts recoverable from reinsurers on unpaid losses are charged or 
credited to expense in the periods in which they are made.

Due to the nature of the underlying risks and high degree of uncertainty associated with the determination of the liability for future policy 
benefits and claims, the amounts to be ultimately paid to settle these liabilities cannot be precisely determined and may vary significantly from the 
estimated liability, especially for long-tailed casualty lines of business such as excess workers’ compensation.  As a result of the long-tailed nature 
of the excess workers’ compensation policies written by Repwest from 1983 through 2001, it may take a number of years for claims to be fully 
reported and finally settled.

On a regular basis, insurance reserve adequacy is reviewed by management to determine if existing assumptions need to be updated. In 
determining the assumptions for calculating workers’ compensation reserves, management considers multiple factors including the following:

• Claimant longevity;
• Cost trends associated with claimant treatments;
• Changes in ceding entity and third-party administrator reporting practices;
• Changes in environmental factors including legal and regulatory;
• Current conditions affecting claim settlements; and
• Future economic conditions, including inflation.

We have reserved each claim based upon the accumulation of current claim costs projected through each claimant’s life expectancy and then 
adjusted for applicable reinsurance arrangements.  Management reviews each claim bi-annually, or more frequently if there are changes in facts 
or circumstances, to determine if the estimated life-time claim costs have increased and then adjusts the reserve estimate accordingly at that 
time.  We have factored in an estimate of what the potential cost increases could be in our IBNR liability.  We have not assumed settlement of the 
existing claims in calculating the reserve amount, unless it is in the final stages of completion.

Continued increases in claim costs, including medical inflation and new treatments and medications could lead to future adverse development 
resulting in additional reserve strengthening.  Conversely, settlement of existing claims or if injured workers return to work or expire prematurely, 
could lead to future positive development.

Self-Insurance Liabilities

U-Haul retains the risk for certain public liability and third-party property damage claims related to our rental equipment. The consolidated 
balance sheets include $318.9 million and $335.2 million of liabilities related to these programs as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
These liabilities represent an estimate for both reported claims not yet paid and claims incurred but not yet reported and are recorded on an 
undiscounted basis in policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses payable. Requirements are based on actuarial evaluations of 
historical accident claims expense and trends, as well as future projection of ultimate losses, expenses and administrative costs. The adequacy of 
the liability is monitored 
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based on evolving claim history. This liability is subject to change in the future based upon changes in the underlying assumptions including 
claims experience, frequency of incidents, and severity of incidents. 

U-Haul has operated a self-insurance program for general liabilty coverage related to risks arising from U-Haul's moving operations since 
2002. The Company maintains excess of loss coverage with third-party insurers for losses in excess of specific limits.

Additionally, as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the consolidated balance sheets include liabilities of $20.4 million and $21.6 million, respectively, 
related to medical plan benefits we provide for eligible employees. We estimate this liability based on actual claims outstanding as of the balance 
sheet date as well as an actuarial estimate of IBNR claims. These amounts are recorded in accounts payable and accrued expenses on the 
consolidated balance sheets.

Liability from Investment Contracts
Liability from investment contracts represents the amount held by the Company on behalf of the policyholder at each reporting date. This 

amount includes deposits received from the policyholder, interest credited to the policyholder's account balance, net of charges assessed against 
the account balance and any policyholder withdrawals. This balance also includes liabilities for annuities and certain other contracts that do not 
contain significant insurance risk, as well as the estimated fair value of embedded derivatives associated with indexed annuity products. The 
consolidated balance sheets include $2,411.4 and $2,398.9 million of liabilities for these contracts as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Revenue Recognition
Self-moving rentals are recognized for the period that trucks and moving equipment are rented. Self-storage revenues, based upon the 

number of paid storage contract days, are recognized as earned during the period.  Sales of self-moving and self-storage related products are 
recognized when control transfers to the customer. Property and casualty insurance premiums are recognized as revenue over the policy periods. 
Traditional life and Medicare supplement insurance premiums are recognized as revenue over the premium-paying periods of the contracts when 
due from the policyholders. For products where premiums are due over a significantly shorter duration than the period over which benefits are 
provided, such as our single premium whole life product, premiums are recognized when received and excess profits are deferred and recognized 
in relation to the insurance in force. Interest and investment income are recognized as earned. 

Amounts collected from customers for sales tax are recorded on a net basis. Please see Note 22, Revenue Recognition, of the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Leases
Lessor

We have determined that revenues derived by providing self-moving equipment rentals, self-storage rentals and certain other revenues, 
including U-Box rentals, are within the scope of the accounting guidance contained in Topic 842. 

We combined all lease and non-lease components of lease contracts for which the timing and pattern of transfer are the same and the lease 
component meets the classification of an operating lease, and account for them in accordance with Topic 842. The Company offers support 
equipment rentals which are deemed lease components. In connection with equipment and self-storage rentals,  the Company also offers value 
added services such as insurance, which are deemed non-lease components. The revenue streams accounted for in accordance with Topic 842 
are recognized evenly over the period of rental. Please see Note 23, Revenue Recognition, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Lessee
We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases, which are comprised primarily of storage rental locations, with 

lease terms up to 88 years, except for our easements which are indefinite in term, are included in ROU assets – operating, net and operating 
lease liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. Finance leases, which are comprised primarily of rental equipment leases, with primarily 7-
year terms are included in ROU assets - financing, net, and notes, loans and finance leases payable, net in our consolidated balance sheets.

ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease 
payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments 
over the expected remaining lease term. We use our incremental borrowing rate based on information available at commencement date, including 
the rate for a fully collateralized loan that can either be fully amortized or financed with a residual at the end of the lease term, for a borrower with 
similar credit quality in order to 
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determine the present value of lease payments. Our lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease, which are included in the 
calculation of ROU assets when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise those options. Covenants include the Company’s responsibility for all 
maintenance and repairs during the term of the agreement. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are not accounted for separately. Additionally, for certain leases, we 
apply a portfolio approach to account for the operating lease ROU assets and liabilities as the leases are similar in nature and have nearly 
identical contract provisions. 

Our equipment sale/leaseback transactions consist primarily of 7-year terms with a right to repurchase the asset and do not qualify as a sale.  
New sale leaseback transactions that fail to qualify as a sale are accounted for as a financial liability. Please see Note 18, Leases, of the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Advertising
All advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses were $13.8 million, $11.1 million and $13.7 million in fiscal 2024, 2023 

and 2022, respectively and are included in operating expenses.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs
Deferred acquisition costs (“DAC") are directly related to the successful acquisition of new life insurance, annuity and health business, and 

primarily include sales commissions, policy issue costs, direct to consumer advertising costs, and underwriting costs. These costs are capitalized 
on a grouped contract basis and amortized over the expected term of the related contracts. These costs are not capitalized until they are incurred. 
Also recorded within DAC are sales inducements credited to policyholder account balances in the form of a premium bonus (“sales inducement 
assets”). As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Sales Inducement Asset included with DAC amounted to $14.9 million and $16.6 million, 
respectively, on the consolidated balance sheet and amortization expense totaled $2.9 million, $3.7 million and $4.7 million for the periods ended 
March 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

DAC is amortized on a constant-level basis over the expected term of the grouped contracts, with the related expense included in 
amortization of deferred acquisition costs. The in-force metric used to compute the DAC amortization rate is premium deposit in-force for deferred 
annuities, policy count in-force for health insurance, and face amount in-force for life insurance. The assumptions used to amortize acquisition 
costs include mortality, morbidity, and persistency. These assumptions are reviewed at least annually and revised in conjunction with any change 
in the future policy benefit assumptions. The effect of changes in the assumptions are recognized over the remaining expected contract term as a 
revision of future amortization amounts.

Environmental Costs
Liabilities are recorded when environmental assessments and remedial efforts, if applicable, are probable and the costs can be reasonably 

estimated. The amount of the liability is based on management’s best estimate of undiscounted future costs. Certain recoverable environmental 
costs related to the removal of underground storage tanks or related contamination are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful lives 
of the properties. These costs are capitalized if they improve the safety or efficiency of the property or are incurred in preparing the property for 
sale.

Income Taxes 
U-Haul Holding Company files a consolidated tax return with all of its legal subsidiaries. The provision for income taxes reflects deferred 

income taxes resulting from changes in temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent the future tax consequence for those differences, which will either be taxable or deductible when 
the assets and liabilities are recovered or settled. Deferred taxes are also recognized for operating losses that are available to offset future 
taxable income. Valuation allowances are established when it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Earnings Per Share
See Note 4, Earnings Per Share, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
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Comprehensive income (loss), on a tax effected basis, consists of net earnings, foreign currency translation adjustments, unrealized gains 
and losses on investments, the change in fair value of cash flow hedges and the change in postretirement benefit obligations. 

Debt Issuance Costs
We defer costs directly associated with acquiring third-party financing. Debt issuance costs are deferred and amortized to interest expense 

using the effective interest method. Debt issuance costs related to our long-term debt are reflected as a direct deduction from the carrying amount 
of the debt. Please see Note 10, Notes, Loans and Finance Leases Payable, net, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accounting Pronouncements
Adoption of new Accounting Pronouncements
Changes to GAAP are established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) in the form of accounting standards updates (“ASU”) to 
the FASB Accounting Standards Codification. The Company considers the applicability and impact of all ASUs. Except as noted below, there were 
no significant ASUs adopted during the year ended December 31, 2023.

In August 2018, the FASB issued new guidance on long-duration contracts (ASU 2018-12, Financial Services-Insurance (Topic 944): Targeted 
Improvements to the Accounting for Long-Duration Contracts (“LDTI”)). On April 1, 2023, the Company adopted LDTI, which is applicable to 
Oxford, and used the modified retrospective method with a transition date of April 1, 2021.  LDTI resulted in changes to the measurement, 
presentation and disclosure requirements for long-duration insurance contracts. A summary of the most significant changes is provided below:

1) Entities were required to review, and update if there is a change to cash flow assumptions (including morbidity and mortality) at least 
annually, and to update discount rate assumptions quarterly using an upper-medium grade fixed-income instrument yield. The effect of 
changes in cash flow assumptions were recorded in the Company's results of operations.

2) The discount rate assumption used to measure the liability for traditional long-duration contracts is now based on an upper-medium 
grade fixed income yield, updated quarterly, with changes recognized in other comprehensive income ("OCI").

3) DAC for all insurance products are required to be amortized on a constant-level basis over the expected term of the contracts, using 
amortization methods that are not a function of revenue or profit emergence. Changes in assumptions used to amortize DAC have 
been recognized as a revision to future amortization amounts.

4) Guaranteed benefits associated with certain fixed annuity contracts have been classified as market risk benefits ("MRBs"), which are 
now measured at estimated fair value through net income and reported separately on the consolidated statements of operations, 
except for nonperformance risk changes, which will be recognized in OCI.

5) There was a significant increase in required disclosures, including disaggregated roll-forwards of insurance contract assets and 
liabilities supplemented by qualitative and quantitative information regarding the cash flows, assumptions, methods and judgments 
used to measure those balances.

The transition date was April 1, 2021. MRB changes were required to be applied on a retrospective basis, while the changes for insurance 
liability assumption updates and DAC amortization were applied to existing carrying amounts on the transition date.

The cumulative effect, on an after-tax basis, of the adoption of ASU 2018-12 as of the transition date was a $8.1 million decrease to retained 
earnings and a $64.5 million decrease to AOCI. See Note 29, ASU 2018-12 Transition, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for 
more detailed information on the impacts of the ASU to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-01, Leases (Topic 842 – Common Control Arrangements (“ASU 2023-01”). ASU 2023-01, 
accounting for leasehold improvements, requires a lessee in a common-control lease arrangement to amortize leasehold improvements that it 
owns over the improvements’ useful life to the common control group, regardless of the lease term, if the lessee continues to control the use of 
the underlying asset through a lease.  The amendment is 
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effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. We are currently in the process of evaluating the impact if any of the adoption of 
ASU 2023-01 on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. ASU 
2023-07 requires disclosures to include significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), 
a description of other segment items by reportable segment and any additional measures of a segment's profit or loss used by the CODM when 
deciding how to allocate resources. The ASU requires all annual disclosures currently required by Topic 280 to be included in interim periods and 
is applicable to entities with a single reportable segment. The amendment is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and 
interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The amendment is effective retrospectively to 
all prior periods presented in the consolidated financial statements. We are currently assessing the impact of adopting ASU 2023-07 on our 
disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. ASU 2023-09 
requires disaggregated information about a reporting entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as information on income tax paid. Early 
adoption is permitted. The amendment is effective prospectively to all annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. We are currently 
evaluating the impact of this standard on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In March 2024, the SEC issued a final rule that requires disclosure of: (i) financial statement impacts of severe weather events and other 
natural conditions; (ii) a roll forward of carbon offset and REC balances if material to the Company's plan to achieve climate-related targets or 
goals; and (iii) material impacts on estimates and assumptions in the financial statements. The rule is effective for the Company for annual 
periods beginning January 1, 2027 and is to be applied prospectively. In April 2024, the SEC issued an order staying the final rule pending judicial 
review of consolidated challenges to the rules by the Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit. The Company cannot predict what, if any, changes in 
scope or timing may occur as a result of the pending litigation. The Company continues its assessment to prepare for the new rule.

Note 4. Earnings Per Share
We calculate earnings per share using the two-class method in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 260, 

Earnings Per Share. The two-class method allocates the undistributed earnings available to common stockholders to the Company’s outstanding 
common stock, $0.25 par value (the “Voting Common Stock”) and the Series N Non-Voting Common Stock, $0.001 par value (the “Non-Voting 
Common Stock”) based on each share’s percentage of total weighted average shares outstanding. The Voting Common Stock and Non-Voting 
Common Stock are allocated 10% and 90%, respectively, of our undistributed earnings available to common stockholders. This represents 
earnings available to common stockholders less the dividends declared for both the Voting Common Stock and Non-Voting Common Stock. 

Our undistributed earnings per share is calculated by taking the undistributed earnings available to common stockholders and dividing this 
number by the weighted average shares outstanding for the respective stock. If there was a dividend declared for that period, the dividend per 
share is added to the undistributed earnings per share to calculate the basic and diluted earnings per share. The process is used for both Voting 
Common Stock and Non-Voting Common Stock.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ending March 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 for our Voting Common Stock 
and Non-Voting Common Stock is as follows:

 
    For the Year Ending  
    March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
             
    (In thousands, except share and per share amounts)  

                   
Weighted average shares outstanding of Voting Common Stock     19,607,788       19,607,788       19,607,788  
Total weighted average shares outstanding for Voting Common Stock and Non-Voting 
Common Stock     196,077,880       196,077,880       196,077,880  
Percent of weighted average shares outstanding of Voting Common Stock     10 %     10 %     10 %
                   
Net earnings available to common stockholders $   628,707   $   924,472   $   1,124,362  
Voting Common Stock dividends declared and paid     —       (19,608 )     (29,412 )
Non-Voting Common Stock dividends declared and paid     (31,765 )     (14,117 )     —  
Undistributed earnings available to common stockholders $   596,942   $   890,747   $   1,094,950  
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Undistributed earnings available to common stockholders allocated to Voting Common 
Stock $   59,694   $   89,075   $   109,495  
                   
Undistributed earnings per share of Voting Common Stock $   3.04   $   4.54   $   5.58  
Dividends declared per share of Voting Common Stock $   —   $   1.00   $   1.50  
Basic and diluted earnings per share of Voting Common Stock $   3.04   $   5.54   $   7.08  
                   
                   
Weighted average shares outstanding of Non-Voting Common Stock     176,470,092       176,470,092       176,470,092  
Total weighted average shares outstanding for Voting Common Stock and Non-Voting 
Common Stock     196,077,880       196,077,880       196,077,880  
Percent of weighted average shares outstanding of Non-Voting Common Stock     90 %     90 %     90 %
                   
Net earnings available to common stockholders $   628,707   $   924,472   $   1,124,362  
Voting Common Stock dividends declared and paid     —       (19,608 )     (29,412 )
Non-Voting Common Stock dividends declared and paid     (31,765 )     (14,117 )     —  
Undistributed earnings available to common stockholders $   596,942   $   890,747   $   1,094,950  
Undistributed earnings available to common stockholders allocated to Non-Voting 
Common Stock $   537,248   $   801,672   $   985,455  
                   
Undistributed earnings per share of Non-Voting Common Stock $   3.04   $   4.54   $   5.58  
Dividends declared per share of Non-Voting Common Stock $   0.18   $   0.08   $   —  
Basic and diluted earnings per share of Non-Voting Common Stock $   3.22   $   4.62   $   5.58  

 
 

Note 5. Trade Receivables and Reinsurance Recoverables, Net
Reinsurance recoverables and trade receivables, net, were as follows:
 

    March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  

Reinsurance recoverable $   37,864   $   42,362  
Trade accounts receivable     141,282       110,281  
Paid losses recoverable     442       400  
Accrued investment income     29,299       29,553  
Premiums and agents' balances     1,086       4,075  
Independent dealer receivable     415       292  
Other receivables     11,756       6,324  
      222,144       193,287  
Less: Allowance for credit losses     (6,236 )     (3,789 )

  $   215,908   $   189,498  
 

Note 6.  Investments
Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities as borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or 

prepayment penalties.

We deposit bonds with insurance regulatory authorities to meet statutory requirements. The adjusted cost of bonds on deposit with insurance 
regulatory authorities was $23.1 million and $23.4 million for March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Available-for-Sale Investments
Available-for-sale investments as of March 31, 2024 were as follows:

 

   
Amortized

Cost    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses    

Allowance for 
Expected Credit 

Losses    
Fair

Value  
    (In thousands)  

U.S. treasury securities and government obligations $   191,070   $   2,123   $   (8,921 ) $   —   $   184,272  
U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities     48,067       250       (7,664 )     —       40,653  
Obligations of states and political subdivisions     151,197       918       (7,533 )     —       144,582  
Corporate securities     1,963,249       2,762       (152,799 )     (1,052 )     1,812,160  
Mortgage-backed securities     306,510       34       (45,707 )     —       260,837  
  $   2,660,093   $   6,087   $   (222,624 ) $   (1,052 ) $   2,442,504  
 

Available-for-sale investments as of March 31, 2023 were as follows:
 

   
Amortized

Cost    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses    

Allowance for 
Expected Credit 

Losses    
Fair

Value  
    (in thousands)  

U.S. treasury securities and government obligations $   353,189   $   3,061   $   (11,574 ) $   —   $   344,676  
U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities     34,126       40       (6,935 )     —       27,231  
Obligations of states and political subdivisions     161,960       649       (12,104 )     —       150,505  
Corporate securities     2,086,432       1,491       (216,589 )     (2,101 )     1,869,233  
Mortgage-backed securities     370,880       78       (53,566 )     —       317,392  
  $   3,006,587   $   5,319   $   (300,768 ) $   (2,101 ) $   2,709,037  
 

A summary of available-for-sale investments with unrealized losses for which an allowance for credit losses has not been recorded, 
aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous loss position as of March 31, 2024 and 
March 31, 2023 are as follows:

 
      March 31, 2024  

      Less than or equal to 1 year       Greater than 1 year       Total  

      Fair Value      
Unrealized 

Losses       Fair Value      
Unrealized 

Losses       Fair Value      
Unrealized 

Losses  
         
      (In thousands)  
U.S. treasury securities and government obligations     $ 1,888       $ (13 )     $ 103,336       $ (8,908 )     $ 105,224       $ (8,921 )
U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities       —         —         23,711         (7,664 )       23,711         (7,664 )
Obligations of states and political subdivisions       10,492         (222 )       80,082         (7,311 )       90,574         (7,533 )
Corporate securities       132,513         (1,258 )       1,495,167         (151,541 )       1,627,680         (152,799 )
Mortgage-backed securities       3,008         (23 )       248,423         (45,684 )       251,431         (45,707 )

      $ 147,901       $ (1,516 )     $ 1,950,719       $ (221,108 )     $ 2,098,620       $ (222,624 )

 
 
      March 31, 2023  

      Less than or equal to 1 year       Greater than 1 year       Total  

      Fair Value      
Unrealized 

Losses       Fair Value      
Unrealized 

Losses       Fair Value      
Unrealized 

Losses  
         
      (In thousands)  
U.S. treasury securities and government obligations     $ 75,952       $ (3,935 )     $ 36,736       $ (7,639 )     $ 112,688       $ (11,574 )
U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities       2,019         (228 )       23,966         (6,707 )       25,985         (6,935 )
Obligations of states and political subdivisions       101,974         (8,090 )       13,463         (4,014 )       115,437         (12,104 )
Corporate securities       1,553,647         (158,038 )       213,947         (58,551 )       1,767,594         (216,589 )
Mortgage-backed securities       189,370         (13,207 )       118,539         (40,359 )       307,909         (53,566 )

      $ 1,922,962       $ (183,498 )     $ 406,651       $ (117,270 )     $ 2,329,613       $ (300,768 )

 
Gross proceeds from matured or redeemed securities were $667.0 million, $196.2 million and $352.3 million in fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, 

respectively. Included in the fiscal 2024 proceeds was $322.3 million from the Moving and Storage 
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Treasuries that matured. The gross realized gains on these sales totaled $1.9 million, $0.9 million and $9.5 million in fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. The gross realized losses on these sales of $3.1 million, $0.3 million and $1.4 million in fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  

Changes in the allowance for credit losses are recorded as provision for (or reversal of) credit loss expense. There was a $1.0 million and 
$2.0 million net impairment charge reported in fiscal 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

The adjusted cost and estimated market value of available-for-sale investments by contractual maturity, were as follows:
 

    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  

   
Amortized

Cost    
Fair

Value    
Amortized

Cost    
Fair

Value  
    (In thousands)  

Due in one year or less $   266,357   $   266,578   $   354,875   $   354,184  
Due after one year through five years     748,338       723,903       754,175       717,552  
Due after five years through ten years     614,890       564,422       736,089       665,708  
Due after ten years     723,998       626,764       790,568       654,201  
      2,353,583       2,181,667       2,635,707       2,391,645  
                         
Mortgage-backed securities     306,510       260,837       370,880       317,392  
  $   2,660,093   $   2,442,504   $   3,006,587   $   2,709,037  
 

Equity investments of common stock and non-redeemable preferred stock were as follows:
 

    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  

   
Amortized

Cost    
Fair

Value    
Amortized

Cost    
Fair

Value  
    (In thousands)  

Common stocks $   29,604   $   45,014   $   29,577   $   39,375  
Non-redeemable preferred stocks     25,144       21,260       26,054       21,982  
  $   54,748   $   66,274   $   55,631   $   61,357  
 
Investments, other

The carrying value of other investments were as follows:
 

    March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  

Mortgage loans, net $   604,481   $   466,531  
Short-term investments     997       15,921  
Policy loans     11,229       10,921  
Other investments     17,229       82,167  

  $   633,936   $   575,540  
 

Mortgage loans are carried at the unpaid balance, less an allowance for expected losses net of any unamortized premium or discount. The 
portfolio of mortgage loans is principally collateralized by self-storage facilities and commercial properties. The interest rate range on the 
mortgage loans is 3.5% to 7.7% with maturities between 2024 and 2036. The allowance for expected losses was $0.5 million for both March 31, 
2024 and 2023. These loans represent first lien mortgages held by us. Mortgage loans are reviewed on an ongoing basis and analysis may 
include market analysis, estimated valuations of the underlying collateral, loan to value ratios, tenant creditworthiness and other factors. For our 
mortgage loans, no specifically identified loans were impaired as of March 31, 2024. We have not experienced any material losses related to the 
notes from individual or groups of notes in any particular industry or geographic area.

Short-term investments consist primarily of investments in money market funds, mutual funds and any other investments with short-term 
characteristics that have original maturities of less than one year at acquisition. These investments are recorded at cost, which approximates fair 
value.
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Other equity investments are carried at cost and assessed for impairment.

Insurance policy loans are carried at their unpaid balance.

Note 7.  Other Assets
Other assets were as follows:

 
    March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  
Deposits (debt-related) $   27,712   $   35,573  
Other real estate     67,946       —  
Deposits (real estate related)     16,085       15,479  
  $   111,743   $   51,052  
 

Note 8.  Accounts Payable and Accrued Expense
Accounts payable and accrued expenses were as follows:

 
    March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  
Accounts payable $   240,053   $   235,904  
Accrued expenses     543,031       525,135  
  $   783,084   $   761,039  
 
Note 9.  Net Investment and Interest Income

Net investment and interest income, were as follows: 
 

    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
    (In thousands)  

Fixed maturities $   105,089   $   171,814   $   111,625  
Insurance policy loans     669       869       705  
Mortgage loans     28,599       23,854       25,850  
Short-term, amounts held by ceding reinsurers, net and other investments     20,377       (11,523 )     17,361  
Investment income     154,734       185,014       155,541  

Less: investment expenses     (8,266 )     (8,335 )     (7,280 )
Net investment and interest income $   146,468   $   176,679   $   148,261  
 

F-23

 



U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 10.  Notes, Loans and Finance Leases Payable, net
Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt was as follows:
 
                                March 31,  

 
Fiscal Year 2024 Interest 

Rates     Maturities  

Weighted Avg 
Interest Rates 

(c)   2024     2023  
                                (In thousands)  

Real estate loan (amortizing term) (a)   4.30   % -   6.80   % 2027   2037     5.90   % $   277,767   $   289,647  
Senior mortgages   2.70   % -   6.05   % 2024 - 2042     4.16   %     2,284,853       2,371,231  
Real estate loans (revolving credit)   0.00   % -   0.00   %     2027     0.00   %     0       0  
Fleet loans (amortizing term)   1.61   % -   5.68   % 2024 - 2029     3.84   %     70,454       111,856  
Fleet loans (revolving credit) (b)   2.36   % -   6.68   % 2026 - 2028     6.45   %     573,889       615,000  
Finance leases (rental equipment)   2.86   % -   5.01   % 2024 - 2026     4.10   %     117,641       223,205  
Finance liability (rental equipment)   1.60   % -   6.80   % 2024 - 2031     4.69   %     1,708,619       1,255,763  
Private placements   2.43   % -   2.88   % 2029 - 2035     2.65   %     1,200,000       1,200,000  
Other obligations   1.50   % -   8.00   % 2024 - 2049     6.23   %     70,815       76,648  

Notes, loans and finance leases payable                             $   6,304,038   $   6,143,350  
Less: Debt issuance costs                                 (32,676 )     (35,308 )

Total notes, loans and finance leases payable, net                   $   6,271,362   $   6,108,042  
 
(a) Certain loans have interest rate swaps fixing the rate between 2.72% and 2.86% based on current margin. The weighted average interest rate calculation for these loans was 

4.10%, using the swap adjusted interest rate.
(b) A loan has an interest rate swap fixing the rate for $100 million of the relevant loan at 4.71% based on current margin.  The weighted average interest rate calculation for these 

loans was 6.34% using the swap adjusted interest rate.
(c) Weighted average rates as of March 31, 2024

Real Estate Backed Loans
Real Estate Loan

Certain subsidiaries of Real Estate and U-Haul Co. of Florida are borrowers under real estate loans. These loans require monthly or quarterly 
principal and interest payments, with the unpaid loan balance and accrued and unpaid interest due at maturity. These loans are secured by 
various properties owned by the borrowers. The interest rates, per the provisions of $197.9 million of these loans, are the applicable secured 
overnight funding rate (“SOFR”) plus the applicable margins and a credit spread adjustment of 0.10%. As of March 31, 2024, the applicable SOFR 
was between 5.33% and applicable margin was between 0.65% and 1.38%, the sum of which, including the credit spread, was between 6.08% 
and 6.80%. The remaining $79.9 million of these loans was fixed with an interest rate of 4.30%. The default provisions of these real estate loans 
include non-payment of principal or interest and other standard reporting and change-in-control covenants. We are in compliance with all financial 
covenants as of March 31, 2024.

Senior Mortgages

Various subsidiaries of Real Estate and U-Haul are borrowers under certain senior mortgages. The senior mortgages require monthly principal 
and interest payments. The senior mortgages are secured by certain properties owned by the borrowers. The fixed interest rates, per the 
provisions of the senior mortgages, range between 2.70% and 6.05%. Certain senior mortgages have an anticipated repayment date and a 
maturity date. If these senior mortgages are not repaid by the anticipated repayment date, the interest rate on these mortgages would increase 
from the current fixed rate. We are using the anticipated repayment date for our maturity schedule. Real Estate and U-Haul have provided limited 
guarantees of the senior mortgages. The default provisions of the senior mortgages include non-payment of principal or interest and other 
standard reporting and change-in-control covenants. We are in compliance with all financial covenants as of March 31, 2024. There are limited 
restrictions regarding our use of the funds.

Real Estate Loans (Revolving Credit)

U-Haul Holding Company is a borrower under a multi-bank syndicated real estate loan. As of March 31, 2024, the maximum credit 
commitment is $465.0 million. As of March 31, 2024, the full capacity was available to borrow. This loan 
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agreement provides for revolving loans, subject to the terms of the loan agreement. This loan requires monthly interest payments with the unpaid 
loan balance and accrued and unpaid interest due at maturity. The default provisions of the loan include non-payment of principal or interest and 
other standard reporting and change-in-control covenants. We are in compliance with all financial covenants as of March 31, 2024. There is a 
0.30% fee charged for unused capacity. 

Fleet Loans
Rental Truck Amortizing Loans

The amortizing loans require monthly principal and interest payments, with the unpaid loan balance and accrued and unpaid interest due at 
maturity. These loans were used to purchase new trucks. The interest rates, per the provision of the loan agreements, are carried at fixed rates 
ranging between 1.61% and 5.68%.  All of our rental truck amortizing loans are collateralized by the rental equipment purchased.  The majority of 
these loans are funded at 70%, but some may be funded at 100%. U-Haul Holding Company, and in some cases U-Haul, is guarantor of these 
loans. The default provisions of these loans include non-payment of principal or interest and other standard reporting and change-in-control 
covenants. We are in compliance with all financial covenants as of March 31, 2024. The net book value of the corresponding rental equipment 
was $155.8 million and $213.1 million as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Rental Truck Revolvers

Various subsidiaries of U-Haul entered into three revolving fleet loans with an aggregate borrowing capacity of $615.0 million. The aggregate 
outstanding balance for these revolvers as of March 31, 2024 was $573.9 million. The interest rates, per the provision of the loan agreements, are 
SOFR plus the applicable margin and a credit spread adjustment of 0.10%. As of March 31, 2024, SOFR was between 5.33% and the margin was 
between 0.75% and 1.25%, the sum of which, including the credit spread, was between 6.18% and 6.68%. Of the $615.0 million outstanding, 
$22.2 million was fixed with an interest rate of 2.36%. Only interest is paid on the loans until the last nine months of the respective loan terms 
when principal becomes due monthly. The default provisions of the loan include non-payment of principal or interest and other standard reporting 
and change-in-control covenants. We are in compliance with all financial covenants as of March 31, 2024. These fleet loans are collateralized by 
the rental equipment purchased. The net book value of the corresponding rental equipment was $756.5 million and $822.0 million as of March 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively.

Finance Leases

The Finance Lease balance represents our sale-leaseback transactions of rental equipment. The agreements are generally seven (7) year 
terms with interest rates ranging from 2.86% to 5.01%.  All of our finance leases are collateralized by our rental fleet. The net book value of the 
corresponding rental equipment was $289.3 million and $474.8 million as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, respectively. There were no 
new financing leases, as assessed under the new leasing guidance, entered into during fiscal 2024. The default provisions of the loans include 
non-payment of principal or interest and other standard reporting and change-in-control covenants. We are in compliance with all financial 
covenants as of March 31, 2024.

Finance Liabilities

Finance liabilities represent our rental equipment financing transactions, and we assess if these sale-leaseback transactions qualify as a sale 
at initiation by determining if a transfer of ownership occurs.  We have determined that our equipment sale-leasebacks do not qualify as a sale, as 
the buyer-lessors do not obtain control of the assets in our ongoing sale-leaseback arrangements. As a result, these sale-leasebacks are 
accounted for as a financial liability and the leased assets are capitalized at cost.   Our finance liabilities have an average term of seven (7) years 
and interest rates ranging from 1.60% to 6.80%. These finance liabilities are collateralized by the related assets of our rental fleet. The net book 
value of the corresponding rental equipment was $1,989.8 million and $1,499.1 million as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, respectively. 
The default provisions of the loans include non-payment of principal or interest and other standard reporting and change-in-control covenants. We 
are in compliance with all financial covenants as of March 31, 2024.

Private Placements

In September 2021, U-Haul Holding Company entered into a note purchase agreement to issue $600.0 million of fixed rate senior unsecured 
notes in a private placement offering.  These notes consist of four tranches each totaling $150.0 million and funded in September 2021.  The fixed 
interest rates range between 2.43% and 2.78% with maturities between 2029 and 2033.  Interest is payable semiannually. The default provisions 
of the loan include non-payment of principal or 
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interest and other standard reporting and change-in-control covenants. We are in compliance with all financial covenants as of March 31, 2024. 

In December 2021, U-Haul Holding Company entered into a note purchase agreement to issue $600.0 million of fixed rate senior unsecured 
notes in a private placement offering. These notes consist of three tranches each totaling $100.0 million and two tranches each totaling $150.0 
million.  The fixed interest rates range between 2.55% and 2.88% with maturities between 2030 and 2035.  Interest is payable semiannually. The 
default provisions of the loan include non-payment of principal or interest and other standard reporting and change-in-control covenants. We are 
in compliance with all financial covenants as of March 31, 2024. 

Other Obligations 

In February 2011, U-Haul Holding Company and U.S. Bank Trust Company, NA, as successor in interest to U.S. Bank National Association 
(the “Trustee”), entered into the U-Haul Investors Club® Indenture.  U-Haul Holding Company and the Trustee entered into this indenture to 
provide for the issuance of notes by us directly to investors over our proprietary website, uhaulinvestorsclub.com (“U-Notes®”). The U-Notes® are 
secured by various types of collateral, including, but not limited to, certain rental equipment and real estate.  U-Notes® are issued in smaller series 
that vary as to principal amount, interest rate and maturity.  U-Notes® are obligations of the Company and secured by the associated collateral; 
they are not guaranteed by any of the Company’s affiliates or subsidiaries.

As of March 31, 2024, the aggregate outstanding principal balance of the U-Notes® issued was $72.4 million, of which $1.6 million is held by 
our insurance subsidiaries and eliminated in consolidation, and $18.9 million is held by related parties. Interest rates range between 1.50% and 
8.00% and maturity dates range between 2024 and 2049.

Oxford is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank ("FHLB") and, as such, the FHLB has made deposits with Oxford. As of December 31, 
2023, the deposits had an aggregate balance of $60.0 million for which Oxford pays fixed interest rates between 0.49% and 4.30% with maturities 
between March 29, 2024 and September 30, 2027. As of December 31, 2023, available-for-sale investments held with the FHLB totaled $93.9 
million, of which $62.8 million were pledged as collateral to secure the outstanding deposits. The balances of these deposits are included within 
liabilities from investment contracts on the consolidated financial statements.

Annual Maturities of Notes, Loans and Finance Leases Payable
The annual maturities of our notes, loans and finance leases payable, before debt issuance costs, as of March 31, 2024 for the next five years 

and thereafter are as follows:
 
    Years Ended March 31,  
    2025     2026     2027     2028     2029     Thereafter     Total  
    (In thousands)  
Notes, loans and finance leases 
payable, secured $   534,979   $   695,136   $   883,221   $   910,625   $   447,633   $   2,832,444   $   6,304,038  
 
Note 11. Interest on Notes, Loans and Finance Leases Payable, net
Interest Expense

Components of interest expense include the following: 
 

    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
    (In thousands)  

Interest expense $   269,941   $   229,559   $   167,618  
Capitalized interest     (14,482 )     (11,814 )     (9,700 )
Amortization of transaction costs     6,131       6,987       5,556  
Interest expense resulting from cash flow hedges     (5,415 )     (774 )     3,950  

Total interest expense     256,175       223,958       167,424  
 

Interest paid in cash amounted to $268.7 million, $225.8 million and $166.1 million for fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Interest paid 
(received) in cash on derivative contracts was ($5.2) million, ($0.8) million and $4.0 million, for fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Interest Rates
Interest rates and our revolving credit borrowings were as follows:

 
    Revolving Credit Activity    
    Years Ended March 31,    
    2024     2023     2022    
    (In thousands, except interest rates)    

Weighted average interest rate during the year     6.51   %  3.93   %  1.40   %
Interest rate at year end     6.61   %  5.89   %  1.49   %
Maximum amount outstanding during the year $   715,000   $   1,105,000   $   1,105,000    
Average amount outstanding during the year $   631,653   $   824,211   $   1,085,074    
Facility fees $   1,139   $   733   $   253    
 
Note 12.  Derivatives
 
Cash Flow Hedges

We manage exposure to changes in market interest rates. Our use of derivative instruments is limited to highly effective interest rate swaps to 
hedge the risk of changes in cash flows (future interest payments) attributable to changes in SOFR swap rates with the designated benchmark 
interest rate being hedged on certain of our SOFR indexed variable rate debt.  The interest rate swaps effectively fix our interest payments on 
certain SOFR indexed variable rate debt through July 2032. We monitor our positions and the credit ratings of our counterparties and do not 
currently anticipate non-performance by the counterparties. Interest rate swap agreements are not entered into for trading purposes.  These fair 
values are determined using pricing valuation models which include broker quotes for which significant inputs are observable. They include 
adjustments for counterparty credit quality and other deal-specific factors, where appropriate and are classified as Level 2 in the fair value 
hierarchy.

The derivative fair values reflected in prepaid expense and accounts payable and accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheet were 
as follows:
 

    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
    (In thousands)  

Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges            
Assets $   8,392   $   5,311  
Notional amount $   297,867   $   206,347  

 
(Gains) or losses recognized in income on interest rate derivatives are recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statements of 

operations. During fiscal years 2024, 2023 and 2022, we recognized an increase (decrease) in the fair value of our cash flow hedges of $6.4, $5.0 
million and $0.5 million, respectively, net of taxes. During fiscal years 2024, 2023 and 2022, we reclassified ($4.1) million, ($0.8) million and $3.9 
million, respectively, from AOCI to interest expense, net of tax. As of March 31, 2024, we expect to reclassify $5.6 million of net gains on interest 
rate contracts from AOCI to earnings as interest expense over the next twelve months. 

 
Economic Hedges

We use derivatives to economically hedge our equity market exposure to indexed annuity products sold by our Life Insurance company. 
These contracts earn a return for the contract holder based on the change in the value of the S&P 500 index between annual index point dates. 
We buy and sell listed equity and index call options and call option spreads. The credit risk is with the party in which the options are written. The 
net option price is paid up front and there are no additional cash requirements or additional contingent liabilities. These contracts are held at fair 
value on our balance sheet.  These derivative instruments are included in Investments, other, on the consolidated balance sheets. The fair values 
of these call options are determined based on quoted market prices from the relevant exchange and are classified as Level 1 in the fair value 
hierarchy.
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    Derivatives Fair Values as of  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
             
    (In thousands)  

Equity market contracts as economic hedging instruments            
Assets $   10,538   $   4,295  
Notional amount $   526,449   $   465,701  

 
Although the call options are employed to be effective hedges against our policyholder obligations from an economic standpoint, they do not 

meet the requirements for hedge accounting under GAAP. Accordingly, the changes in fair value of the call options are recognized each reporting 
date as a component of net investment and interest income. The changes in fair value of the call options include the gains or losses recognized at 
the expiration of the option term and the changes in fair value for open contracts.

Note 13.  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
A summary of our AOCI components, net of tax, were as follows:

 

   

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation    

Unrealized
Net Gains

(Losses) on
Investments
and Impact

of LFPB
Discount
Rates (a)    

Fair Value of 
Cash Flow 

Hedges    

Postretirement 
Benefit 

Obligation Net 
Loss    

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)  

       
    (In thousands)  

Balance as of March 31, 2021 $   (52,929 ) $   167,653   $   (3,879 ) $   (3,988 ) $   106,857  
Cummulative effect of Adoption of ASU 2018-12     —       (64,538 )     —       —       (64,538 )

Balance as of April 1, 2021 $   (52,929 ) $   103,115   $   (3,879 ) $   (3,988 ) $   42,319  
Foreign currency translation     (2,828 )     —       —       —       (2,828 )
Unrealized net loss on investments and impact of LFPB discount rates     —       (46,378 )     —       —       (46,378 )
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges     —       —       457       —       457  
Amounts reclassified into earnings on hedging activities     —       —       2,978       —       2,978  
Change in post retirement benefit obligations     —       —       —       1,546       1,546  
Other comprehensive income (loss)     (2,828 )     (46,378 )     3,435       1,546       (44,225 )

Balance as of March 31, 2022 $   (55,757 ) $   56,737   $   (444 ) $   (2,442 ) $   (1,906 )
Foreign currency translation     (782 )     —       —       —       (782 )
Unrealized net loss on investments and impact of LFPB discount rates     —       (289,477 )     —       —       (289,477 )
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges     —       —       5,033       —       5,033  
Amounts reclassified into earnings on hedging activities     —       —       (582 )     —       (582 )
Change in post retirement benefit obligations     —       —       —       2,091       2,091  
Other comprehensive income (loss)     (782 )     (289,477 )     4,451       2,091       (283,717 )

Balance as of March 31, 2023 $   (56,539 ) $   (232,740 ) $   4,007   $   (351 ) $   (285,623 )
Foreign currency translation     2,832       —       —       —       2,832  
Unrealized net loss on investments and impact of LFPB discount rates     —       55,857       —       —       55,857  
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges     —       —       6,410       —       6,410  
Amounts reclassified into earnings on hedging activities     —       —       (4,087 )     —       (4,087 )
Change in post retirement benefit obligations     —       —       —       1,395       1,395  
Other comprehensive income (loss)     2,832       55,857       2,323       1,395       62,407  

Balance as of March 31, 2024 $   (53,707 ) $   (176,883 ) $   6,330   $   1,044   $   (223,216 )
(a) Liability for future policy benefits
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Note 14. Stockholders’ Equity
The following table lists the dividends that have been declared and issued for fiscal years 2024 and 2023.
 

Voting Common Stock Dividends
Declared Date   Per Share Amount     Record Date   Dividend Date

               
August 18, 2022 $   0.50     September 6, 2022   September 20, 2022
April 6, 2022 $   0.50     April 18, 2022   April 29, 2022

 
Non-Voting Common Stock Dividends

Declared Date   Per Share Amount     Record Date   Dividend Date
               
March 6, 2024 $   0.05     March 18, 2024   March 28, 2024
December 6, 2023 $   0.05     December 18, 2023   December 29, 2023
August 17, 2023 $   0.04     September 19, 2023   September 29, 2023
June 7, 2023 $   0.04     June 20, 2023   June 30, 2023
March 3, 2023 $   0.04     March 14, 2023   March 27, 2023
December 7, 2022 $   0.04     December 19, 2022   December 30, 2022

 
As of March 31, 2024, no awards had been issued under the 2016 AMERCO Stock Option Plan.

 

Note 15. Provision for Taxes
Earnings before taxes and the provision for taxes consisted of the following:
 

    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
    (In thousands)  

Pretax earnings:             
U.S. $   816,238   $   1,179,738   $   1,432,231  
Non-U.S.    23,939       39,659       44,342  

Total pretax earnings $   840,177   $   1,219,397   $   1,476,573  
                   

Current provision                  
Federal $   66,356   $   115,171   $   189,488  
State     44,707       42,121       55,518  
Non-U.S.     254       5,150       6,893  
      111,317       162,442       251,899  

Deferred provision                  
Federal     88,549       114,355       90,852  
State     6,542       14,077       6,355  
Non-U.S.     5,062       4,051       3,105  
      100,153       132,483       100,312  

                   
Provision for income tax expense $   211,470   $   294,925   $   352,211  

                   
Income taxes paid (received) $   68,623   $   145,680   $   (4,548 )

 
The difference between the tax provision at the statutory federal income tax rate and the tax provision attributable to income before taxes was 

as follows:
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    Years Ended March 31,    
    2024     2023     2022    
    (In percentages)    

Statutory federal income tax rate    21.00   %   21.00   %   21.00   %
Increase (reduction) in rate resulting from:                    

State taxes, net of federal benefit     4.78   %   3.56   %   3.24   %
Foreign rate differential     0.03   %   0.08   %   0.05   %
Federal tax credits     (0.58 ) %   (0.48 ) %   (0.19 ) %
Tax-exempt income     (0.04 ) %   (0.08 ) %   (0.03 ) %
Dividend received deduction     (0.01 ) %   (0.01 ) %   —   %
Other     (0.01 ) %   0.15   %   (0.22 ) %

Effective income tax rate     25.17   %   24.22   %   23.85   %
 
Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:
 

    March 31,  
    2024     2023  

Deferred tax assets:   (In thousands)  
Benefit of tax net operating loss, interest and credit carryforwards $   36,978   $   33,778  
Accrued expenses     117,481       112,971  
Policy benefit and losses, claims and loss expenses payable, net     33,736       36,374  
Unrealized losses on investments     32,856       48,179  
Operating leases     11,521       12,058  

Total deferred tax assets $   232,572   $   243,360  
             

Deferred tax liabilities:            
Property, plant and equipment $   1,655,074   $   1,545,628  
Operating leases     11,214       12,175  
Deferred policy acquisition costs     10,709       12,038  
Other     2,700       3,008  

Total deferred tax liabilities     1,679,697       1,572,849  
Net deferred tax liability $   1,447,125   $   1,329,489  

 

The NOL, interest and credit carry-forwards in the above table are primarily attributable to state NOLs. As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, we 
had state NOLs of $628.9 million and $480.0 million, respectively, that will expire between  fiscal 2025 and 2044 for most jurisdictions, if not 
utilized.

On March 3, 2021, the IRS notified us that our federal income tax returns for the tax years March 31, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2018 and 2019 were 
selected for examination. The examination eventually expanded to include all years March 31, 2012 through March 31, 2021. The examination 
was completed and report finalized in March 2024. As a result, we are owed $129 million, plus interest of $11.4 million, both of which are reflected 
in prepaid expense.

No additional income taxes have been provided for any remaining undistributed foreign earnings not subject to transition tax, or any additional 
outside basis difference inherent in these entities, as these amounts continue to be indefinitely reinvested in foreign operations. Determining the 
amount of unrecognized deferred tax liability related to any remaining undistributed foreign earnings not subject to the transition tax and additional 
outside basis difference in these entities (i.e., basis difference in excess of that subject to the one-time transition tax) is not practicable.

We account for uncertainty in income taxes by recognizing the tax benefit or expense from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely 
than not that the tax position will be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The 
Company measures the tax benefits and expenses recognized in the consolidated financial statements from such a position based on the largest 
benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resolution.

A reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits at the beginning and end of the period are as follows:
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    Unrecognized Tax Benefits  
    March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  

             
Unrecognized tax benefits beginning balance $   58,107   $   48,851  

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year     10,202       7,226  
Reductions for tax positions of prior years     (27,536 )     (443 )
Additions for tax provisions of prior years     41,203       2,473  

Unrecognized tax benefits ending balance $   81,976   $   58,107  
 
Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 are $64.8 million and $45.9 million, 

respectively, of tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate.

We recognize interest related to unrecognized tax benefits and penalties as income tax expenses. As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the 
amount of interest accrued on unrecognized tax benefits was $9.6 million and $17.7 million, respectively, net of tax. During the current year, we 
recorded a benefit from interest in the amount of $8.1 million, net of tax. At March 31, 2024 and 2023, the amount of penalties accrued on 
unrecognized tax benefits was $20.2 million and $12.2 million. During the current year, we recorded expense from penalties in the amount of $8.0 
million. We do not expect the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits to significantly increase or decrease within 12 months of the reporting 
date.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various states and Canadian jurisdictions. While the Company has ongoing 
audits in Canada and various state jurisdictions, there have been no proposed or anticipated adjustments that would materially impact the 
consolidated financial statements. Our tax years remain open for examination by federal authorities for three years, state authorities for three to 
four years and Canadian authorities for four years. 

The Canadian government has issued draft Pillar Two legislation (Global Minimum Tax Act), including the Income Inclusion Rule and Qualified 
Domestic Minimum Top-Up Tax, which it intends to enact in 2024. The Canadian legislation is expected to be effective for our fiscal year beginning 
April 1, 2024. We have performed an assessment of the potential exposure to Pillar Two income taxes. Based on the assessment performed, the 
Pillar Two effective tax rates in all jurisdictions in which we operate are above the 15% minimum tax rate. We will continue to evaluate the 
legislation but do not expect the rules to have an impact on the income tax provision or cash taxes. 

   The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (the “IRA”) includes a 15% corporate alternative minimum tax on certain large corporations and a 1% 
excise tax on certain corporate stock repurchases. The impact on the Company of these provisions, which became effective on January 1, 2023, 
will depend on several factors, including recently released and forthcoming interpretive regulatory guidance. The Company continues to review 
and assess the provisions of the IRA but does not current expect it to materially impact the consolidated financial statements.

Note 16.  Employee Benefit Plans
Profit Sharing Plans

We provide tax-qualified profit sharing retirement plans for the benefit of eligible employees, former employees and retirees in the United 
States and Canada. The plans are designed to provide employees with an accumulation of funds for retirement on a tax-deferred basis and 
provide for annual discretionary employer contributions. Amounts to be contributed are determined by the President and Chairman of the Board of 
Directors (the “Board”) of the Company under the delegation of authority from the Board, pursuant to the terms of the Profit Sharing Plan. No 
contributions were made to the profit sharing plan during fiscal 2024, 2023 or 2022.

We also provide an employee savings plan which allows participants to defer income under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986.

ESOP Plan
We sponsor an Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) that generally covers all employees with one year or more of service. The ESOP 

began as a leveraged plan where shares were pledged as collateral for its debt which was originally funded by U-Haul. We made annual 
contributions to the ESOP equal to the ESOP’s debt service. As the debt was repaid, shares were released from collateral and allocated to active 
employees, based on the proportion of debt service paid in the year. ESOP shares were committed to be released monthly and ESOP 
compensation expense was recorded based on the 
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current market price at the end of the month. These shares then become outstanding for the earnings per share computations.  In fiscal 2021 we 
de-levered the plan and now contributions are made at the discretion of management with expense being recognized upon the decision to 
contribute.  ESOP compensation expense was $23.9 million, $22.1 million and $23.0 million for fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which 
are included in operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

In fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company made non-leveraged contributions of $23.9 million, $22.1 million and $23.0 million, respectively 
to the Plan Trust. During fiscal 2024 and 2023, ESOP purchased for allocation 365,544 and 424,484, respectively of non-leveraged Non-Voting 
Common Stock shares and during fiscal 2022, ESOP purchased for allocation 33,954 of non-leveraged Voting Common Stock shares.  

Shares held by the ESOP were as follows:
 

    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  

Allocated shares - Voting Common Stock     777       836  
Allocated shares - Non-Voting Common Stock     7,778       7,821  
 
Post Retirement and Post Employment Benefits

We provide a health reimbursement benefit to our eligible U.S. employees and their eligible dependents upon retirement from the Company. 
The retiree must have attained age sixty-five and earned twenty years of full-time service upon retirement to be awarded the health 
reimbursement benefit. The health reimbursement benefit is capped at a $20,000 lifetime maximum per covered person. Reimbursements are for 
amounts requested that are paid out of pocket after Medicare and any other medical policies in force. 

In addition, retirees who have attained age sixty-five and earned at least twenty years of full-time service upon retirement from the Company 
are entitled to group term life insurance benefits. The life insurance benefit is $3,000 plus $100 for each year of employment over twenty years. 
The benefits are not funded, and claims are paid as they are incurred. We use a March 31 measurement date for our post retirement benefit 
disclosures. 

The components of net periodic post retirement benefit cost were as follows:
 

    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
    (In thousands)  

Service cost for benefits earned during the period $   1,188   $   1,326   $   1,401  
Other components of net periodic benefit costs:                  

Interest cost on accumulated postretirement benefit     1,469       1,148       908  
Other components     (11 )     68       212  

Total other components of net periodic benefit costs     1,458       1,216       1,120  
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $   2,646   $   2,542   $   2,521  
 
The fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2023 post retirement benefit liability included the following components:
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    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  

Beginning of year $   28,770   $   30,206  
Service cost for benefits earned during the period     1,188       1,326  
Interest cost on accumulated post retirement benefit     1,469       1,148  
Net benefit payments and expense     (1,240 )     (1,207 )
Actuarial gain     (1,861 )     (2,703 )
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation     28,326       28,770  
             
Current liabilities     1,741       1,625  
Non-current liabilities     26,585       27,145  
             
Total post retirement benefit liability recognized in statement of financial position     28,326       28,770  
Components included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):            

Unrecognized net loss     1,385       (465 )
Cumulative net periodic benefit cost (in excess of employer contribution) $   29,711   $   28,305  

 
The discount rate assumptions in computing the information above were as follows:
 

    Years Ended March 31,
    2024 2023 2022
    (In percentages)    

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation     5.34   %   5.08   %   3.76   %
 
In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 became law. Net periodic post retirement 

benefit cost above includes the effect of the subsidy. The discount rate represents the expected yield on a portfolio of high grade (AA to AAA rated 
or equivalent) fixed income investments with cash flow streams sufficient to satisfy benefit obligations under the plan when due. Fluctuations in 
the discount rate assumptions primarily reflect changes in U.S. interest rates. The assumed health care cost trend rate used to measure the 
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of the end of fiscal 2024 was 5.9% in the initial year and was projected to decline annually to an 
ultimate rate of 4.0% in fiscal 2047. The assumed health care cost trend rate used to measure the accumulated post retirement benefit obligation 
as of the end of fiscal 2023 (and used to measure the fiscal 2024 net periodic benefit cost) was 4.9% in the initial year and was projected to 
decline annually to an ultimate rate of 4.0% in fiscal 2046.

Post-employment benefits provided by us, other than upon retirement, are not material.

Future net benefit payments are expected as follows:
 

    Future Net Benefit Payments  
    (In thousands)  

Year-ended:      
2025 $   1,741  
2026     1,977  
2027     2,238  
2028     2,467  
2029     2,706  
2030 Through 2034     14,121  

Total $   25,250  
 

Note 17.  Fair Value Measurements
Certain assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets and are measured and classified based upon a 

three-tiered approach to valuation. Financial assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value and are classified and disclosed in one of the following 
three categories:
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Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or 
liabilities;  

Level 2 – Quoted prices for identical or similar financial instruments in markets that are not considered to be active, or similar financial 
instruments for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly, or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable, or 
inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data through correlation or other means; and

Level 3 – Prices or valuations that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and are unobservable. These reflect 
management’s assumptions about the assumptions a market participant would use in pricing the asset or liability.

A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement.

Fair values of investments available-for-sale are based on quoted market prices, dealer quotes or discounted cash flows.

Fair values of derivatives are based on pricing valuation models which include broker quotes.

The following tables represent the financial assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 
2023, that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and the level within the fair value hierarchy. 

As of March 31, 2024   Total     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3  
    (Unaudited)  
    (In thousands)  

Assets                        
Fixed maturities - available for sale $   2,442,504   $   —   $   2,442,446   $   58  
Preferred stock     21,260       21,260       —       —  
Common stock     45,014       45,014       —       —  
Derivatives     18,930       10,538       8,392       —  

Total $   2,527,708   $   76,812   $   2,450,838   $   58  
                         
 

As of March 31, 2024, we had embedded derivatives of $9.3 million and market risk benefits of $13.4 million, both of which are designated as 
Level 3.

As of March 31, 2023   Total     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3  
    (In thousands)  

Assets                        
Fixed maturities - available for sale $   2,709,037   $   251,832   $   2,457,146   $   59  
Preferred stock     21,982       21,982       —       —  
Common stock     39,375       39,735       —       —  
Derivatives     9,606       4,295       5,311       —  

Total $   2,780,000   $   317,844   $   2,462,457   $   59  
                         
                         

We estimate the fair value for financial instruments not carried at fair value using the same methods and assumptions as those we carry at fair 
value. The financial instruments presented below are reported at carrying value on the consolidated balance sheets. 

Cash equivalents include $1,173.6 million and $1,793.5 million as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, respectively. Fair values of cash 
equivalents approximate carrying value due to the short period of time to maturity.

Fair values of mortgage loans and notes on real estate are based on quoted market prices, dealer quotes or discounted cash flows. Fair 
values of trade receivables approximate their recorded value.

Our financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of temporary cash investments, trade receivables, 
and notes receivable. Limited credit risk exists on trade receivables due to the diversity of our customer base and their dispersion across broad 
geographic markets. We place our temporary cash investments with financial institutions and limit the amount of credit exposure to any one 
financial institution.
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We have mortgage loans, which potentially expose us to credit risk. The portfolio of loans is principally collateralized by self-storage facilities 
and commercial properties. We have not experienced any material losses related to the loans from individual or groups of loans in any particular 
industry or geographic area. The estimated fair values were determined using the discounted cash flow method and using interest rates currently 
offered for similar loans to borrowers with similar credit ratings.

Other investments are substantially current or bear reasonable interest rates. As a result, the carrying values of these financial instruments 
approximate fair value.

The fair value of Liabilities from investment contracts as of March 31, 2024 was approximately $2,290 million and was deemed to be a level 3 
in the fair value hierarchy.

The following represents our financial instruments not carried at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets and corresponding placement 
in the fair value hierarchy.

 
    Fair Value Hierarchy  
    Carrying                       Total  

As of March 31, 2024   Value     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Fair Value  
    (In thousands)  

Assets                              
Trade receivables, net $   177,602   $   —   $   —   $   177,602   $   177,602  
Mortgage loans, net     604,481       —       —       579,767       579,767  
Other investments     18,917       —       —       18,917       18,917  

Total $   801,000   $   —   $   —   $   776,286   $   776,286  
                               
                               

Liabilities                              
Notes, loans and finance leases payable $   6,304,038   $   —   $   5,850,346   $   —   $   5,850,346  

Total $   6,304,038   $   —   $   5,850,346   $   —   $   5,850,346  
 
 
 
.   Fair Value Hierarchy  

As of March 31, 2023  
Carrying

Value     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3    

Total
Estimated
Fair Value  

    (In thousands)  
Assets                              

Trade receivables, net $   146,736   $   —   $   —   $   146,736   $   146,736  
Mortgage loans, net     466,531       —       —       444,957       444,957  
Other investments     109,009       —       —       109,009       109,009  

Total $   722,276   $   —   $   —   $   700,702   $   700,702  
                               
                               

Liabilities                              
Notes, loans and finance leases payable $   6,143,350       —   $   5,710,735   $   —   $   5,710,735  

Total $   6,143,350   $   —   $   5,710,735   $   —   $   5,710,735  
 
Note 18. Leases

We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are not accounted for separately. Additionally, for certain leases, we 
apply a portfolio approach to account for the operating lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets and liabilities as the leases are similar in nature and 
have nearly identical contract provisions.  These leases, which are comprised 
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primarily of storage rental locations, can have lease terms generally between 2 and 20  years. Covenants include the Company’s responsibility for 
all maintenance and repairs during the term of the agreement.

Our equipment sale/leaseback transactions do not qualify as a sale. Equipment leases prior to adoption of ASC 842 were recorded as capital 
leases and classified as finance lease ROU assets and liabilities upon adoption. New sale leaseback transactions that fail to qualify as a sale are 
accounted for as a financial liability. We use our incremental borrowing rate based on information available at commencement date, including the 
rate for a fully collateralized loan that can either be fully amortized or financed with a residual at the end of the lease term, for a borrower with 
similar credit quality in order to determine the present value of lease payments. Our lease terms are generally 7 years, may include options to 
extend or terminate the lease, which are included in the calculation of ROU assets when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise those 
options. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Please see Note 10, Notes, Loans and 
Finance Leases Payable, net, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

The following table shows the components of our ROU assets, net:
 

    As of March 31, 2024  
    Finance       Operating       Total  
    (In thousands)  

                       
Buildings and improvements $   —     $   79,317     $   79,317  
Furniture and equipment     61         —         61  
Rental trailers and other rental equipment     114,607         —         114,607  
Rental trucks    607,521         —         607,521  
Right-of-use assets, gross    722,189         79,317         801,506  
Less: Accumulated depreciation    (432,884 )       (25,605 )       (458,489 )

Right-of-use assets, net $   289,305     $   53,712     $   343,017  
 

    As of March 31, 2023  
    Finance     Operating     Total  
    (In thousands)  

                   
Buildings and improvements $   —   $   128,221   $   128,221  
Furniture and equipment     9,687       —       9,687  
Rental trailers and other rental equipment     152,294       —       152,294  
Rental trucks     949,838       —       949,838  
Right-of-use assets, gross     1,111,819       128,221       1,240,040  
Less: Accumulated depreciation     (637,054 )     (69,304 )     (706,358 )

Right-of-use assets, net $   474,765   $   58,917   $   533,682  
 

As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, we had finance lease liabilities for the ROU assets, net of $117.6 million and $223.2 million, respectively, 
included in notes, loans and finance leases payable, net. 

 
    Financing leases    
    March 31,    
    2024       2023    

Weighted average remaining lease term (years)     1         2    
Weighted average discount rate     4.1   %     3.8   %

 
    Operating leases    
    March 31,    
    2024       2023    

Weighted average remaining lease term (years)     21.9         19.2    
Weighted average discount rate     4.6   %     4.7   %
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For fiscal years 2024, 2023 and 2022, cash paid for leases included in our operating cash flow activities were $33.8 million, $32.1 million and 
$30.2 million, respectively, and our financing cash flow activities were $105.6 million, $124.2 million and $166.3 million, respectively.  Non-cash 
activities of ROU assets in exchange for lease liabilities were $48.8 million, $9.5 million and $3.7 million for fiscal years 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively.

The components of lease costs, including leases of less than 12 months, were as follows:
 

    Twelve Months Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  

             
Operating lease costs $   34,609   $   32,878  
             
Finance lease cost:            

Amortization of right-of-use assets $   55,085   $   81,006  
Interest on lease liabilities    6,990       11,199  

Total finance lease cost $   62,075   $   92,205  
 
The short-term lease costs for fiscal years 2024 and 2023 were not material.

Maturities of lease liabilities were as follows:
 

    Finance leases     Operating leases  
Year ending March 31,   (In thousands)  
             
2025 $   76,522   $   12,904  
2026     46,001       9,592  
2027     —       7,500  
2028     —       6,478  
2029     —       4,933  
Thereafter     —       61,016  

Total lease payments     122,523       102,423  
Less: imputed interest     (4,882 )     (47,391 )
Present value of lease liabilities $   117,641   $   55,032  
 
 
Note 19. Contingencies
Cybersecurity Incident
 

On September 9, 2022, we announced that the Company was made aware of a data security incident involving U-Haul's information 
technology network. U-Haul detected a compromise of two unique passwords used to access U-Haul customers' information. U-Haul took 
immediate steps to contain the incident and promptly enhanced its security measures to prevent any further unauthorized access. U-Haul retained 
cybersecurity experts and incident response counsel to investigate the incident and implement additional security safeguards. The investigation 
determined that between November 5, 2021 and April 8, 2022, the threat actor accessed customer contracts containing customers’ names, dates 
of birth, and driver’s license or state identification numbers. None of U-Haul’s financial, payment processing or email systems were involved. U-
Haul has notified impacted customers and relevant governmental authorities. 

Several class action lawsuits related to the incident have been filed against U-Haul. The lawsuits have been consolidated into one action in 
the U.S. District Court for the District of Arizona (the "Court"). On October 27, 2023, the Court dismissed with prejudice all claims except those 
brought under the California Consumer Privacy Act. The remaining claims will be vigorously defended by the Company; however, the outcome of 
such lawsuits cannot be predicted or guaranteed with any certainty. The parties are currently working on a settlement agreement, which will then 
go through the approval process by the Court.
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Environmental
Compliance with environmental requirements of federal, state, provincial and local governments may affect Real Estate’s business operations. 

Among other things, these requirements regulate the discharge of materials into the air, land and water and govern the use and disposal of 
hazardous substances. Real Estate is aware of issues regarding hazardous substances on some of its properties. Real Estate regularly makes 
capital and operating expenditures to stay in compliance with environmental laws and has put in place a remedial plan at each site where it 
believes such a plan is necessary.

Based upon the information currently available to Real Estate, compliance with the environmental laws and its share of the costs of 
investigation and cleanup of known hazardous waste sites are not expected to result in a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial 
position or results of operations.

Other
We are named as a defendant in various other litigation and claims arising out of the normal course of business. In management’s opinion, 

none of these other matters will have a material effect on our financial position and results of operations.

Note 20. Related Party Transactions
U-Haul Holding Company has engaged in related party transactions and has continuing related party interests with certain major 

stockholders, directors and officers of the consolidated group as disclosed below. 

SAC Holding Corporation and SAC Holding II Corporation (collectively, “SAC Holdings”) were established in order to acquire and develop self-
storage properties. These properties are being managed by us pursuant to management agreements.  SAC Holdings, Four SAC Self-Storage 
Corporation, Five SAC Self-Storage Corporation, Galaxy Investments, L.P. and 2015 SAC Self-Storage, LLC are substantially controlled by 
Blackwater Investments, Inc. (“Blackwater”). Blackwater is wholly owned by Willow Grove Holdings LP, which is owned by Mark V. Shoen (a 
significant stockholder), and various trusts associated with Edward J. Shoen (our Chairman of the Board, President and a significant stockholder) 
and Mark V. Shoen.

Related Party Revenues
 
    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
    (In thousands)  
U-Haul management fee revenue from Blackwater $   29,702   $   29,825   $   28,546  
U-Haul management fee revenue from Mercury     7,302       7,248       6,648  
  $   37,004   $   37,073   $   35,194  
 

We currently manage the self-storage properties owned or leased by Blackwater and Mercury Partners, L.P. (“Mercury”), pursuant to a 
standard form of management agreement, under which we receive a management fee of between 4% and 10% of the gross receipts plus 
reimbursement for certain expenses. We received management fees, exclusive of reimbursed expenses, of $37.2 million, $37.0 million and $38.5 
million from the above-mentioned entities during fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. This management fee is consistent with the fee 
received for other properties we previously managed for third parties. Mark V. Shoen controls the general partner of Mercury. The limited partner 
interests of Mercury are owned indirectly by James P. Shoen and various trusts benefiting Edward J. Shoen and James P. Shoen or their 
descendants.  

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2024, Mercury exercised their option to purchase seventy-eight U-Haul branded self-storage locations from 
W.P. Carey. The self-storage component of these properties was previously leased by Mercury from W.P. Carey and managed by U-Haul, while 
the non-self-storage portions of these properties were leased by U-Haul.  Post acquisition, Mercury now owns all of these properties and U-Haul 
acts as property manager.We were paid a structuring fee from Mercury of $0.4 million for the loans used by Mercury to facilitate the purchase.   

Over the course of the twenty-year lease with W.P. Carey, U-Haul had acquired abutting properties including self-storage expansion, 
showroom space as well as small parcels to facilitate access or drainage. After the Mercury purchase, U-Haul and Mercury entered into an 
agreement for the exchange of twenty properties with the purpose of aligning operations and ownership at specific locations.  U-Haul received 
four self-storage locations and a moving center while Mercury received four self-storage locations and fifteen other parcels including bare land, 
drainage, access, showroom and U-Box space along with $2.9 million in cash.  U-Haul recognized a $8.9 million gain from the transaction and 
recorded this directly to 
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additional paid-in capital. The transaction described above were consummated on terms equivalent to those that would prevail in arm’s-length 
transactions. 

 From an operational standpoint our customers will not recognize any changes to the services they receive from these locations.

Related Party Costs and Expenses
 

    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
    (In thousands)  

U-Haul lease expenses to Blackwater $   2,416   $   2,416   $   2,445  
U-Haul printing expenses to Blackwater     3,681       —       —  
U-Haul commission expenses to Blackwater     82,095       88,067       88,288  
U-Haul lease expenses to Mercury     25       —       —  
U-Haul commission expenses to Mercury     1,893       —       —  
  $   90,110   $   90,483   $   90,733  
 

We lease space for marketing company offices, vehicle repair shops and hitch installation centers from subsidiaries of Blackwater and 
Mercury. The terms of the leases are similar to the terms of leases for other properties owned by unrelated parties that are leased to us.

 
On May 15, 2023, SAC Holdings began providing ancillary and specialty printing services to us. The financial and other terms of the 

transactions are substantially identical to the terms of additional specialty printing vendors.

As of March 31, 2024, subsidiaries of Blackwater acted as U-Haul independent dealers. The financial and other terms of the dealership 
contracts with the aforementioned companies and their subsidiaries are substantially identical to the terms of those with our other independent 
dealers whereby commissions are paid by us based upon equipment rental revenues. 

These agreements with subsidiaries of Blackwater, excluding Dealer Agreements, provided revenues of $29.7 million, $29.8 million and $28.5 
million, expenses of $2.4 million, $2.4 million and $2.4 million and cash flows of $27.3 million, $27.4 million and $25.9 million during fiscal 2024, 
2023 and 2022, respectively.  Revenues were $384.5 million, $418.9 million and $417.9 million and commission expenses were $82.1 million, 
$88.1 million and $88.3 million, respectively, related to Dealer Agreements for fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022.

We determined that we do not have a variable interest pursuant to the VIE model under ASC 810 in the holding entities of Blackwater or in 
Mercury.

Related Party Assets
 

    March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  

U-Haul receivable from Blackwater $   31,950   $   42,141  
U-Haul receivable from Mercury     24,536       8,402  
Other (a)     1,448       (2,235 )
  $   57,934   $   48,308  
 
(a) Timing differences for intercompany balances with insurance subsidiaries resulting from the three month difference in reporting periods.

 

Note 21. Reportable Segment Information
 

U-Haul Holding Company’s three reportable segments are:
 

• Moving and Storage, comprised of U-Haul Holding Company, U-Haul, and Real Estate and the subsidiaries of U-Haul and Real 
Estate,
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• Property and Casualty Insurance, comprised of Repwest and its subsidiaries and ARCOA, and
 

• Life Insurance, comprised of Oxford and its subsidiaries.

We track revenues separately, but do not report any separate measure of the profitability for rental equipment rentals, rentals of self-storage 
spaces and sales of products. The information includes elimination entries necessary to consolidate U-Haul Holding Company, the parent, with its 
subsidiaries. Depreciation, net of gains on disposals, and total expenditures for property and equipment are only recorded within the Moving and 
Storage segment.

Revenues and earnings from operations before equity in earnings of subsidiaries by operating segment for the year ending March 31, 2024 
were as follows:

   

Moving &
Storage

Consolidated    

Property &
Casualty
Insurance    

Life 
Insurance     Eliminations    

U-Haul Holding
Company

Consolidated  
       

    (In thousands)  
                               
Total revenues   $ 5,294,928     $ 123,085     $ 219,202     $ (11,541 )   $ 5,625,674  
Total earnings from operations before equity in earnings of 
subsidiaries   $ 896,140     $ 62,509     $ 20,152     $ (1,012 )   $ 977,789  

Revenues and earnings from operations before equity in earnings of subsidiaries by operating segment for the year ending March 31, 2023 
were as follows:

   

Moving &
Storage

Consolidated    

Property &
Casualty
Insurance    

Life 
Insurance     Eliminations    

U-Haul Holding
Company

Consolidated  
       

    (In thousands)  
                               
Total revenues   $ 5,567,714     $ 103,512     $ 206,100     $ (12,635 )   $ 5,864,691  
Total earnings from operations before equity in earnings of 
subsidiaries   $ 1,396,122     $ 36,570     $ 14,409     $ (1,521 )   $ 1,445,580  

Revenues and earnings from operations before equity in earnings of subsidiaries by operating segment for the year ending March 31, 2022 
were as follows:

   

Moving &
Storage

Consolidated    

Property &
Casualty
Insurance    

Life 
Insurance     Eliminations    

U-Haul Holding
Company

Consolidated  
       

    (In thousands)  
                               
Total revenues   $ 5,398,267     $ 115,043     $ 238,812     $ (12,375 )   $ 5,739,747  
Total earnings from operations before equity in earnings of 
subsidiaries   $ 1,577,226     $ 49,780     $ 20,614     $ (1,547 )   $ 1,646,073  

Total assets by operating segment as of March 31, 2024 were as follows:

   

Moving &
Storage

Consolidated    

Property &
Casualty
Insurance    

Life 
Insurance     Eliminations    

U-Haul Holding
Company

Consolidated  
       

    (In thousands)  
                               
Total assets   $ 16,149,748     $ 501,566     $ 2,990,903     $ (583,459 )   $ 19,058,758  

 

Total assets by operating segment as of March 31, 2023 were as follows:

F-40

 



U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

   

Moving &
Storage

Consolidated    

Property &
Casualty
Insurance    

Life 
Insurance     Eliminations    

U-Haul Holding
Company

Consolidated  
       

    (In thousands)  
                               
Total assets   $ 15,211,493     $ 459,897     $ 2,891,574     $ (462,230 )   $ 18,100,734  
 

Note 22. Financial Information by Geographic Area
    United States     Canada     Consolidated  
    (All amounts are in thousands U.S. $'s)  

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2024                  
Total revenues $   5,337,502   $   288,172   $   5,625,674  
Depreciation and amortization, net of gains on disposal     690,429       5,654       696,083  
Interest expense     253,388       2,787       256,175  
Pretax earnings     816,238       23,939       840,177  
Income tax expense     206,154       5,316       211,470  
Identifiable assets     18,256,637       802,121       19,058,758  
 
    United States     Canada     Consolidated  
    (All amounts are in thousands U.S. $'s)  
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2023                  
Total revenues $   5,570,264   $   294,427   $   5,864,691  
Depreciation and amortization, net of gains on disposal     514,043       6,272       520,315  
Interest expense     221,008       2,950       223,958  
Pretax earnings     1,179,738       39,659       1,219,397  
Income tax expense     285,724       9,201       294,925  
Identifiable assets     17,429,101       671,633       18,100,734  
 
    United States     Canada     Consolidated  
    (All amounts are in thousands U.S. $'s)  
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2022                  
Total revenues $   5,452,027   $   287,720   $   5,739,747  
Depreciation and amortization, net of gains on disposal     509,517       2,969       512,486  
Interest expense     163,586       3,838       167,424  
Pretax earnings     1,432,231       44,342       1,476,573  
Income tax expense     342,213       9,998       352,211  
Identifiable assets     16,803,672       523,511       17,327,183  
 
 
Note 23.  Revenue Recognition

Revenue Recognized in Accordance with ASC Topic 606

ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), outlines a five-step model for entities to use in accounting for revenue 
arising from contracts with customers. The standard applies to all contracts with customers except for leases, insurance contracts, financial 
instruments, certain nonmonetary exchanges and certain guarantees. The standard also requires disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and 
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and changes in judgments. 

We entered into contracts that may include various combinations of products and services, which are generally capable of being distinct and 
accounted for as separate performance obligations. Revenue is recognized net of amounts collected from customers for taxes, such as sales tax, 
and remitted to the applicable taxing authorities. We account for a contract under Topic 606 when it has approval and commitment from both 
parties, the rights of the parties are identified, payment 
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terms are identified, the contract has commercial substance and collectability of consideration is probable. For contracts scoped into this 
standard, revenue is recognized when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied by means of transferring goods or services to the 
customer as applicable to each revenue stream as discussed below. There were no material contract assets or liabilities for fiscal 2024.

Sales of self-moving and self-storage related products are recognized at the time that title passes and the customer accepts delivery. The 
performance obligations identified for this portfolio of contracts include moving and storage product sales, installation services for hitches and/or 
propane sales. Each of these performance obligations has an observable stand-alone selling price. We concluded that the performance 
obligations identified are satisfied at a point in time. These products/services being provided have an alternative use as they are not customized 
and can be sold/provided to any customer. In addition, we only have the right to receive payment once the products have been transferred to the 
customer or the installation services have been completed. Although product sales have a right of return policy, our estimated obligation for future 
product returns is not material to the consolidated financial statements at this time. 

Property management fees are recognized over the period that agreed-upon services are provided, see Note 20, Related Party Transactions 
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The performance obligation for this portfolio of contracts is property management services, 
which represents a series of distinct days of service, each of which is comprised of activities that may vary from day to day. However, those tasks 
are activities to fulfill the property management services and are not separate promises in the contract. We determined that each increment of the 
promised service is distinct. This is because the customer can benefit from each increment of service on its own and each increment of service is 
separately identifiable because no day of service significantly modifies or customizes another and no day of service significantly affects either the 
entity’s ability to fulfill another day of service or the benefit to the customer of another day of service. As such, we concluded that the performance 
obligation is satisfied over time. Additionally, in certain contracts the Company has the ability to earn an incentive fee based on operational 
results. We measure and recognize the progress toward completion of the performance obligation on a quarterly basis using the most likely 
amount method to determine an accrual for the incentive fee portion of the compensation received in exchange for the property management 
service. The variable consideration recognized is subject to constraints due to a range of possible consideration amounts based on actual 
operational results. 

Other revenue consists of various other services or rentals, of which U-Box contracts and service fees from Moving Help® are the main 
components. The performance obligations identified for U-Box contracts are fees for rental, storage and shipping of U-Box containers to a 
specified location, each of which are distinct. A contract may be partially within the scope of Topic 606 and partially within the scope of other 
topics. The rental and storage obligations in U-Box contracts meet the definition of a lease in Topic 842, while the shipping obligation represents a 
contract with a customer accounted for under Topic 606. Therefore, we allocate the total transaction price between the performance obligations of 
storage fees and rental fees and the shipping fees on a standalone selling price basis. U-Box shipping fees are collected once the shipment is in 
transit. Shipping fees in U-Box contracts are set at the initiation of the contract based on the shipping origin and destination, and the performance 
obligation is satisfied over time. U-Box shipping contracts span over a relatively short period of time, and the majority of these contracts begin and 
end within the same fiscal year. Moving Help® services fees are recognized in accordance with Topic 606. Moving Help services are generated as 
we provide a neutral venue consisting of access to a marketplace for the connection between the service provider and the customer for agreed 
upon services. We do not control the specified services provided by the service provider before that service is transferred to the customer. 
Operating lease income recognized under Topic 842 within other revenue was $119.7 and $122.3 million for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 
2023, respectively. 

Deferred income primarily relates to payments received from customers prior to satisfaction of our performance obligations. Of the $52.3 
million and $49.2 million recorded as unearned revenues as of March 31, 2023 and 2022, $51.2 million and $46.8 million, respectively was 
recognized as revenue for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Revenue Recognized in Accordance with Topic 842

ASC Topic 842, Leases (Topic 842), the Company’s self-moving rental revenues meet the definition of a lease pursuant to the guidance in 
Topic 842 because those substitution rights do not provide an economic benefit to the Company that would exceed the cost of exercising the right.  
Please see Note 18, Leases, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Self-moving equipment rentals are recognized over the contract period that trucks and moving equipment are rented. We offer two types of 
self-moving rental contracts, one-way rentals and in-town rentals, which have varying payment terms. 
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Customer payment is received at the initiation of the contract for one-way rentals which covers an allowable limit for equipment usage. An 
estimated fee in the form of a deposit is received at the initiation of the contract for in-town rentals, and final payment is received upon the return 
of the equipment based on actual fees incurred. Self-moving rental contracts span a relatively short period of time, and the majority of these 
contracts began and ended within the same fiscal year. 

Self-storage revenues are recognized as earned over the contract period based upon the number of paid storage contract days. 

We lease portions of our operating properties to tenants under agreements that are classified as operating leases. We recognize the total 
minimum lease payments provided for under the leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Generally, under the terms of our leases, the 
majority of our rental expenses, including common area maintenance, real estate taxes and insurance, are recovered from our customers and 
these are included in self-storage revenues. 

The following table summarizes the minimum lease payments due from our customers and operating property tenants on leases for the next 
five years and thereafter:

    Year Ended March 31,  
    2025     2026     2027     2028     2029     Thereafter  
       
    (In thousands)  

                                     
Self-moving equipment rental revenues $   6,032   $   —   $   —   $   —   $   —   $   —  
Property lease revenues     20,329       14,089       11,003       7,813       5,172       27,705  

Total $   26,361   $   14,089   $   11,003   $   7,813   $   5,172   $   27,705  
 

The amounts above do not reflect future rental revenue from the renewal or replacement of existing leases.

Revenue Recognized in Accordance with Other Topics

Traditional life and Medicare supplement insurance premiums are recognized as revenue over the premium-paying periods of the contracts 
when due from the policyholders. For products where premiums are due over a significantly shorter duration than the period over which benefits 
are provided, such as our single premium whole life product, premiums are recognized when received and excess profits are deferred and 
recognized in relation to the insurance in force. 

Property and casualty insurance premiums are recognized as revenue over the policy periods. Interest and investment income are recognized 
as earned. 

Net investment and interest income has multiple components. Interest income from bonds and mortgage notes are recognized when earned. 
Dividends on common and preferred stocks are recognized on the ex-dividend dates. Realized gains and losses on the sale or exchange of 
investments are recognized at the trade date. 

In the following tables, the revenue is disaggregated by timing of revenue recognition:
    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
       
    (In thousands)  

                   
Revenues recognized over time $   312,659   $   320,822   $   284,401  
Revenues recognized at a point in time     401,743       425,584       414,985  

Total revenues recognized under ASC 606 $   714,402   $   746,406   $   699,386  
                   

Revenues recognized under ASC 842 $   4,575,486   $   4,744,746   $   4,690,434  
Insurance premium revenues recognized under ASC 944     189,318       196,860       201,666  
Net investment and interest income recognized under other topics     146,468       176,679       148,261  

Total revenues $   5,625,674   $   5,864,691   $   5,739,747  
 

In the above table, the revenues recognized over time include property management fees, the shipping fees associated with U-Box rentals 
and a portion of other revenues. Revenues recognized at a point in time include self-moving equipment rentals, self-moving and self-storage 
products and service sales and a portion of other revenues. 
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We recognized liabilities resulting from contracts with customers for self-moving equipment rentals, self-storage revenues, U-Box revenues 
and tenant revenues, in which the length of the contract goes beyond the reported period end, although rental periods of the equipment, storage 
and U-Box contract are generally short-term in nature. The timing of revenue recognition results in liabilities that are reflected in deferred income 
on the balance sheet. 

Note 24. Allowance for Credit Losses
Mortgage Loans, Net

Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future, or until maturity or payoff, are reported at amortized cost.  
Modeling for the Company’s mortgage loans is based on inputs most highly correlated to defaults, including loan-to-value, occupancy, and 
payment history.  Historical credit loss experience provides additional support for the estimation of expected credit losses. In assessing the credit 
losses, the portfolio is reviewed on a collective basis, using loan-specific cash flows to determine the fair value of the collateral in the event of 
default.  Adjustments to this analysis are made to assess loans with a loan-to-value of 65% or greater. These loans are evaluated on an individual 
basis and loan specific risk characteristics such as occupancy levels, expense, income growth and other relevant available information from 
internal and external sources relating to past events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts.

When management determines that credit losses are expected to occur, an allowance for expected credit losses based on the fair value of the 
collateral is recorded.

There were no delinquent commercial mortgage loans as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023. As of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, 
the Company had no commercial mortgage loans in non-accrual status. The Company had no unfunded commitment balance to commercial loan 
borrowers as of March 31, 2024.

Reinsurance Recoverables

Reinsurance recoverable on paid and unpaid benefits was less than 1% of the total assets as of March 31, 2024 which is immaterial based on 
historical loss experience and high credit rating of the reinsurers.

Premium Receivables

Premiums receivables were $1.1 million and $4.1 million as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, in which the credit loss allowance is 
immaterial based on our ability to cancel the policy if the policyholder doesn‘t pay premiums.

The following details the changes in the Company’s reserve allowance for credit losses for trade receivables, fixed maturities and 
investments, other:
 

    Allowance for Credit Losses  

   
Trade 

Receivables    
Fixed Maturity  

Securities    
Investments, 

other     Total  
                   
          (In thousands)        

Balance as of March 31, 2022 $   8,649   $   60   $   501   $   9,210  
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses     (4,860 )     2,041       16       (2,803 )
Write-offs against allowance     —       —       —       —  
Recoveries     —       —       —       —  

Balance as of March 31, 2023 $   3,789   $   2,101   $   517   $   6,407  
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses     2,447       (1,049 )     300       1,698  
Write-offs against allowance     —       —       —       —  
Recoveries     —       —       —       —  

Balance as of March 31, 2024 $   6,236   $   1,052   $   817   $   8,105  
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Note 25.  Reinsurance and Policy Benefits and Losses, Claims and Loss Expenses Payable
During their normal course of business, our insurance subsidiaries assume and cede reinsurance on both a coinsurance and a risk premium 

basis. 
 

   
Direct

Amount (a)    

Ceded to
Other

Companies    

Assumed
from Other
Companies    

Net
Amount (a)  

Percentage
of

Amount
Assumed to

Net    
    (In thousands)    

Year ended March 31, 2024                              
Life insurance in force $   909,894   $   48   $   278,445   $   1,188,291     23   %
Premiums earned:                              
Life $   49,184   $   1   $   4,183   $   53,366     8   %
Accident and health     35,324       95       844       36,073     2   %
Annuity     157       —       149       306     49   %
Property and casualty     94,802       —       —       94,802     —   %
Total $   179,467   $   96   $   5,176   $   184,547        

                               
Year ended March 31, 2023                              
Life insurance in force $   970,454   $   48   $   304,891   $   1,275,297     24   %
Premiums earned:                              
Life $   52,298   $   1   $   4,181   $   56,478     7   %
Accident and health     41,354       152       983       42,185     2   %
Annuity     80       —       406       486     84   %
Property and casualty     96,242       —       —       96,242     —   %
Total $   189,974   $   153   $   5,570   $   195,391        

                               
Year ended March 31, 2022                              
Life insurance in force $   1,029,537   $   72   $   328,030   $   1,357,495     24   %
Premiums earned:                              
Life $   56,353   $   2   $   4,514   $   60,865     7   %
Accident and health     48,385       160       1,166       49,391     2   %
Annuity     444       —       327       771     42   %
Property and casualty     89,667       —       —       89,667     —   %
Total $   194,849   $   162   $   6,007   $   200,694        
 

(a)Balances are reported net of inter-segment transactions.  

 

Policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses payable for Property and Casualty Insurance were as follows:
 

    March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  

Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expense $   131,192   $   151,874  
Reinsurance losses payable     1,287       1,133  

Total $   132,479   $   153,007  
 

Activity in the liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses for Property and Casualty Insurance is summarized as follows:
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    March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
    (In thousands)  

Balance at January 1 $   151,874   $   159,162   $   177,963  
Less: reinsurance recoverable     41,329       47,394       64,873  

Net balance at January 1     110,545       111,768       113,090  
Incurred related to:                  

Current year     25,396       27,570       28,980  
Prior years     (13,153 )     (5,828 )     (6,290 )

Total incurred     12,243       21,742       22,690  
Paid related to:                  

Current year     9,414       10,572       11,040  
Prior years     18,369       12,393       12,972  

Total paid     27,783       22,965       24,012  
Net balance at December 31     95,004       110,545       111,768  

Plus: reinsurance recoverable     36,188       41,329       47,394  
Balance at December 31 $   131,192   $   151,874   $   159,162  
 

Prior year incurred losses were impacted by favorable development on numerous Excess Workers' Compensation claims. The liability for 
incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses (net of reinsurance recoverable of $36.2 million) decreased by $20.7 million as of fiscal 2024.

To the extent that a reinsurer is unable to meet its obligation under the related reinsurance agreements, Repwest would remain liable for the 
unpaid losses and loss expenses.
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The information about property and casualty incurred and paid loss and loss adjustment expense development for fiscal 2018 through 2024 
and the average annual percentage payout of incurred claims by age as of fiscal 2024, is presented as supplementary information. Claims data 
for fiscal 2018 through 2023 is unaudited. Claims data for fiscal 2024 is audited.
 

Cumulative Incurred Claims and Allocated Claims Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance  
                                              As of  
                                              March 31, 2024  
                                              Total of        
                                              Incurred-but-        
                                              Not-Reported        
                                              Liabilities Plus        
                                              Expected     Cumulative  
                                              Development     Number of  

Accident                                             on Reported     Reported  
Year   2018     2019     2020     2021     2022     2023     2024     Claims     Claims  

    (In thousands, except claim counts)        
2018     15,748       16,109       17,078       15,538       15,273       15,264       15,260       —       12,308  
2019           19,580       18,386       18,027       17,157       16,819       16,856       —       12,220  
2020                 22,138       26,316       27,316       27,831       27,793       1,050       12,040  
2021                       20,671       17,485       17,107       14,561       829       11,552  
2022                             28,982       25,337       24,484       4,702       14,192  
2023                                   27,570       28,436       5,911       13,152  
2024                                         25,396       10,649       13,948  

                                        Total       23,141        
 

The following table presents paid claims development as of fiscal 2024 net of reinsurance. Claims data for fiscal 2018 through 2023 is 
unaudited. Claims data for fiscal 2024 is audited.

 
Cumulative Paid Claims and Allocated Claim Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance  

             
Accident                                          

Year   2018     2019     2020     2021     2022     2023     2024  
2018     8,970       11,638       14,825       15,012       15,263       15,264       15,260  
2019           8,838       12,689       15,150       16,766       16,809       16,851  
2020                 7,366       14,737       19,215       21,598       25,122  
2021                       7,665       11,114       12,521       13,510  
2022                             11,040       14,831       16,829  
2023                                   10,572       18,444  
2024                                         9,414  

                            Total     Total       115,430  

All outstanding liabilities before 2018, net of reinsurance             57,647  

Liabilities for claims and claim adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance             95,004  
 

The reconciliation of the net incurred and paid claims development tables for the liability for claims and claims adjustment expenses is as 
follows:

 
    March 31, 2024  
    (In thousands)  

Liabilities for unpaid Property and Casualty claims      
and claim adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance $   95,004  

       
Total reinsurance recoverable on unpaid      
Property and Casualty claims $   36,188  

       
Total gross liability for unpaid Property and Casualty      
claims and claim adjustment expense $   131,192  
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The following is supplementary information about average historical claims duration as of March 31, 2024. The following is unaudited.

 
Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred Claims by Age, net of Reinsurance

    (In percentages)    
Years   1     2     3     4     5     6     7    
Property and Casualty Insurance     44.2   %  22.3   %  13.9   %  6.5   %  4.9   %  0.1   %  —   %
 
 
Note 26. Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs, Net

The following tables present a rollforward of deferred policy acquisition costs related to long-duration contracts for the periods ended March 
31, 2024 and 2023.
 

    Year Ended March 31, 2024  

   
Deferred 
Annuities    

Life
Insurance    

Health 
Insurance     Total  

       
    (In thousands)  

Balance, beginning of year $   55,396   $   66,954   $   6,113   $   128,463  
Capitalization     12,753       4,030       216       16,999  
Amortization expense     (13,401 )     (8,559 )     (2,278 )     (24,238 )

Balance, end of period $   54,748   $   62,425   $   4,051   $   121,224  
 

    Year Ended March 31, 2023  

   
Deferred 
Annuities    

Life 
Insurance    

Health 
Insurance     Total  

       
    (In thousands)  

Balance, beginning of year $   55,261   $   67,573   $   8,596   $   131,430  
Capitalization     18,316       6,529       356       25,201  
Amortization expense     (18,181 )     (7,148 )     (2,839 )     (28,168 )

Balance, end of period $   55,396   $   66,954   $   6,113   $   128,463  
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Note 27. Life Insurance Liabilities
The following tables summarize balances and changes in the liability for future policy benefits for life insurance contracts and a reconciliation 

to policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses payable..
 

    Year Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  
       
    (In thousands)  

Present value of expected net premiums            
             
Balance, beginning of year $   223,118   $   280,371  
Beginning balance at original discount rate $   225,071   $   242,741  

Effect of changes in cash flow assumptions     —       —  
Effect of actual variances from expected experience     (932 )     (1,565 )

Adjusted beginning of year balance $   224,139   $   241,176  
Issuances     8,491       14,118  
Interest accrual     11,185       12,131  
Net premium collected     (39,509 )     (42,354 )
Other     —       —  

Ending balance at original discount rate $   204,306   $   225,071  
Effect of changes in discount rate assumptions (AOCI)     1,083       (1,953 )

Balance, end of period $   205,389   $   223,118  
             
Present value of expected future policy benefits            
             
Balance, beginning of year $   530,984   $   672,254  
Beginning balance at original discount rate $   533,689   $   552,109  

Effect of changes in cash flow assumptions     —       —  
Effect of actual variances from expected experiences     (2,483 )     (3,964 )

Adjusted beginning of year balance $   531,206   $   548,145  
Issuances     8,513       14,118  
Interest accrual     26,507       27,572  
Benefit payments     (52,113 )     (56,146 )
Other     —       —  

Ending balance at original discount rate $   514,113   $   533,689  
Effect of changes in discount rate assumptions (AOCI)     8,009       (2,705 )

Balance, end of period $   522,122   $   530,984  
End of period, LFPB net     316,733       307,866  
Payout annuities and market risk benefits     31,337       31,060  
Health insurance     12,201       13,484  
Life and annuity claims in course of settlement and claims incurred but not yet reported / 
Reinsurance losses payable     27,432       29,534  
Life DPL / Other life and health     9,208       9,973  
LFPB flooring effect     7       51  

Life Insurance end of period balance     396,918       391,968  
Moving and Storage balance     319,716       335,227  
Property and Casualty Insurance balance     132,479       153,007  

Policy benefit and losses, claims and loss expense balance, end of period     849,113       880,202  
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The following tables provide the amount of undiscounted and discounted expected gross premiums and expected future benefits and 
expenses for life insurance contracts, it summarizes the actual experience and expected experience for mortality and lapses of the liability for 
future policy benefits for life insurance contracts and provides the weighted-average durations and interest rates of the liability for future policy 
benefits for life insurance contracts:

 
    Year Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  
       

   
(In thousands, except for percentages and 

weighted average information)  
Expected gross premiums            

Undiscounted balance $   367,640   $   405,017  
Discounted balance at original discount rate $   285,087   $   311,988  
Discounted balance at current discount rate $   286,295   $   308,822  

             
Expected policy benefits            

Undiscounted balance $   742,927   $   779,778  
Discounted balance at original discount rate $   514,112   $   533,688  
Discounted balance at current discount rate $   522,121   $   530,983  

             
Mortality, lapses and morbidity            

Mortality actual experience     4.49 %    4.67 %
Mortality expected experience     5.06 %    4.80 %
Lapses actual experience     2.10 %    2.04 %
Lapses expected experience     2.63 %    2.52 %

             
Premiums and interest expense            

Gross premiums (1) $   52,909   $   56,563  
Interest expense (2) $   15,322   $   15,441  

             
Expected duration (persistency) of policies in-force (years)     6.8       7.0  
Weighted average original interest rate of the liability for future policy benefits     4.99 %    5.03 %
Weighted average current interest rate of the liability for future policy benefits     5.03 %    0.56 %
             
(1) Gross premiums are related to life insurance and are included in Life insurance premiums.  
(2) Interest expense is included in Policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses payable.  
 

F-50

 



U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following tables present the balances and changes in Liabilities from investment contracts account balances:
    Year Ended March 31, 2024  
       
       
       

Policyholder contract deposits account balance  

(In thousands,
except for the

average credited
rate)  

Beginning of year $   2,398,884  
Deposits received     360,124  
Surrenders and withdrawals     (379,099 )
Benefit payments     (39,990 )
Interest credited     71,433  
Other     —  

End of period $   2,411,352  
Weighted average credited rate     3.03  
Cash surrender value $   2,104,617  
 

    Year Ended March 31, 2023  
       
       
       

Policyholder contract deposits account balance  

(In thousands,
except for the

average credited
rate)  

Beginning of year $   2,336,238  
Deposits received     326,465  
Surrenders and withdrawals     (287,796 )
Benefit payments     (33,548 )
Interest credited     57,525  
Other     —  

End of period $   2,398,884  
Weighted average credited rate     2.43  
Cash surrender value $   2,067,735  
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Note 28. Statutory Financial Information of Insurance Subsidiaries
Applicable laws and regulations of the States of Arizona,  Nevada, Texas and Oklahoma require Property and Casualty Insurance and Life 

Insurance to maintain minimum capital and surplus determined in accordance with statutory accounting principles. Statutory net income and 
statutory capital and surplus for the years ended are listed below:

 
    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
    (In thousands)  

Repwest:                  
Statutory net income $   43,028   $   34,963   $   33,314  
Statutory capital and surplus     342,026       294,515       266,875  

ARCOA:                  
Statutory net income (loss)     1,891       2,319       (752 )
Statutory capital and surplus     16,063       13,340       14,697  

Oxford:                  
Statutory net income (loss)     212       (771 )     23,217  
Statutory capital and surplus     247,039       227,667       230,202  

CFLIC:                  
Statutory net income     2,050       3,637       6,019  
Statutory capital and surplus     22,478       20,591       17,098  

NAI:                  
Statutory net income     887       1,017       1,874  
Statutory capital and surplus     9,775       8,906       7,961  
 
The amount of dividends that can be paid to shareholders by Oxford and Repwest which are domiciled in the State of Arizona is limited. There 

are restrictions on the ability of our insurance subsidiaries to transfer funds to us in the form of cash dividends, loans or advances. Their ordinary 
dividends are limited to the lower of 10% of prior year statutory surplus or prior year net income. Any extraordinary dividend, loans or advances to 
us from the insurance subsidiaries must be approved by the domiciliary insurance commissioner. Any dividend in excess of the limit requires prior 
regulatory approval. The statutory surplus for Repwest as of March 31, 2024 that could be distributed as ordinary dividends in fiscal 2025 is $34.2 
million. The statutory surplus for Oxford as of March 31, 2024 that could be distributed as ordinary dividends in fiscal 2025 is $0.2 million. 
Repwest did not pay a dividend to U-Haul Holding Company in fiscal 2024, 2023 or 2022. Oxford did not pay a dividend to U-Haul Holding 
Company in fiscal 2024, 2023 or 2022. Restricted net assets for Property and Casualty Insurance and Life Insurance were $101.2 million and 
$95.8 million as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

For our insurance subsidiaries, statutory accounting principles (“SAP”) differ from GAAP primarily in that: (i) premiums from deferred annuities 
are recognized as revenue under SAP, while they are accounted for as liabilities from investment contracts under GAAP; (ii) policy acquisition 
costs are expensed as incurred under SAP, while DAC is amortized on a constant-level basis over the expected term of the grouped contracts 
under GAAP; (iii) policy benefits and losses are established using different actuarial assumptions; and (iv) investments are valued on a different 
basis and valuation allowances attributable to investments are different. In addition, certain assets are not admitted under SAP and are charged 
directly to surplus.
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Note 29. ASU 2018-12 Transition
The Company adopted ASU 2018-12 for the liability for future policy benefits, DAC and other balances amortized on a basis consistent with 

DAC by applying the guidance to contracts in-force on the basis of their existing carrying amounts at the transition date.

The following tables present the effect of the adoption of ASU 2018-12 on selected consolidated balance sheet data for the fiscal years ended 
March 31, 2023 and 2022.

 
    Year Ended March 31,  
    2023     2022  
       
    (In thousands)  

Total Assets            
Prior to adoption $   18,124,648   $   17,299,581  
Effect of adoption:            
Derecognition of shadow DAC     (25,141 )     26,131  
Re-measurement due to discount rate     —       —  
Other adjustments     1,227       1,471  
Subtotal $   (23,914 ) $   27,602  
             
After adoption $   18,100,734   $   17,327,183  
 

    Year Ended March 31,  
    2023     2022  
       
    (In thousands)  

Total Liabilities            
Prior to adoption $   11,596,313   $   11,347,089  
Effect of adoption:            
Deferred income tax adjustment on Shadow removal     (5,280 )     5,488  
Re-measurement due to discount rate     (1,626 )     87,258  
Deferred income tax adjustment on discount rate     342       (18,324 )
Other adjustments     6,794       8,511  
Subtotal $   230   $   82,933  
             
After adoption $   11,596,543   $   11,430,022  
 

    Year Ended March 31,  
    2023     2022  
       
    (In thousands)  

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)            
Prior to adoption $   (267,046 ) $   46,384  
Effect of adoption:            
Derecognition on shadow DAC     (19,861 )     20,644  
Re-measurement due to discount rate     1,626       (87,258 )
Re-measurement due to discount rate (tax effect)     (342 )     18,324  
Other adjustments     —       —  
Subtotal $   (18,577 ) $   (48,290 )
             
After adoption $   (285,623 ) $   (1,906 )
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    Years Ended March 31,  
    2023     2022  
       
    (In thousands)  

Total Stockholders' equity            
Prior to adoption $   6,528,335   $   5,952,492  
Effect of adoption:            
Derecognition on shadow DAC     (19,861 )     20,644  
Re-measurement due to discount rate (tax effect)     1,284       (68,934 )
Other adjustments     (5,567 )     (7,041 )
Subtotal $   (24,144 ) $   (55,331 )
             
After adoption $   6,504,191   $   5,897,161  
 

The impacts from the adoption of ASU 2018-12 on the Company's previously reported results included in these financial statements are as 
follows.
 

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet
 

    Year ended March 31, 2023  

   
As previously 

reported    
Adoption 

impact     As adjusted  
       
    (In thousands)  

Deferred policy acquisition costs, net $   152,377       (23,914 ) $   128,463  
Total assets     18,124,648       (23,914 )     18,100,734  
Policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses payable     875,034       5,168       880,202  
Deferred income taxes, net     1,334,427       (4,938 )     1,329,489  
Total liabilities     11,596,313       230       11,596,543  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (267,046 )     (18,577 )     (285,623 )
Retained earnings     7,008,715       (5,567 )     7,003,148  
Total stockholders' equity     6,528,335       (24,144 )     6,504,191  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity     18,124,648       (23,914 )     18,100,734  
 

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations
 
    Year ended March 31, 2023  

   
As previously 

reported    
Adoption 

impact     As adjusted  
       
    (In thousands)  
Benefits and losses $   165,553       (1,474 ) $   164,079  
Pretax earnings     1,217,923       1,474       1,219,397  
Net earnings available to common stockholders     922,998       1,474       924,472  
Basic and diluted earnings per share of Common Stock     5.54       —       5.54  
Basic and diluted earnings per share of Non-Voting Common Stock     4.62       —       4.62  
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    Year ended March 31, 2022  

   
As previously 

reported    
Adoption 

impact     As adjusted  
       
    (In thousands)  
Benefits and losses $   186,647       (1,076 ) $   185,571  
Pretax earnings     1,475,497       1,076       1,476,573  
Net earnings available to common stockholders     1,123,286       1,076       1,124,362  
Basic and diluted earnings per share of Common Stock     7.08       —       7.08  
Basic and diluted earnings per share of Non-Voting Common Stock     5.58       —       5.58  
 

The following table presents the Company's consolidated balance sheet, both before and after the Transition date.
 

    April 1, 2021     March 31, 2021  
       
    (In thousands)  

Deferred policy acquisition costs, net $   131,187   $   89,749  
Total assets     14,693,044       14,651,606  
Policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses payable     1,040,951       909,701  
Deferred income taxes, net     1,182,123       1,199,280  
Total liabilities     9,846,608       9,732,515  
Accumulated other comprehensive income     42,319       106,857  
Retained earnings     5,017,451       5,025,568  
Total stockholders' equity     4,846,436       4,919,091  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity     14,693,044       14,651,606  
 

The following tables present the balances of and changes in deferred acquisition costs, future policy benefits and market risk benefits and 
balances amortized on a basis consistent with DAC on April 1, 2021 due to the adoption of ASU 2018-12 by Oxford.
 

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs  
Deferred 
Annuities    

Life 
Insurance    

Health 
Insurance     Total  

       
    (In thousands)  

Balance, end of year March 31, 2021 $   15,654   $   64,552   $   9,543   $   89,749  
Adjustments for removal of related balances in accumulated other 
comprehensive income     41,438       —       —       41,438  
Adjusted balance, beginning of year April 1, 2021 $   57,092   $   64,552   $   9,543   $   131,187  
 

Future Policy Benefit  
Deferred 
Annuities    

Life 
Insurance    

Health 
Insurance     Total  

       
    (In thousands)  

Balance, end of year March 31, 2021 $   8,370   $   310,311   $   18,341   $   337,022  
Change in discount rate assumptions     2,307       115,978       4,847       123,132  
Change in cash flow assumptions, effect of net premiums exceeding 
gross premiums     —       1,747       —       1,747  
Change in cash flow assumptions, effect of decrease of the deferred 
profit liability     —       2,580       —       2,580  
Adjusted balance, beginning of year April 1, 2021 $   10,677   $   430,616   $   23,188   $   464,481  
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Market Risk Benefits   Deferred Annuities  
       
    (In thousands)  

Balance, end of year March 31, 2021 $   7,339  
Adjustment for the difference between carrying amount and fair value, except for the difference due to instrument-
specific credit risk     3,791  
Adjusted balance, beginning of year April 1, 2021 $   11,130  
 

The following table presents the effect of transition adjustments on stockholders' equity as of April 1, 2021 due to the adoption of ASU 2018-
12.

    Retained Earnings    

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss  

       
    (In thousands)  

Liability for future policy benefits $   (4,326 ) $   (123,132 )
Market risk benefits     (3,791 )     —  
Deferred acquisition costs and related asset balances     —       41,438  
Tax effect     —       17,156  
Total $   (8,117 ) $   (64,538 )
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SCHEDULE I

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)

BALANCE SHEETS 
 

    March 31,  
    2024     2023  
    (In thousands)  

ASSETS  
Cash and cash equivalents $   975,109   $   1,662,790  
Investment in subsidiaries     4,784,174       4,551,742  
Related party assets     3,856,766       2,482,280  
Other assets     253,133       403,191  

Total assets $   9,869,182   $   9,100,003  
             

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  
Liabilities:            

Other liabilities $   2,702,780   $   2,601,631  
      2,702,780       2,601,631  

Stockholders' equity:            
Preferred stock     —       —  
Voting Common stock     10,497       10,497  
Non-Voting Common Stock     176       176  
Additional paid-in capital     462,758       453,853  
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)     (229,259 )     (291,442 )
Retained earnings:            

Beginning of period     7,002,938       6,112,191  
Net earnings     628,707       924,472  
Common Stock Dividends     —       (19,608 )
Non-Voting Common Stock dividends     (31,765 )     (14,117 )
End of period     7,599,880       7,002,938  

             
Cost of common shares in treasury     (525,653 )     (525,653 )
Cost of preferred shares in treasury     (151,997 )     (151,997 )

Total stockholders' equity     7,166,402       6,498,372  
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $   9,869,182   $   9,100,003  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements. 
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CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY

(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

 
    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
    (In thousands, except share and per share data)  

Revenues:                  
Net interest income and other revenues $   105,624   $   54,823   $   1,516  

Expenses:                  
Operating expenses     12,834       13,937       5,517  
Other expenses     125       127       115  

Total expenses     12,959       14,064       5,632  
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries     160,302       582,517       1,012,917  
Interest income     519,070       413,170       131,400  
Pretax earnings     772,037       1,036,446       1,140,201  
Income tax expense     (143,330 )     (111,974 )     (15,839 )
Net earnings available to common shareholders $   628,707   $   924,472   $   1,124,362  
Basic and diluted earnings per share of Common Stock $   3.04   $   5.54   $   7.08  
Weighted average shares outstanding of Common Stock: Basic and diluted     19,607,788       19,607,788       19,607,788  
Basic and diluted earnings per share of Series N Non-Voting Common Stock $   3.22   $   4.62   $   5.58  
Weighted average shares outstanding of Series N Non-Voting Common Stock: 
Basic and diluted     176,470,092       176,470,092       176,470,092  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY 

(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 
    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
    (In thousands)  

                   
Net earnings $   628,707   $   924,472   $   1,124,362  
Other comprehensive income (loss)     62,183       (288,339 )     (41,133 )

Total comprehensive income $   690,890   $   636,133   $   1,083,229  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY 

(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

 
    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023     2022  
    (In thousands)  

Cash flows from operating activities:                  
Net earnings $   628,707   $   924,472   $   1,124,362  

Change in investments in subsidiaries    (160,302 )    (582,517 )     (1,012,917 )
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash provided by operations:                  
Depreciation     4       3      1  
Amortization of debt issuance costs     859       859       292  
Deferred income taxes     98,823       137,159       106,869  
Net change in other operating assets and liabilities:                  

Prepaid expenses     8,888       6,120       234,490  
Other assets     (10,753 )     (2,884 )     (4 )
Related party assets     —       (120 )     (240 )
Accounts payable and accrued expenses     479       (2,499 )     5,461  

Net cash provided by operating activities     566,705       480,593       458,314  
                   
Cash flows from investing activities:                  

Purchases of property, plant and equipment     (3 )     (1 )     (11 )
Purchase of fixed maturities securities available-for-sale     (170,317 )     (224,999 )     —  
Purchase of investments, other     (1,000 )     —       —  
Proceeds from fixed maturities securities available-for-sale     322,330       —       —  

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities     151,010       (225,000 )     (11 )
                   
Cash flows from financing activities:                  

Borrowings from credit facilities     —       —       1,200,000  
Principal repayments on credit facilities     —       —       —  
Debt issuance costs     —       —       (8,468 )
Proceeds from (repayments) of intercompany loans     (1,373,275 )     (637,585 )     (284,438 )
Common stock dividends paid     —       (19,608 )     (29,412 )
Non-Voting Common Stock dividends paid     (31,765 )     (14,117 )     —  
Net contribution from related party     —       —       —  

Net cash provided (used) by financing activities     (1,405,040 )     (671,310 )     877,682  
                   

Effects of exchange rate on cash     (356 )     (6,940 )     (1,591 )
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     (687,681 )     (422,657 )     1,334,394  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     1,662,790       2,085,447       751,053  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $   975,109   $   1,662,790   $   2,085,447  
 

Income taxes paid (received) amounted to $68.6  million, $145.7 million and $(4.5) million for fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements. 
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CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY

(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

MARCH 31, 2024, 2023, AND 2022 
1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

U-Haul Holding Company, a Nevada corporation, was incorporated in April, 1969, and is the holding Company for U-Haul International, Inc., 
Amerco Real Estate Company, Repwest Insurance Company and Oxford Life Insurance Company. The financial statements of the Registrant 
should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto included in this Annual Report. 

U-Haul Holding Company is included in a consolidated Federal income tax return with all of its U.S. subsidiaries. Accordingly, the provision for 
income taxes has been calculated for Federal income taxes of U-Haul Holding Company and subsidiaries included in the consolidated return of 
U-Haul Holding Company. State taxes for all subsidiaries are allocated to the respective subsidiaries. 

The financial statements include only the accounts of U-Haul Holding Company, which include certain of the corporate operations of U-Haul 
Holding Company. The interest in U-Haul Holding Company’s majority owned subsidiaries is accounted for using the equity method. The 
intercompany interest income and expenses are eliminated in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Life Insurance and Property and Casualty Insurance have restrictions on their ability to transfer funds to us in the form of cash dividends, 
loans or advances.

2. Guarantees and Long-Term Obligations
U-Haul Holding Company is a borrower of $1,200.0 million of fixed rate senior unsecured private placement notes, with maturities between 

2029 and 2035. U-Haul Holding Company has guaranteed performance of all notes, loans and finance leases payable of U-Holding Company and 
its subsidiaries. Certain of the guarantees are non-recourse guarantees where U-Haul Holding Company is not responsible for payment of the 
loan unless certain carveouts are violated.
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SCHEDULE II 

U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

 

   

Balance at 
Beginning of 

Year    

Additions 
Charged to 
Costs and 
Expenses    

Additions 
Charged to 

Other Accounts     Deductions    
Balance at Year 

End  
                               

Year ended March 31, 2024   (In thousands)  
Allowance for LIFO                              

(deducted from inventory) $   47,065   $   —   $   —   $   (734 ) $   46,331  
                               
Year ended March 31, 2023      
Allowance for obsolescence                              

(deducted from inventory) $   1,080   $   —   $   —   $   (151 ) $   929  
Allowance for LIFO                              

(deducted from inventory) $   37,400   $   9,665   $   —   $   —   $   47,065  
                               
Year ended March 31, 2022      
Allowance for obsolescence                              

(deducted from inventory) $   1,416   $   —   $   —   $   (336 ) $   1,080  
Allowance for LIFO                              

(deducted from inventory) $   21,832   $   15,568   $   —   $   —   $   37,400  
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SCHEDULE V 

U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION (FOR PROPERTY-CASUALTY INSURANCE OPERATIONS) 

YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2024, 2023, AND 2022 
 

Fiscal 
Year  

Affiliation 
with 

Registrant  

Deferred 
Policy 

Acquisiti
on Cost    

Reserves 
for 

Unpaid 
Claims 

and 
Adjustme

nt 
Expenses    

Discount 
if any, 

Deducte
d    

Unearned 
Premium

s    

Net Earned 
Premiums 

(1)    

Net 
Investme
nt Income 

(2)    

Claim and 
Claim 

Adjustment 
Expenses 
Incurred 

Related to 
Current 

Year    

Claim and 
Claim 

Adjustmen
t Expenses 
Incurred 

Related to 
Prior Year    

Amortizatio
n of 

Deferred 
Policy 

Acquisition 
Costs    

Paid 
Claims 

and Claim 
Adjustmen
t Expense    

Net 
Premiums 
Written (1)  

(In thousands)  

2024
  Consolidated 

property 
casualty 
entity

$   —   $   131,192   $   —       158   $   97,927   $   25,158   $   25,396   $   (13,153 ) $   —   $   27,783   $   98,085  

2023
  Consolidated 

property 
casualty 
entity

 
  —  

 
  151,874  

 
  —  

 
  (97 )

 
  96,242  

 
  7,314  

 
  27,570  

 
  (5,828 )

 
  —  

 
  22,965  

 
  96,145  

2022
  Consolidated 

property 
casualty 
entity

 
  —  

 
  159,162  

 
  —  

 
  334  

 
  89,667  

 
  24,385  

 
  28,980  

 
  (6,290 )

 
  —  

 
  24,012  

 
  90,002  

 
(1) There were $3.2 million, $2.9 million and $3.4 million in written premiums and $3.1 million, $3.0 million and $3.1 million in earned premiums.

(2) Net Investment Income excludes net realized (gains) losses on investments of $0.0 million, $0.1 million and ($1.0) million for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
 
  U-Haul Holding Company
     
Date:  May 30, 2024   /s/ Edward J. Shoen
    Edward J. Shoen
    President and Chairman of the Board
    (Principal Executive Officer)
     
     
     
     
Date:  May 30, 2024   /s/ Jason A. Berg
    Jason A. Berg
    Chief Financial Officer 
    (Principal Financial Officer)
     
     
     
     
Date:  May 30, 2024   /s/ Maria L. Bell
    Maria L. Bell
    Chief Accounting Officer
    (Principal Accounting Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Edward J. Shoen his true 
and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all 
capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other 
documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and 
authority to do and perform each and every act or things requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith as fully and to all intents and 
purposes as he might or could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes, 
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

 
Signature Title Date

/s/ Edward J. Shoen President and Chairman of the Board May 30, 2024
Edward J. Shoen    
/s/ Jason A. Berg Chief Financial Officer May 30, 2024
Jason A. Berg    
/s/ Maria L. Bell Chief Accounting Officer May 30, 2024
Maria L. Bell    
/s/ James E. Acridge Director May 30, 2024
James E. Acridge    
/s/ John P. Brogan Director May 30, 2024
John P. Brogan    
/s/ James J. Grogan Director May 30, 2024
James J. Grogan    

/s/ Richard J. Herrera Director May 30, 2024
Richard J. Herrera    
/s/ Karl A. Schmidt Director May 30, 2024
Karl A. Schmidt

 
 

/s/ Roberta R. Shank Director May 30, 2024
Roberta R. Shank    
/s/ Samuel J. Shoen Director May 30, 2024
Samuel J. Shoen
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PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is entered into as of February 12, 2024 by and among 
Mercury Storage 1-A, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Owner"), and the subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc. set forth 
on the signature block hereto (each a “Manager” and collectively "Managers").

RECITALS

A. Owner holds the leasehold interest in the real property and all improvements thereon and appurtenances thereto located at the street 
addresses identified on Exhibit A hereto (hereinafter, collectively the “Property”).
 

B. Owner intends that the Property be rented on a space-by-space retail basis to individuals, business entities, or other entities for use 
as self-storage and portable storage facilities.
 

C. Owner desires that Manager manage the Property and Manager desires to act as the property manager for the Property, all in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
 

D. The parties agree that this Agreement supersedes and replaces any other property management agreement (“Prior Agreement”) 
between the parties hereto and/or their respective predecessors in interest, as the case may be, with respect to the Property, any such Prior 
Agreement is hereby terminated as of the date hereof.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows.
 

1. Employment.

a. Owner hereby retains Manager, and Manager agrees to act as manager of the Property upon the terms and 
conditions hereinafter set forth. 

b. Owner acknowledges that Manager, and/or Manager affiliates, is in the business of managing self-storage and 
portable-storage facilities and businesses conducted thereat, including, but not limited to, the sale of packing 
supplies and rental of trucks and equipment, both for its own account and for the account of others.  It is hereby 
expressly agreed that notwithstanding this Agreement, Manager and such affiliates may continue to engage in such 
activities, may manage facilities other than those presently managed by Manager and its affiliates (whether or not 
such other facilities may be in direct or indirect competition with Owner), and may in the future engage in other 
business which may compete directly or indirectly with activities of Owner.  

c. In the performance of its duties under this Agreement, Manager shall occupy the position of an independent 
contractor with respect to Owner.  Nothing contained herein shall be construed as making the parties hereto (or 
any of them) partners or co-parties to a joint venture, nor construed as making Manager an employee of Owner.



2. Duties and Authority of Manager. Manager shall have the following duties and authority, subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, on behalf of and as agent of the Owner:

 

a. General Duties and Authority.  Manager shall have the sole and exclusive duty and authority to fully manage the 
Property and supervise and direct the business and affairs associated or related to the daily operation thereof, to 
collect on behalf of Owner all revenues related to the Property, to pay on behalf of Owner all expenses of the 
Property, and to execute on behalf of Owner such documents and instruments as, in the sole judgment of Manager, 
are reasonably necessary or advisable under the circumstances in order to fulfill Manager's duties hereunder.  Such 
duties and authority shall include, without limitation, those set forth below. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any 
other term or provision herein, upon notice to Manager, Owner shall have the right to assume responsibility for the 
direct payment of certain expenses of Owner, as may be determined by Owner.  In such event, Owner shall 
provide an accounting of such costs to Manager.  In the event Owner fails to provide such accounting to Manager, 
Manager shall assume no liability for nonpayment for such expenses so assumed by Owner. The parties 
acknowledge and agree that Owner will retain title to, ownership of, and exclusive right to control the Property, 
subject to the terms of this Agreement, and that portion of the Gross Revenue (as hereinafter defined) owned by 
Owner (“Owner’s Revenue”); and that Manager will not acquire title to, any interest in, or any income or revenues 
from the Property or Owner’s Revenue. For purposes of this Agreement, Owner’s Revenue consists of the revenue 
from portable and self-storage operations (excluding U-Box delivery fees), retail sales, miscellaneous income and 
the commissions (“U-Move Commissions”) paid to Owner pursuant to the terms of that Dealership Contract 
between Owner and Manager dated as of the date hereof (the “Dealer Contract”), in each case with respect to the 
Property. In performing its services and making any payments hereunder, Manager will make known to third 
parties that Manager is acting solely as the agent of Owner. Under no circumstances will Manager represent or 
hold itself out to any third party as having any title to or property interest in the Property or Owner’s Revenue.  
Manager shall perform all of its obligations under this Agreement in a professional manner consistent with the 
standards it employs at all of its managed locations.

b. Renting of the Property.  Manager shall establish policies and procedures for the marketing activities for the 
Property, and shall advertise the Property through such media as Manager deems advisable. Manager's marketing 
activities for the Property shall be consistent with the scope and quality implemented by Manager and its affiliates 
at any other properties operated by Manager or its affiliates.  Manager shall have the sole discretion, which 
discretion shall be exercised in good faith, to establish the terms and conditions of occupancy by the tenants of the 
Property, and Manager is hereby authorized to enter into rental agreements on behalf and for the account of Owner 
with such tenants and to collect rent from such tenants on behalf and for the account of Owner. Manager may 
jointly advertise the Property with other properties owned or managed by Manager or its affiliates, and in that 
event, Manager shall reasonably allocate the cost of such advertising among such properties.

c. Repair, Maintenance, and Improvements. Manager shall make, execute, supervise, and have control over the 
making and executing of all decisions concerning the acquisition of furniture, fixtures, and supplies for the 
Property, and may purchase, lease, or otherwise acquire the same and which items shall be owned by Manager. 
Manager shall make and execute, or supervise and have control over the making and executing, of all decisions 
concerning the maintenance, repair, and landscaping of the Property, provided, however, that such maintenance, 
repair, and landscaping shall be consistent with that of other properties operated by Manager or its 



affiliates.  Manager shall, on behalf of Owner, negotiate and contract for and supervise the installation of all 
capital improvements related to the Property; provided, however, that Manager agrees to secure the prior written 
approval of Owner on all such expenditures in excess of $10,000.00 for any one item, except monthly or recurring 
operating charges and/or emergency repairs if in the opinion of Manager such emergency repairs are necessary to 
protect the Property from damage or to maintain services to the Owner or any customers.  In the event such 
emergency repairs exceed $10,000, Manager shall notify Owner and the insurer as applicable of the cost estimate 
for such work.

d. Personnel. Manager shall select all vendors, suppliers, contractors, subcontractors, and employees with respect to 
the Property and shall hire, discharge, and supervise all labor and employees required for the operation and 
maintenance of the Property.  Any employees so hired shall be employees of Manager, and shall be carried on the 
payroll of Manager. Employees may include, but need not be limited to, on-site resident managers, on-site 
assistant managers, and relief managers located, rendering services, or performing activities on the Property in 
connection with its operation and management.  The cost of employing such persons shall not exceed prevailing 
rates for comparable persons performing the same or similar services with respect to real estate similar to the 
Property in the general vicinity of each respective Property. Manager shall be responsible for all legal and 
insurance requirements relating to its employees.

e. Service Agreements.  Manager shall negotiate and execute on behalf of Owner such agreements which Manager 
deems necessary or advisable for the furnishing of utilities, services, concessions, and supplies, for the 
maintenance, repair, and operation of the Property and such other agreements which may benefit the Property or 
be incidental to the matters for which Manager is responsible hereunder.

f. Other Decisions.  Manager shall make the decisions in connection with the day-to-day operations of the Property.

g. Regulations and Permits. Manager shall comply in all respects with any statute, ordinance, law, rule, regulation, or 
order of any governmental or regulatory body pertaining to the Property (collectively, "Laws"), respecting the use 
of the Property or the maintenance or operation thereof, the non-compliance with which could reasonably be 
expected to have a material adverse effect on Owner or any Property. Manager shall apply for and obtain and 
maintain, on behalf of Owner, all licenses and permits required or advisable (in the reasonable judgment of 
Manager) in connection with the management and operation of the Property. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Manager shall be permitted to contest any Applicable Laws to the extent and pursuant to the same conditions that 
Owner is permitted to contest any Laws. To the extent that Manager does not comply, Manager will be responsible 
for the costs and penalties incurred as a result of the non-compliance.

h. Records and Reports of Disbursements and Collections. Manager shall establish, supervise, direct, and maintain 
the operation of a system of cash record keeping and bookkeeping with respect to all receipts and disbursements 
and all business activities and operations conducted by Manager in connection with the management and 
operation of the Property. Manager shall be responsible for cash shortages and discrepancies incurred in the 
normal course of management operations. The books, records, and accounts shall be maintained at the Manager's 
office or at Owner's office, or at such other location as Manager and Owner shall determine, and shall be available 
and open to examination and audit quarterly by Owner, its representatives, its lender, if any (“Lender”) or such 
Lender’s representative.  Manager shall cause to be prepared and delivered to Owner a monthly statement on a 
per-Property basis of receipts, expenses, and 



charges, and any other information as reasonably required by Owner to prepare its financial statements, together 
with a statement on a per-Property basis of the disbursements made by Manager during such period on Owner's 
behalf, which shall include separate lines for prepaid items and inventory. Manager shall provide Owner with rent 
rolls and occupancy reports if requested.

i. Collection.  Manager shall be responsible for the billing and collection of all receipts and for payment of all 
expenses with respect to the Property and shall be responsible for establishing policies and procedures to 
minimize the amount of bad debts. Bad debt incurred as a result of non-compliance with management policies and 
procedures (such as improper verifications or acceptance of bad credit cards or bad checks) will be the 
responsibility of Manager.  

j. Legal Actions. Manager shall cause to be instituted, on behalf and in its name or in the name of Owner as 
appropriate, any and all legal actions or proceedings Manager deems necessary or advisable in connection with the 
Property, including without limitation, to collect charges, rent, or other income due to Owner with respect to the 
Property and to oust or dispossess tenants where appropriate or other persons unlawfully in possession under any 
lease, license, concession agreement, or otherwise, and to collect damages for breach thereof or default thereunder 
by such Owner, licensee, concessionaire, or occupant.

k. Insurance.  Manager will insure, on its Master Policy, against all liabilities at the Property at Manager’s sole cost 
and expense (“General Liability Insurance”). Any deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the 
General Liability Insurance shall be at Manager’s (or Manager’s U-Haul affiliates’) responsibility and sole cost 
and expense. Manager will insure equipment at Manager’s cost, as determined by Manager. If requested by 
Owner, Manager will obtain for Owner, at Owner’s sole cost and expense, a policy of property insurance 
(“Property and Casualty Insurance”). Any such Property & Casualty Insurance shall meet Lender’s required 
coverage, to include earthquake, flood, and other Lender requirements, as the case may be, and shall be the cost of 
Owner.  

l. Taxes.  During the term of this Agreement, Manager shall pay on behalf of Owner, prior to delinquency, real estate 
taxes, personal property taxes, and other taxes assessed to or levied upon the Property, but only in the event 
requested by Owner. If requested, Manager will charge to Owner an expense monthly equal to 1/12 of annual real 
property taxes.

m. Limitations on Manager Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 2, Manager 
shall not, without obtaining the prior written consent of Owner, (i) rent storage space in the Property by written 
lease or agreement for a stated term in excess of one year unless such lease or agreement is terminable by the 
giving of not more than thirty (30) days’ written notice, (ii) alter the building or other structures of the Property in 
violation of loan documents executed by Owner in connection with the Property (“Loan Documents”); (iii) enter 
on behalf of Owner any other agreements which exceed a term of one year and are not terminable on thirty (30) 
days’ notice at the will of Owner, without penalty, payment, or surcharge; (iv) act in violation of any Law, (v) 
violate any term or condition of the Loan Documents; (vi) fail to correct any misunderstanding of any third party 
of which Manager becomes aware as to the separateness of Owner and Manager; or (vii) exercise any authority to 
act on behalf of Owner, or hold itself out has having such authority, beyond the actual scope of authority granted 
by Owner.  

n. Shared Expenses. Owner acknowledges that certain economies may be achieved with respect to certain expenses 
to be incurred by Manager on behalf of Owner hereunder if materials, supplies, insurance, or services are 
purchased by Manager in quantity for use not only in connection with Owner's business at the Property but in 
connection with other properties owned or managed by 



Manager or its affiliates. Manager shall have the right to purchase such materials, supplies, insurance (subject to 
the terms of this Agreement), and/or services in its own name and charge Owner a pro rata allocable share of the 
cost of the foregoing; provided, however, that the pro rata cost of such purchase to Owner shall not result in 
expenses that are either inconsistent with the expenses of other "U-Haul branded" locations in the general vicinity 
of the applicable Property or greater than would otherwise be incurred at competitive prices and terms available in 
the area where the Property is located; and provided further, Manager shall give Owner access to records (at no 
cost to Owner) so Owner may review any such expenses incurred.

o. Deposit of Gross Revenues. All revenue from operations at the Property (“Gross Revenue”) shall be deposited 
daily by Manager into (i) a bank account that has been established for the benefit of Owner (the “Deposit 
Account”) and maintained by Manager (or its parent company); or (ii) a collective bank account (the “Collective 
Account”) maintained by Manager (or its parent company) for the benefit of multiple property owners.  In either 
case, although the account may be in Owner’s name, Owner’s right to the proceeds therein only extends to 
Owner’s Revenue.  Within 3 business days after receipt, Manager shall transfer Owner’s Revenue in the Deposit 
Account or Collective Account, as the case may be, to Owner’s separately identified depositary account pledged to 
Lender (“Blocked Account”). To the extent that Gross Revenue is deposited into a Collective Account, Manager 
(or its parent company) shall on a daily basis reconcile such Collective Account and maintain such records as shall 
clearly identify the respective interest of each property owner in such account.  Manager shall not, and shall not 
permit any other property owner or any affiliate of Manager to, borrow, lend, or use Owner’s Revenue prior to the 
deposit of such revenue into the Blocked Account. The payment of Owner’s U-Move Commissions shall be 
governed by the terms of the Dealer Contract. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to limit Owner’s access 
to Owner’s Revenue.  All funds shall be deposited and applied as required pursuant to Owner’s loan documents 
with Lender.  

p. Obligations under Loan Documents and other Material Contracts. Manager shall take such actions as are 
necessary or appropriate under the circumstances to ensure, to the extent Manager is privy to the information, that 
Owner is in compliance with the terms of the Loan Documents and any other material agreement relating to the 
Property to which Owner is a party and for which Manager is privy to the information.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to obligate Manager to fund from its own resources any 
payments owed by Owner under the Loan Documents or otherwise be deemed to make Manager a direct obligor 
under the Loan Documents.

q. Segregation. Owner and Manager shall maintain the Property and Owner’s Revenue in such a manner that it is not 
costly or difficult to segregate, ascertain, or identify Owner’s individual assets from those of Manager or any other 
person.   

3. Duties of Owner. Owner shall cooperate with Manager in the performance of Manager's duties under this Agreement 
and to that end, upon the request of Manager, shall provide, at such rental charges as are deemed appropriate, reasonable 
office space for Manager employees on the premises of the Property (to the extent available). Owner shall not 
unreasonably withhold or delay any consent or authorization to Manager required or appropriate under this Agreement. 
Owner shall provide Manager with copies of all Loan Documents and any amendments thereto.

4. Compensation of Manager.

a. Reimbursement of Expenses.  Manager shall be entitled to request and receive timely reimbursement for all timely 
authorized out-of-pocket reasonable and customary expenses (“Expenses”) actually incurred by Manager in the 
discharge of its duties hereunder.  Such 



expense reimbursement shall be due by the last business day of each month, for all expenses billed during such 
month, unless a written request is received by Manager detailing a legitimate dispute as to a billed amount.   Such 
reimbursement shall be the obligation of Owner, whether or not Owner’s Revenues are sufficient to pay such 
amounts.  

b. Management Fee.  Owner shall pay to Manager as the full amount due for the services herein provided a monthly 
fee (the “Property Management Fee”) which shall be six percent (6%) of the Property’s current month Owner’s 
Revenue, as determined on a cash basis.  The Property Management Fee payment shall be included with the 
reimbursement of Expenses pursuant to Section 4(a) above, for the same month.  The invoice for the management 
fees shall be itemized and shall include reasonable detail to explain the expenses incurred. It is further understood 
and agreed that, except as provided in this Section 4, Manager shall not be entitled to additional compensation of 
any kind in connection with its performance of its duties under this Agreement.

c. Inspection of Books and Records.  Owner shall have the right, upon prior reasonable notice to Manager, to inspect 
Manager's books and records with respect to the Property, to assure that proper fees and charges are assessed 
hereunder. Manager shall cooperate with any such inspection.  Owner shall bear the cost of any such inspection; 
provided, however, that if it is clearly demonstrated that Manager has overcharged Owner by more than 5% in any 
given quarter and such overcharge was not caused in whole or part by Owner, the cost of such inspection shall be 
borne by Manager. Manager shall promptly reimburse Owner for any overpayment.

5. Use of Trademarks, Service Marks, and Related Items. Owner acknowledges the significant value of the "U-Haul" 
name in the operations of Owner's property, and it is therefore understood and agreed that the name, trademark, and 
service mark "U-Haul", and related marks, slogans, caricatures, designs, and other trade or service items (the "Manager 
Trade Marks") shall be utilized for the non-exclusive benefit of Owner in the rental and operation of the Property, and in 
comparable operations elsewhere.  It is further understood and agreed that the Manager Trade Marks shall remain and be 
at all times the property of Manager or its affiliates, and that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Owner 
shall have no right whatsoever therein.  Owner agrees that during the term of this Agreement the sign faces at the 
property will have the name "U-Haul." Upon termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, all such use by 
and for the benefit of Owner of any such Manager Trade Marks in connection with the Property shall be terminated and 
any signs bearing any of the foregoing shall be removed from view and no longer used by Owner.  In addition, upon 
termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, Owner shall not enter into any new leases of Property using 
the Manager lease form or use other forms prepared by Manager.  It is understood and agreed that Manager will use and 
shall be unrestricted in its use of such Manager Trade Marks in the management and operation of other storage facilities 
both during and after the expiration or termination of the term of this Agreement.

6. Default; Termination.  

a. Any material failure by Manager or Owner (a "Defaulting Party") to perform its respective duties or obligations 
hereunder (other than a default by Owner under Section 4 of this Agreement), which material failure is not cured 
within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from the non-defaulting party, shall 
constitute an event of default hereunder; provided, however, the foregoing shall not constitute an event of default 
hereunder in the event the Defaulting Party commences cure of such material failure within such thirty (30) day 
period and diligently prosecutes the cure of such material failure thereafter but in no event shall such extended 
cure period exceed ninety (90) days from the date of receipt by the non-defaulting party of written notice of such 
material default; provided further, however, that in the event such 



material failure constitutes a default under the terms of the Loan Documents and the cure period for such matter 
under the Loan Documents is shorter than the cure period specified herein, the cure period specified herein shall 
automatically shorten such that it shall match the cure period for such matter as specified under the Loan 
Documents. In addition, following notice to Manager of the existence of any such material failure by Manager, 
Owner shall have the right to cure any such material failure by Manager, and any sums so expended in curing shall 
be owed by Manager to such curing party and may be offset against any sums owed to Manager under this 
Agreement.

b. Any material failure by Owner to perform its duties or obligations under Section 4, which material failure is not 
cured within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from Manager, shall constitute an 
event of default hereunder.  

c. Subject to the terms of the Loan Documents, either party hereto shall have the right to terminate this Agreement, 
with or without cause, by giving not less than ninety (90) days' written notice to the other party hereto,  pursuant 
to Section 14 hereof.   

d. Upon termination of this Agreement, (i) Manager shall promptly return to Owner all monies, books, records, and 
other materials held by Manager for or on behalf of Owner and shall otherwise cooperate with Owner to promote 
and ensure a smooth transition to the new manager, and (ii) Manager shall be entitled to receive its Property 
Management Fee and reimbursement of expenses through the effective date of such termination, including the 
reimbursement of any prepaid expenses for periods beyond the date of termination (such as advertising).    

7. Indemnification.  Manager hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold Owner, all persons and companies affiliated 
with Owner, and all officers, shareholders, directors, employees, and agents of Owner and of any affiliated companies or 
persons (collectively, the "Indemnified Persons") harmless from any and all costs, expenses, attorneys' fees, suits, 
liabilities, judgments, damages, and claims in connection with the management of the Property and operations thereon 
(including the loss of use thereof following any damage, injury, or destruction), arising from any cause or matter 
whatsoever, including without limitation, any environmental condition or matter caused by Manager’s operation of the 
Property, except to the extent attributable to the willful misconduct or negligence on the part of the Indemnified Persons.

8. Assignment. Manager shall not assign this Agreement, or any portion hereof of the duties hereunder, to any party 
without the consent of Owner.

9. Standard for Property Manager's Responsibility. Manager agrees that it will perform its obligations hereunder 
according to industry standards, in good faith, and in a commercially-reasonable manner.  

10. Estoppel Certificate.  Each of Owner and Manager agree to execute and deliver to each other, from time to time, within 
ten (10) business days after the requesting party's request, a statement in writing certifying, to the extent true, that this 
Agreement is in full force and effect, and to such parties’ knowledge there are no uncured defaults (or specifying such 
defaults if they are claimed) and any such other matters as may be reasonably requested by such requesting party

11. Term, Scope. Subject to the provisions hereof, this Agreement shall have an initial term (such term, as extended or 
renewed in accordance with the provisions hereof, being called the "Term") commencing on the date hereof (the 
"Commencement Date") and ending on the later of (i) the last day of the 300th calendar month next following the date 
hereof, or (ii) the maturity date, repayment, or prepayment of the relevant loan under the applicable Loan Documents 
(the "Expiration Date"); provided however, the parties shall have the right upon mutual agreement to terminate this 
Agreement with respect to any individual Property no longer subject to the Loan Documents (for instance due to a 
significant casualty or condemnation of such Property).



12. Headings. The headings contained herein are for convenience of reference only and are not intended to define, limit, or 
describe the scope or intent of any provision of this Agreement.

13. Governing Law. The validity of this Agreement, the construction of its terms, and the interpretation of the rights and 
duties of the parties shall be governed by the internal laws of the State of Nevada

14. Notices. Any notice required or permitted herein shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered or mailed first 
class postage prepaid or delivered by an overnight delivery service to the respective addresses of the parties set forth 
above on the first page of this Agreement, or to such other address as any party may give  to the other in writing.  Any 
notice required by this Agreement will be deemed to have been given when personally served or one day after delivery 
to an overnight delivery service or five days after deposit in the first class mail. Any notice to Owner shall be to 207 E 
Clarendon, Phoenix, AZ  85012. Any notice to Manager shall be c/o U-Haul International, Inc., 2721 North Central 
Avenue, Phoenix, AZ 85004, Attn:  Legal Dept.

15. Severability. Should any term or provision hereof be deemed invalid, void, or unenforceable either in its entirety or in a 
particular application, the remainder of this Agreement shall nonetheless remain in full force and effect and, if the 
subject term or provision is deemed to be invalid, void or unenforceable only with respect to a particular application, 
such term or provision shall remain in full force and effect with respect to all other applications.

16. Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective parties hereto and their 
permitted assigns and successors in interest.

17. Attorneys' Fees. In any dispute arising under this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the 
other party all costs including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees and costs. 

18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned execute this Property Management Agreement as of the date set forth above.
 
Owner:
Mercury Storage 1-A, LLC, 
a Nevada limited liability company  

 
By: _______________________________________

Stuart M. Shoen, Vice President 

 
 
Manager:
 
U-Haul Co. of Florida, a Florida corporation
U-Haul Co. of Indiana, Inc., an Indiana corporation
U-Haul Co. of North Carolina, a North Carolina corporation
U-Haul Co. of New Mexico, Inc., a New Mexico corporation
U-Haul Co. of Nevada, Inc., a Nevada corporation
U-Haul Co. of Texas, a Texas corporation
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________

Wesley Chadwick, Assistant Secretary
 

 
 

 
 
 



Exhibit A
List of Properties

 
Center # Street City State Zip
785041 11410 West Colonial Drive Ocoee FL 34761
759051 1650 West 81St Avenue Merrillville IN 46410
780022 3919 East Franklin Boulevard Gastonia NC 28056
724026 1401 Rio Rancho Boulevard Rio Rancho NM 87124
807058 1098 Stephanie Place Henderson NV 89014
741066 11383 Amanda Lane Dallas TX 75238
746028 8518 Highway 6 South Houston TX 77083

 
The Property shall automatically include, without any further action necessary under this Agreement, any After Acquired Adjacent 
Property and After Acquired Leasehold Property as defined in the Loan Documents. 



PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is entered into as of February _2__, 2024 by and among 
Mercury Storage 1-B, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Owner"), and the subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc. set forth 
on the signature block hereto (each a “Manager” and collectively "Managers").

RECITALS

A. Owner holds the leasehold interest in the real property and all improvements thereon and appurtenances thereto located at the street 
addresses identified on Exhibit A hereto (hereinafter, collectively the “Property”).
 

B. Owner intends that the Property be rented on a space-by-space retail basis to individuals, business entities, or other entities for use 
as self-storage and portable storage facilities.
 

C. Owner desires that Manager manage the Property and Manager desires to act as the property manager for the Property, all in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
 

D. The parties agree that this Agreement supersedes and replaces any other property management agreement (“Prior Agreement”) 
between the parties hereto and/or their respective predecessors in interest, as the case may be, with respect to the Property, any such Prior 
Agreement is hereby terminated as of the date hereof.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows.
 

1. Employment.

a. Owner hereby retains Manager, and Manager agrees to act as manager of the Property upon the terms and 
conditions hereinafter set forth. 

b. Owner acknowledges that Manager, and/or Manager affiliates, is in the business of managing self-storage and 
portable-storage facilities and businesses conducted thereat, including, but not limited to, the sale of packing 
supplies and rental of trucks and equipment, both for its own account and for the account of others.  It is hereby 
expressly agreed that notwithstanding this Agreement, Manager and such affiliates may continue to engage in such 
activities, may manage facilities other than those presently managed by Manager and its affiliates (whether or not 
such other facilities may be in direct or indirect competition with Owner), and may in the future engage in other 
business which may compete directly or indirectly with activities of Owner.  

c. In the performance of its duties under this Agreement, Manager shall occupy the position of an independent 
contractor with respect to Owner.  Nothing contained herein shall be construed as making the parties hereto (or 
any of them) partners or co-parties to a joint venture, nor construed as making Manager an employee of Owner.



2. Duties and Authority of Manager. Manager shall have the following duties and authority, subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, on behalf of and as agent of the Owner:

 

a. General Duties and Authority.  Manager shall have the sole and exclusive duty and authority to fully manage the 
Property and supervise and direct the business and affairs associated or related to the daily operation thereof, to 
collect on behalf of Owner all revenues related to the Property, to pay on behalf of Owner all expenses of the 
Property, and to execute on behalf of Owner such documents and instruments as, in the sole judgment of Manager, 
are reasonably necessary or advisable under the circumstances in order to fulfill Manager's duties hereunder.  Such 
duties and authority shall include, without limitation, those set forth below. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any 
other term or provision herein, upon notice to Manager, Owner shall have the right to assume responsibility for the 
direct payment of certain expenses of Owner, as may be determined by Owner.  In such event, Owner shall 
provide an accounting of such costs to Manager.  In the event Owner fails to provide such accounting to Manager, 
Manager shall assume no liability for nonpayment for such expenses so assumed by Owner. The parties 
acknowledge and agree that Owner will retain title to, ownership of, and exclusive right to control the Property, 
subject to the terms of this Agreement, and that portion of the Gross Revenue (as hereinafter defined) owned by 
Owner (“Owner’s Revenue”); and that Manager will not acquire title to, any interest in, or any income or revenues 
from the Property or Owner’s Revenue. For purposes of this Agreement, Owner’s Revenue consists of the revenue 
from portable and self-storage operations (excluding U-Box delivery fees), retail sales, miscellaneous income and 
the commissions (“U-Move Commissions”) paid to Owner pursuant to the terms of that Dealership Contract 
between Owner and Manager dated as of the date hereof (the “Dealer Contract”), in each case with respect to the 
Property. In performing its services and making any payments hereunder, Manager will make known to third 
parties that Manager is acting solely as the agent of Owner. Under no circumstances will Manager represent or 
hold itself out to any third party as having any title to or property interest in the Property or Owner’s Revenue.  
Manager shall perform all of its obligations under this Agreement in a professional manner consistent with the 
standards it employs at all of its managed locations.

b. Renting of the Property.  Manager shall establish policies and procedures for the marketing activities for the 
Property, and shall advertise the Property through such media as Manager deems advisable. Manager's marketing 
activities for the Property shall be consistent with the scope and quality implemented by Manager and its affiliates 
at any other properties operated by Manager or its affiliates.  Manager shall have the sole discretion, which 
discretion shall be exercised in good faith, to establish the terms and conditions of occupancy by the tenants of the 
Property, and Manager is hereby authorized to enter into rental agreements on behalf and for the account of Owner 
with such tenants and to collect rent from such tenants on behalf and for the account of Owner. Manager may 
jointly advertise the Property with other properties owned or managed by Manager or its affiliates, and in that 
event, Manager shall reasonably allocate the cost of such advertising among such properties.

c. Repair, Maintenance, and Improvements. Manager shall make, execute, supervise, and have control over the 
making and executing of all decisions concerning the acquisition of furniture, fixtures, and supplies for the 
Property, and may purchase, lease, or otherwise acquire the same and which items shall be owned by Manager. 
Manager shall make and execute, or supervise and have control over the making and executing, of all decisions 
concerning the maintenance, repair, and landscaping of the Property, provided, however, that such maintenance, 
repair, and landscaping shall be consistent with that of other properties operated by Manager or its 



affiliates.  Manager shall, on behalf of Owner, negotiate and contract for and supervise the installation of all 
capital improvements related to the Property; provided, however, that Manager agrees to secure the prior written 
approval of Owner on all such expenditures in excess of $10,000.00 for any one item, except monthly or recurring 
operating charges and/or emergency repairs if in the opinion of Manager such emergency repairs are necessary to 
protect the Property from damage or to maintain services to the Owner or any customers.  In the event such 
emergency repairs exceed $10,000, Manager shall notify Owner and the insurer as applicable of the cost estimate 
for such work.

d. Personnel. Manager shall select all vendors, suppliers, contractors, subcontractors, and employees with respect to 
the Property and shall hire, discharge, and supervise all labor and employees required for the operation and 
maintenance of the Property.  Any employees so hired shall be employees of Manager, and shall be carried on the 
payroll of Manager. Employees may include, but need not be limited to, on-site resident managers, on-site 
assistant managers, and relief managers located, rendering services, or performing activities on the Property in 
connection with its operation and management.  The cost of employing such persons shall not exceed prevailing 
rates for comparable persons performing the same or similar services with respect to real estate similar to the 
Property in the general vicinity of each respective Property. Manager shall be responsible for all legal and 
insurance requirements relating to its employees.

e. Service Agreements.  Manager shall negotiate and execute on behalf of Owner such agreements which Manager 
deems necessary or advisable for the furnishing of utilities, services, concessions, and supplies, for the 
maintenance, repair, and operation of the Property and such other agreements which may benefit the Property or 
be incidental to the matters for which Manager is responsible hereunder.

f. Other Decisions.  Manager shall make the decisions in connection with the day-to-day operations of the Property.

g. Regulations and Permits. Manager shall comply in all respects with any statute, ordinance, law, rule, regulation, or 
order of any governmental or regulatory body pertaining to the Property (collectively, "Laws"), respecting the use 
of the Property or the maintenance or operation thereof, the non-compliance with which could reasonably be 
expected to have a material adverse effect on Owner or any Property. Manager shall apply for and obtain and 
maintain, on behalf of Owner, all licenses and permits required or advisable (in the reasonable judgment of 
Manager) in connection with the management and operation of the Property. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Manager shall be permitted to contest any Applicable Laws to the extent and pursuant to the same conditions that 
Owner is permitted to contest any Laws. To the extent that Manager does not comply, Manager will be responsible 
for the costs and penalties incurred as a result of the non-compliance.

h. Records and Reports of Disbursements and Collections. Manager shall establish, supervise, direct, and maintain 
the operation of a system of cash record keeping and bookkeeping with respect to all receipts and disbursements 
and all business activities and operations conducted by Manager in connection with the management and 
operation of the Property. Manager shall be responsible for cash shortages and discrepancies incurred in the 
normal course of management operations. The books, records, and accounts shall be maintained at the Manager's 
office or at Owner's office, or at such other location as Manager and Owner shall determine, and shall be available 
and open to examination and audit quarterly by Owner, its representatives, its lender, if any (“Lender”) or such 
Lender’s representative.  Manager shall cause to be prepared and delivered to Owner a monthly statement on a 
per-Property basis of receipts, expenses, and 



charges, and any other information as reasonably required by Owner to prepare its financial statements, together 
with a statement on a per-Property basis of the disbursements made by Manager during such period on Owner's 
behalf, which shall include separate lines for prepaid items and inventory. Manager shall provide Owner with rent 
rolls and occupancy reports if requested.

i. Collection.  Manager shall be responsible for the billing and collection of all receipts and for payment of all 
expenses with respect to the Property and shall be responsible for establishing policies and procedures to 
minimize the amount of bad debts. Bad debt incurred as a result of non-compliance with management policies and 
procedures (such as improper verifications or acceptance of bad credit cards or bad checks) will be the 
responsibility of Manager.  

j. Legal Actions. Manager shall cause to be instituted, on behalf and in its name or in the name of Owner as 
appropriate, any and all legal actions or proceedings Manager deems necessary or advisable in connection with the 
Property, including without limitation, to collect charges, rent, or other income due to Owner with respect to the 
Property and to oust or dispossess tenants where appropriate or other persons unlawfully in possession under any 
lease, license, concession agreement, or otherwise, and to collect damages for breach thereof or default thereunder 
by such Owner, licensee, concessionaire, or occupant.

k. Insurance.  Manager will insure, on its Master Policy, against all liabilities at the Property at Manager’s sole cost 
and expense (“General Liability Insurance”). Any deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the 
General Liability Insurance shall be at Manager’s (or Manager’s U-Haul affiliates’) responsibility and sole cost 
and expense. Manager will insure equipment at Manager’s cost, as determined by Manager. If requested by 
Owner, Manager will obtain for Owner, at Owner’s sole cost and expense, a policy of property insurance 
(“Property and Casualty Insurance”). Any such Property & Casualty Insurance shall meet Lender’s required 
coverage, to include earthquake, flood, and other Lender requirements, as the case may be, and shall be the cost of 
Owner.  

l. Taxes.  During the term of this Agreement, Manager shall pay on behalf of Owner, prior to delinquency, real estate 
taxes, personal property taxes, and other taxes assessed to or levied upon the Property, but only in the event 
requested by Owner. If requested, Manager will charge to Owner an expense monthly equal to 1/12 of annual real 
property taxes.

m. Limitations on Manager Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 2, Manager 
shall not, without obtaining the prior written consent of Owner, (i) rent storage space in the Property by written 
lease or agreement for a stated term in excess of one year unless such lease or agreement is terminable by the 
giving of not more than thirty (30) days’ written notice, (ii) alter the building or other structures of the Property in 
violation of loan documents executed by Owner in connection with the Property (“Loan Documents”); (iii) enter 
on behalf of Owner any other agreements which exceed a term of one year and are not terminable on thirty (30) 
days’ notice at the will of Owner, without penalty, payment, or surcharge; (iv) act in violation of any Law, (v) 
violate any term or condition of the Loan Documents; (vi) fail to correct any misunderstanding of any third party 
of which Manager becomes aware as to the separateness of Owner and Manager; or (vii) exercise any authority to 
act on behalf of Owner, or hold itself out has having such authority, beyond the actual scope of authority granted 
by Owner. 

n. Shared Expenses. Owner acknowledges that certain economies may be achieved with respect to certain expenses 
to be incurred by Manager on behalf of Owner hereunder if materials, supplies, insurance, or services are 
purchased by Manager in quantity for use not only in connection with Owner's business at the Property but in 
connection with other properties owned or managed by 



Manager or its affiliates. Manager shall have the right to purchase such materials, supplies, insurance (subject to 
the terms of this Agreement), and/or services in its own name and charge Owner a pro rata allocable share of the 
cost of the foregoing; provided, however, that the pro rata cost of such purchase to Owner shall not result in 
expenses that are either inconsistent with the expenses of other "U-Haul branded" locations in the general vicinity 
of the applicable Property or greater than would otherwise be incurred at competitive prices and terms available in 
the area where the Property is located; and provided further, Manager shall give Owner access to records (at no 
cost to Owner) so Owner may review any such expenses incurred.

o. Deposit of Gross Revenues. All revenue from operations at the Property (“Gross Revenue”) shall be deposited 
daily by Manager into (i) a bank account that has been established for the benefit of Owner (the “Deposit 
Account”) and maintained by Manager (or its parent company); or (ii) a collective bank account (the “Collective 
Account”) maintained by Manager (or its parent company) for the benefit of multiple property owners.  In either 
case, although the account may be in Owner’s name, Owner’s right to the proceeds therein only extends to 
Owner’s Revenue.  Within 3 business days after receipt, Manager shall transfer Owner’s Revenue in the Deposit 
Account or Collective Account, as the case may be, to Owner’s separately identified depositary account pledged to 
Lender (“Blocked Account”). To the extent that Gross Revenue is deposited into a Collective Account, Manager 
(or its parent company) shall on a daily basis reconcile such Collective Account and maintain such records as shall 
clearly identify the respective interest of each property owner in such account.  Manager shall not, and shall not 
permit any other property owner or any affiliate of Manager to, borrow, lend, or use Owner’s Revenue prior to the 
deposit of such revenue into the Blocked Account. The payment of Owner’s U-Move Commissions shall be 
governed by the terms of the Dealer Contract. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to limit Owner’s access 
to Owner’s Revenue.  All funds shall be deposited and applied as required pursuant to Owner’s loan documents 
with Lender.  

p. Obligations under Loan Documents and other Material Contracts. Manager shall take such actions as are 
necessary or appropriate under the circumstances to ensure, to the extent Manager is privy to the information, that 
Owner is in compliance with the terms of the Loan Documents and any other material agreement relating to the 
Property to which Owner is a party and for which Manager is privy to the information.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to obligate Manager to fund from its own resources any 
payments owed by Owner under the Loan Documents or otherwise be deemed to make Manager a direct obligor 
under the Loan Documents.

q. Segregation. Owner and Manager shall maintain the Property and Owner’s Revenue in such a manner that it is not 
costly or difficult to segregate, ascertain, or identify Owner’s individual assets from those of Manager or any other 
person.   

3. Duties of Owner. Owner shall cooperate with Manager in the performance of Manager's duties under this Agreement 
and to that end, upon the request of Manager, shall provide, at such rental charges as are deemed appropriate, reasonable 
office space for Manager employees on the premises of the Property (to the extent available). Owner shall not 
unreasonably withhold or delay any consent or authorization to Manager required or appropriate under this Agreement. 
Owner shall provide Manager with copies of all Loan Documents and any amendments thereto.

4. Compensation of Manager.

a. Reimbursement of Expenses.  Manager shall be entitled to request and receive timely reimbursement for all timely 
authorized out-of-pocket reasonable and customary expenses (“Expenses”) actually incurred by Manager in the 
discharge of its duties hereunder.  Such 



expense reimbursement shall be due by the last business day of each month, for all expenses billed during such 
month, unless a written request is received by Manager detailing a legitimate dispute as to a billed amount.   Such 
reimbursement shall be the obligation of Owner, whether or not Owner’s Revenues are sufficient to pay such 
amounts.  

b. Management Fee.  Owner shall pay to Manager as the full amount due for the services herein provided a monthly 
fee (the “Property Management Fee”) which shall be six percent (6%) of the Property’s current month Owner’s 
Revenue, as determined on a cash basis.  The Property Management Fee payment shall be included with the 
reimbursement of Expenses pursuant to Section 4(a) above, for the same month.  The invoice for the management 
fees shall be itemized and shall include reasonable detail to explain the expenses incurred. It is further understood 
and agreed that, except as provided in this Section 4, Manager shall not be entitled to additional compensation of 
any kind in connection with its performance of its duties under this Agreement.

c. Inspection of Books and Records.  Owner shall have the right, upon prior reasonable notice to Manager, to inspect 
Manager's books and records with respect to the Property, to assure that proper fees and charges are assessed 
hereunder. Manager shall cooperate with any such inspection.  Owner shall bear the cost of any such inspection; 
provided, however, that if it is clearly demonstrated that Manager has overcharged Owner by more than 5% in any 
given quarter and such overcharge was not caused in whole or part by Owner, the cost of such inspection shall be 
borne by Manager. Manager shall promptly reimburse Owner for any overpayment.

5. Use of Trademarks, Service Marks, and Related Items. Owner acknowledges the significant value of the "U-Haul" 
name in the operations of Owner's property, and it is therefore understood and agreed that the name, trademark, and 
service mark "U-Haul", and related marks, slogans, caricatures, designs, and other trade or service items (the "Manager 
Trade Marks") shall be utilized for the non-exclusive benefit of Owner in the rental and operation of the Property, and in 
comparable operations elsewhere.  It is further understood and agreed that the Manager Trade Marks shall remain and be 
at all times the property of Manager or its affiliates, and that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Owner 
shall have no right whatsoever therein.  Owner agrees that during the term of this Agreement the sign faces at the 
property will have the name "U-Haul." Upon termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, all such use by 
and for the benefit of Owner of any such Manager Trade Marks in connection with the Property shall be terminated and 
any signs bearing any of the foregoing shall be removed from view and no longer used by Owner.  In addition, upon 
termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, Owner shall not enter into any new leases of Property using 
the Manager lease form or use other forms prepared by Manager.  It is understood and agreed that Manager will use and 
shall be unrestricted in its use of such Manager Trade Marks in the management and operation of other storage facilities 
both during and after the expiration or termination of the term of this Agreement.

6. Default; Termination.  

a. Any material failure by Manager or Owner (a "Defaulting Party") to perform its respective duties or obligations 
hereunder (other than a default by Owner under Section 4 of this Agreement), which material failure is not cured 
within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from the non-defaulting party, shall 
constitute an event of default hereunder; provided, however, the foregoing shall not constitute an event of default 
hereunder in the event the Defaulting Party commences cure of such material failure within such thirty (30) day 
period and diligently prosecutes the cure of such material failure thereafter but in no event shall such extended 
cure period exceed ninety (90) days from the date of receipt by the non-defaulting party of written notice of such 
material default; provided further, however, that in the event such 



material failure constitutes a default under the terms of the Loan Documents and the cure period for such matter 
under the Loan Documents is shorter than the cure period specified herein, the cure period specified herein shall 
automatically shorten such that it shall match the cure period for such matter as specified under the Loan 
Documents. In addition, following notice to Manager of the existence of any such material failure by Manager, 
Owner shall have the right to cure any such material failure by Manager, and any sums so expended in curing shall 
be owed by Manager to such curing party and may be offset against any sums owed to Manager under this 
Agreement.

b. Any material failure by Owner to perform its duties or obligations under Section 4, which material failure is not 
cured within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from Manager, shall constitute an 
event of default hereunder.  

c. Subject to the terms of the Loan Documents, either party hereto shall have the right to terminate this Agreement, 
with or without cause, by giving not less than ninety (90) days' written notice to the other party hereto,  pursuant 
to Section 14 hereof.   

d. Upon termination of this Agreement, (i) Manager shall promptly return to Owner all monies, books, records, and 
other materials held by Manager for or on behalf of Owner and shall otherwise cooperate with Owner to promote 
and ensure a smooth transition to the new manager, and (ii) Manager shall be entitled to receive its Property 
Management Fee and reimbursement of expenses through the effective date of such termination, including the 
reimbursement of any prepaid expenses for periods beyond the date of termination (such as advertising).    

7. Indemnification.  Manager hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold Owner, all persons and companies affiliated 
with Owner, and all officers, shareholders, directors, employees, and agents of Owner and of any affiliated companies or 
persons (collectively, the "Indemnified Persons") harmless from any and all costs, expenses, attorneys' fees, suits, 
liabilities, judgments, damages, and claims in connection with the management of the Property and operations thereon 
(including the loss of use thereof following any damage, injury, or destruction), arising from any cause or matter 
whatsoever, including without limitation, any environmental condition or matter caused by Manager’s operation of the 
Property, except to the extent attributable to the willful misconduct or negligence on the part of the Indemnified Persons.

8. Assignment. Manager shall not assign this Agreement, or any portion hereof of the duties hereunder, to any party 
without the consent of Owner.

9. Standard for Property Manager's Responsibility. Manager agrees that it will perform its obligations hereunder 
according to industry standards, in good faith, and in a commercially-reasonable manner.  

10. Estoppel Certificate.  Each of Owner and Manager agree to execute and deliver to each other, from time to time, within 
ten (10) business days after the requesting party's request, a statement in writing certifying, to the extent true, that this 
Agreement is in full force and effect, and to such parties’ knowledge there are no uncured defaults (or specifying such 
defaults if they are claimed) and any such other matters as may be reasonably requested by such requesting party

11. Term, Scope. Subject to the provisions hereof, this Agreement shall have an initial term (such term, as extended or 
renewed in accordance with the provisions hereof, being called the "Term") commencing on the date hereof (the 
"Commencement Date") and ending on the later of (i) the last day of the 300th calendar month next following the date 
hereof, or (ii) the maturity date, repayment, or prepayment of the relevant loan under the applicable Loan Documents 
(the "Expiration Date"); provided however, the parties shall have the right upon mutual agreement to terminate this 
Agreement with respect to any individual Property no longer subject to the Loan Documents (for instance due to a 
significant casualty or condemnation of such Property).



12. Headings. The headings contained herein are for convenience of reference only and are not intended to define, limit, or 
describe the scope or intent of any provision of this Agreement.

13. Governing Law. The validity of this Agreement, the construction of its terms, and the interpretation of the rights and 
duties of the parties shall be governed by the internal laws of the State of Nevada

14. Notices. Any notice required or permitted herein shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered or mailed first 
class postage prepaid or delivered by an overnight delivery service to the respective addresses of the parties set forth 
above on the first page of this Agreement, or to such other address as any party may give  to the other in writing.  Any 
notice required by this Agreement will be deemed to have been given when personally served or one day after delivery 
to an overnight delivery service or five days after deposit in the first class mail. Any notice to Owner shall be to 207 E 
Clarendon, Phoenix, AZ  85012. Any notice to Manager shall be c/o U-Haul International, Inc., 2721 North Central 
Avenue, Phoenix, AZ 85004, Attn:  Legal Dept.

15. Severability. Should any term or provision hereof be deemed invalid, void, or unenforceable either in its entirety or in a 
particular application, the remainder of this Agreement shall nonetheless remain in full force and effect and, if the 
subject term or provision is deemed to be invalid, void or unenforceable only with respect to a particular application, 
such term or provision shall remain in full force and effect with respect to all other applications.

16. Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective parties hereto and their 
permitted assigns and successors in interest.

17. Attorneys' Fees. In any dispute arising under this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the 
other party all costs including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees and costs. 

18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned execute this Property Management Agreement as of the date set forth above.
 
Owner:
Mercury Storage 1-B, LLC, 
a Nevada limited liability company  

 
By: _______________________________________

Stuart M. Shoen, Vice President 

 
 
Manager:
 
U-Haul Co. of Arizona, an Arizona corporation
U-Haul Co. of Florida, a Florida corporation
U-Haul Co. of Kansas, Inc., a Kansas corporation
U-Haul Co. of Massachusetts and Ohio, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation
U-Haul Co. of Oklahoma, Inc., an Oklahoma corporation
U-Haul Co. of Texas, a Texas corporation
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________

Wesley Chadwick, Assistant Secretary
 

 
 

 
 
 



Exhibit A
List of Properties

 
Center # Street City State Zip
858046 21621 North 26Th Avenue Phoenix AZ 85027
956082 14500 South Orange Blossom Trail Orlando FL 32837
829054 3851 South Orlando Drive Sanford FL 32773
853032 9250 Marshall Drive Lenexa KS 66215
872036 224 Washington Street Stoughton MA 02072
791064 499 Montgomery Street Chicopee MA 01020
957067 5715 West 6Th Street Stillwater OK 74074
859023 3501 William D Tate Ave Grapevine TX 76051

 
The Property shall automatically include, without any further action necessary under this Agreement, any After Acquired Adjacent 
Property and After Acquired Leasehold Property as defined in the Loan Documents.  



PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is entered into as of February _2__, 2024 by and among 
Mercury Storage 1-C, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Owner"), and the subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc. set forth 
on the signature block hereto (each a “Manager” and collectively "Managers").

RECITALS

A. Owner holds the leasehold interest in the real property and all improvements thereon and appurtenances thereto located at the street 
addresses identified on Exhibit A hereto (hereinafter, collectively the “Property”).
 

B. Owner intends that the Property be rented on a space-by-space retail basis to individuals, business entities, or other entities for use 
as self-storage and portable storage facilities.
 

C. Owner desires that Manager manage the Property and Manager desires to act as the property manager for the Property, all in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
 

D. The parties agree that this Agreement supersedes and replaces any other property management agreement (“Prior Agreement”) 
between the parties hereto and/or their respective predecessors in interest, as the case may be, with respect to the Property, any such Prior 
Agreement is hereby terminated as of the date hereof.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows.
 

1. Employment.

a. Owner hereby retains Manager, and Manager agrees to act as manager of the Property upon the terms and 
conditions hereinafter set forth. 

b. Owner acknowledges that Manager, and/or Manager affiliates, is in the business of managing self-storage and 
portable-storage facilities and businesses conducted thereat, including, but not limited to, the sale of packing 
supplies and rental of trucks and equipment, both for its own account and for the account of others.  It is hereby 
expressly agreed that notwithstanding this Agreement, Manager and such affiliates may continue to engage in such 
activities, may manage facilities other than those presently managed by Manager and its affiliates (whether or not 
such other facilities may be in direct or indirect competition with Owner), and may in the future engage in other 
business which may compete directly or indirectly with activities of Owner.  

c. In the performance of its duties under this Agreement, Manager shall occupy the position of an independent 
contractor with respect to Owner.  Nothing contained herein shall be construed as making the parties hereto (or 
any of them) partners or co-parties to a joint venture, nor construed as making Manager an employee of Owner.



2. Duties and Authority of Manager. Manager shall have the following duties and authority, subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, on behalf of and as agent of the Owner:

 

a. General Duties and Authority.  Manager shall have the sole and exclusive duty and authority to fully manage the 
Property and supervise and direct the business and affairs associated or related to the daily operation thereof, to 
collect on behalf of Owner all revenues related to the Property, to pay on behalf of Owner all expenses of the 
Property, and to execute on behalf of Owner such documents and instruments as, in the sole judgment of Manager, 
are reasonably necessary or advisable under the circumstances in order to fulfill Manager's duties hereunder.  Such 
duties and authority shall include, without limitation, those set forth below. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any 
other term or provision herein, upon notice to Manager, Owner shall have the right to assume responsibility for the 
direct payment of certain expenses of Owner, as may be determined by Owner.  In such event, Owner shall 
provide an accounting of such costs to Manager.  In the event Owner fails to provide such accounting to Manager, 
Manager shall assume no liability for nonpayment for such expenses so assumed by Owner. The parties 
acknowledge and agree that Owner will retain title to, ownership of, and exclusive right to control the Property, 
subject to the terms of this Agreement, and that portion of the Gross Revenue (as hereinafter defined) owned by 
Owner (“Owner’s Revenue”); and that Manager will not acquire title to, any interest in, or any income or revenues 
from the Property or Owner’s Revenue. For purposes of this Agreement, Owner’s Revenue consists of the revenue 
from portable and self-storage operations (excluding U-Box delivery fees), retail sales, miscellaneous income and 
the commissions (“U-Move Commissions”) paid to Owner pursuant to the terms of that Dealership Contract 
between Owner and Manager dated as of the date hereof (the “Dealer Contract”), in each case with respect to the 
Property. In performing its services and making any payments hereunder, Manager will make known to third 
parties that Manager is acting solely as the agent of Owner. Under no circumstances will Manager represent or 
hold itself out to any third party as having any title to or property interest in the Property or Owner’s Revenue.  
Manager shall perform all of its obligations under this Agreement in a professional manner consistent with the 
standards it employs at all of its managed locations.

b. Renting of the Property.  Manager shall establish policies and procedures for the marketing activities for the 
Property, and shall advertise the Property through such media as Manager deems advisable. Manager's marketing 
activities for the Property shall be consistent with the scope and quality implemented by Manager and its affiliates 
at any other properties operated by Manager or its affiliates.  Manager shall have the sole discretion, which 
discretion shall be exercised in good faith, to establish the terms and conditions of occupancy by the tenants of the 
Property, and Manager is hereby authorized to enter into rental agreements on behalf and for the account of Owner 
with such tenants and to collect rent from such tenants on behalf and for the account of Owner. Manager may 
jointly advertise the Property with other properties owned or managed by Manager or its affiliates, and in that 
event, Manager shall reasonably allocate the cost of such advertising among such properties.

c. Repair, Maintenance, and Improvements. Manager shall make, execute, supervise, and have control over the 
making and executing of all decisions concerning the acquisition of furniture, fixtures, and supplies for the 
Property, and may purchase, lease, or otherwise acquire the same and which items shall be owned by Manager. 
Manager shall make and execute, or supervise and have control over the making and executing, of all decisions 
concerning the maintenance, repair, and landscaping of the Property, provided, however, that such maintenance, 
repair, and landscaping shall be consistent with that of other properties operated by Manager or its 



affiliates.  Manager shall, on behalf of Owner, negotiate and contract for and supervise the installation of all 
capital improvements related to the Property; provided, however, that Manager agrees to secure the prior written 
approval of Owner on all such expenditures in excess of $10,000.00 for any one item, except monthly or recurring 
operating charges and/or emergency repairs if in the opinion of Manager such emergency repairs are necessary to 
protect the Property from damage or to maintain services to the Owner or any customers.  In the event such 
emergency repairs exceed $10,000, Manager shall notify Owner and the insurer as applicable of the cost estimate 
for such work.

d. Personnel. Manager shall select all vendors, suppliers, contractors, subcontractors, and employees with respect to 
the Property and shall hire, discharge, and supervise all labor and employees required for the operation and 
maintenance of the Property.  Any employees so hired shall be employees of Manager, and shall be carried on the 
payroll of Manager. Employees may include, but need not be limited to, on-site resident managers, on-site 
assistant managers, and relief managers located, rendering services, or performing activities on the Property in 
connection with its operation and management.  The cost of employing such persons shall not exceed prevailing 
rates for comparable persons performing the same or similar services with respect to real estate similar to the 
Property in the general vicinity of each respective Property. Manager shall be responsible for all legal and 
insurance requirements relating to its employees.

e. Service Agreements.  Manager shall negotiate and execute on behalf of Owner such agreements which Manager 
deems necessary or advisable for the furnishing of utilities, services, concessions, and supplies, for the 
maintenance, repair, and operation of the Property and such other agreements which may benefit the Property or 
be incidental to the matters for which Manager is responsible hereunder.

f. Other Decisions.  Manager shall make the decisions in connection with the day-to-day operations of the Property.

g. Regulations and Permits. Manager shall comply in all respects with any statute, ordinance, law, rule, regulation, or 
order of any governmental or regulatory body pertaining to the Property (collectively, "Laws"), respecting the use 
of the Property or the maintenance or operation thereof, the non-compliance with which could reasonably be 
expected to have a material adverse effect on Owner or any Property. Manager shall apply for and obtain and 
maintain, on behalf of Owner, all licenses and permits required or advisable (in the reasonable judgment of 
Manager) in connection with the management and operation of the Property. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Manager shall be permitted to contest any Applicable Laws to the extent and pursuant to the same conditions that 
Owner is permitted to contest any Laws. To the extent that Manager does not comply, Manager will be responsible 
for the costs and penalties incurred as a result of the non-compliance.

h. Records and Reports of Disbursements and Collections. Manager shall establish, supervise, direct, and maintain 
the operation of a system of cash record keeping and bookkeeping with respect to all receipts and disbursements 
and all business activities and operations conducted by Manager in connection with the management and 
operation of the Property. Manager shall be responsible for cash shortages and discrepancies incurred in the 
normal course of management operations. The books, records, and accounts shall be maintained at the Manager's 
office or at Owner's office, or at such other location as Manager and Owner shall determine, and shall be available 
and open to examination and audit quarterly by Owner, its representatives, its lender, if any (“Lender”) or such 
Lender’s representative.  Manager shall cause to be prepared and delivered to Owner a monthly statement on a 
per-Property basis of receipts, expenses, and 



charges, and any other information as reasonably required by Owner to prepare its financial statements, together 
with a statement on a per-Property basis of the disbursements made by Manager during such period on Owner's 
behalf, which shall include separate lines for prepaid items and inventory. Manager shall provide Owner with rent 
rolls and occupancy reports if requested.

i. Collection.  Manager shall be responsible for the billing and collection of all receipts and for payment of all 
expenses with respect to the Property and shall be responsible for establishing policies and procedures to 
minimize the amount of bad debts. Bad debt incurred as a result of non-compliance with management policies and 
procedures (such as improper verifications or acceptance of bad credit cards or bad checks) will be the 
responsibility of Manager.  

j. Legal Actions. Manager shall cause to be instituted, on behalf and in its name or in the name of Owner as 
appropriate, any and all legal actions or proceedings Manager deems necessary or advisable in connection with the 
Property, including without limitation, to collect charges, rent, or other income due to Owner with respect to the 
Property and to oust or dispossess tenants where appropriate or other persons unlawfully in possession under any 
lease, license, concession agreement, or otherwise, and to collect damages for breach thereof or default thereunder 
by such Owner, licensee, concessionaire, or occupant.

k. Insurance.  Manager will insure, on its Master Policy, against all liabilities at the Property at Manager’s sole cost 
and expense (“General Liability Insurance”). Any deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the 
General Liability Insurance shall be at Manager’s (or Manager’s U-Haul affiliates’) responsibility and sole cost 
and expense. Manager will insure equipment at Manager’s cost, as determined by Manager. If requested by 
Owner, Manager will obtain for Owner, at Owner’s sole cost and expense, a policy of property insurance 
(“Property and Casualty Insurance”). Any such Property & Casualty Insurance shall meet Lender’s required 
coverage, to include earthquake, flood, and other Lender requirements, as the case may be, and shall be the cost of 
Owner.  

l. Taxes.  During the term of this Agreement, Manager shall pay on behalf of Owner, prior to delinquency, real estate 
taxes, personal property taxes, and other taxes assessed to or levied upon the Property, but only in the event 
requested by Owner. If requested, Manager will charge to Owner an expense monthly equal to 1/12 of annual real 
property taxes.

m. Limitations on Manager Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 2, Manager 
shall not, without obtaining the prior written consent of Owner, (i) rent storage space in the Property by written 
lease or agreement for a stated term in excess of one year unless such lease or agreement is terminable by the 
giving of not more than thirty (30) days’ written notice, (ii) alter the building or other structures of the Property in 
violation of loan documents executed by Owner in connection with the Property (“Loan Documents”); (iii) enter 
on behalf of Owner any other agreements which exceed a term of one year and are not terminable on thirty (30) 
days’ notice at the will of Owner, without penalty, payment, or surcharge; (iv) act in violation of any Law, (v) 
violate any term or condition of the Loan Documents; (vi) fail to correct any misunderstanding of any third party 
of which Manager becomes aware as to the separateness of Owner and Manager; or (vii) exercise any authority to 
act on behalf of Owner, or hold itself out has having such authority, beyond the actual scope of authority granted 
by Owner.  

n. Shared Expenses. Owner acknowledges that certain economies may be achieved with respect to certain expenses 
to be incurred by Manager on behalf of Owner hereunder if materials, supplies, insurance, or services are 
purchased by Manager in quantity for use not only in connection with Owner's business at the Property but in 
connection with other properties owned or managed by 



Manager or its affiliates. Manager shall have the right to purchase such materials, supplies, insurance (subject to 
the terms of this Agreement), and/or services in its own name and charge Owner a pro rata allocable share of the 
cost of the foregoing; provided, however, that the pro rata cost of such purchase to Owner shall not result in 
expenses that are either inconsistent with the expenses of other "U-Haul branded" locations in the general vicinity 
of the applicable Property or greater than would otherwise be incurred at competitive prices and terms available in 
the area where the Property is located; and provided further, Manager shall give Owner access to records (at no 
cost to Owner) so Owner may review any such expenses incurred.

o. Deposit of Gross Revenues. All revenue from operations at the Property (“Gross Revenue”) shall be deposited 
daily by Manager into (i) a bank account that has been established for the benefit of Owner (the “Deposit 
Account”) and maintained by Manager (or its parent company); or (ii) a collective bank account (the “Collective 
Account”) maintained by Manager (or its parent company) for the benefit of multiple property owners.  In either 
case, although the account may be in Owner’s name, Owner’s right to the proceeds therein only extends to 
Owner’s Revenue.  Within 3 business days after receipt, Manager shall transfer Owner’s Revenue in the Deposit 
Account or Collective Account, as the case may be, to Owner’s separately identified depositary account pledged to 
Lender (“Blocked Account”). To the extent that Gross Revenue is deposited into a Collective Account, Manager 
(or its parent company) shall on a daily basis reconcile such Collective Account and maintain such records as shall 
clearly identify the respective interest of each property owner in such account.  Manager shall not, and shall not 
permit any other property owner or any affiliate of Manager to, borrow, lend, or use Owner’s Revenue prior to the 
deposit of such revenue into the Blocked Account. The payment of Owner’s U-Move Commissions shall be 
governed by the terms of the Dealer Contract. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to limit Owner’s access 
to Owner’s Revenue.  All funds shall be deposited and applied as required pursuant to Owner’s loan documents 
with Lender.  

p. Obligations under Loan Documents and other Material Contracts. Manager shall take such actions as are 
necessary or appropriate under the circumstances to ensure, to the extent Manager is privy to the information, that 
Owner is in compliance with the terms of the Loan Documents and any other material agreement relating to the 
Property to which Owner is a party and for which Manager is privy to the information.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to obligate Manager to fund from its own resources any 
payments owed by Owner under the Loan Documents or otherwise be deemed to make Manager a direct obligor 
under the Loan Documents.

q. Segregation. Owner and Manager shall maintain the Property and Owner’s Revenue in such a manner that it is not 
costly or difficult to segregate, ascertain, or identify Owner’s individual assets from those of Manager or any other 
person.   

3. Duties of Owner. Owner shall cooperate with Manager in the performance of Manager's duties under this Agreement 
and to that end, upon the request of Manager, shall provide, at such rental charges as are deemed appropriate, reasonable 
office space for Manager employees on the premises of the Property (to the extent available). Owner shall not 
unreasonably withhold or delay any consent or authorization to Manager required or appropriate under this Agreement. 
Owner shall provide Manager with copies of all Loan Documents and any amendments thereto.

4. Compensation of Manager.

a. Reimbursement of Expenses.  Manager shall be entitled to request and receive timely reimbursement for all timely 
authorized out-of-pocket reasonable and customary expenses (“Expenses”) actually incurred by Manager in the 
discharge of its duties hereunder.  Such 



expense reimbursement shall be due by the last business day of each month, for all expenses billed during such 
month, unless a written request is received by Manager detailing a legitimate dispute as to a billed amount.   Such 
reimbursement shall be the obligation of Owner, whether or not Owner’s Revenues are sufficient to pay such 
amounts.  

b. Management Fee.  Owner shall pay to Manager as the full amount due for the services herein provided a monthly 
fee (the “Property Management Fee”) which shall be six percent (6%) of the Property’s current month Owner’s 
Revenue, as determined on a cash basis.  The Property Management Fee payment shall be included with the 
reimbursement of Expenses pursuant to Section 4(a) above, for the same month.  The invoice for the management 
fees shall be itemized and shall include reasonable detail to explain the expenses incurred. It is further understood 
and agreed that, except as provided in this Section 4, Manager shall not be entitled to additional compensation of 
any kind in connection with its performance of its duties under this Agreement.

c. Inspection of Books and Records.  Owner shall have the right, upon prior reasonable notice to Manager, to inspect 
Manager's books and records with respect to the Property, to assure that proper fees and charges are assessed 
hereunder. Manager shall cooperate with any such inspection.  Owner shall bear the cost of any such inspection; 
provided, however, that if it is clearly demonstrated that Manager has overcharged Owner by more than 5% in any 
given quarter and such overcharge was not caused in whole or part by Owner, the cost of such inspection shall be 
borne by Manager. Manager shall promptly reimburse Owner for any overpayment.

5. Use of Trademarks, Service Marks, and Related Items. Owner acknowledges the significant value of the "U-Haul" 
name in the operations of Owner's property, and it is therefore understood and agreed that the name, trademark, and 
service mark "U-Haul", and related marks, slogans, caricatures, designs, and other trade or service items (the "Manager 
Trade Marks") shall be utilized for the non-exclusive benefit of Owner in the rental and operation of the Property, and in 
comparable operations elsewhere.  It is further understood and agreed that the Manager Trade Marks shall remain and be 
at all times the property of Manager or its affiliates, and that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Owner 
shall have no right whatsoever therein.  Owner agrees that during the term of this Agreement the sign faces at the 
property will have the name "U-Haul." Upon termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, all such use by 
and for the benefit of Owner of any such Manager Trade Marks in connection with the Property shall be terminated and 
any signs bearing any of the foregoing shall be removed from view and no longer used by Owner.  In addition, upon 
termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, Owner shall not enter into any new leases of Property using 
the Manager lease form or use other forms prepared by Manager.  It is understood and agreed that Manager will use and 
shall be unrestricted in its use of such Manager Trade Marks in the management and operation of other storage facilities 
both during and after the expiration or termination of the term of this Agreement.

6. Default; Termination.  

a. Any material failure by Manager or Owner (a "Defaulting Party") to perform its respective duties or obligations 
hereunder (other than a default by Owner under Section 4 of this Agreement), which material failure is not cured 
within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from the non-defaulting party, shall 
constitute an event of default hereunder; provided, however, the foregoing shall not constitute an event of default 
hereunder in the event the Defaulting Party commences cure of such material failure within such thirty (30) day 
period and diligently prosecutes the cure of such material failure thereafter but in no event shall such extended 
cure period exceed ninety (90) days from the date of receipt by the non-defaulting party of written notice of such 
material default; provided further, however, that in the event such 



material failure constitutes a default under the terms of the Loan Documents and the cure period for such matter 
under the Loan Documents is shorter than the cure period specified herein, the cure period specified herein shall 
automatically shorten such that it shall match the cure period for such matter as specified under the Loan 
Documents. In addition, following notice to Manager of the existence of any such material failure by Manager, 
Owner shall have the right to cure any such material failure by Manager, and any sums so expended in curing shall 
be owed by Manager to such curing party and may be offset against any sums owed to Manager under this 
Agreement.

b. Any material failure by Owner to perform its duties or obligations under Section 4, which material failure is not 
cured within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from Manager, shall constitute an 
event of default hereunder.  

c. Subject to the terms of the Loan Documents, either party hereto shall have the right to terminate this Agreement, 
with or without cause, by giving not less than ninety (90) days' written notice to the other party hereto,  pursuant 
to Section 14 hereof.   

d. Upon termination of this Agreement, (i) Manager shall promptly return to Owner all monies, books, records, and 
other materials held by Manager for or on behalf of Owner and shall otherwise cooperate with Owner to promote 
and ensure a smooth transition to the new manager, and (ii) Manager shall be entitled to receive its Property 
Management Fee and reimbursement of expenses through the effective date of such termination, including the 
reimbursement of any prepaid expenses for periods beyond the date of termination (such as advertising).    

7. Indemnification.  Manager hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold Owner, all persons and companies affiliated 
with Owner, and all officers, shareholders, directors, employees, and agents of Owner and of any affiliated companies or 
persons (collectively, the "Indemnified Persons") harmless from any and all costs, expenses, attorneys' fees, suits, 
liabilities, judgments, damages, and claims in connection with the management of the Property and operations thereon 
(including the loss of use thereof following any damage, injury, or destruction), arising from any cause or matter 
whatsoever, including without limitation, any environmental condition or matter caused by Manager’s operation of the 
Property, except to the extent attributable to the willful misconduct or negligence on the part of the Indemnified Persons.

8. Assignment. Manager shall not assign this Agreement, or any portion hereof of the duties hereunder, to any party 
without the consent of Owner.

9. Standard for Property Manager's Responsibility. Manager agrees that it will perform its obligations hereunder 
according to industry standards, in good faith, and in a commercially-reasonable manner.  

10. Estoppel Certificate.  Each of Owner and Manager agree to execute and deliver to each other, from time to time, within 
ten (10) business days after the requesting party's request, a statement in writing certifying, to the extent true, that this 
Agreement is in full force and effect, and to such parties’ knowledge there are no uncured defaults (or specifying such 
defaults if they are claimed) and any such other matters as may be reasonably requested by such requesting party

11. Term, Scope. Subject to the provisions hereof, this Agreement shall have an initial term (such term, as extended or 
renewed in accordance with the provisions hereof, being called the "Term") commencing on the date hereof (the 
"Commencement Date") and ending on the later of (i) the last day of the 300th calendar month next following the date 
hereof, or (ii) the maturity date, repayment, or prepayment of the relevant loan under the applicable Loan Documents 
(the "Expiration Date"); provided however, the parties shall have the right upon mutual agreement to terminate this 
Agreement with respect to any individual Property no longer subject to the Loan Documents (for instance due to a 
significant casualty or condemnation of such Property).



12. Headings. The headings contained herein are for convenience of reference only and are not intended to define, limit, or 
describe the scope or intent of any provision of this Agreement.

13. Governing Law. The validity of this Agreement, the construction of its terms, and the interpretation of the rights and 
duties of the parties shall be governed by the internal laws of the State of Nevada

14. Notices. Any notice required or permitted herein shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered or mailed first 
class postage prepaid or delivered by an overnight delivery service to the respective addresses of the parties set forth 
above on the first page of this Agreement, or to such other address as any party may give  to the other in writing.  Any 
notice required by this Agreement will be deemed to have been given when personally served or one day after delivery 
to an overnight delivery service or five days after deposit in the first class mail. Any notice to Owner shall be to 207 E 
Clarendon, Phoenix, AZ  85012. Any notice to Manager shall be c/o U-Haul International, Inc., 2721 North Central 
Avenue, Phoenix, AZ 85004, Attn:  Legal Dept.

15. Severability. Should any term or provision hereof be deemed invalid, void, or unenforceable either in its entirety or in a 
particular application, the remainder of this Agreement shall nonetheless remain in full force and effect and, if the 
subject term or provision is deemed to be invalid, void or unenforceable only with respect to a particular application, 
such term or provision shall remain in full force and effect with respect to all other applications.

16. Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective parties hereto and their 
permitted assigns and successors in interest.

17. Attorneys' Fees. In any dispute arising under this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the 
other party all costs including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees and costs. 

18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned execute this Property Management Agreement as of the date set forth above.
 
Owner:
Mercury Storage 1-B, LLC, 
a Nevada limited liability company  

 
By: _______________________________________

Stuart M. Shoen, Vice President 

 
 
Manager:
 
U-Haul Co. of Arizona, an Arizona corporation
U-Haul Co. of Colorado, a Colorado corporation
U-Haul Co. of Florida, a Florida corporation
U-Haul Co. of Georgia, a Georgia corporation
U-Haul Co. of Nevada, Inc., a Nevada corporation
U-Haul Co. of Ner York and Vermont, Inc., a New York corporation
U-Haul Co. of Virginia, a Virginia corporation
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________

Wesley Chadwick, Assistant Secretary
 

 
 

 
 
 



Exhibit A
List of Properties

 
Center # Street City State Zip
822059 3425 South 40Th Street Phoenix AZ 85040
834035 1750 East County Line Road Highlands Ranch CO 80126
829057 2055 N Semoran Boulevard Winter Park FL 32792
829073 7803 North Orange Blossom Trail Orlando FL 32810
879055 2040 Scenic Highway N Snellville GA 30078
807025 333 N Nellis Blvd Las Vegas NV 89110
803034 780 East 138Th Street Bronx NY 10454
921025 804 W Roslyn Rd Colonial Heights VA 23834

 
The Property shall automatically include, without any further action necessary under this Agreement, any After Acquired Adjacent 
Property and After Acquired Leasehold Property as defined in the Loan Documents.  



PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is entered into as of February 14, 2024 by and among 
Mercury Storage 2, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Owner"), and the subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc. set forth on 
the signature block hereto (each a “Manager” and collectively "Managers").

RECITALS

A. Owner holds the leasehold interest in the real property and all improvements thereon and appurtenances thereto located at the street 
addresses identified on Exhibit A hereto (hereinafter, collectively the “Property”).
 

B. Owner intends that the Property be rented on a space-by-space retail basis to individuals, business entities, or other entities for use 
as self-storage and portable storage facilities.
 

C. Owner desires that Manager manage the Property and Manager desires to act as the property manager for the Property, all in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
 

D. The parties agree that this Agreement supersedes and replaces any other property management agreement (“Prior Agreement”) 
between the parties hereto and/or their respective predecessors in interest, as the case may be, with respect to the Property, any such Prior 
Agreement is hereby terminated as of the date hereof.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows.
 

1. Employment.

a. Owner hereby retains Manager, and Manager agrees to act as manager of the Property upon the terms and 
conditions hereinafter set forth. 

b. Owner acknowledges that Manager, and/or Manager affiliates, is in the business of managing self-storage and 
portable-storage facilities and businesses conducted thereat, including, but not limited to, the sale of packing 
supplies and rental of trucks and equipment, both for its own account and for the account of others.  It is hereby 
expressly agreed that notwithstanding this Agreement, Manager and such affiliates may continue to engage in such 
activities, may manage facilities other than those presently managed by Manager and its affiliates (whether or not 
such other facilities may be in direct or indirect competition with Owner), and may in the future engage in other 
business which may compete directly or indirectly with activities of Owner.  

c. In the performance of its duties under this Agreement, Manager shall occupy the position of an independent 
contractor with respect to Owner.  Nothing contained herein shall be construed as making the parties hereto (or 
any of them) partners or co-parties to a joint venture, nor construed as making Manager an employee of Owner.



2. Duties and Authority of Manager. Manager shall have the following duties and authority, subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, on behalf of and as agent of the Owner:

 

a. General Duties and Authority.  Manager shall have the sole and exclusive duty and authority to fully manage the 
Property and supervise and direct the business and affairs associated or related to the daily operation thereof, to 
collect on behalf of Owner all revenues related to the Property, to pay on behalf of Owner all expenses of the 
Property, and to execute on behalf of Owner such documents and instruments as, in the sole judgment of Manager, 
are reasonably necessary or advisable under the circumstances in order to fulfill Manager's duties hereunder.  Such 
duties and authority shall include, without limitation, those set forth below. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any 
other term or provision herein, upon notice to Manager, Owner shall have the right to assume responsibility for the 
direct payment of certain expenses of Owner, as may be determined by Owner.  In such event, Owner shall 
provide an accounting of such costs to Manager.  In the event Owner fails to provide such accounting to Manager, 
Manager shall assume no liability for nonpayment for such expenses so assumed by Owner. The parties 
acknowledge and agree that Owner will retain title to, ownership of, and exclusive right to control the Property, 
subject to the terms of this Agreement, and that portion of the Gross Revenue (as hereinafter defined) owned by 
Owner (“Owner’s Revenue”); and that Manager will not acquire title to, any interest in, or any income or revenues 
from the Property or Owner’s Revenue. For purposes of this Agreement, Owner’s Revenue consists of the revenue 
from portable and self-storage operations (excluding U-Box delivery fees), retail sales, miscellaneous income and 
the commissions (“U-Move Commissions”) paid to Owner pursuant to the terms of that Dealership Contract 
between Owner and Manager dated as of the date hereof (the “Dealer Contract”), in each case with respect to the 
Property. In performing its services and making any payments hereunder, Manager will make known to third 
parties that Manager is acting solely as the agent of Owner. Under no circumstances will Manager represent or 
hold itself out to any third party as having any title to or property interest in the Property or Owner’s Revenue.  
Manager shall perform all of its obligations under this Agreement in a professional manner consistent with the 
standards it employs at all of its managed locations.

b. Renting of the Property.  Manager shall establish policies and procedures for the marketing activities for the 
Property, and shall advertise the Property through such media as Manager deems advisable. Manager's marketing 
activities for the Property shall be consistent with the scope and quality implemented by Manager and its affiliates 
at any other properties operated by Manager or its affiliates.  Manager shall have the sole discretion, which 
discretion shall be exercised in good faith, to establish the terms and conditions of occupancy by the tenants of the 
Property, and Manager is hereby authorized to enter into rental agreements on behalf and for the account of Owner 
with such tenants and to collect rent from such tenants on behalf and for the account of Owner. Manager may 
jointly advertise the Property with other properties owned or managed by Manager or its affiliates, and in that 
event, Manager shall reasonably allocate the cost of such advertising among such properties.

c. Repair, Maintenance, and Improvements. Manager shall make, execute, supervise, and have control over the 
making and executing of all decisions concerning the acquisition of furniture, fixtures, and supplies for the 
Property, and may purchase, lease, or otherwise acquire the same and which items shall be owned by Manager. 
Manager shall make and execute, or supervise and have control over the making and executing, of all decisions 
concerning the maintenance, repair, and landscaping of the Property, provided, however, that such maintenance, 
repair, and landscaping shall be consistent with that of other properties operated by Manager or its 



affiliates.  Manager shall, on behalf of Owner, negotiate and contract for and supervise the installation of all 
capital improvements related to the Property; provided, however, that Manager agrees to secure the prior written 
approval of Owner on all such expenditures in excess of $10,000.00 for any one item, except monthly or recurring 
operating charges and/or emergency repairs if in the opinion of Manager such emergency repairs are necessary to 
protect the Property from damage or to maintain services to the Owner or any customers.  In the event such 
emergency repairs exceed $10,000, Manager shall notify Owner and the insurer as applicable of the cost estimate 
for such work.

d. Personnel. Manager shall select all vendors, suppliers, contractors, subcontractors, and employees with respect to 
the Property and shall hire, discharge, and supervise all labor and employees required for the operation and 
maintenance of the Property.  Any employees so hired shall be employees of Manager, and shall be carried on the 
payroll of Manager. Employees may include, but need not be limited to, on-site resident managers, on-site 
assistant managers, and relief managers located, rendering services, or performing activities on the Property in 
connection with its operation and management.  The cost of employing such persons shall not exceed prevailing 
rates for comparable persons performing the same or similar services with respect to real estate similar to the 
Property in the general vicinity of each respective Property. Manager shall be responsible for all legal and 
insurance requirements relating to its employees.

e. Service Agreements.  Manager shall negotiate and execute on behalf of Owner such agreements which Manager 
deems necessary or advisable for the furnishing of utilities, services, concessions, and supplies, for the 
maintenance, repair, and operation of the Property and such other agreements which may benefit the Property or 
be incidental to the matters for which Manager is responsible hereunder.

f. Other Decisions.  Manager shall make the decisions in connection with the day-to-day operations of the Property.

g. Regulations and Permits. Manager shall comply in all respects with any statute, ordinance, law, rule, regulation, or 
order of any governmental or regulatory body pertaining to the Property (collectively, "Laws"), respecting the use 
of the Property or the maintenance or operation thereof, the non-compliance with which could reasonably be 
expected to have a material adverse effect on Owner or any Property. Manager shall apply for and obtain and 
maintain, on behalf of Owner, all licenses and permits required or advisable (in the reasonable judgment of 
Manager) in connection with the management and operation of the Property. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Manager shall be permitted to contest any Applicable Laws to the extent and pursuant to the same conditions that 
Owner is permitted to contest any Laws. To the extent that Manager does not comply, Manager will be responsible 
for the costs and penalties incurred as a result of the non-compliance.

h. Records and Reports of Disbursements and Collections. Manager shall establish, supervise, direct, and maintain 
the operation of a system of cash record keeping and bookkeeping with respect to all receipts and disbursements 
and all business activities and operations conducted by Manager in connection with the management and 
operation of the Property. Manager shall be responsible for cash shortages and discrepancies incurred in the 
normal course of management operations. The books, records, and accounts shall be maintained at the Manager's 
office or at Owner's office, or at such other location as Manager and Owner shall determine, and shall be available 
and open to examination and audit quarterly by Owner, its representatives, its lender, if any (“Lender”) or such 
Lender’s representative.  Manager shall cause to be prepared and delivered to Owner a monthly statement on a 
per-Property basis of receipts, expenses, and 



charges, and any other information as reasonably required by Owner to prepare its financial statements, together 
with a statement on a per-Property basis of the disbursements made by Manager during such period on Owner's 
behalf, which shall include separate lines for prepaid items and inventory. Manager shall provide Owner with rent 
rolls and occupancy reports if requested.

i. Collection.  Manager shall be responsible for the billing and collection of all receipts and for payment of all 
expenses with respect to the Property and shall be responsible for establishing policies and procedures to 
minimize the amount of bad debts. Bad debt incurred as a result of non-compliance with management policies and 
procedures (such as improper verifications or acceptance of bad credit cards or bad checks) will be the 
responsibility of Manager.  

j. Legal Actions. Manager shall cause to be instituted, on behalf and in its name or in the name of Owner as 
appropriate, any and all legal actions or proceedings Manager deems necessary or advisable in connection with the 
Property, including without limitation, to collect charges, rent, or other income due to Owner with respect to the 
Property and to oust or dispossess tenants where appropriate or other persons unlawfully in possession under any 
lease, license, concession agreement, or otherwise, and to collect damages for breach thereof or default thereunder 
by such Owner, licensee, concessionaire, or occupant.

k. Insurance.  Manager will insure, on its Master Policy, against all liabilities at the Property at Manager’s sole cost 
and expense (“General Liability Insurance”). Any deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the 
General Liability Insurance shall be at Manager’s (or Manager’s U-Haul affiliates’) responsibility and sole cost 
and expense. Manager will insure equipment at Manager’s cost, as determined by Manager. If requested by 
Owner, Manager will obtain for Owner, at Owner’s sole cost and expense, a policy of property insurance 
(“Property and Casualty Insurance”). Any such Property & Casualty Insurance shall meet Lender’s required 
coverage, to include earthquake, flood, and other Lender requirements, as the case may be, and shall be the cost of 
Owner.  

l. Taxes.  During the term of this Agreement, Manager shall pay on behalf of Owner, prior to delinquency, real estate 
taxes, personal property taxes, and other taxes assessed to or levied upon the Property, but only in the event 
requested by Owner. If requested, Manager will charge to Owner an expense monthly equal to 1/12 of annual real 
property taxes.

m. Limitations on Manager Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 2, Manager 
shall not, without obtaining the prior written consent of Owner, (i) rent storage space in the Property by written 
lease or agreement for a stated term in excess of one year unless such lease or agreement is terminable by the 
giving of not more than thirty (30) days’ written notice, (ii) alter the building or other structures of the Property in 
violation of loan documents executed by Owner in connection with the Property (“Loan Documents”); (iii) enter 
on behalf of Owner any other agreements which exceed a term of one year and are not terminable on thirty (30) 
days’ notice at the will of Owner, without penalty, payment, or surcharge; (iv) act in violation of any Law, (v) 
violate any term or condition of the Loan Documents; (vi) fail to correct any misunderstanding of any third party 
of which Manager becomes aware as to the separateness of Owner and Manager; or (vii) exercise any authority to 
act on behalf of Owner, or hold itself out has having such authority, beyond the actual scope of authority granted 
by Owner.  

n. Shared Expenses. Owner acknowledges that certain economies may be achieved with respect to certain expenses 
to be incurred by Manager on behalf of Owner hereunder if materials, supplies, insurance, or services are 
purchased by Manager in quantity for use not only in connection with Owner's business at the Property but in 
connection with other properties owned or managed by 



Manager or its affiliates. Manager shall have the right to purchase such materials, supplies, insurance (subject to 
the terms of this Agreement), and/or services in its own name and charge Owner a pro rata allocable share of the 
cost of the foregoing; provided, however, that the pro rata cost of such purchase to Owner shall not result in 
expenses that are either inconsistent with the expenses of other "U-Haul branded" locations in the general vicinity 
of the applicable Property or greater than would otherwise be incurred at competitive prices and terms available in 
the area where the Property is located; and provided further, Manager shall give Owner access to records (at no 
cost to Owner) so Owner may review any such expenses incurred.

o. Deposit of Gross Revenues. All revenue from operations at the Property (“Gross Revenue”) shall be deposited 
daily by Manager into (i) a bank account that has been established for the benefit of Owner (the “Deposit 
Account”) and maintained by Manager (or its parent company); or (ii) a collective bank account (the “Collective 
Account”) maintained by Manager (or its parent company) for the benefit of multiple property owners.  In either 
case, although the account may be in Owner’s name, Owner’s right to the proceeds therein only extends to 
Owner’s Revenue.  Within 3 business days after receipt, Manager shall transfer Owner’s Revenue in the Deposit 
Account or Collective Account, as the case may be, to Owner’s separately identified depositary account pledged to 
Lender (“Blocked Account”). To the extent that Gross Revenue is deposited into a Collective Account, Manager 
(or its parent company) shall on a daily basis reconcile such Collective Account and maintain such records as shall 
clearly identify the respective interest of each property owner in such account.  Manager shall not, and shall not 
permit any other property owner or any affiliate of Manager to, borrow, lend, or use Owner’s Revenue prior to the 
deposit of such revenue into the Blocked Account. The payment of Owner’s U-Move Commissions shall be 
governed by the terms of the Dealer Contract. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to limit Owner’s access 
to Owner’s Revenue.  All funds shall be deposited and applied as required pursuant to Owner’s loan documents 
with Lender.  

p. Obligations under Loan Documents and other Material Contracts. Manager shall take such actions as are 
necessary or appropriate under the circumstances to ensure, to the extent Manager is privy to the information, that 
Owner is in compliance with the terms of the Loan Documents and any other material agreement relating to the 
Property to which Owner is a party and for which Manager is privy to the information.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to obligate Manager to fund from its own resources any 
payments owed by Owner under the Loan Documents or otherwise be deemed to make Manager a direct obligor 
under the Loan Documents.

q. Segregation. Owner and Manager shall maintain the Property and Owner’s Revenue in such a manner that it is not 
costly or difficult to segregate, ascertain, or identify Owner’s individual assets from those of Manager or any other 
person.   

3. Duties of Owner. Owner shall cooperate with Manager in the performance of Manager's duties under this Agreement 
and to that end, upon the request of Manager, shall provide, at such rental charges as are deemed appropriate, reasonable 
office space for Manager employees on the premises of the Property (to the extent available). Owner shall not 
unreasonably withhold or delay any consent or authorization to Manager required or appropriate under this Agreement. 
Owner shall provide Manager with copies of all Loan Documents and any amendments thereto.

4. Compensation of Manager.

a. Reimbursement of Expenses.  Manager shall be entitled to request and receive timely reimbursement for all timely 
authorized out-of-pocket reasonable and customary expenses (“Expenses”) actually incurred by Manager in the 
discharge of its duties hereunder.  Such 



expense reimbursement shall be due by the last business day of each month, for all expenses billed during such 
month, unless a written request is received by Manager detailing a legitimate dispute as to a billed amount.   Such 
reimbursement shall be the obligation of Owner, whether or not Owner’s Revenues are sufficient to pay such 
amounts.  

b. Management Fee.  Owner shall pay to Manager as the full amount due for the services herein provided a monthly 
fee (the “Property Management Fee”) which shall be six percent (6%) of the Property’s current month Owner’s 
Revenue, as determined on a cash basis.  The Property Management Fee payment shall be included with the 
reimbursement of Expenses pursuant to Section 4(a) above, for the same month.  The invoice for the management 
fees shall be itemized and shall include reasonable detail to explain the expenses incurred. It is further understood 
and agreed that, except as provided in this Section 4, Manager shall not be entitled to additional compensation of 
any kind in connection with its performance of its duties under this Agreement.

c. Inspection of Books and Records.  Owner shall have the right, upon prior reasonable notice to Manager, to inspect 
Manager's books and records with respect to the Property, to assure that proper fees and charges are assessed 
hereunder. Manager shall cooperate with any such inspection.  Owner shall bear the cost of any such inspection; 
provided, however, that if it is clearly demonstrated that Manager has overcharged Owner by more than 5% in any 
given quarter and such overcharge was not caused in whole or part by Owner, the cost of such inspection shall be 
borne by Manager. Manager shall promptly reimburse Owner for any overpayment.

5. Use of Trademarks, Service Marks, and Related Items. Owner acknowledges the significant value of the "U-Haul" 
name in the operations of Owner's property, and it is therefore understood and agreed that the name, trademark, and 
service mark "U-Haul", and related marks, slogans, caricatures, designs, and other trade or service items (the "Manager 
Trade Marks") shall be utilized for the non-exclusive benefit of Owner in the rental and operation of the Property, and in 
comparable operations elsewhere.  It is further understood and agreed that the Manager Trade Marks shall remain and be 
at all times the property of Manager or its affiliates, and that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Owner 
shall have no right whatsoever therein.  Owner agrees that during the term of this Agreement the sign faces at the 
property will have the name "U-Haul." Upon termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, all such use by 
and for the benefit of Owner of any such Manager Trade Marks in connection with the Property shall be terminated and 
any signs bearing any of the foregoing shall be removed from view and no longer used by Owner.  In addition, upon 
termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, Owner shall not enter into any new leases of Property using 
the Manager lease form or use other forms prepared by Manager.  It is understood and agreed that Manager will use and 
shall be unrestricted in its use of such Manager Trade Marks in the management and operation of other storage facilities 
both during and after the expiration or termination of the term of this Agreement.

6. Default; Termination.  

a. Any material failure by Manager or Owner (a "Defaulting Party") to perform its respective duties or obligations 
hereunder (other than a default by Owner under Section 4 of this Agreement), which material failure is not cured 
within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from the non-defaulting party, shall 
constitute an event of default hereunder; provided, however, the foregoing shall not constitute an event of default 
hereunder in the event the Defaulting Party commences cure of such material failure within such thirty (30) day 
period and diligently prosecutes the cure of such material failure thereafter but in no event shall such extended 
cure period exceed ninety (90) days from the date of receipt by the non-defaulting party of written notice of such 
material default; provided further, however, that in the event such 



material failure constitutes a default under the terms of the Loan Documents and the cure period for such matter 
under the Loan Documents is shorter than the cure period specified herein, the cure period specified herein shall 
automatically shorten such that it shall match the cure period for such matter as specified under the Loan 
Documents. In addition, following notice to Manager of the existence of any such material failure by Manager, 
Owner shall have the right to cure any such material failure by Manager, and any sums so expended in curing shall 
be owed by Manager to such curing party and may be offset against any sums owed to Manager under this 
Agreement.

b. Any material failure by Owner to perform its duties or obligations under Section 4, which material failure is not 
cured within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from Manager, shall constitute an 
event of default hereunder.  

c. Subject to the terms of the Loan Documents, either party hereto shall have the right to terminate this Agreement, 
with or without cause, by giving not less than ninety (90) days' written notice to the other party hereto,  pursuant 
to Section 14 hereof.   

d. Upon termination of this Agreement, (i) Manager shall promptly return to Owner all monies, books, records, and 
other materials held by Manager for or on behalf of Owner and shall otherwise cooperate with Owner to promote 
and ensure a smooth transition to the new manager, and (ii) Manager shall be entitled to receive its Property 
Management Fee and reimbursement of expenses through the effective date of such termination, including the 
reimbursement of any prepaid expenses for periods beyond the date of termination (such as advertising).    

7. Indemnification.  Manager hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold Owner, all persons and companies affiliated 
with Owner, and all officers, shareholders, directors, employees, and agents of Owner and of any affiliated companies or 
persons (collectively, the "Indemnified Persons") harmless from any and all costs, expenses, attorneys' fees, suits, 
liabilities, judgments, damages, and claims in connection with the management of the Property and operations thereon 
(including the loss of use thereof following any damage, injury, or destruction), arising from any cause or matter 
whatsoever, including without limitation, any environmental condition or matter caused by Manager’s operation of the 
Property, except to the extent attributable to the willful misconduct or negligence on the part of the Indemnified Persons.

8. Assignment. Manager shall not assign this Agreement, or any portion hereof of the duties hereunder, to any party 
without the consent of Owner.

9. Standard for Property Manager's Responsibility. Manager agrees that it will perform its obligations hereunder 
according to industry standards, in good faith, and in a commercially-reasonable manner.  

10. Estoppel Certificate.  Each of Owner and Manager agree to execute and deliver to each other, from time to time, within 
ten (10) business days after the requesting party's request, a statement in writing certifying, to the extent true, that this 
Agreement is in full force and effect, and to such parties’ knowledge there are no uncured defaults (or specifying such 
defaults if they are claimed) and any such other matters as may be reasonably requested by such requesting party

11. Term, Scope. Subject to the provisions hereof, this Agreement shall have an initial term (such term, as extended or 
renewed in accordance with the provisions hereof, being called the "Term") commencing on the date hereof (the 
"Commencement Date") and ending on the later of (i) the last day of the 300th calendar month next following the date 
hereof, or (ii) the maturity date, repayment, or prepayment of the relevant loan under the applicable Loan Documents 
(the "Expiration Date"); provided however, the parties shall have the right upon mutual agreement to terminate this 
Agreement with respect to any individual Property no longer subject to the Loan Documents (for instance due to a 
significant casualty or condemnation of such Property).



12. Headings. The headings contained herein are for convenience of reference only and are not intended to define, limit, or 
describe the scope or intent of any provision of this Agreement.

13. Governing Law. The validity of this Agreement, the construction of its terms, and the interpretation of the rights and 
duties of the parties shall be governed by the internal laws of the State of Nevada

14. Notices. Any notice required or permitted herein shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered or mailed first 
class postage prepaid or delivered by an overnight delivery service to the respective addresses of the parties set forth 
above on the first page of this Agreement, or to such other address as any party may give  to the other in writing.  Any 
notice required by this Agreement will be deemed to have been given when personally served or one day after delivery 
to an overnight delivery service or five days after deposit in the first class mail. Any notice to Owner shall be to 207 E 
Clarendon, Phoenix, AZ  85012. Any notice to Manager shall be c/o U-Haul International, Inc., 2721 North Central 
Avenue, Phoenix, AZ 85004, Attn:  Legal Dept.

15. Severability. Should any term or provision hereof be deemed invalid, void, or unenforceable either in its entirety or in a 
particular application, the remainder of this Agreement shall nonetheless remain in full force and effect and, if the 
subject term or provision is deemed to be invalid, void or unenforceable only with respect to a particular application, 
such term or provision shall remain in full force and effect with respect to all other applications.

16. Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective parties hereto and their 
permitted assigns and successors in interest.

17. Attorneys' Fees. In any dispute arising under this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the 
other party all costs including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees and costs. 

18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned execute this Property Management Agreement as of the date set forth above.
 
Owner:
Mercury Storage 2, LLC, 
a Nevada limited liability company  

 
By: _______________________________________

Stuart M. Shoen, Vice President 

 
 
Manager:
 
U-Haul Co. of Alabama, Inc., an Alabama corporation
U-Haul Co. of Arizona, an Arizona corporation
U-Haul Co. of Colorado, a Colorado corporation
U-Haul Co. of Florida, a Florida corporation
U-Haul Co. of Georgia, a Georgia corporation
U-Haul Co. of Minnesota, a Minnesota corporation
U-Haul Co. of Massachusetts and Ohio, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation
U-Haul Co. of Texas, a Texas corporation
U-Haul Co. of Virginia, a Virginia corporation
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________

Wesley Chadwick, Assistant Secretary
 

 
 

 
 
 



Exhibit A
List of Properties

 
Center # Street City State Zip
762077 523 Hamric Dr W Oxford AL 36203
822025 20618 North Cave Creek Rd Phoenix AZ 85024
937024 2122 Hwy 69 Prescott AZ 86301
762025 750 South Buckley Road Aurora CO 80017
786042 3939 W Gandy Boulevard Tampa FL 33611
784052 11490 San Jose Boulevard Jacksonville FL 32223
785027 600 South Kirkman Road Orlando FL 32811
763025 7242 Hwy 85 Riverdale GA 30274
879034 1150 Dogwood Dr SE Conyers GA 30012
726051 6895 - 151St Street W Apple Valley MN 55124
928075 3850 Cleveland Avenue Columbus OH 43224
746044 20435 Katy Freeway Katy TX 77450
756028 3501 E Central Tx Expwy Killeen TX 76543
795048 10480 Dumfries Road Manassas VA 20110

 
The Property shall automatically include, without any further action necessary under this Agreement, any After Acquired Adjacent 
Property and After Acquired Leasehold Property as defined in the Loan Documents.  



PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is entered into as of February 14, 2024 by and among 
Mercury Storage 3, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Owner"), and the subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc. set forth on 
the signature block hereto (each a “Manager” and collectively "Managers").

RECITALS
A. Owner holds the leasehold interest in the real property and all improvements thereon and appurtenances thereto located at the street 

addresses identified on Exhibit A hereto (hereinafter, collectively the “Property”).
 

B. Owner intends that the Property be rented on a space-by-space retail basis to individuals, business entities, or other entities for use 
as self-storage and portable storage facilities.
 

C. Owner desires that Manager manage the Property and Manager desires to act as the property manager for the Property, all in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
 

D. The parties agree that this Agreement supersedes and replaces any other property management agreement (“Prior Agreement”) 
between the parties hereto and/or their respective predecessors in interest, as the case may be, with respect to the Property, any such Prior 
Agreement is hereby terminated as of the date hereof.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows.
 

1. Employment.

a. Owner hereby retains Manager, and Manager agrees to act as manager of the Property upon the terms and 
conditions hereinafter set forth. 

b. Owner acknowledges that Manager, and/or Manager affiliates, is in the business of managing self-storage and 
portable-storage facilities and businesses conducted thereat, including, but not limited to, the sale of packing 
supplies and rental of trucks and equipment, both for its own account and for the account of others.  It is hereby 
expressly agreed that notwithstanding this Agreement, Manager and such affiliates may continue to engage in such 
activities, may manage facilities other than those presently managed by Manager and its affiliates (whether or not 
such other facilities may be in direct or indirect competition with Owner), and may in the future engage in other 
business which may compete directly or indirectly with activities of Owner.  

c. In the performance of its duties under this Agreement, Manager shall occupy the position of an independent 
contractor with respect to Owner.  Nothing contained herein shall be construed as making the parties hereto (or 
any of them) partners or co-parties to a joint venture, nor construed as making Manager an employee of Owner.



2. Duties and Authority of Manager. Manager shall have the following duties and authority, subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, on behalf of and as agent of the Owner:

 

a. General Duties and Authority.  Manager shall have the sole and exclusive duty and authority to fully manage the 
Property and supervise and direct the business and affairs associated or related to the daily operation thereof, to 
collect on behalf of Owner all revenues related to the Property, to pay on behalf of Owner all expenses of the 
Property, and to execute on behalf of Owner such documents and instruments as, in the sole judgment of Manager, 
are reasonably necessary or advisable under the circumstances in order to fulfill Manager's duties hereunder.  Such 
duties and authority shall include, without limitation, those set forth below. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any 
other term or provision herein, upon notice to Manager, Owner shall have the right to assume responsibility for the 
direct payment of certain expenses of Owner, as may be determined by Owner.  In such event, Owner shall 
provide an accounting of such costs to Manager.  In the event Owner fails to provide such accounting to Manager, 
Manager shall assume no liability for nonpayment for such expenses so assumed by Owner. The parties 
acknowledge and agree that Owner will retain title to, ownership of, and exclusive right to control the Property, 
subject to the terms of this Agreement, and that portion of the Gross Revenue (as hereinafter defined) owned by 
Owner (“Owner’s Revenue”); and that Manager will not acquire title to, any interest in, or any income or revenues 
from the Property or Owner’s Revenue. For purposes of this Agreement, Owner’s Revenue consists of the revenue 
from portable and self-storage operations (excluding U-Box delivery fees), retail sales, miscellaneous income and 
the commissions (“U-Move Commissions”) paid to Owner pursuant to the terms of that Dealership Contract 
between Owner and Manager dated as of the date hereof (the “Dealer Contract”), in each case with respect to the 
Property. In performing its services and making any payments hereunder, Manager will make known to third 
parties that Manager is acting solely as the agent of Owner. Under no circumstances will Manager represent or 
hold itself out to any third party as having any title to or property interest in the Property or Owner’s Revenue.  
Manager shall perform all of its obligations under this Agreement in a professional manner consistent with the 
standards it employs at all of its managed locations.

b. Renting of the Property.  Manager shall establish policies and procedures for the marketing activities for the 
Property, and shall advertise the Property through such media as Manager deems advisable. Manager's marketing 
activities for the Property shall be consistent with the scope and quality implemented by Manager and its affiliates 
at any other properties operated by Manager or its affiliates.  Manager shall have the sole discretion, which 
discretion shall be exercised in good faith, to establish the terms and conditions of occupancy by the tenants of the 
Property, and Manager is hereby authorized to enter into rental agreements on behalf and for the account of Owner 
with such tenants and to collect rent from such tenants on behalf and for the account of Owner. Manager may 
jointly advertise the Property with other properties owned or managed by Manager or its affiliates, and in that 
event, Manager shall reasonably allocate the cost of such advertising among such properties.

c. Repair, Maintenance, and Improvements. Manager shall make, execute, supervise, and have control over the 
making and executing of all decisions concerning the acquisition of furniture, fixtures, and supplies for the 
Property, and may purchase, lease, or otherwise acquire the same and which items shall be owned by Manager. 
Manager shall make and execute, or supervise and have control over the making and executing, of all decisions 
concerning the maintenance, repair, and landscaping of the Property, provided, however, that such maintenance, 
repair, and landscaping shall be consistent with that of other properties operated by Manager or its 



affiliates.  Manager shall, on behalf of Owner, negotiate and contract for and supervise the installation of all 
capital improvements related to the Property; provided, however, that Manager agrees to secure the prior written 
approval of Owner on all such expenditures in excess of $10,000.00 for any one item, except monthly or recurring 
operating charges and/or emergency repairs if in the opinion of Manager such emergency repairs are necessary to 
protect the Property from damage or to maintain services to the Owner or any customers.  In the event such 
emergency repairs exceed $10,000, Manager shall notify Owner and the insurer as applicable of the cost estimate 
for such work.

d. Personnel. Manager shall select all vendors, suppliers, contractors, subcontractors, and employees with respect to 
the Property and shall hire, discharge, and supervise all labor and employees required for the operation and 
maintenance of the Property.  Any employees so hired shall be employees of Manager, and shall be carried on the 
payroll of Manager. Employees may include, but need not be limited to, on-site resident managers, on-site 
assistant managers, and relief managers located, rendering services, or performing activities on the Property in 
connection with its operation and management.  The cost of employing such persons shall not exceed prevailing 
rates for comparable persons performing the same or similar services with respect to real estate similar to the 
Property in the general vicinity of each respective Property. Manager shall be responsible for all legal and 
insurance requirements relating to its employees.

e. Service Agreements.  Manager shall negotiate and execute on behalf of Owner such agreements which Manager 
deems necessary or advisable for the furnishing of utilities, services, concessions, and supplies, for the 
maintenance, repair, and operation of the Property and such other agreements which may benefit the Property or 
be incidental to the matters for which Manager is responsible hereunder.

f. Other Decisions.  Manager shall make the decisions in connection with the day-to-day operations of the Property.

g. Regulations and Permits. Manager shall comply in all respects with any statute, ordinance, law, rule, regulation, or 
order of any governmental or regulatory body pertaining to the Property (collectively, "Laws"), respecting the use 
of the Property or the maintenance or operation thereof, the non-compliance with which could reasonably be 
expected to have a material adverse effect on Owner or any Property. Manager shall apply for and obtain and 
maintain, on behalf of Owner, all licenses and permits required or advisable (in the reasonable judgment of 
Manager) in connection with the management and operation of the Property. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Manager shall be permitted to contest any Applicable Laws to the extent and pursuant to the same conditions that 
Owner is permitted to contest any Laws. To the extent that Manager does not comply, Manager will be responsible 
for the costs and penalties incurred as a result of the non-compliance.

h. Records and Reports of Disbursements and Collections. Manager shall establish, supervise, direct, and maintain 
the operation of a system of cash record keeping and bookkeeping with respect to all receipts and disbursements 
and all business activities and operations conducted by Manager in connection with the management and 
operation of the Property. Manager shall be responsible for cash shortages and discrepancies incurred in the 
normal course of management operations. The books, records, and accounts shall be maintained at the Manager's 
office or at Owner's office, or at such other location as Manager and Owner shall determine, and shall be available 
and open to examination and audit quarterly by Owner, its representatives, its lender, if any (“Lender”) or such 
Lender’s representative.  Manager shall cause to be prepared and delivered to Owner a monthly statement on a 
per-Property basis of receipts, expenses, and 



charges, and any other information as reasonably required by Owner to prepare its financial statements, together 
with a statement on a per-Property basis of the disbursements made by Manager during such period on Owner's 
behalf, which shall include separate lines for prepaid items and inventory. Manager shall provide Owner with rent 
rolls and occupancy reports if requested.

i. Collection.  Manager shall be responsible for the billing and collection of all receipts and for payment of all 
expenses with respect to the Property and shall be responsible for establishing policies and procedures to 
minimize the amount of bad debts. Bad debt incurred as a result of non-compliance with management policies and 
procedures (such as improper verifications or acceptance of bad credit cards or bad checks) will be the 
responsibility of Manager.  

j. Legal Actions. Manager shall cause to be instituted, on behalf and in its name or in the name of Owner as 
appropriate, any and all legal actions or proceedings Manager deems necessary or advisable in connection with the 
Property, including without limitation, to collect charges, rent, or other income due to Owner with respect to the 
Property and to oust or dispossess tenants where appropriate or other persons unlawfully in possession under any 
lease, license, concession agreement, or otherwise, and to collect damages for breach thereof or default thereunder 
by such Owner, licensee, concessionaire, or occupant.

k. Insurance.  Manager will insure, on its Master Policy, against all liabilities at the Property at Manager’s sole cost 
and expense (“General Liability Insurance”). Any deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the 
General Liability Insurance shall be at Manager’s (or Manager’s U-Haul affiliates’) responsibility and sole cost 
and expense. Manager will insure equipment at Manager’s cost, as determined by Manager. If requested by 
Owner, Manager will obtain for Owner, at Owner’s sole cost and expense, a policy of property insurance 
(“Property and Casualty Insurance”). Any such Property & Casualty Insurance shall meet Lender’s required 
coverage, to include earthquake, flood, and other Lender requirements, as the case may be, and shall be the cost of 
Owner.  

l. Taxes.  During the term of this Agreement, Manager shall pay on behalf of Owner, prior to delinquency, real estate 
taxes, personal property taxes, and other taxes assessed to or levied upon the Property, but only in the event 
requested by Owner. If requested, Manager will charge to Owner an expense monthly equal to 1/12 of annual real 
property taxes.

m. Limitations on Manager Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 2, Manager 
shall not, without obtaining the prior written consent of Owner, (i) rent storage space in the Property by written 
lease or agreement for a stated term in excess of one year unless such lease or agreement is terminable by the 
giving of not more than thirty (30) days’ written notice, (ii) alter the building or other structures of the Property in 
violation of loan documents executed by Owner in connection with the Property (“Loan Documents”); (iii) enter 
on behalf of Owner any other agreements which exceed a term of one year and are not terminable on thirty (30) 
days’ notice at the will of Owner, without penalty, payment, or surcharge; (iv) act in violation of any Law, (v) 
violate any term or condition of the Loan Documents; (vi) fail to correct any misunderstanding of any third party 
of which Manager becomes aware as to the separateness of Owner and Manager; or (vii) exercise any authority to 
act on behalf of Owner, or hold itself out has having such authority, beyond the actual scope of authority granted 
by Owner.  

n. Shared Expenses. Owner acknowledges that certain economies may be achieved with respect to certain expenses 
to be incurred by Manager on behalf of Owner hereunder if materials, supplies, insurance, or services are 
purchased by Manager in quantity for use not only in connection with Owner's business at the Property but in 
connection with other properties owned or managed by 



Manager or its affiliates. Manager shall have the right to purchase such materials, supplies, insurance (subject to 
the terms of this Agreement), and/or services in its own name and charge Owner a pro rata allocable share of the 
cost of the foregoing; provided, however, that the pro rata cost of such purchase to Owner shall not result in 
expenses that are either inconsistent with the expenses of other "U-Haul branded" locations in the general vicinity 
of the applicable Property or greater than would otherwise be incurred at competitive prices and terms available in 
the area where the Property is located; and provided further, Manager shall give Owner access to records (at no 
cost to Owner) so Owner may review any such expenses incurred.

o. Deposit of Gross Revenues. All revenue from operations at the Property (“Gross Revenue”) shall be deposited 
daily by Manager into (i) a bank account that has been established for the benefit of Owner (the “Deposit 
Account”) and maintained by Manager (or its parent company); or (ii) a collective bank account (the “Collective 
Account”) maintained by Manager (or its parent company) for the benefit of multiple property owners.  In either 
case, although the account may be in Owner’s name, Owner’s right to the proceeds therein only extends to 
Owner’s Revenue.  Within 3 business days after receipt, Manager shall transfer Owner’s Revenue in the Deposit 
Account or Collective Account, as the case may be, to Owner’s separately identified depositary account pledged to 
Lender (“Blocked Account”). To the extent that Gross Revenue is deposited into a Collective Account, Manager 
(or its parent company) shall on a daily basis reconcile such Collective Account and maintain such records as shall 
clearly identify the respective interest of each property owner in such account.  Manager shall not, and shall not 
permit any other property owner or any affiliate of Manager to, borrow, lend, or use Owner’s Revenue prior to the 
deposit of such revenue into the Blocked Account. The payment of Owner’s U-Move Commissions shall be 
governed by the terms of the Dealer Contract. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to limit Owner’s access 
to Owner’s Revenue.  All funds shall be deposited and applied as required pursuant to Owner’s loan documents 
with Lender.  

p. Obligations under Loan Documents and other Material Contracts. Manager shall take such actions as are 
necessary or appropriate under the circumstances to ensure, to the extent Manager is privy to the information, that 
Owner is in compliance with the terms of the Loan Documents and any other material agreement relating to the 
Property to which Owner is a party and for which Manager is privy to the information.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to obligate Manager to fund from its own resources any 
payments owed by Owner under the Loan Documents or otherwise be deemed to make Manager a direct obligor 
under the Loan Documents.

q. Segregation. Owner and Manager shall maintain the Property and Owner’s Revenue in such a manner that it is not 
costly or difficult to segregate, ascertain, or identify Owner’s individual assets from those of Manager or any other 
person.   

3. Duties of Owner. Owner shall cooperate with Manager in the performance of Manager's duties under this Agreement 
and to that end, upon the request of Manager, shall provide, at such rental charges as are deemed appropriate, reasonable 
office space for Manager employees on the premises of the Property (to the extent available). Owner shall not 
unreasonably withhold or delay any consent or authorization to Manager required or appropriate under this Agreement. 
Owner shall provide Manager with copies of all Loan Documents and any amendments thereto.

4. Compensation of Manager.

a. Reimbursement of Expenses.  Manager shall be entitled to request and receive timely reimbursement for all timely 
authorized out-of-pocket reasonable and customary expenses (“Expenses”) actually incurred by Manager in the 
discharge of its duties hereunder.  Such 



expense reimbursement shall be due by the last business day of each month, for all expenses billed during such 
month, unless a written request is received by Manager detailing a legitimate dispute as to a billed amount.   Such 
reimbursement shall be the obligation of Owner, whether or not Owner’s Revenues are sufficient to pay such 
amounts.  

b. Management Fee.  Owner shall pay to Manager as the full amount due for the services herein provided a monthly 
fee (the “Property Management Fee”) which shall be six percent (6%) of the Property’s current month Owner’s 
Revenue, as determined on a cash basis.  The Property Management Fee payment shall be included with the 
reimbursement of Expenses pursuant to Section 4(a) above, for the same month.  The invoice for the management 
fees shall be itemized and shall include reasonable detail to explain the expenses incurred. It is further understood 
and agreed that, except as provided in this Section 4, Manager shall not be entitled to additional compensation of 
any kind in connection with its performance of its duties under this Agreement.

c. Inspection of Books and Records.  Owner shall have the right, upon prior reasonable notice to Manager, to inspect 
Manager's books and records with respect to the Property, to assure that proper fees and charges are assessed 
hereunder. Manager shall cooperate with any such inspection.  Owner shall bear the cost of any such inspection; 
provided, however, that if it is clearly demonstrated that Manager has overcharged Owner by more than 5% in any 
given quarter and such overcharge was not caused in whole or part by Owner, the cost of such inspection shall be 
borne by Manager. Manager shall promptly reimburse Owner for any overpayment.

5. Use of Trademarks, Service Marks, and Related Items. Owner acknowledges the significant value of the "U-Haul" 
name in the operations of Owner's property, and it is therefore understood and agreed that the name, trademark, and 
service mark "U-Haul", and related marks, slogans, caricatures, designs, and other trade or service items (the "Manager 
Trade Marks") shall be utilized for the non-exclusive benefit of Owner in the rental and operation of the Property, and in 
comparable operations elsewhere.  It is further understood and agreed that the Manager Trade Marks shall remain and be 
at all times the property of Manager or its affiliates, and that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Owner 
shall have no right whatsoever therein.  Owner agrees that during the term of this Agreement the sign faces at the 
property will have the name "U-Haul." Upon termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, all such use by 
and for the benefit of Owner of any such Manager Trade Marks in connection with the Property shall be terminated and 
any signs bearing any of the foregoing shall be removed from view and no longer used by Owner.  In addition, upon 
termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, Owner shall not enter into any new leases of Property using 
the Manager lease form or use other forms prepared by Manager.  It is understood and agreed that Manager will use and 
shall be unrestricted in its use of such Manager Trade Marks in the management and operation of other storage facilities 
both during and after the expiration or termination of the term of this Agreement.

6. Default; Termination.  

a. Any material failure by Manager or Owner (a "Defaulting Party") to perform its respective duties or obligations 
hereunder (other than a default by Owner under Section 4 of this Agreement), which material failure is not cured 
within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from the non-defaulting party, shall 
constitute an event of default hereunder; provided, however, the foregoing shall not constitute an event of default 
hereunder in the event the Defaulting Party commences cure of such material failure within such thirty (30) day 
period and diligently prosecutes the cure of such material failure thereafter but in no event shall such extended 
cure period exceed ninety (90) days from the date of receipt by the non-defaulting party of written notice of such 
material default; provided further, however, that in the event such 



material failure constitutes a default under the terms of the Loan Documents and the cure period for such matter 
under the Loan Documents is shorter than the cure period specified herein, the cure period specified herein shall 
automatically shorten such that it shall match the cure period for such matter as specified under the Loan 
Documents. In addition, following notice to Manager of the existence of any such material failure by Manager, 
Owner shall have the right to cure any such material failure by Manager, and any sums so expended in curing shall 
be owed by Manager to such curing party and may be offset against any sums owed to Manager under this 
Agreement.

b. Any material failure by Owner to perform its duties or obligations under Section 4, which material failure is not 
cured within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from Manager, shall constitute an 
event of default hereunder.  

c. Subject to the terms of the Loan Documents, either party hereto shall have the right to terminate this Agreement, 
with or without cause, by giving not less than ninety (90) days' written notice to the other party hereto,  pursuant 
to Section 14 hereof.   

d. Upon termination of this Agreement, (i) Manager shall promptly return to Owner all monies, books, records, and 
other materials held by Manager for or on behalf of Owner and shall otherwise cooperate with Owner to promote 
and ensure a smooth transition to the new manager, and (ii) Manager shall be entitled to receive its Property 
Management Fee and reimbursement of expenses through the effective date of such termination, including the 
reimbursement of any prepaid expenses for periods beyond the date of termination (such as advertising).    

7. Indemnification.  Manager hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold Owner, all persons and companies affiliated 
with Owner, and all officers, shareholders, directors, employees, and agents of Owner and of any affiliated companies or 
persons (collectively, the "Indemnified Persons") harmless from any and all costs, expenses, attorneys' fees, suits, 
liabilities, judgments, damages, and claims in connection with the management of the Property and operations thereon 
(including the loss of use thereof following any damage, injury, or destruction), arising from any cause or matter 
whatsoever, including without limitation, any environmental condition or matter caused by Manager’s operation of the 
Property, except to the extent attributable to the willful misconduct or negligence on the part of the Indemnified Persons.

8. Assignment. Manager shall not assign this Agreement, or any portion hereof of the duties hereunder, to any party 
without the consent of Owner.

9. Standard for Property Manager's Responsibility. Manager agrees that it will perform its obligations hereunder 
according to industry standards, in good faith, and in a commercially-reasonable manner.  

10. Estoppel Certificate.  Each of Owner and Manager agree to execute and deliver to each other, from time to time, within 
ten (10) business days after the requesting party's request, a statement in writing certifying, to the extent true, that this 
Agreement is in full force and effect, and to such parties’ knowledge there are no uncured defaults (or specifying such 
defaults if they are claimed) and any such other matters as may be reasonably requested by such requesting party

11. Term, Scope. Subject to the provisions hereof, this Agreement shall have an initial term (such term, as extended or 
renewed in accordance with the provisions hereof, being called the "Term") commencing on the date hereof (the 
"Commencement Date") and ending on the later of (i) the last day of the 300th calendar month next following the date 
hereof, or (ii) the maturity date, repayment, or prepayment of the relevant loan under the applicable Loan Documents 
(the "Expiration Date"); provided however, the parties shall have the right upon mutual agreement to terminate this 
Agreement with respect to any individual Property no longer subject to the Loan Documents (for instance due to a 
significant casualty or condemnation of such Property).



12. Headings. The headings contained herein are for convenience of reference only and are not intended to define, limit, or 
describe the scope or intent of any provision of this Agreement.

13. Governing Law. The validity of this Agreement, the construction of its terms, and the interpretation of the rights and 
duties of the parties shall be governed by the internal laws of the State of Nevada

14. Notices. Any notice required or permitted herein shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered or mailed first 
class postage prepaid or delivered by an overnight delivery service to the respective addresses of the parties set forth 
above on the first page of this Agreement, or to such other address as any party may give  to the other in writing.  Any 
notice required by this Agreement will be deemed to have been given when personally served or one day after delivery 
to an overnight delivery service or five days after deposit in the first class mail. Any notice to Owner shall be to 207 E 
Clarendon, Phoenix, AZ  85012. Any notice to Manager shall be c/o U-Haul International, Inc., 2721 North Central 
Avenue, Phoenix, AZ 85004, Attn:  Legal Dept.

15. Severability. Should any term or provision hereof be deemed invalid, void, or unenforceable either in its entirety or in a 
particular application, the remainder of this Agreement shall nonetheless remain in full force and effect and, if the 
subject term or provision is deemed to be invalid, void or unenforceable only with respect to a particular application, 
such term or provision shall remain in full force and effect with respect to all other applications.

16. Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective parties hereto and their 
permitted assigns and successors in interest.

17. Attorneys' Fees. In any dispute arising under this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the 
other party all costs including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees and costs. 

18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned execute this Property Management Agreement as of the date set forth above.
 
Owner:
Mercury Storage 3, LLC, 
a Nevada limited liability company  

 
By: _______________________________________

Stuart M. Shoen, Vice President 

 
 
Manager:
 
U-Haul Co. of Arizona, an Arizona corporation
U-Haul Co. of Colorado, a Colorado corporation
U-Haul Co. of Florida, a Florida corporation
U-Haul Co. of Georgia, a Georgia corporation
U-Haul Co. of Illinois, Inc., an Illinois corporation
U-Haul Co. of Louisiana, a Louisiana corporation
U-Haul Company of Missouri, a Missouri corporation
U-Haul Co. of Nevada, Inc., a Nevada corporation
U-Haul Co. of Tennessee, a Tennessee corporation
U-Haul Co. of Texas, a Texas corporation
U-Haul Co. of Virginia, a Virginia corporation
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________

Wesley Chadwick, Assistant Secretary
 

 
 

 
 
 



Exhibit A
List of Properties

 
Center # Street City State Zip

822083 9264 Technology Drive Fountain Hills AZ 85268
858047 8746 West Bell Peoria AZ 85382
862036 15250 East 40Th Ave Denver CO 80239
956038 13301 S Orng Blsm Trl Orlando FL 32837
863026 1290 Pleasant Hill Road Lawrenceville GA 30244
739050 4504 W Northwest Hwy Crystal Lake IL 60014
856031 195 S Route 59 Aurora IL 60504
743057 4100 Barksdale Boulevard #108 Bossier City LA 71112
875051 3990 N Service Road Saint Peters MO 63301
838068 2450 North Rainbow Boulevard Las Vegas NV 89108
938057 1691 Mallory Ln (1691 Moores Ct) Brentwood TN 37027
733027 1501 North Dallas Parkway Plano TX 75903
745043 351 Gulf Freeway South League City TX 77573
946051 8207 Terminal Road Lorton VA 22079

 
The Property shall automatically include, without any further action necessary under this Agreement, any After Acquired Adjacent 
Property and After Acquired Leasehold Property as defined in the Loan Documents.  



PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is entered into as of February 16, 2024 by and among 
Mercury Storage 4, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Owner"), and the subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc. set forth on 
the signature block hereto (each a “Manager” and collectively "Managers").

RECITALS

A. Owner holds the leasehold interest in the real property and all improvements thereon and appurtenances thereto located at the street 
addresses identified on Exhibit A hereto (hereinafter, collectively the “Property”).
 

B. Owner intends that the Property be rented on a space-by-space retail basis to individuals, business entities, or other entities for use 
as self-storage and portable storage facilities.
 

C. Owner desires that Manager manage the Property and Manager desires to act as the property manager for the Property, all in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
 

D. The parties agree that this Agreement supersedes and replaces any other property management agreement (“Prior Agreement”) 
between the parties hereto and/or their respective predecessors in interest, as the case may be, with respect to the Property, any such Prior 
Agreement is hereby terminated as of the date hereof.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows.
 

1. Employment.

a. Owner hereby retains Manager, and Manager agrees to act as manager of the Property upon the terms and 
conditions hereinafter set forth. 

b. Owner acknowledges that Manager, and/or Manager affiliates, is in the business of managing self-storage and 
portable-storage facilities and businesses conducted thereat, including, but not limited to, the sale of packing 
supplies and rental of trucks and equipment, both for its own account and for the account of others.  It is hereby 
expressly agreed that notwithstanding this Agreement, Manager and such affiliates may continue to engage in such 
activities, may manage facilities other than those presently managed by Manager and its affiliates (whether or not 
such other facilities may be in direct or indirect competition with Owner), and may in the future engage in other 
business which may compete directly or indirectly with activities of Owner.  

c. In the performance of its duties under this Agreement, Manager shall occupy the position of an independent 
contractor with respect to Owner.  Nothing contained herein shall be construed as making the parties hereto (or 
any of them) partners or co-parties to a joint venture, nor construed as making Manager an employee of Owner.



2. Duties and Authority of Manager. Manager shall have the following duties and authority, subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, on behalf of and as agent of the Owner:

 

a. General Duties and Authority.  Manager shall have the sole and exclusive duty and authority to fully manage the 
Property and supervise and direct the business and affairs associated or related to the daily operation thereof, to 
collect on behalf of Owner all revenues related to the Property, to pay on behalf of Owner all expenses of the 
Property, and to execute on behalf of Owner such documents and instruments as, in the sole judgment of Manager, 
are reasonably necessary or advisable under the circumstances in order to fulfill Manager's duties hereunder.  Such 
duties and authority shall include, without limitation, those set forth below. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any 
other term or provision herein, upon notice to Manager, Owner shall have the right to assume responsibility for the 
direct payment of certain expenses of Owner, as may be determined by Owner.  In such event, Owner shall 
provide an accounting of such costs to Manager.  In the event Owner fails to provide such accounting to Manager, 
Manager shall assume no liability for nonpayment for such expenses so assumed by Owner. The parties 
acknowledge and agree that Owner will retain title to, ownership of, and exclusive right to control the Property, 
subject to the terms of this Agreement, and that portion of the Gross Revenue (as hereinafter defined) owned by 
Owner (“Owner’s Revenue”); and that Manager will not acquire title to, any interest in, or any income or revenues 
from the Property or Owner’s Revenue. For purposes of this Agreement, Owner’s Revenue consists of the revenue 
from portable and self-storage operations (excluding U-Box delivery fees), retail sales, miscellaneous income and 
the commissions (“U-Move Commissions”) paid to Owner pursuant to the terms of that Dealership Contract 
between Owner and Manager dated as of the date hereof (the “Dealer Contract”), in each case with respect to the 
Property. In performing its services and making any payments hereunder, Manager will make known to third 
parties that Manager is acting solely as the agent of Owner. Under no circumstances will Manager represent or 
hold itself out to any third party as having any title to or property interest in the Property or Owner’s Revenue.  
Manager shall perform all of its obligations under this Agreement in a professional manner consistent with the 
standards it employs at all of its managed locations.

b. Renting of the Property.  Manager shall establish policies and procedures for the marketing activities for the 
Property, and shall advertise the Property through such media as Manager deems advisable. Manager's marketing 
activities for the Property shall be consistent with the scope and quality implemented by Manager and its affiliates 
at any other properties operated by Manager or its affiliates.  Manager shall have the sole discretion, which 
discretion shall be exercised in good faith, to establish the terms and conditions of occupancy by the tenants of the 
Property, and Manager is hereby authorized to enter into rental agreements on behalf and for the account of Owner 
with such tenants and to collect rent from such tenants on behalf and for the account of Owner. Manager may 
jointly advertise the Property with other properties owned or managed by Manager or its affiliates, and in that 
event, Manager shall reasonably allocate the cost of such advertising among such properties.

c. Repair, Maintenance, and Improvements. Manager shall make, execute, supervise, and have control over the 
making and executing of all decisions concerning the acquisition of furniture, fixtures, and supplies for the 
Property, and may purchase, lease, or otherwise acquire the same and which items shall be owned by Manager. 
Manager shall make and execute, or supervise and have control over the making and executing, of all decisions 
concerning the maintenance, repair, and landscaping of the Property, provided, however, that such maintenance, 
repair, and landscaping shall be consistent with that of other properties operated by Manager or its 



affiliates.  Manager shall, on behalf of Owner, negotiate and contract for and supervise the installation of all 
capital improvements related to the Property; provided, however, that Manager agrees to secure the prior written 
approval of Owner on all such expenditures in excess of $10,000.00 for any one item, except monthly or recurring 
operating charges and/or emergency repairs if in the opinion of Manager such emergency repairs are necessary to 
protect the Property from damage or to maintain services to the Owner or any customers.  In the event such 
emergency repairs exceed $10,000, Manager shall notify Owner and the insurer as applicable of the cost estimate 
for such work.

d. Personnel. Manager shall select all vendors, suppliers, contractors, subcontractors, and employees with respect to 
the Property and shall hire, discharge, and supervise all labor and employees required for the operation and 
maintenance of the Property.  Any employees so hired shall be employees of Manager, and shall be carried on the 
payroll of Manager. Employees may include, but need not be limited to, on-site resident managers, on-site 
assistant managers, and relief managers located, rendering services, or performing activities on the Property in 
connection with its operation and management.  The cost of employing such persons shall not exceed prevailing 
rates for comparable persons performing the same or similar services with respect to real estate similar to the 
Property in the general vicinity of each respective Property. Manager shall be responsible for all legal and 
insurance requirements relating to its employees.

e. Service Agreements.  Manager shall negotiate and execute on behalf of Owner such agreements which Manager 
deems necessary or advisable for the furnishing of utilities, services, concessions, and supplies, for the 
maintenance, repair, and operation of the Property and such other agreements which may benefit the Property or 
be incidental to the matters for which Manager is responsible hereunder.

f. Other Decisions.  Manager shall make the decisions in connection with the day-to-day operations of the Property.

g. Regulations and Permits. Manager shall comply in all respects with any statute, ordinance, law, rule, regulation, or 
order of any governmental or regulatory body pertaining to the Property (collectively, "Laws"), respecting the use 
of the Property or the maintenance or operation thereof, the non-compliance with which could reasonably be 
expected to have a material adverse effect on Owner or any Property. Manager shall apply for and obtain and 
maintain, on behalf of Owner, all licenses and permits required or advisable (in the reasonable judgment of 
Manager) in connection with the management and operation of the Property. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Manager shall be permitted to contest any Applicable Laws to the extent and pursuant to the same conditions that 
Owner is permitted to contest any Laws. To the extent that Manager does not comply, Manager will be responsible 
for the costs and penalties incurred as a result of the non-compliance.

h. Records and Reports of Disbursements and Collections. Manager shall establish, supervise, direct, and maintain 
the operation of a system of cash record keeping and bookkeeping with respect to all receipts and disbursements 
and all business activities and operations conducted by Manager in connection with the management and 
operation of the Property. Manager shall be responsible for cash shortages and discrepancies incurred in the 
normal course of management operations. The books, records, and accounts shall be maintained at the Manager's 
office or at Owner's office, or at such other location as Manager and Owner shall determine, and shall be available 
and open to examination and audit quarterly by Owner, its representatives, its lender, if any (“Lender”) or such 
Lender’s representative.  Manager shall cause to be prepared and delivered to Owner a monthly statement on a 
per-Property basis of receipts, expenses, and 



charges, and any other information as reasonably required by Owner to prepare its financial statements, together 
with a statement on a per-Property basis of the disbursements made by Manager during such period on Owner's 
behalf, which shall include separate lines for prepaid items and inventory. Manager shall provide Owner with rent 
rolls and occupancy reports if requested.

i. Collection.  Manager shall be responsible for the billing and collection of all receipts and for payment of all 
expenses with respect to the Property and shall be responsible for establishing policies and procedures to 
minimize the amount of bad debts. Bad debt incurred as a result of non-compliance with management policies and 
procedures (such as improper verifications or acceptance of bad credit cards or bad checks) will be the 
responsibility of Manager.  

j. Legal Actions. Manager shall cause to be instituted, on behalf and in its name or in the name of Owner as 
appropriate, any and all legal actions or proceedings Manager deems necessary or advisable in connection with the 
Property, including without limitation, to collect charges, rent, or other income due to Owner with respect to the 
Property and to oust or dispossess tenants where appropriate or other persons unlawfully in possession under any 
lease, license, concession agreement, or otherwise, and to collect damages for breach thereof or default thereunder 
by such Owner, licensee, concessionaire, or occupant.

k. Insurance.  Manager will insure, on its Master Policy, against all liabilities at the Property at Manager’s sole cost 
and expense (“General Liability Insurance”). Any deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the 
General Liability Insurance shall be at Manager’s (or Manager’s U-Haul affiliates’) responsibility and sole cost 
and expense. Manager will insure equipment at Manager’s cost, as determined by Manager. If requested by 
Owner, Manager will obtain for Owner, at Owner’s sole cost and expense, a policy of property insurance 
(“Property and Casualty Insurance”). Any such Property & Casualty Insurance shall meet Lender’s required 
coverage, to include earthquake, flood, and other Lender requirements, as the case may be, and shall be the cost of 
Owner.  

l. Taxes.  During the term of this Agreement, Manager shall pay on behalf of Owner, prior to delinquency, real estate 
taxes, personal property taxes, and other taxes assessed to or levied upon the Property, but only in the event 
requested by Owner. If requested, Manager will charge to Owner an expense monthly equal to 1/12 of annual real 
property taxes.

m. Limitations on Manager Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 2, Manager 
shall not, without obtaining the prior written consent of Owner, (i) rent storage space in the Property by written 
lease or agreement for a stated term in excess of one year unless such lease or agreement is terminable by the 
giving of not more than thirty (30) days’ written notice, (ii) alter the building or other structures of the Property in 
violation of loan documents executed by Owner in connection with the Property (“Loan Documents”); (iii) enter 
on behalf of Owner any other agreements which exceed a term of one year and are not terminable on thirty (30) 
days’ notice at the will of Owner, without penalty, payment, or surcharge; (iv) act in violation of any Law, (v) 
violate any term or condition of the Loan Documents; (vi) fail to correct any misunderstanding of any third party 
of which Manager becomes aware as to the separateness of Owner and Manager; or (vii) exercise any authority to 
act on behalf of Owner, or hold itself out has having such authority, beyond the actual scope of authority granted 
by Owner.  

n. Shared Expenses. Owner acknowledges that certain economies may be achieved with respect to certain expenses 
to be incurred by Manager on behalf of Owner hereunder if materials, supplies, insurance, or services are 
purchased by Manager in quantity for use not only in connection with Owner's business at the Property but in 
connection with other properties owned or managed by 



Manager or its affiliates. Manager shall have the right to purchase such materials, supplies, insurance (subject to 
the terms of this Agreement), and/or services in its own name and charge Owner a pro rata allocable share of the 
cost of the foregoing; provided, however, that the pro rata cost of such purchase to Owner shall not result in 
expenses that are either inconsistent with the expenses of other "U-Haul branded" locations in the general vicinity 
of the applicable Property or greater than would otherwise be incurred at competitive prices and terms available in 
the area where the Property is located; and provided further, Manager shall give Owner access to records (at no 
cost to Owner) so Owner may review any such expenses incurred.

o. Deposit of Gross Revenues. All revenue from operations at the Property (“Gross Revenue”) shall be deposited 
daily by Manager into (i) a bank account that has been established for the benefit of Owner (the “Deposit 
Account”) and maintained by Manager (or its parent company); or (ii) a collective bank account (the “Collective 
Account”) maintained by Manager (or its parent company) for the benefit of multiple property owners.  In either 
case, although the account may be in Owner’s name, Owner’s right to the proceeds therein only extends to 
Owner’s Revenue.  Within 3 business days after receipt, Manager shall transfer Owner’s Revenue in the Deposit 
Account or Collective Account, as the case may be, to Owner’s separately identified depositary account pledged to 
Lender (“Blocked Account”). To the extent that Gross Revenue is deposited into a Collective Account, Manager 
(or its parent company) shall on a daily basis reconcile such Collective Account and maintain such records as shall 
clearly identify the respective interest of each property owner in such account.  Manager shall not, and shall not 
permit any other property owner or any affiliate of Manager to, borrow, lend, or use Owner’s Revenue prior to the 
deposit of such revenue into the Blocked Account. The payment of Owner’s U-Move Commissions shall be 
governed by the terms of the Dealer Contract. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to limit Owner’s access 
to Owner’s Revenue.  All funds shall be deposited and applied as required pursuant to Owner’s loan documents 
with Lender.  

p. Obligations under Loan Documents and other Material Contracts. Manager shall take such actions as are 
necessary or appropriate under the circumstances to ensure, to the extent Manager is privy to the information, that 
Owner is in compliance with the terms of the Loan Documents and any other material agreement relating to the 
Property to which Owner is a party and for which Manager is privy to the information.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to obligate Manager to fund from its own resources any 
payments owed by Owner under the Loan Documents or otherwise be deemed to make Manager a direct obligor 
under the Loan Documents.

q. Segregation. Owner and Manager shall maintain the Property and Owner’s Revenue in such a manner that it is not 
costly or difficult to segregate, ascertain, or identify Owner’s individual assets from those of Manager or any other 
person.   

3. Duties of Owner. Owner shall cooperate with Manager in the performance of Manager's duties under this Agreement 
and to that end, upon the request of Manager, shall provide, at such rental charges as are deemed appropriate, reasonable 
office space for Manager employees on the premises of the Property (to the extent available). Owner shall not 
unreasonably withhold or delay any consent or authorization to Manager required or appropriate under this Agreement. 
Owner shall provide Manager with copies of all Loan Documents and any amendments thereto.

4. Compensation of Manager.

a. Reimbursement of Expenses.  Manager shall be entitled to request and receive timely reimbursement for all timely 
authorized out-of-pocket reasonable and customary expenses (“Expenses”) actually incurred by Manager in the 
discharge of its duties hereunder.  Such 



expense reimbursement shall be due by the last business day of each month, for all expenses billed during such 
month, unless a written request is received by Manager detailing a legitimate dispute as to a billed amount.   Such 
reimbursement shall be the obligation of Owner, whether or not Owner’s Revenues are sufficient to pay such 
amounts.  

b. Management Fee.  Owner shall pay to Manager as the full amount due for the services herein provided a monthly 
fee (the “Property Management Fee”) which shall be six percent (6%) of the Property’s current month Owner’s 
Revenue, as determined on a cash basis.  The Property Management Fee payment shall be included with the 
reimbursement of Expenses pursuant to Section 4(a) above, for the same month.  The invoice for the management 
fees shall be itemized and shall include reasonable detail to explain the expenses incurred. It is further understood 
and agreed that, except as provided in this Section 4, Manager shall not be entitled to additional compensation of 
any kind in connection with its performance of its duties under this Agreement.

c. Inspection of Books and Records.  Owner shall have the right, upon prior reasonable notice to Manager, to inspect 
Manager's books and records with respect to the Property, to assure that proper fees and charges are assessed 
hereunder. Manager shall cooperate with any such inspection.  Owner shall bear the cost of any such inspection; 
provided, however, that if it is clearly demonstrated that Manager has overcharged Owner by more than 5% in any 
given quarter and such overcharge was not caused in whole or part by Owner, the cost of such inspection shall be 
borne by Manager. Manager shall promptly reimburse Owner for any overpayment.

5. Use of Trademarks, Service Marks, and Related Items. Owner acknowledges the significant value of the "U-Haul" 
name in the operations of Owner's property, and it is therefore understood and agreed that the name, trademark, and 
service mark "U-Haul", and related marks, slogans, caricatures, designs, and other trade or service items (the "Manager 
Trade Marks") shall be utilized for the non-exclusive benefit of Owner in the rental and operation of the Property, and in 
comparable operations elsewhere.  It is further understood and agreed that the Manager Trade Marks shall remain and be 
at all times the property of Manager or its affiliates, and that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Owner 
shall have no right whatsoever therein.  Owner agrees that during the term of this Agreement the sign faces at the 
property will have the name "U-Haul." Upon termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, all such use by 
and for the benefit of Owner of any such Manager Trade Marks in connection with the Property shall be terminated and 
any signs bearing any of the foregoing shall be removed from view and no longer used by Owner.  In addition, upon 
termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, Owner shall not enter into any new leases of Property using 
the Manager lease form or use other forms prepared by Manager.  It is understood and agreed that Manager will use and 
shall be unrestricted in its use of such Manager Trade Marks in the management and operation of other storage facilities 
both during and after the expiration or termination of the term of this Agreement.

6. Default; Termination.  

a. Any material failure by Manager or Owner (a "Defaulting Party") to perform its respective duties or obligations 
hereunder (other than a default by Owner under Section 4 of this Agreement), which material failure is not cured 
within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from the non-defaulting party, shall 
constitute an event of default hereunder; provided, however, the foregoing shall not constitute an event of default 
hereunder in the event the Defaulting Party commences cure of such material failure within such thirty (30) day 
period and diligently prosecutes the cure of such material failure thereafter but in no event shall such extended 
cure period exceed ninety (90) days from the date of receipt by the non-defaulting party of written notice of such 
material default; provided further, however, that in the event such 



material failure constitutes a default under the terms of the Loan Documents and the cure period for such matter 
under the Loan Documents is shorter than the cure period specified herein, the cure period specified herein shall 
automatically shorten such that it shall match the cure period for such matter as specified under the Loan 
Documents. In addition, following notice to Manager of the existence of any such material failure by Manager, 
Owner shall have the right to cure any such material failure by Manager, and any sums so expended in curing shall 
be owed by Manager to such curing party and may be offset against any sums owed to Manager under this 
Agreement.

b. Any material failure by Owner to perform its duties or obligations under Section 4, which material failure is not 
cured within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from Manager, shall constitute an 
event of default hereunder.  

c. Subject to the terms of the Loan Documents, either party hereto shall have the right to terminate this Agreement, 
with or without cause, by giving not less than ninety (90) days' written notice to the other party hereto,  pursuant 
to Section 14 hereof.   

d. Upon termination of this Agreement, (i) Manager shall promptly return to Owner all monies, books, records, and 
other materials held by Manager for or on behalf of Owner and shall otherwise cooperate with Owner to promote 
and ensure a smooth transition to the new manager, and (ii) Manager shall be entitled to receive its Property 
Management Fee and reimbursement of expenses through the effective date of such termination, including the 
reimbursement of any prepaid expenses for periods beyond the date of termination (such as advertising).    

7. Indemnification.  Manager hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold Owner, all persons and companies affiliated 
with Owner, and all officers, shareholders, directors, employees, and agents of Owner and of any affiliated companies or 
persons (collectively, the "Indemnified Persons") harmless from any and all costs, expenses, attorneys' fees, suits, 
liabilities, judgments, damages, and claims in connection with the management of the Property and operations thereon 
(including the loss of use thereof following any damage, injury, or destruction), arising from any cause or matter 
whatsoever, including without limitation, any environmental condition or matter caused by Manager’s operation of the 
Property, except to the extent attributable to the willful misconduct or negligence on the part of the Indemnified Persons.

8. Assignment. Manager shall not assign this Agreement, or any portion hereof of the duties hereunder, to any party 
without the consent of Owner.

9. Standard for Property Manager's Responsibility. Manager agrees that it will perform its obligations hereunder 
according to industry standards, in good faith, and in a commercially-reasonable manner.  

10. Estoppel Certificate.  Each of Owner and Manager agree to execute and deliver to each other, from time to time, within 
ten (10) business days after the requesting party's request, a statement in writing certifying, to the extent true, that this 
Agreement is in full force and effect, and to such parties’ knowledge there are no uncured defaults (or specifying such 
defaults if they are claimed) and any such other matters as may be reasonably requested by such requesting party

11. Term, Scope. Subject to the provisions hereof, this Agreement shall have an initial term (such term, as extended or 
renewed in accordance with the provisions hereof, being called the "Term") commencing on the date hereof (the 
"Commencement Date") and ending on the later of (i) the last day of the 300th calendar month next following the date 
hereof, or (ii) the maturity date, repayment, or prepayment of the relevant loan under the applicable Loan Documents 
(the "Expiration Date"); provided however, the parties shall have the right upon mutual agreement to terminate this 
Agreement with respect to any individual Property no longer subject to the Loan Documents (for instance due to a 
significant casualty or condemnation of such Property).



12. Headings. The headings contained herein are for convenience of reference only and are not intended to define, limit, or 
describe the scope or intent of any provision of this Agreement.

13. Governing Law. The validity of this Agreement, the construction of its terms, and the interpretation of the rights and 
duties of the parties shall be governed by the internal laws of the State of Nevada

14. Notices. Any notice required or permitted herein shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered or mailed first 
class postage prepaid or delivered by an overnight delivery service to the respective addresses of the parties set forth 
above on the first page of this Agreement, or to such other address as any party may give  to the other in writing.  Any 
notice required by this Agreement will be deemed to have been given when personally served or one day after delivery 
to an overnight delivery service or five days after deposit in the first class mail. Any notice to Owner shall be to 207 E 
Clarendon, Phoenix, AZ  85012. Any notice to Manager shall be c/o U-Haul International, Inc., 2721 North Central 
Avenue, Phoenix, AZ 85004, Attn:  Legal Dept.

15. Severability. Should any term or provision hereof be deemed invalid, void, or unenforceable either in its entirety or in a 
particular application, the remainder of this Agreement shall nonetheless remain in full force and effect and, if the 
subject term or provision is deemed to be invalid, void or unenforceable only with respect to a particular application, 
such term or provision shall remain in full force and effect with respect to all other applications.

16. Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective parties hereto and their 
permitted assigns and successors in interest.

17. Attorneys' Fees. In any dispute arising under this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the 
other party all costs including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees and costs. 

18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned execute this Property Management Agreement as of the date set forth above.
 
Owner:
Mercury Storage 4, LLC, 
a Nevada limited liability company  

 
By: _______________________________________

Stuart M. Shoen, Vice President 

 
 
Manager:
 
U-Haul Co. of Arizona, an Arizona corporation
U-Haul Co. of Florida, a Florida corporation
U-Haul Co. of Illinois, Inc., an Illinois corporation
U-Haul Co. of Maryland, Inc., a Maryland corporation
U-Haul Company of Missouri, a Missouri corporation
U-Haul Co. of Mississippi, a Mississippi corporation
U-Haul Co. of Texas, a Texas corporation
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________

Wesley Chadwick, Assistant Secretary
 

 
 

 
 
 



Exhibit A
List of Properties

 
Center # Street City State Zip
858044 13440 West Bell Road Surprise AZ 85374
858027 13511 W Westgate Dr Surprise AZ 85378
787069 103530 Overseas Highway Key Largo FL 33037
757026 11855 South Cicero Ave Alsip IL 60803
856053 11238 S Rte 59 Naperville IL 60564
818034 8671 Central Avenue Capitol Heights MD 20743
875054 2000 Highway K O Fallon MO 63366
748034 1303 West 7Th Street Hattiesburg MS 39401
737023 9001 S Ih35 Northbound Austin TX 78744
836088 2729 North Collins Street Arlington TX 76006
859041 525 North Stimmons Freeway Lewisville TX 75067

 
The Property shall automatically include, without any further action necessary under this Agreement, any After Acquired Adjacent 
Property and After Acquired Leasehold Property as defined in the Loan Documents.  
 



PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is entered into as of February 15, 2024 by and among 
Mercury Storage 5, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Owner"), and the subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc. set forth on 
the signature block hereto (each a “Manager” and collectively "Managers").

RECITALS

A. Owner owns the real property and all improvements thereon and appurtenances thereto located at the street addresses identified on 
Exhibit A hereto (hereinafter, collectively the “Property”).
 

B. Owner intends that the Property be rented on a space-by-space retail basis to individuals, business entities, or other entities for use 
as self-storage and portable storage facilities.
 

C. Owner desires that Manager manage the Property and Manager desires to act as the property manager for the Property, all in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
 

D. The parties agree that this Agreement supersedes and replaces any other property management agreement (“Prior Agreement”) 
between the parties hereto and/or their respective predecessors in interest, as the case may be, with respect to the Property, any such Prior 
Agreement is hereby terminated as of the date hereof.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows.
 

1. Employment.

a. Owner hereby retains Manager, and Manager agrees to act as manager of the Property upon the terms and 
conditions hereinafter set forth. 

b. Owner acknowledges that Manager, and/or Manager affiliates, is in the business of managing self-storage and 
portable-storage facilities and businesses conducted thereat, including, but not limited to, the sale of packing 
supplies and rental of trucks and equipment, both for its own account and for the account of others.  It is hereby 
expressly agreed that notwithstanding this Agreement, Manager and such affiliates may continue to engage in such 
activities, may manage facilities other than those presently managed by Manager and its affiliates (whether or not 
such other facilities may be in direct or indirect competition with Owner), and may in the future engage in other 
business which may compete directly or indirectly with activities of Owner.  

c. In the performance of its duties under this Agreement, Manager shall occupy the position of an independent 
contractor with respect to Owner.  Nothing contained herein shall be construed as making the parties hereto (or 
any of them) partners or co-parties to a joint venture, nor construed as making Manager an employee of Owner.



2. Duties and Authority of Manager. Manager shall have the following duties and authority, subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, on behalf of and as agent of the Owner:

 

a. General Duties and Authority.  Manager shall have the sole and exclusive duty and authority to fully manage the 
Property and supervise and direct the business and affairs associated or related to the daily operation thereof, to 
collect on behalf of Owner all revenues related to the Property, to pay on behalf of Owner all expenses of the 
Property, and to execute on behalf of Owner such documents and instruments as, in the sole judgment of Manager, 
are reasonably necessary or advisable under the circumstances in order to fulfill Manager's duties hereunder.  Such 
duties and authority shall include, without limitation, those set forth below. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any 
other term or provision herein, upon notice to Manager, Owner shall have the right to assume responsibility for the 
direct payment of certain expenses of Owner, as may be determined by Owner.  In such event, Owner shall 
provide an accounting of such costs to Manager.  In the event Owner fails to provide such accounting to Manager, 
Manager shall assume no liability for nonpayment for such expenses so assumed by Owner. The parties 
acknowledge and agree that Owner will retain title to, ownership of, and exclusive right to control the Property, 
subject to the terms of this Agreement, and that portion of the Gross Revenue (as hereinafter defined) owned by 
Owner (“Owner’s Revenue”); and that Manager will not acquire title to, any interest in, or any income or revenues 
from the Property or Owner’s Revenue. For purposes of this Agreement, Owner’s Revenue consists of the revenue 
from portable and self-storage operations (excluding U-Box delivery fees), retail sales, miscellaneous income and 
the commissions (“U-Move Commissions”) paid to Owner pursuant to the terms of that Dealership Contract 
between Owner and Manager dated as of the date hereof (the “Dealer Contract”), in each case with respect to the 
Property. In performing its services and making any payments hereunder, Manager will make known to third 
parties that Manager is acting solely as the agent of Owner. Under no circumstances will Manager represent or 
hold itself out to any third party as having any title to or property interest in the Property or Owner’s Revenue.  
Manager shall perform all of its obligations under this Agreement in a professional manner consistent with the 
standards it employs at all of its managed locations.

b. Renting of the Property.  Manager shall establish policies and procedures for the marketing activities for the 
Property, and shall advertise the Property through such media as Manager deems advisable. Manager's marketing 
activities for the Property shall be consistent with the scope and quality implemented by Manager and its affiliates 
at any other properties operated by Manager or its affiliates.  Manager shall have the sole discretion, which 
discretion shall be exercised in good faith, to establish the terms and conditions of occupancy by the tenants of the 
Property, and Manager is hereby authorized to enter into rental agreements on behalf and for the account of Owner 
with such tenants and to collect rent from such tenants on behalf and for the account of Owner. Manager may 
jointly advertise the Property with other properties owned or managed by Manager or its affiliates, and in that 
event, Manager shall reasonably allocate the cost of such advertising among such properties.

c. Repair, Maintenance, and Improvements. Manager shall make, execute, supervise, and have control over the 
making and executing of all decisions concerning the acquisition of furniture, fixtures, and supplies for the 
Property, and may purchase, lease, or otherwise acquire the same and which items shall be owned by Manager. 
Manager shall make and execute, or supervise and have control over the making and executing, of all decisions 
concerning the maintenance, repair, and landscaping of the Property, provided, however, that such maintenance, 
repair, and landscaping shall be consistent with that of other properties operated by Manager or its 



affiliates.  Manager shall, on behalf of Owner, negotiate and contract for and supervise the installation of all 
capital improvements related to the Property; provided, however, that Manager agrees to secure the prior written 
approval of Owner on all such expenditures in excess of $10,000.00 for any one item, except monthly or recurring 
operating charges and/or emergency repairs if in the opinion of Manager such emergency repairs are necessary to 
protect the Property from damage or to maintain services to the Owner or any customers.  In the event such 
emergency repairs exceed $10,000, Manager shall notify Owner and the insurer as applicable of the cost estimate 
for such work.

d. Personnel. Manager shall select all vendors, suppliers, contractors, subcontractors, and employees with respect to 
the Property and shall hire, discharge, and supervise all labor and employees required for the operation and 
maintenance of the Property.  Any employees so hired shall be employees of Manager, and shall be carried on the 
payroll of Manager. Employees may include, but need not be limited to, on-site resident managers, on-site 
assistant managers, and relief managers located, rendering services, or performing activities on the Property in 
connection with its operation and management.  The cost of employing such persons shall not exceed prevailing 
rates for comparable persons performing the same or similar services with respect to real estate similar to the 
Property in the general vicinity of each respective Property. Manager shall be responsible for all legal and 
insurance requirements relating to its employees.

e. Service Agreements.  Manager shall negotiate and execute on behalf of Owner such agreements which Manager 
deems necessary or advisable for the furnishing of utilities, services, concessions, and supplies, for the 
maintenance, repair, and operation of the Property and such other agreements which may benefit the Property or 
be incidental to the matters for which Manager is responsible hereunder.

f. Other Decisions.  Manager shall make the decisions in connection with the day-to-day operations of the Property.

g. Regulations and Permits. Manager shall comply in all respects with any statute, ordinance, law, rule, regulation, or 
order of any governmental or regulatory body pertaining to the Property (collectively, "Laws"), respecting the use 
of the Property or the maintenance or operation thereof, the non-compliance with which could reasonably be 
expected to have a material adverse effect on Owner or any Property. Manager shall apply for and obtain and 
maintain, on behalf of Owner, all licenses and permits required or advisable (in the reasonable judgment of 
Manager) in connection with the management and operation of the Property. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Manager shall be permitted to contest any Applicable Laws to the extent and pursuant to the same conditions that 
Owner is permitted to contest any Laws. To the extent that Manager does not comply, Manager will be responsible 
for the costs and penalties incurred as a result of the non-compliance.

h. Records and Reports of Disbursements and Collections. Manager shall establish, supervise, direct, and maintain 
the operation of a system of cash record keeping and bookkeeping with respect to all receipts and disbursements 
and all business activities and operations conducted by Manager in connection with the management and 
operation of the Property. Manager shall be responsible for cash shortages and discrepancies incurred in the 
normal course of management operations. The books, records, and accounts shall be maintained at the Manager's 
office or at Owner's office, or at such other location as Manager and Owner shall determine, and shall be available 
and open to examination and audit quarterly by Owner, its representatives, its lender, if any (“Lender”) or such 
Lender’s representative.  Manager shall cause to be prepared and delivered to Owner a monthly statement on a 
per-Property basis of receipts, expenses, and 



charges, and any other information as reasonably required by Owner to prepare its financial statements, together 
with a statement on a per-Property basis of the disbursements made by Manager during such period on Owner's 
behalf, which shall include separate lines for prepaid items and inventory. Manager shall provide Owner with rent 
rolls and occupancy reports if requested.

i. Collection.  Manager shall be responsible for the billing and collection of all receipts and for payment of all 
expenses with respect to the Property and shall be responsible for establishing policies and procedures to 
minimize the amount of bad debts. Bad debt incurred as a result of non-compliance with management policies and 
procedures (such as improper verifications or acceptance of bad credit cards or bad checks) will be the 
responsibility of Manager.  

j. Legal Actions. Manager shall cause to be instituted, on behalf and in its name or in the name of Owner as 
appropriate, any and all legal actions or proceedings Manager deems necessary or advisable in connection with the 
Property, including without limitation, to collect charges, rent, or other income due to Owner with respect to the 
Property and to oust or dispossess tenants where appropriate or other persons unlawfully in possession under any 
lease, license, concession agreement, or otherwise, and to collect damages for breach thereof or default thereunder 
by such Owner, licensee, concessionaire, or occupant.

k. Insurance.  Manager will insure, on its Master Policy, against all liabilities at the Property at Manager’s sole cost 
and expense (“General Liability Insurance”). Any deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the 
General Liability Insurance shall be at Manager’s (or Manager’s U-Haul affiliates’) responsibility and sole cost 
and expense. Manager will insure equipment at Manager’s cost, as determined by Manager. If requested by 
Owner, Manager will obtain for Owner, at Owner’s sole cost and expense, a policy of property insurance 
(“Property and Casualty Insurance”). Any such Property & Casualty Insurance shall meet Lender’s required 
coverage, to include earthquake, flood, and other Lender requirements, as the case may be, and shall be the cost of 
Owner.  

l. Taxes.  During the term of this Agreement, Manager shall pay on behalf of Owner, prior to delinquency, real estate 
taxes, personal property taxes, and other taxes assessed to or levied upon the Property, but only in the event 
requested by Owner. If requested, Manager will charge to Owner an expense monthly equal to 1/12 of annual real 
property taxes.

m. Limitations on Manager Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 2, Manager 
shall not, without obtaining the prior written consent of Owner, (i) rent storage space in the Property by written 
lease or agreement for a stated term in excess of one year unless such lease or agreement is terminable by the 
giving of not more than thirty (30) days’ written notice, (ii) alter the building or other structures of the Property in 
violation of loan documents executed by Owner in connection with the Property (“Loan Documents”); (iii) enter 
on behalf of Owner any other agreements which exceed a term of one year and are not terminable on thirty (30) 
days’ notice at the will of Owner, without penalty, payment, or surcharge; (iv) act in violation of any Law, (v) 
violate any term or condition of the Loan Documents; (vi) fail to correct any misunderstanding of any third party 
of which Manager becomes aware as to the separateness of Owner and Manager; or (vii) exercise any authority to 
act on behalf of Owner, or hold itself out has having such authority, beyond the actual scope of authority granted 
by Owner. 

n. Shared Expenses. Owner acknowledges that certain economies may be achieved with respect to certain expenses 
to be incurred by Manager on behalf of Owner hereunder if materials, supplies, insurance, or services are 
purchased by Manager in quantity for use not only in connection with Owner's business at the Property but in 
connection with other properties owned or managed by 



Manager or its affiliates. Manager shall have the right to purchase such materials, supplies, insurance (subject to 
the terms of this Agreement), and/or services in its own name and charge Owner a pro rata allocable share of the 
cost of the foregoing; provided, however, that the pro rata cost of such purchase to Owner shall not result in 
expenses that are either inconsistent with the expenses of other "U-Haul branded" locations in the general vicinity 
of the applicable Property or greater than would otherwise be incurred at competitive prices and terms available in 
the area where the Property is located; and provided further, Manager shall give Owner access to records (at no 
cost to Owner) so Owner may review any such expenses incurred.

o. Deposit of Gross Revenues. All revenue from operations at the Property (“Gross Revenue”) shall be deposited 
daily by Manager into (i) a bank account that has been established for the benefit of Owner (the “Deposit 
Account”) and maintained by Manager (or its parent company); or (ii) a collective bank account (the “Collective 
Account”) maintained by Manager (or its parent company) for the benefit of multiple property owners.  In either 
case, although the account may be in Owner’s name, Owner’s right to the proceeds therein only extends to 
Owner’s Revenue.  Within 3 business days after receipt, Manager shall transfer Owner’s Revenue in the Deposit 
Account or Collective Account, as the case may be, to Owner’s separately identified depositary account pledged to 
Lender (“Blocked Account”). To the extent that Gross Revenue is deposited into a Collective Account, Manager 
(or its parent company) shall on a daily basis reconcile such Collective Account and maintain such records as shall 
clearly identify the respective interest of each property owner in such account.  Manager shall not, and shall not 
permit any other property owner or any affiliate of Manager to, borrow, lend, or use Owner’s Revenue prior to the 
deposit of such revenue into the Blocked Account. The payment of Owner’s U-Move Commissions shall be 
governed by the terms of the Dealer Contract. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to limit Owner’s access 
to Owner’s Revenue.  All funds shall be deposited and applied as required pursuant to Owner’s loan documents 
with Lender.  

p. Obligations under Loan Documents and other Material Contracts. Manager shall take such actions as are 
necessary or appropriate under the circumstances to ensure, to the extent Manager is privy to the information, that 
Owner is in compliance with the terms of the Loan Documents and any other material agreement relating to the 
Property to which Owner is a party and for which Manager is privy to the information.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to obligate Manager to fund from its own resources any 
payments owed by Owner under the Loan Documents or otherwise be deemed to make Manager a direct obligor 
under the Loan Documents.

q. Segregation. Owner and Manager shall maintain the Property and Owner’s Revenue in such a manner that it is not 
costly or difficult to segregate, ascertain, or identify Owner’s individual assets from those of Manager or any other 
person.   

3. Duties of Owner. Owner shall cooperate with Manager in the performance of Manager's duties under this Agreement 
and to that end, upon the request of Manager, shall provide, at such rental charges as are deemed appropriate, reasonable 
office space for Manager employees on the premises of the Property (to the extent available). Owner shall not 
unreasonably withhold or delay any consent or authorization to Manager required or appropriate under this Agreement. 
Owner shall provide Manager with copies of all Loan Documents and any amendments thereto.

4. Compensation of Manager.

a. Reimbursement of Expenses.  Manager shall be entitled to request and receive timely reimbursement for all timely 
authorized out-of-pocket reasonable and customary expenses (“Expenses”) actually incurred by Manager in the 
discharge of its duties hereunder.  Such 



expense reimbursement shall be due by the last business day of each month, for all expenses billed during such 
month, unless a written request is received by Manager detailing a legitimate dispute as to a billed amount.   Such 
reimbursement shall be the obligation of Owner, whether or not Owner’s Revenues are sufficient to pay such 
amounts.  

b. Management Fee.  Owner shall pay to Manager as the full amount due for the services herein provided a monthly 
fee (the “Property Management Fee”) which shall be six percent (6%) of the Property’s current month Owner’s 
Revenue, as determined on a cash basis.  The Property Management Fee payment shall be included with the 
reimbursement of Expenses pursuant to Section 4(a) above, for the same month.  The invoice for the management 
fees shall be itemized and shall include reasonable detail to explain the expenses incurred. It is further understood 
and agreed that, except as provided in this Section 4, Manager shall not be entitled to additional compensation of 
any kind in connection with its performance of its duties under this Agreement.

c. Inspection of Books and Records.  Owner shall have the right, upon prior reasonable notice to Manager, to inspect 
Manager's books and records with respect to the Property, to assure that proper fees and charges are assessed 
hereunder. Manager shall cooperate with any such inspection.  Owner shall bear the cost of any such inspection; 
provided, however, that if it is clearly demonstrated that Manager has overcharged Owner by more than 5% in any 
given quarter and such overcharge was not caused in whole or part by Owner, the cost of such inspection shall be 
borne by Manager. Manager shall promptly reimburse Owner for any overpayment.

5. Use of Trademarks, Service Marks, and Related Items. Owner acknowledges the significant value of the "U-Haul" 
name in the operations of Owner's property, and it is therefore understood and agreed that the name, trademark, and 
service mark "U-Haul", and related marks, slogans, caricatures, designs, and other trade or service items (the "Manager 
Trade Marks") shall be utilized for the non-exclusive benefit of Owner in the rental and operation of the Property, and in 
comparable operations elsewhere.  It is further understood and agreed that the Manager Trade Marks shall remain and be 
at all times the property of Manager or its affiliates, and that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Owner 
shall have no right whatsoever therein.  Owner agrees that during the term of this Agreement the sign faces at the 
property will have the name "U-Haul." Upon termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, all such use by 
and for the benefit of Owner of any such Manager Trade Marks in connection with the Property shall be terminated and 
any signs bearing any of the foregoing shall be removed from view and no longer used by Owner.  In addition, upon 
termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, Owner shall not enter into any new leases of Property using 
the Manager lease form or use other forms prepared by Manager.  It is understood and agreed that Manager will use and 
shall be unrestricted in its use of such Manager Trade Marks in the management and operation of other storage facilities 
both during and after the expiration or termination of the term of this Agreement.



6. Default; Termination.  

a. Any material failure by Manager or Owner (a "Defaulting Party") to perform its respective duties or obligations 
hereunder (other than a default by Owner under Section 4 of this Agreement), which material failure is not cured 
within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from the non-defaulting party, shall 
constitute an event of default hereunder; provided, however, the foregoing shall not constitute an event of default 
hereunder in the event the Defaulting Party commences cure of such material failure within such thirty (30) day 
period and diligently prosecutes the cure of such material failure thereafter but in no event shall such extended 
cure period exceed ninety (90) days from the date of receipt by the non-defaulting party of written notice of such 
material default; provided further, however, that in the event such material failure constitutes a default under the 
terms of the Loan Documents and the cure period for such matter under the Loan Documents is shorter than the 
cure period specified herein, the cure period specified herein shall automatically shorten such that it shall match 
the cure period for such matter as specified under the Loan Documents. In addition, following notice to Manager 
of the existence of any such material failure by Manager, Owner shall have the right to cure any such material 
failure by Manager, and any sums so expended in curing shall be owed by Manager to such curing party and may 
be offset against any sums owed to Manager under this Agreement.

b. Any material failure by Owner to perform its duties or obligations under Section 4, which material failure is not 
cured within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from Manager, shall constitute an 
event of default hereunder.  

c. Subject to the terms of the Loan Documents, either party hereto shall have the right to terminate this Agreement, 
with or without cause, by giving not less than ninety (90) days' written notice to the other party hereto,  pursuant 
to Section 14 hereof.   

d. Upon termination of this Agreement, (i) Manager shall promptly return to Owner all monies, books, records, and 
other materials held by Manager for or on behalf of Owner and shall otherwise cooperate with Owner to promote 
and ensure a smooth transition to the new manager, and (ii) Manager shall be entitled to receive its Property 
Management Fee and reimbursement of expenses through the effective date of such termination, including the 
reimbursement of any prepaid expenses for periods beyond the date of termination (such as advertising).    

7. Indemnification.  Manager hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold Owner, all persons and companies affiliated 
with Owner, and all officers, shareholders, directors, employees, and agents of Owner and of any affiliated companies or 
persons (collectively, the "Indemnified Persons") harmless from any and all costs, expenses, attorneys' fees, suits, 
liabilities, judgments, damages, and claims in connection with the management of the Property and operations thereon 
(including the loss of use thereof following any damage, injury, or destruction), arising from any cause or matter 
whatsoever, including without limitation, any environmental condition or matter caused by Manager’s operation of the 
Property, except to the extent attributable to the willful misconduct or negligence on the part of the Indemnified Persons.

8. Assignment. Manager shall not assign this Agreement, or any portion hereof of the duties hereunder, to any party 
without the consent of Owner.

9. Standard for Property Manager's Responsibility. Manager agrees that it will perform its obligations hereunder 
according to industry standards, in good faith, and in a commercially-reasonable manner.  

10. Estoppel Certificate.  Each of Owner and Manager agree to execute and deliver to each other, from time to time, within 
ten (10) business days after the requesting party's request, a statement in writing certifying, to the extent true, that this 
Agreement is in full force and effect, and to such parties’ 



knowledge there are no uncured defaults (or specifying such defaults if they are claimed) and any such other matters as 
may be reasonably requested by such requesting party

11. Term, Scope. Subject to the provisions hereof, this Agreement shall have an initial term (such term, as extended or 
renewed in accordance with the provisions hereof, being called the "Term") commencing on the date hereof (the 
"Commencement Date") and ending on the later of (i) the last day of the 300th calendar month next following the date 
hereof, or (ii) the maturity date, repayment, or prepayment of the relevant loan under the applicable Loan Documents 
(the "Expiration Date"); provided however, the parties shall have the right upon mutual agreement to terminate this 
Agreement with respect to any individual Property no longer subject to the Loan Documents (for instance due to a 
significant casualty or condemnation of such Property).

12. Headings. The headings contained herein are for convenience of reference only and are not intended to define, limit, or 
describe the scope or intent of any provision of this Agreement.

13. Governing Law. The validity of this Agreement, the construction of its terms, and the interpretation of the rights and 
duties of the parties shall be governed by the internal laws of the State of Nevada

14. Notices. Any notice required or permitted herein shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered or mailed first 
class postage prepaid or delivered by an overnight delivery service to the respective addresses of the parties set forth 
above on the first page of this Agreement, or to such other address as any party may give  to the other in writing.  Any 
notice required by this Agreement will be deemed to have been given when personally served or one day after delivery 
to an overnight delivery service or five days after deposit in the first class mail. Any notice to Owner shall be to 207 E 
Clarendon, Phoenix, AZ  85012. Any notice to Manager shall be c/o U-Haul International, Inc., 2721 North Central 
Avenue, Phoenix, AZ 85004, Attn:  Legal Dept.

15. Severability. Should any term or provision hereof be deemed invalid, void, or unenforceable either in its entirety or in a 
particular application, the remainder of this Agreement shall nonetheless remain in full force and effect and, if the 
subject term or provision is deemed to be invalid, void or unenforceable only with respect to a particular application, 
such term or provision shall remain in full force and effect with respect to all other applications.

16. Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective parties hereto and their 
permitted assigns and successors in interest.

17. Attorneys' Fees. In any dispute arising under this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the 
other party all costs including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees and costs. 

18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned execute this Property Management Agreement as of the date set forth above.
 

Owner:
Mercury Storage 5, LLC, 
a Nevada limited liability company  

 
By: _______________________________________

Stuart M. Shoen, Vice President 

 
 
Manager:
 
U-Haul Co. of Arizona, an Arizona corporation
U-Haul Co. of Florida, a Florida corporation
U-Haul Co. of Nevada, Inc., a Nevada corporation
U-Haul Co. of Texas, a Texas corporation
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________

Wesley Chadwick, Assistant Secretary
 

 
 

 
 
 



Exhibit A
List of Properties

 
Center # Street City State Zip
858045 42301 N 41St Dr Anthem AZ 85086
858034 42102 N Vision Way Anthem AZ 85086
858084 42202 N Vision Way Anthem AZ 85086
858075 4114-4124 W. Fortune Drive Anthem AZ 85086
830071 4457 Kernel Circle Fort Myers FL 33916
830079 4340 Kernel Circle Fort Myers FL 33916
838023 160 West Craig Road North Las Vegas NV 89032
876024 8450 Montana El Paso TX 79925
835056 1245 South Beckley De Soto TX 75115
836026 1101 E Loop 820 Fort Worth TX 76120

 
The Property shall automatically include, without any further action necessary under this Agreement, any After Acquired Adjacent 
Property and After Acquired Leasehold Property as defined in the Loan Documents.  
 



PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is entered into as of February 15, 2024 by and among 
Mercury Storage 6, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Owner"), and the subsidiaries of U-Haul International, Inc. set forth on 
the signature block hereto (each a “Manager” and collectively "Managers").

RECITALS
A. Owner owns the real property and all improvements thereon and appurtenances thereto located at the street addresses identified on 

Exhibit A hereto (hereinafter, collectively the “Property”).
 

B. Owner intends that the Property be rented on a space-by-space retail basis to individuals, business entities, or other entities for use 
as self-storage and portable storage facilities.
 

C. Owner desires that Manager manage the Property and Manager desires to act as the property manager for the Property, all in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
 

D. The parties agree that this Agreement supersedes and replaces any other property management agreement (“Prior Agreement”) 
between the parties hereto and/or their respective predecessors in interest, as the case may be, with respect to the Property, any such Prior 
Agreement is hereby terminated as of the date hereof.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows.
 

1. Employment.

a. Owner hereby retains Manager, and Manager agrees to act as manager of the Property upon the terms and 
conditions hereinafter set forth. 

b. Owner acknowledges that Manager, and/or Manager affiliates, is in the business of managing self-storage and 
portable-storage facilities and businesses conducted thereat, including, but not limited to, the sale of packing 
supplies and rental of trucks and equipment, both for its own account and for the account of others.  It is hereby 
expressly agreed that notwithstanding this Agreement, Manager and such affiliates may continue to engage in such 
activities, may manage facilities other than those presently managed by Manager and its affiliates (whether or not 
such other facilities may be in direct or indirect competition with Owner), and may in the future engage in other 
business which may compete directly or indirectly with activities of Owner.  

c. In the performance of its duties under this Agreement, Manager shall occupy the position of an independent 
contractor with respect to Owner.  Nothing contained herein shall be construed as making the parties hereto (or 
any of them) partners or co-parties to a joint venture, nor construed as making Manager an employee of Owner.



2. Duties and Authority of Manager. Manager shall have the following duties and authority, subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, on behalf of and as agent of the Owner:

 

a. General Duties and Authority.  Manager shall have the sole and exclusive duty and authority to fully manage the 
Property and supervise and direct the business and affairs associated or related to the daily operation thereof, to 
collect on behalf of Owner all revenues related to the Property, to pay on behalf of Owner all expenses of the 
Property, and to execute on behalf of Owner such documents and instruments as, in the sole judgment of Manager, 
are reasonably necessary or advisable under the circumstances in order to fulfill Manager's duties hereunder.  Such 
duties and authority shall include, without limitation, those set forth below. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any 
other term or provision herein, upon notice to Manager, Owner shall have the right to assume responsibility for the 
direct payment of certain expenses of Owner, as may be determined by Owner.  In such event, Owner shall 
provide an accounting of such costs to Manager.  In the event Owner fails to provide such accounting to Manager, 
Manager shall assume no liability for nonpayment for such expenses so assumed by Owner. The parties 
acknowledge and agree that Owner will retain title to, ownership of, and exclusive right to control the Property, 
subject to the terms of this Agreement, and that portion of the Gross Revenue (as hereinafter defined) owned by 
Owner (“Owner’s Revenue”); and that Manager will not acquire title to, any interest in, or any income or revenues 
from the Property or Owner’s Revenue. For purposes of this Agreement, Owner’s Revenue consists of the revenue 
from portable and self-storage operations (excluding U-Box delivery fees), retail sales, miscellaneous income and 
the commissions (“U-Move Commissions”) paid to Owner pursuant to the terms of that Dealership Contract 
between Owner and Manager dated as of the date hereof (the “Dealer Contract”), in each case with respect to the 
Property. In performing its services and making any payments hereunder, Manager will make known to third 
parties that Manager is acting solely as the agent of Owner. Under no circumstances will Manager represent or 
hold itself out to any third party as having any title to or property interest in the Property or Owner’s Revenue.  
Manager shall perform all of its obligations under this Agreement in a professional manner consistent with the 
standards it employs at all of its managed locations.

b. Renting of the Property.  Manager shall establish policies and procedures for the marketing activities for the 
Property, and shall advertise the Property through such media as Manager deems advisable. Manager's marketing 
activities for the Property shall be consistent with the scope and quality implemented by Manager and its affiliates 
at any other properties operated by Manager or its affiliates.  Manager shall have the sole discretion, which 
discretion shall be exercised in good faith, to establish the terms and conditions of occupancy by the tenants of the 
Property, and Manager is hereby authorized to enter into rental agreements on behalf and for the account of Owner 
with such tenants and to collect rent from such tenants on behalf and for the account of Owner. Manager may 
jointly advertise the Property with other properties owned or managed by Manager or its affiliates, and in that 
event, Manager shall reasonably allocate the cost of such advertising among such properties.

c. Repair, Maintenance, and Improvements. Manager shall make, execute, supervise, and have control over the 
making and executing of all decisions concerning the acquisition of furniture, fixtures, and supplies for the 
Property, and may purchase, lease, or otherwise acquire the same and which items shall be owned by Manager. 
Manager shall make and execute, or supervise and have control over the making and executing, of all decisions 
concerning the maintenance, repair, and landscaping of the Property, provided, however, that such maintenance, 
repair, and landscaping shall be consistent with that of other properties operated by Manager or its 



affiliates.  Manager shall, on behalf of Owner, negotiate and contract for and supervise the installation of all 
capital improvements related to the Property; provided, however, that Manager agrees to secure the prior written 
approval of Owner on all such expenditures in excess of $10,000.00 for any one item, except monthly or recurring 
operating charges and/or emergency repairs if in the opinion of Manager such emergency repairs are necessary to 
protect the Property from damage or to maintain services to the Owner or any customers.  In the event such 
emergency repairs exceed $10,000, Manager shall notify Owner and the insurer as applicable of the cost estimate 
for such work.

d. Personnel. Manager shall select all vendors, suppliers, contractors, subcontractors, and employees with respect to 
the Property and shall hire, discharge, and supervise all labor and employees required for the operation and 
maintenance of the Property.  Any employees so hired shall be employees of Manager, and shall be carried on the 
payroll of Manager. Employees may include, but need not be limited to, on-site resident managers, on-site 
assistant managers, and relief managers located, rendering services, or performing activities on the Property in 
connection with its operation and management.  The cost of employing such persons shall not exceed prevailing 
rates for comparable persons performing the same or similar services with respect to real estate similar to the 
Property in the general vicinity of each respective Property. Manager shall be responsible for all legal and 
insurance requirements relating to its employees.

e. Service Agreements.  Manager shall negotiate and execute on behalf of Owner such agreements which Manager 
deems necessary or advisable for the furnishing of utilities, services, concessions, and supplies, for the 
maintenance, repair, and operation of the Property and such other agreements which may benefit the Property or 
be incidental to the matters for which Manager is responsible hereunder.

f. Other Decisions.  Manager shall make the decisions in connection with the day-to-day operations of the Property.

g. Regulations and Permits. Manager shall comply in all respects with any statute, ordinance, law, rule, regulation, or 
order of any governmental or regulatory body pertaining to the Property (collectively, "Laws"), respecting the use 
of the Property or the maintenance or operation thereof, the non-compliance with which could reasonably be 
expected to have a material adverse effect on Owner or any Property. Manager shall apply for and obtain and 
maintain, on behalf of Owner, all licenses and permits required or advisable (in the reasonable judgment of 
Manager) in connection with the management and operation of the Property. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Manager shall be permitted to contest any Applicable Laws to the extent and pursuant to the same conditions that 
Owner is permitted to contest any Laws. To the extent that Manager does not comply, Manager will be responsible 
for the costs and penalties incurred as a result of the non-compliance.

h. Records and Reports of Disbursements and Collections. Manager shall establish, supervise, direct, and maintain 
the operation of a system of cash record keeping and bookkeeping with respect to all receipts and disbursements 
and all business activities and operations conducted by Manager in connection with the management and 
operation of the Property. Manager shall be responsible for cash shortages and discrepancies incurred in the 
normal course of management operations. The books, records, and accounts shall be maintained at the Manager's 
office or at Owner's office, or at such other location as Manager and Owner shall determine, and shall be available 
and open to examination and audit quarterly by Owner, its representatives, its lender, if any (“Lender”) or such 
Lender’s representative.  Manager shall cause to be prepared and delivered to Owner a monthly statement on a 
per-Property basis of receipts, expenses, and 



charges, and any other information as reasonably required by Owner to prepare its financial statements, together 
with a statement on a per-Property basis of the disbursements made by Manager during such period on Owner's 
behalf, which shall include separate lines for prepaid items and inventory. Manager shall provide Owner with rent 
rolls and occupancy reports if requested.

i. Collection.  Manager shall be responsible for the billing and collection of all receipts and for payment of all 
expenses with respect to the Property and shall be responsible for establishing policies and procedures to 
minimize the amount of bad debts. Bad debt incurred as a result of non-compliance with management policies and 
procedures (such as improper verifications or acceptance of bad credit cards or bad checks) will be the 
responsibility of Manager.  

j. Legal Actions. Manager shall cause to be instituted, on behalf and in its name or in the name of Owner as 
appropriate, any and all legal actions or proceedings Manager deems necessary or advisable in connection with the 
Property, including without limitation, to collect charges, rent, or other income due to Owner with respect to the 
Property and to oust or dispossess tenants where appropriate or other persons unlawfully in possession under any 
lease, license, concession agreement, or otherwise, and to collect damages for breach thereof or default thereunder 
by such Owner, licensee, concessionaire, or occupant.

k. Insurance.  Manager will insure, on its Master Policy, against all liabilities at the Property at Manager’s sole cost 
and expense (“General Liability Insurance”). Any deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the 
General Liability Insurance shall be at Manager’s (or Manager’s U-Haul affiliates’) responsibility and sole cost 
and expense. Manager will insure equipment at Manager’s cost, as determined by Manager. If requested by 
Owner, Manager will obtain for Owner, at Owner’s sole cost and expense, a policy of property insurance 
(“Property and Casualty Insurance”). Any such Property & Casualty Insurance shall meet Lender’s required 
coverage, to include earthquake, flood, and other Lender requirements, as the case may be, and shall be the cost of 
Owner.  

l. Taxes.  During the term of this Agreement, Manager shall pay on behalf of Owner, prior to delinquency, real estate 
taxes, personal property taxes, and other taxes assessed to or levied upon the Property, but only in the event 
requested by Owner. If requested, Manager will charge to Owner an expense monthly equal to 1/12 of annual real 
property taxes.

m. Limitations on Manager Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 2, Manager 
shall not, without obtaining the prior written consent of Owner, (i) rent storage space in the Property by written 
lease or agreement for a stated term in excess of one year unless such lease or agreement is terminable by the 
giving of not more than thirty (30) days’ written notice, (ii) alter the building or other structures of the Property in 
violation of loan documents executed by Owner in connection with the Property (“Loan Documents”); (iii) enter 
on behalf of Owner any other agreements which exceed a term of one year and are not terminable on thirty (30) 
days’ notice at the will of Owner, without penalty, payment, or surcharge; (iv) act in violation of any Law, (v) 
violate any term or condition of the Loan Documents; (vi) fail to correct any misunderstanding of any third party 
of which Manager becomes aware as to the separateness of Owner and Manager; or (vii) exercise any authority to 
act on behalf of Owner, or hold itself out has having such authority, beyond the actual scope of authority granted 
by Owner. 

n. Shared Expenses. Owner acknowledges that certain economies may be achieved with respect to certain expenses 
to be incurred by Manager on behalf of Owner hereunder if materials, supplies, insurance, or services are 
purchased by Manager in quantity for use not only in connection with Owner's business at the Property but in 
connection with other properties owned or managed by 



Manager or its affiliates. Manager shall have the right to purchase such materials, supplies, insurance (subject to 
the terms of this Agreement), and/or services in its own name and charge Owner a pro rata allocable share of the 
cost of the foregoing; provided, however, that the pro rata cost of such purchase to Owner shall not result in 
expenses that are either inconsistent with the expenses of other "U-Haul branded" locations in the general vicinity 
of the applicable Property or greater than would otherwise be incurred at competitive prices and terms available in 
the area where the Property is located; and provided further, Manager shall give Owner access to records (at no 
cost to Owner) so Owner may review any such expenses incurred.

o. Deposit of Gross Revenues. All revenue from operations at the Property (“Gross Revenue”) shall be deposited 
daily by Manager into (i) a bank account that has been established for the benefit of Owner (the “Deposit 
Account”) and maintained by Manager (or its parent company); or (ii) a collective bank account (the “Collective 
Account”) maintained by Manager (or its parent company) for the benefit of multiple property owners.  In either 
case, although the account may be in Owner’s name, Owner’s right to the proceeds therein only extends to 
Owner’s Revenue.  Within 3 business days after receipt, Manager shall transfer Owner’s Revenue in the Deposit 
Account or Collective Account, as the case may be, to Owner’s separately identified depositary account pledged to 
Lender (“Blocked Account”). To the extent that Gross Revenue is deposited into a Collective Account, Manager 
(or its parent company) shall on a daily basis reconcile such Collective Account and maintain such records as shall 
clearly identify the respective interest of each property owner in such account.  Manager shall not, and shall not 
permit any other property owner or any affiliate of Manager to, borrow, lend, or use Owner’s Revenue prior to the 
deposit of such revenue into the Blocked Account. The payment of Owner’s U-Move Commissions shall be 
governed by the terms of the Dealer Contract. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to limit Owner’s access 
to Owner’s Revenue.  All funds shall be deposited and applied as required pursuant to Owner’s loan documents 
with Lender.  

p. Obligations under Loan Documents and other Material Contracts. Manager shall take such actions as are 
necessary or appropriate under the circumstances to ensure, to the extent Manager is privy to the information, that 
Owner is in compliance with the terms of the Loan Documents and any other material agreement relating to the 
Property to which Owner is a party and for which Manager is privy to the information.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to obligate Manager to fund from its own resources any 
payments owed by Owner under the Loan Documents or otherwise be deemed to make Manager a direct obligor 
under the Loan Documents.

q. Segregation. Owner and Manager shall maintain the Property and Owner’s Revenue in such a manner that it is not 
costly or difficult to segregate, ascertain, or identify Owner’s individual assets from those of Manager or any other 
person.   

3. Duties of Owner. Owner shall cooperate with Manager in the performance of Manager's duties under this Agreement 
and to that end, upon the request of Manager, shall provide, at such rental charges as are deemed appropriate, reasonable 
office space for Manager employees on the premises of the Property (to the extent available). Owner shall not 
unreasonably withhold or delay any consent or authorization to Manager required or appropriate under this Agreement. 
Owner shall provide Manager with copies of all Loan Documents and any amendments thereto.

4. Compensation of Manager.

a. Reimbursement of Expenses.  Manager shall be entitled to request and receive timely reimbursement for all timely 
authorized out-of-pocket reasonable and customary expenses (“Expenses”) actually incurred by Manager in the 
discharge of its duties hereunder.  Such 



expense reimbursement shall be due by the last business day of each month, for all expenses billed during such 
month, unless a written request is received by Manager detailing a legitimate dispute as to a billed amount.   Such 
reimbursement shall be the obligation of Owner, whether or not Owner’s Revenues are sufficient to pay such 
amounts.  

b. Management Fee.  Owner shall pay to Manager as the full amount due for the services herein provided a monthly 
fee (the “Property Management Fee”) which shall be six percent (6%) of the Property’s current month Owner’s 
Revenue, as determined on a cash basis.  The Property Management Fee payment shall be included with the 
reimbursement of Expenses pursuant to Section 4(a) above, for the same month.  The invoice for the management 
fees shall be itemized and shall include reasonable detail to explain the expenses incurred. It is further understood 
and agreed that, except as provided in this Section 4, Manager shall not be entitled to additional compensation of 
any kind in connection with its performance of its duties under this Agreement.

c. Inspection of Books and Records.  Owner shall have the right, upon prior reasonable notice to Manager, to inspect 
Manager's books and records with respect to the Property, to assure that proper fees and charges are assessed 
hereunder. Manager shall cooperate with any such inspection.  Owner shall bear the cost of any such inspection; 
provided, however, that if it is clearly demonstrated that Manager has overcharged Owner by more than 5% in any 
given quarter and such overcharge was not caused in whole or part by Owner, the cost of such inspection shall be 
borne by Manager. Manager shall promptly reimburse Owner for any overpayment.

5. Use of Trademarks, Service Marks, and Related Items. Owner acknowledges the significant value of the "U-Haul" 
name in the operations of Owner's property, and it is therefore understood and agreed that the name, trademark, and 
service mark "U-Haul", and related marks, slogans, caricatures, designs, and other trade or service items (the "Manager 
Trade Marks") shall be utilized for the non-exclusive benefit of Owner in the rental and operation of the Property, and in 
comparable operations elsewhere.  It is further understood and agreed that the Manager Trade Marks shall remain and be 
at all times the property of Manager or its affiliates, and that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Owner 
shall have no right whatsoever therein.  Owner agrees that during the term of this Agreement the sign faces at the 
property will have the name "U-Haul." Upon termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, all such use by 
and for the benefit of Owner of any such Manager Trade Marks in connection with the Property shall be terminated and 
any signs bearing any of the foregoing shall be removed from view and no longer used by Owner.  In addition, upon 
termination of this Agreement at any time for any reason, Owner shall not enter into any new leases of Property using 
the Manager lease form or use other forms prepared by Manager.  It is understood and agreed that Manager will use and 
shall be unrestricted in its use of such Manager Trade Marks in the management and operation of other storage facilities 
both during and after the expiration or termination of the term of this Agreement.



6. Default; Termination.  

a. Any material failure by Manager or Owner (a "Defaulting Party") to perform its respective duties or obligations 
hereunder (other than a default by Owner under Section 4 of this Agreement), which material failure is not cured 
within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from the non-defaulting party, shall 
constitute an event of default hereunder; provided, however, the foregoing shall not constitute an event of default 
hereunder in the event the Defaulting Party commences cure of such material failure within such thirty (30) day 
period and diligently prosecutes the cure of such material failure thereafter but in no event shall such extended 
cure period exceed ninety (90) days from the date of receipt by the non-defaulting party of written notice of such 
material default; provided further, however, that in the event such material failure constitutes a default under the 
terms of the Loan Documents and the cure period for such matter under the Loan Documents is shorter than the 
cure period specified herein, the cure period specified herein shall automatically shorten such that it shall match 
the cure period for such matter as specified under the Loan Documents. In addition, following notice to Manager 
of the existence of any such material failure by Manager, Owner shall have the right to cure any such material 
failure by Manager, and any sums so expended in curing shall be owed by Manager to such curing party and may 
be offset against any sums owed to Manager under this Agreement.

b. Any material failure by Owner to perform its duties or obligations under Section 4, which material failure is not 
cured within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of written notice of such failure from Manager, shall constitute an 
event of default hereunder.  

c. Subject to the terms of the Loan Documents, either party hereto shall have the right to terminate this Agreement, 
with or without cause, by giving not less than ninety (90) days' written notice to the other party hereto,  pursuant 
to Section 14 hereof.   

d. Upon termination of this Agreement, (i) Manager shall promptly return to Owner all monies, books, records, and 
other materials held by Manager for or on behalf of Owner and shall otherwise cooperate with Owner to promote 
and ensure a smooth transition to the new manager, and (ii) Manager shall be entitled to receive its Property 
Management Fee and reimbursement of expenses through the effective date of such termination, including the 
reimbursement of any prepaid expenses for periods beyond the date of termination (such as advertising).    

7. Indemnification.  Manager hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold Owner, all persons and companies affiliated 
with Owner, and all officers, shareholders, directors, employees, and agents of Owner and of any affiliated companies or 
persons (collectively, the "Indemnified Persons") harmless from any and all costs, expenses, attorneys' fees, suits, 
liabilities, judgments, damages, and claims in connection with the management of the Property and operations thereon 
(including the loss of use thereof following any damage, injury, or destruction), arising from any cause or matter 
whatsoever, including without limitation, any environmental condition or matter caused by Manager’s operation of the 
Property, except to the extent attributable to the willful misconduct or negligence on the part of the Indemnified Persons.

8. Assignment. Manager shall not assign this Agreement, or any portion hereof of the duties hereunder, to any party 
without the consent of Owner.

9. Standard for Property Manager's Responsibility. Manager agrees that it will perform its obligations hereunder 
according to industry standards, in good faith, and in a commercially-reasonable manner.  

10. Estoppel Certificate.  Each of Owner and Manager agree to execute and deliver to each other, from time to time, within 
ten (10) business days after the requesting party's request, a statement in writing certifying, to the extent true, that this 
Agreement is in full force and effect, and to such parties’ 



knowledge there are no uncured defaults (or specifying such defaults if they are claimed) and any such other matters as 
may be reasonably requested by such requesting party

11. Term, Scope. Subject to the provisions hereof, this Agreement shall have an initial term (such term, as extended or 
renewed in accordance with the provisions hereof, being called the "Term") commencing on the date hereof (the 
"Commencement Date") and ending on the later of (i) the last day of the 300th calendar month next following the date 
hereof, or (ii) the maturity date, repayment, or prepayment of the relevant loan under the applicable Loan Documents 
(the "Expiration Date"); provided however, the parties shall have the right upon mutual agreement to terminate this 
Agreement with respect to any individual Property no longer subject to the Loan Documents (for instance due to a 
significant casualty or condemnation of such Property).

12. Headings. The headings contained herein are for convenience of reference only and are not intended to define, limit, or 
describe the scope or intent of any provision of this Agreement.

13. Governing Law. The validity of this Agreement, the construction of its terms, and the interpretation of the rights and 
duties of the parties shall be governed by the internal laws of the State of Nevada

14. Notices. Any notice required or permitted herein shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered or mailed first 
class postage prepaid or delivered by an overnight delivery service to the respective addresses of the parties set forth 
above on the first page of this Agreement, or to such other address as any party may give  to the other in writing.  Any 
notice required by this Agreement will be deemed to have been given when personally served or one day after delivery 
to an overnight delivery service or five days after deposit in the first class mail. Any notice to Owner shall be to 207 E 
Clarendon, Phoenix, AZ  85012. Any notice to Manager shall be c/o U-Haul International, Inc., 2721 North Central 
Avenue, Phoenix, AZ 85004, Attn:  Legal Dept.

15. Severability. Should any term or provision hereof be deemed invalid, void, or unenforceable either in its entirety or in a 
particular application, the remainder of this Agreement shall nonetheless remain in full force and effect and, if the 
subject term or provision is deemed to be invalid, void or unenforceable only with respect to a particular application, 
such term or provision shall remain in full force and effect with respect to all other applications.

16. Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective parties hereto and their 
permitted assigns and successors in interest.

17. Attorneys' Fees. In any dispute arising under this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the 
other party all costs including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees and costs. 

18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned execute this Property Management Agreement as of the date set forth above.
 
Owner:
Mercury Storage 6, LLC, 
a Nevada limited liability company  

 
By: _______________________________________

Stuart M. Shoen, Vice President 

 
 
Manager:
 
U-Haul Co. of Florida, a Florida corporation
U-Haul Co. of Georgia, a Georgia corporation
U-Haul Co. of Nevada, Inc., a Nevada corporation
U-Haul Co. of New Jersey, Inc., a New Jersey corporation 
U-Haul Co. of Texas, a Texas corporation
U-Haul Co. of Virginia, a Virginia corporation
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________

Wesley Chadwick, Assistant Secretary
 

 
 

 
 
 



Exhibit A
List of Properties

 
Center # Street City State Zip
829053 2395 South Volusia Avenue Orange City FL 32763
777026 2085 Cobb Parkway Kennesaw GA 30152
777033 2085 Cobb Pkwy Kennesaw GA 30152
813061 8505 North Cresent Boulevard Pennsauken NJ 08109
838024 8620 S Las Vegas Boulevard Las Vegas NV 89123
931025 10061 W University Dr McKinney TX 75069
931043 10057 W University Dr McKinney TX 75071
755057 14225 Northwest Freeway Houston TX 77040
946065 14523 Telegraph Road Woodbridge VA 22192

 
The Property shall automatically include, without any further action necessary under this Agreement, any After Acquired Adjacent 
Property and After Acquired Leasehold Property as defined in the Loan Documents.  
 



 
EXHIBIT 21

U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY
(Nevada)

Consolidated Subsidiaries
 

Name of Entity Jurisdiction of 
Incorporation

Patriot Truck Leasing, LLC NV
   
Picacho Peak Investments Co. NV
Picacho Peak, LLC NV
   
ARCOA Risk Retention Group, Inc. NV
   
U-Haul International Shipping, LLC NV
  
Repwest Insurance Company AZ
Republic Claims Service Co. AZ
Ponderosa Insurance Agency, LLC AZ
Ponderosa Self-Storage Liability Group, LLC AZ
RWIC Investments, Inc. AZ
   
Oxford Life Insurance Company AZ
Oxford Life Insurance Agency, Inc. AZ
Christian Fidelity Life Insurance Company TX
   
Amerco Real Estate Company NV
Amerco Real Estate Company of Texas, Inc. TX
Amerco Real Estate Services, Inc. NV
Rainbow-Queen Properties, L.L.C. AZ
Two PAC Company NV
Twenty PAC Company NV
Twenty-One PAC Company NV
Nationwide Commercial Co. AZ
AREC RW, LLC AZ
13622 66th, LLC NV

 
 



 
Name of Entity Jurisdiction of 

Incorporation

AREC Holdings, LLC DE
AREC 1, LLC DE
AREC 2, LLC DE
AREC 3, LLC DE
AREC 4, LLC DE
AREC 5, LLC DE
AREC 6, LLC DE
AREC 7, LLC DE
AREC 8, LLC DE
AREC 9, LLC DE
AREC 10, LLC DE
AREC 11, LLC DE
AREC 12, LLC DE
AREC 13, LLC DE
AREC 14, LLC NV
AREC 15, LLC NV
AREC 19, LLC NV
AREC 20, LLC NV
AREC 21, LLC NV
AREC 22, LLC DE
AREC 23, LLC DE
AREC 24, LLC DE
AREC 25, LLC DE
AREC 26, LLC DE
AREC 27, LLC DE
AREC 28, LLC DE
AREC 29, LLC DE
AREC 30, LLC DE
AREC 31, LLC DE
AREC 32, LLC DE
AREC 33, LLC DE
AREC 34, LLC DE
AREC 35, LLC DE
AREC 36, LLC DE
AREC 37, LLC DE
AREC 38, LLC DE
AREC 39, LLC DE
AREC 40, LLC NV
AREC 41, LLC DE
AREC 42, LLC DE

 
 



 
Name of Entity Jurisdiction of 

Incorporation

AREC 43, LLC DE
AREC 44, LLC DE
AREC 45, LLC DE
AREC 46, LLC DE
AREC 47, LLC DE
AREC 48, LLC DE
AREC 49, LLC NV
AREC 50, LLC NV
AREC 2018, LLC NV
AREC QOF, LLC NV
20 Oak Harbor, LLC NV
41 Haig, LLC NV
53 Roanoke, LLC NV
74-5583 Pawai, LLC NV
125 Beechwood, LLC NV
333 Sunrise, LLC NV
370 Orange Street, LLC NV
407 Park, LLC NV
506 Fesslers, LLC NV
625 & 639 8 Avenue, LLC NV
700 54th Avenue, LLC NV
8201 Santa Fe (CA), LLC NV
1315 3rd, LLC NV
1450 Walbridge, LLC NV
1506 Woodlawn, LLC DE
1508 Woodlawn, LLC DE
CRP Holdings Dunleavey, LLC DE
1833 Egg Harbor Road, LLC NV
2022 MC, LLC NV
2115 West, LLC NV
2317 Route 70, LLC DE
2823 Nashville Road, LLC DE
3400 MacArthur, LLC NV
3410 Galena, LLC DE
3463 Billy Hext, LLC NV
3700 Bigelow, LLC NV
4029 Golden, LLC DE
4251 Hiawatha, LLC NV
4795 Charlotte, LLC NV
5655 Whipple, LLC NV

 
 

th



 
Name of Entity Jurisdiction of 

Incorporation

8250 Hwy 99, LLC NV
8272 Hwy 59, LLC NV
Foster 81st, LLC DE
Kansas City 454, LLC NV
Rosehill Street, LLC NV
West 16th, LLC DE
West 136, LLC DE
        Shoen Family Holdings, LLC NV
AREC 1031 Holdings, LLC NV
8 Erie EAT, LLC NV
53 Technology EAT, LLC NV
60 Burrell Plaza EAT, LLC NV
88 Birnie EAT, LLC NV
176 Ragland EAT, LLC NV
200-220 North Point EAT, LLC NV
207 Simpson EAT, LLC NV
339-341 Lehigh EAT, LLC NV
463 Lakewood EAT, LLC NV
529 & Westgreen EAT, LLC NV
665 Perry EAT, LLC NV
800 28 EAT, LLC NV
817 Appleyard EAT, LLC NV
900 Roswell EAT, LLC NV
950 25th EAT, LLC NV
1200 Main EAT, LLC NV
1320 Grandview EAT, LLC NV
1450 South West EAT, LLC NV
2811 Vista EAT, LLC NV
4225 Hiawatha EAT, LLC NV
5204 Links EAT, LLC NV
6805 Corporate EAT, LLC NV
6910 Richmond EAT, LLC NV
8135-8171 Houghton Lake EAT, LLC NV
10412 Sprague EAT, LLC NV
10681 Loop 1604 EAT, LLC NV
Dimond EAT, LLC NV
Marginal EAT, LLC NV
   

 
 



 
Name of Entity Jurisdiction of 

Incorporation

U-Haul International, Inc. NV
United States:  
A & M Associates, Inc. AZ
Web Team Associates, Inc. NV
eMove, Inc. NV
U-Haul Business Consultants, Inc. AZ
U-Haul Leasing & Sales Co. NV
RTAC, LLC NV
U-Haul R Fleet, LLC NV
2010 BE-BP-2, LLC NV
2010 U-Haul S Fleet, LLC NV
2010 TM-1, LLC NV
2010 TT-1, LLC NV
2010 DC-1, LLC NV
2013 U-Haul R Fleet, LLC NV
2013 BP, LLC NV
2013 U-Haul R Fleet 2, LLC NV
2013 BOA-BE, LLC NV
2013 U-Haul R Fleet 3, LLC NV
2013 NYCB-BE, LLC NV
U-Haul Moving Partners, Inc. NV
U-Haul Self-Storage Management (WPC), Inc. NV
U-Haul Co. of Alabama, Inc. AL
U-Haul Co. of Alaska AK
U-Haul Co. of Arizona AZ
Boxman Rentals, LLC NV
U-Haul Titling, LLC NV
2010 U-Haul Titling 2, LLC NV
2010 U-Haul Titling 3, LLC NV
2013 U-Haul Titling 1, LLC NV
2013 U-Haul Titling 2, LLC NV
2013 U-Haul Titling 3, LLC NV
CGAF Holdings, LLC NV
Casa Grande Alternative Fuel Co., LLC NV
U-Haul Co. of Arkansas AR
U-Haul Co. of California CA
U-Haul Co. of Colorado CO
U-Haul Co. of Connecticut CT
U-Haul Co. of District of Columbia, Inc. DC
U-Haul Co. of Florida FL

 
 



 
Name of Entity Jurisdiction of 

Incorporation

6810 US Hwy 1, LLC NV
1800 State Road, LLC NV
Sample Square Office Park Property Owners’ Master Association, Inc. FL
U-Haul Co. of Florida 2, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 3, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 4, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 5, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 8, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 9, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 10, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 905, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 14, LLC NV
U-Haul Co. of Florida 15, LLC NV
U-Haul Co. of Florida 19, LLC NV
U-Haul Co. of Florida 21, LLC NV
U-Haul Co. of Florida 22, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 23, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 24, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 25, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 26, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 28, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 30, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 31, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 32, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 33, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 34, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 35, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 42, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 44, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 48, LLC DE
U-Haul Co. of Florida 49, LLC NV
U-Haul Co. of Florida 50, LLC NV
U-Haul Co. of Georgia GA
U-Haul of Hawaii, Inc. HI
U-Haul Co. of Idaho, Inc. ID
U-Haul Co. of Illinois, Inc. IL
U-Haul Co. of Indiana, Inc. IN
U-Haul Co. of Iowa, Inc. IA
U-Haul Co. of Kansas, Inc. KS

 
 



 
Name of Entity Jurisdiction of 

Incorporation

U-Haul Co. of Kentucky KY
U-Haul Co. of Louisiana LA
U-Haul Co. of Maine, Inc. ME
U-Haul Co. of Maryland, Inc. MD
U-Haul Co. of Massachusetts and Ohio, Inc. MA
Collegeboxes, LLC MA
U-Haul Co. of Michigan MI
U-Haul Co. of Minnesota MN
U-Haul Co. of Mississippi MS
U-Haul Company of Missouri MO
U-Haul Co. of Montana, Inc. MT
U-Haul Co. of Nebraska NE
U-Haul Co. of Nevada, Inc. NV
U-Haul Co. of New Hampshire, Inc. NH
U-Haul Co. of New Jersey, Inc. NJ
U-Haul Co. of New Mexico, Inc. NM
U-Haul Co. of New York and Vermont, Inc. NY
U-Haul Co. of North Carolina NC
U-Haul Co. of North Dakota ND
U-Haul Co. of Oklahoma, Inc. OK
U-Haul Co. of Oregon OR
U-Haul Co. of Pennsylvania PA
U-Haul Co. of Rhode Island RI
U-Haul Co. of South Carolina, Inc. SC
U-Haul Co. of South Dakota, Inc. SD
U-Haul Co. of Tennessee TN
U-Haul Co. of Texas TX
U-Haul Propane of Texas, LLC NV
U-Haul Co. of Utah, Inc. UT
U-Haul Co. of Virginia VA
U-Haul Co. of Washington WA
U-Haul Co. of West Virginia WV
U-Haul Co. of Wisconsin, Inc. WI
U-Haul Co. of Wyoming, Inc. WY
UHIL Holdings, LLC DE
UHIL 1, LLC DE
UHIL 2, LLC DE
UHIL 3, LLC DE
UHIL 4, LLC DE
UHIL 5, LLC DE

 
 



 
Name of Entity Jurisdiction of 

Incorporation

UHIL 6, LLC DE
UHIL 7, LLC DE
UHIL 8, LLC DE
UHIL 9, LLC DE
UHIL 10, LLC DE
UHIL 11, LLC DE
UHIL 12, LLC DE
UHIL 13, LLC DE
UHIL 14, LLC NV
UHIL 15, LLC NV
UHIL 16, LLC NV
UHIL 19, LLC NV
UHIL 20, LLC NV
UHIL 21, LLC NV
UHIL 22, LLC DE
UHIL 23, LLC DE
UHIL 24, LLC DE
UHIL 25, LLC DE
UHIL 26, LLC DE
UHIL 27, LLC DE
UHIL 28, LLC DE
UHIL 29, LLC DE
UHIL 30, LLC DE
UHIL 31, LLC DE
UHIL 32, LLC DE
UHIL 33, LLC DE
UHIL 34, LLC DE
UHIL 35, LLC DE
UHIL 36, LLC DE
UHIL 37, LLC DE
UHIL 38, LLC DE
UHIL 39, LLC DE
UHIL 40, LLC NV
UHIL 41, LLC DE
UHIL 42, LLC DE
UHIL 43, LLC DE
UHIL 44, LLC DE
UHIL 45, LLC DE
UHIL 46, LLC DE
UHIL 47, LLC DE

 
 



 
Name of Entity Jurisdiction of 

Incorporation

UHIL 48, LLC DE
UHIL 49, LLC NV
UHIL 50, LLC NV
UHIL RW, LLC DE
   
Canada:  
U-Haul Co. (Canada) Ltd. U-Haul Co. (Canada) Ltee ON
U-Haul Inspections Ltd. BC

 
 



 
EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 33-56571 and 333-268891 on Form S-3 of our reports dated May 
30, 2024, relating to the financial statements of U-Haul Holding Company and the effectiveness of U-Haul Holding Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024.

/s/ Deloitte and Touche

Tempe, Arizona
May 30, 2024
 

 



Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 33-56571 and 333-268891) of U-Haul 
Holding Company (the Company) of our report dated June 1, 2023, except for the effects of the modified retrospective adoption of Accounting 
Standards Update No. 2018-12, Financial Services— Insurance (Topic 944): Targeted Improvements to the Accounting for Long-Duration 
Contracts, discussed in Note 3,as to which the date is May 30, 2024, relating to the consolidated financial statements and schedules, which 
appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
 
/s/ BDO USA, P.C.
Phoenix, Arizona
 
May 30, 2024



 
EXHIBIT 31.1 

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

I, Edward J. Shoen, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of U-Haul Holding Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

 
    /s/  Edward J. Shoen
    Edward J. Shoen
    President and Chairman of the Board
Date: May 30, 2024    
 
 

 



 
EXHIBIT 31.2 

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

I, Jason A. Berg, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of U-Haul Holding Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

 
    /s/  Jason A. Berg
    Jason A. Berg
    Chief Financial Officer 
Date: May 30, 2024    
 
 

 



 
EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024 of U-Haul Holding Company (the “Company”), as filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on May 30, 2024 (the “Report”), I, Edward J. Shoen, President and Chairman of the Board of the Company, certify, to 
the best of my knowledge and belief, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.

 
    /s/  Edward J. Shoen
    Edward J. Shoen
    President and Chairman of the Board
Date: May 30, 2024    

 
 

 



 
EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024 of U-Haul Holding Company (the “Company”), as filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on May 30, 2024 (the “Report”), I, Jason A. Berg, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.

 
    /s/  Jason A. Berg
    Jason A. Berg
    Chief Financial Officer 
Date: May 30, 2024    
 
 

 



 
U-HAUL HOLDING COMPANY

 
POLICY FOR THE

RECOVERY OF ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED COMPENSATION
 
 
A. OVERVIEW
 

In accordance with Section 303A.14 of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual (the “Section 303A.14”), 
Section 10D and Rule 10D-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) (“Rule 10D-1”), the Board 
of Directors (the “Board”)of U-Haul Holding Company (the “Company”) has adopted this Policy (the “Policy”) to provide for the 
recovery of erroneously awarded Incentive-based Compensation from Executive Officers. All capitalized terms used and not 
otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in Section H, below.
 
B. RECOVERYOF ERRONEOUSLY AWARDEDCOMPENSATION
 

(1) In the event the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, the Company will recover reasonably 
promptly the Erroneously Awarded Compensation Received in accordance with Section 303A.14 and Rule 10D-1 as follows:
 

(i) After an Accounting Restatement, the Compensation Committee (if composed entirely of independent directors, or in the 
absence of such a committee, a majority of independent directors serving on the Board) (the “Committee”) shall determine 
the amount of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation Received by each Executive Officer and shall notify reasonably 
promptly each Executive Officer with a written notice containing the amount of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation 
and a demand for repayment or return of such compensation, as applicable.

 
(a) For Incentive-based Compensation based on (or derived from) the Company’s stock price or total shareholder 
return, where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation 
directly from the information in the applicable Accounting Restatement:

 
i. The amount to be repaid or returned shall be determined by the Committee based on a reasonable 
estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the Company’s stock price or total shareholder 
return upon which the Incentive-based Compensation was Received; and

 
ii. The Company shall maintain documentation of the determination of such reasonable estimate and 
provide the relevant documentation as required to the NYSE.

 
(ii) The Committee shall have discretion to determine the appropriate means of recovering Erroneously Awarded 
Compensation based on the particular facts and circumstances. Notwithstanding the foregoing, except as set forth in Section 
B(2) below, in no event may the Company accept an amount that is less than the amount of Erroneously Awarded 
Compensation in satisfaction of an Executive Officer’s obligations hereunder.

 
(iii) To the extent that the Executive Officer has already reimbursed the Company for any Erroneously Awarded 
Compensation Received under any duplicative recovery obligations established by the Company or applicable law, it shall be 
appropriate for any such reimbursed amount to be credited to the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation that is 
subject to recovery under this Policy.



 
(iv) To the extent that an Executive Officer fails to repay all Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the Company when due, 
the Company shall take all actions reasonable and appropriate to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation from the 
applicable Executive Officer. 

 
(2) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company shall not be required to take the actions contemplated by 

Section B(1) above if the Committee(which, as specified above, is composed entirely of independent directors or in the absence of 
such a committee, a majority of the independent directors serving on the Board) determines that recovery would be impracticable and 
any of the following two conditions are met:
 

(i) The Committee has determined that the direct expenses paid to a third party to assist in enforcing the Policy would 
exceed the amount to be recovered. Before making this determination, the Companymust make a reasonable attempt to recover the 
Erroneously Awarded Compensation, document such attempt(s) and provide such documentation to the NYSE; or
 

(ii) Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to 
employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of Section 401(a)(13) or Section 411(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended, and regulations thereunder.
 

(3) This Policy applies to all Clawback Eligible Incentive Compensation. For the avoidance of doubt, this Policy shall apply 
to all such Executive Officers who Received Erroneously Awarded Compensation during the applicable Recovery Period, regardless 
of whether any misconduct occurred or an Executive Officer was responsible for the preparation of the Company’s financial 
statements. Further, the Company’s obligation to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not dependent on if or when restated 
financial statements are filed.
 
C. DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
 

The Company shall file all disclosures with respect to this Policy required by applicable U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”) filings and rules.
 
D. PROHIBITION OF INDEMNIFICATION
 

The Company shall not be permitted to insure or indemnify any Executive Officer against (i) the loss of any Erroneously 
Awarded Compensation that is repaid,returned or recovered pursuant to the terms of this Policy, or (ii) any claims relating to the 
Company’s enforcement of its rights under this Policy. Further,the Company shall not enter into any agreement that exempts any 
Incentive-based Compensation that is granted, paid or awarded to an Executive Officer from the application of this Policy or that 
waives the Company’s right to recovery of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation, and this Policy shall supersede any such 
agreement(whether entered into before, on or after the effective date of this Policy).
 
E. ADMINISTRATION AND INTERPRETATION
 

This Policy shall be administered by the Committee, and any determinations made by the Committee shall be final and 
binding on all affected individuals.
 

The Committee is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations necessary, appropriate, or 
advisable for the administration of this Policy and for the Company’s compliance with Section 303A.14, Section 10D, Rule 10D-1 
and any other applicable law, regulation, rule or interpretation of the SEC or NYSE promulgated or issued in connection therewith.
 



F. AMENDMENT; TERMINATION
 

The Committee may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall amend this Policy as it deems necessary. 
Notwithstanding anything in this Section F to the contrary, no amendment or termination of this Policy shall be effective if such 
amendment or termination would (after taking into account any actions taken by the Company contemporaneously with such 
amendment or termination) cause the Company to violate any federal securities laws, SEC rule or NYSE rule.
 
G. OTHER RECOVERY RIGHTS
 

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Executive Officers and, to the extent required by applicable law or 
guidance from the SEC or NYSE, their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives. The Committee 
intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest extent required by applicable law. Any employment agreement, equity award 
agreement, compensatory plan or any other agreement or arrangement with an Executive Officer shall be deemed to include, as a 
condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder, an agreement by the Executive Officer to abide by the terms of this Policy. Any right 
of recovery under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recovery that may be available to the 
Company under applicable law, regulation or rule or pursuant to the terms of any policy of the Companyor any provision in any 
employment agreement, equity award agreement, compensatory plan, agreement or other arrangement.
 
H. DEFINITIONS
 

For purposes of this Policy,the following capitalized terms shall have the meanings set forth below.
 

(1) “Accounting Restatement” means an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with 
any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in 
previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements (a “Big R” restatement), or that 
would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period (a 
“little r” restatement).
 

(2) “Clawback Eligible Incentive Compensation” means all Incentive-based Compensation Received by an Executive 
Officer(i) on or after October 2, 2023,(ii) after beginning service as an Executive Officer, (iii) who served as an Executive Officer at 
any time during the applicable performance period relating to any Incentive-based Compensation (whether or not such Executive 
Officer is serving at the time the Erroneously Awarded Compensation is required to be repaid to the Company), (iv) while the 
Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange or a national securities association, and (v) during the 
applicable Clawback Period (as defined below).
 

(3) “Clawback Period” means, with respect to any Accounting Restatement, the three completed fiscal years of the Company 
immediately preceding the Restatement Date (as defined below), and if the Company changes its fiscal year,any transition period of 
less than nine months within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years.
 

(4) “Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means, with respect to each Executive Officer in connection with an Accounting 
Restatement, the amount of Clawback Eligible Incentive Compensation that exceeds the amount of Incentive-based Compensation 
that otherwise would have been Received by an Executive Officer had it been determined based on the restated amounts, computed 
without regard to any taxes paid. 
 

(5) “Executive Officer” means each individual who is currently or was previously designated as an “officer” of the Company 
as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Exchange Act. For the avoidance of doubt, the 



identification of an executive officer for purposes of this Policy shall include each executive officer who is or was identified pursuant 
to Item 401(b)of Regulation S-K or Item 6.A of Form 20-F, as applicable, as well as the principal financial officer and principal 
accounting officer (or, if there is no principal accounting officer, the controller).
 

(6) “Financial Reporting Measures” means measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting 
principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and all other measures that are derived wholly or in part from such 
measures. Stock price and total shareholder return (and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from stock price or total 
shareholder return)shall, for purposes of this Policy, be considered Financial Reporting Measures. For the avoidance of doubt, a 
Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented in the Company’s financial statements or included in a filing with the SEC.
 

(7) “Incentive-based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part upon 
the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.
 

(8) “NYSE” means the New York Stock Exchange.
 

(9) “Received” means,with respect to any Incentive-based Compensation, actual or deemed receipt, and Incentive-based 
Compensation shall be deemed received in the Company’s fiscal period during which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in 
the Incentive-based Compensation award is attained, even if the payment or grant of the Incentive-based Compensation to the 
Executive Officer occurs after the end of that period.
 

(10) “Restatement Date” means the earlier to occur of (i) the date the Board, a committee of the Board or the officers of 
the Company authorized to take such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the 
Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, or (ii) the date a court, regulator or other legally authorized body directs 
the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement.
 
Effective December 2023.
 

 



Exhibit A
 

ATTESTATION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF POLICY FOR THE RECOVERYOF ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED 
COMPENSATION

 
 
 
By my signature below, I acknowledge and agree that:
 

 I have received and read the attached Policy for the Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation (this “Policy”).
 I hereby agree to abide by all of the terms of this Policy both during and after my employment with the Company, 

including, without limitation, by promptly repaying or returning any Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the Company as 
determined in accordance with this Policy.
 
 
 

Signature: --------------------
 

Printed Name: --------------------
 

Date: -------------------------------


